
 
 
 
 
                                                                      4900 EARHART ROAD • LOVELAND, CO 80538   
  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
THURSDAY, MAY 16, 2024 

3:30PM – 5:30PM 
CALL TO ORDER 
ROLL CALL 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
CONSENT AGENDA  

1. APRIL 18, 2024 MEETING MINUTES – P.2 
2. MARCH PRELIMINARY FINANCIAL STATEMENT – P. 8 
3. MARCH AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S REPORT – P. 10 
4. CDOT GRANT INTERNSHIP – P. 54 
5. AIP 45 BIL GRANT TERMINAL – P. 71 
6. LEASE ASSUMPTION OF 5227 STEARMAN – P. 125 
7. LEASE EXTENSION OF 5295 BEECHCRAFT – P. 184 
8. PDSC AGENDA – P. 227 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 
AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 
REGULAR AGENDA 

9. INITIAL REVIEW OF 2025 CIP – INFORMATIONAL, 30 MINUTES, P. 229 
10. BUSINESS FROM MEMBERS 

PULLED CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS 
ADJOURN 
 

MEETING PLANNING CALENDAR 
JUNE 27 

• INITIAL REVIEW OF 2025 BUDGET AND FEES 
• FUEL FARM UPDATE 
• REQUEST FOR EXPRESSIONS OF INTEREST 

REVIEW 
 

JULY 18 
STAKEHOLDER EVENT (NO REGULAR MEETING) 

AUGUST 15 
• FINAL 2025 BUDGET AND FEES (IF NEEDED) 
• TERMINAL BUDGET AND CONSTRUCTION 

UPDATE 
 

 

 
All members of the public are invited to attend this meeting in-person at 4900 Earhart Rd. 

Loveland, CO 80538 or observe virtually using the information below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81745121465?pwd=5pPT3wqwwantI9jljsxjaPkMwNNcin.1  
Meeting ID: 817 4512 1465 
Passcode: 259087 
Dial by your location: +1 719 359 4580 US 
Find your local number: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kCGGEYWeg 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81745121465?pwd=5pPT3wqwwantI9jljsxjaPkMwNNcin.1


2



1 

Regular Meeting Minutes for April 18, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER Chair Arndt called the meeting to order at 3:34 p.m. 

ROLL CALL Chair Arndt and Commissioners Stooksbury, Marsh, Williams, and 
Krenning were present. Commissioner DiMartino was absent. 

PUBLIC COMMENT Chair Arndt opened the floor for public comment. 

Jeff and Pam Levernier, local residents, stated that they are tormented 
by airplanes flying above their house and asked for the Commission’s 
help in mitigating the noise. 

Rick Turley thanked staff for providing stakeholder meetings, 
conducting the siting study for Runway 6-24, and working to make the 
STARS radar system available for Air Traffic Controllers. 

Ryan Carlson stated that Nutrien values safety and supports the runway 
widening project. Mr. Carlson requested a seat at the table when 
determining the runway closure phasing plan so that the impacts on 
business operations can be minimized. Impacts to Medical Center of the 
Rockies, fire response teams, and other services should be considered. 
Mr. Carlson expressed concerns regarding the following: 

 Curbing that was approved for installation on Stearman Taxiway
and has since been removed.

 Email correspondence stating that pilots should request Runway
6-24 three times before landing, but the FAA issued a violation
to a pilot for following this procedure.

 ATC Tower staffing shortages, inexperience, and pay discrepancy
compared to FAA Controllers.

 Mobile tower sighting study should consider raising the trailer
approximately 20 feet to establish a line of sight down Runway
6-24.

 One-way entry and exit is a challenge on small, congested
taxilanes.

Scott Holst stated that he understood the FAA reduced the runway 
width requirements for certain airplane design groups, as is the case 
with Aspen Airport. Mr. Holst recommended prioritizing the welfare of 
existing businesses at the airport instead of the runway widening 
project. 

At the request of Chair Arndt, Mr. Ruppel and staff explained that FNL 
is already classified for Design Group 3 aircraft so the airport must 
meet the FAA’s design standards for this group, which includes a 150-
foot runway width for aircraft above a specific weight threshold. 

3



 
 

2 

Aircraft above that weight limit may not be able to land at Aspen 
Airport due to their geographic location. Raising the mobile tower has 
not been fully evaluated; there is approximately 12 inches of vertical 
space available above the trailer before breaking the plane of the 
airspace surface. Noise pollution generally results from training flights 
performing touch-and-go maneuvers and staying in the landing 
pattern. The pattern is based on the orientation of the runway and 
goes out over Boyd Lake, but the approach on Runway 33 goes over 
the Lakes at Centerra neighborhood which requires owners to sign a 
navigation easement. Serco is contracted by the Federal Contract 
Tower Program to provide ATC personnel and services. 

Commissioner Stooksbury requested that staff investigate the incident 
regarding the landing on Runway 6-24 and work to disseminate the 
proper procedure to pilots. Mr. Stooksbury also requested that staff 
conduct research into what is involved in doing a noise study. 

Chair Arndt recognized Pat Ferrier for her years of service to the 
community while working at the Coloradoan. 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Commissioner Marsh moved to approve the Consent Agenda. The motion, seconded by 
Commissioner Williams, carried with all Commissioners present voting in favor thereof.  
 
Pulled Items: None 
Consent Follow up: None 
Public Comments: None 

 
AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S 
REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 

FEMA provided a lithium-ion battery fire training webinar. 

A and B Hangar demolition will begin in approximately three weeks 
once the contracted company, Colorado Cleanup Corporation, receives 
permits for the work. 

A meeting with RTX to discuss the Digital Tower project was delayed 
until next week. 

Terminal construction is on schedule and under budget. All framing has 
been completed on the inside of the building and tours will likely be 
scheduled in the coming weeks.  

Bids are being accepted for Taxiway B and D rehabilitation and the 
contract will be presented to the Commission at a future meeting. 

Dibble has been contracted to perform the fuel farm siting study and 
the kickoff meeting will occur next Thursday. 

FCLWD water pipeline construction is underway with Taxiway F closure 

4



 
 

3 

expected May 6th – 10th. 

Interviews for the vacant Airport Commission position will be held next 
Monday. 

The Airport Director process is proceeding with ADK Consulting 
providing the candidate search services. 

The next stakeholder meeting will be held in June. 

REGULAR AGENDA 
  
6. RUNWAY 
WIDENING 
DISCUSSION 

Francis Robbins, Airport Operations and Maintenance Manager, 
presented this item in accordance with the Agenda Item Summary. 

The runway widening project was first identified in the 1995 Airport 
Master Plan and was classified in the 2007 Master Plan Update as being 
needed but funds were not immediately available. The 2020 Master 
Plan identified the runway widening as a short-term project goal. In 
2022, The FAA and CDOT accepted the runway widening project into 
the Capital Improvement Plan with funding expected to be available for 
construction in 2025. Earlier this year, the FAA committed the 
discretionary funds for construction to occur in 2026. 

Multiple public meetings and a survey were provided to the airport 
stakeholders to disseminate information and receive feedback. Based 
on the results, the two-phase approach was selected for 60% design. 
The total construction cost for this phasing plan would be 
approximately $16M. The local fund contribution for this project would 
be $2M which has already been allocated in the Airport budget. 

Postponing the project may impact future grant awards and the FAA 
could find the airport in breach of grant assurances for other projects. 
Additional design costs would likely be incurred if the project is 
postponed for more than 18 months. 

Public Comment: 

 Ryan Carlson spoke in favor of the fourth option (three-phase 
approach) to allow Nutrien and other larger planes to continue 
operating with 5,000 feet of runway for a portion of the 
construction period. 

 Kelly Freeland stated that any option would work for her 
business, but requested that the airport help coordinate 
airplane storage in Greeley if there is a runway closure. 
Operating on Runway 6-24 would also be an option for her 
aircraft if access and wind conditions allow it. 

 Martin Lind stated that Discovery Air is in favor of the runway 
widening but requested that the airport considers the 

5



 
 

4 

consequences of the operational hardships created for 
businesses. 

 Commissioner Stooksbury read a comment into the record on 
behalf of a member of the public who stated that United 
currently operates on 100-foot-wide runways and suggested 
building a parallel runway instead of widening the existing 
runway.  

Mr. Ruppel clarified that pursuing the fourth option would set back the 
engineering design phase to 30% and incur additional costs. This phase 
would shut down the entire runway for approximately 90 days. Runway 
6-24 could be used by general aviation operators during every phase of 
this option during the widening process. 

Commissioner Stooksbury spoke in favor of keeping Runway 6-24 open 
and allowing businesses to continue operating as much as possible 
during construction. 

Commissioner Williams questioned whether only closing during 
nighttime operations would be an option. Jared Bass with Dibble 
Engineering explained that this was not an option due to cost, safety, 
and constructability concerns. Also, the FAA is funding 95% of the 
project and they (along with ATC) must approve all costs and plans 
during the decision-making process. 

Commissioner Marsh questioned how long it would take to switch the 
design to option 4. Mr. Bass stated that redesign for this option would 
take approximately three weeks and must be approved by the FAA. 

Commissioner Williams questioned whether the three-phase approach 
would allow day and night closures during the second phase to allow 
5,000 feet of runway. Mr. Bass will research this as an option. 

Commissioner Stooksbury requested the additional costs required to 
work overnight or 24/7 and minimize the length of time where the 
runway would be shutdown or less that 5,000 feet. 

7. AEROFNL LEASE 
AMENDMENT 

Aaron Ehle, Planning and Development Specialist, presented this item in 
accordance with the Agenda Item Summary. 

IC Loveland Investors, owners of the AeroFNL hangar project, has 
requested a lease amendment to allow subleasing and fractionalized 
ownership of their hangar units. IC Loveland Investors will continue to 
own and manage the campus and common areas of their development, 
similar to a master development plan. 

Public Comment: none presented. 

6



 
 

5 

Commissioner Marsh moved to recommend approval of the lease amendment by the Fort 
Collins and Loveland City Councils. The motion, seconded by Commissioner Williams, carried 
with all Commissioners present voting in favor thereof. 
 

8. TERMINAL PUBLIC 
ART 

Kate Morgan, Airport Executive Assistant, presented this item in 
accordance with the Agenda Item Summary. 

Per City of Loveland and Fort Collins policy, one percent of the locally 
funded terminal construction costs must be allocated for public art. 
This equals approximately $60,000 to finance installations in or around 
the new terminal building. Airport staff, in collaboration with the 
Cultural Services Department and the terminal’s design/architecture 
firm, have identified an ideal location for a mural which would use 
approximately $11,000 of the public art funds. 

Commissioner Marsh suggested letting the Visual Arts Commission 
determine the best use of funds and  

Commissioner Williams suggested incorporating elements of airport 
history and characteristics of Northern Colorado into the art.  

Public Comment: none presented. 

 

9. PDSC AGENDA 
REVIEW 

Aaron Ehle, Planning and Development Specialist, presented this item in 
accordance with the Agenda Item Summary. Suggested topics for the 
PDSC meeting on May 1st include updates to the Development Guide 
and Airport Land Use and Design Standards. 

Commissioner Williams recommended putting this item on the consent 
agenda at future meetings. 

Public Comment: none presented. 

10. BUSINESS FROM 
MEMBERS 

 

None presented. 

ADJOURNMENT Chair Arndt adjourned the meeting at 4:25 p.m. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

_________________________________________ 

Commission Chair, Jeni Arndt 

7



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER: 2 
MEETING DATE: May 14, 2024 

PREPARED BY: Francis Robins, Airport Ops & Maint Manager 

TITLE 
Monthly Financial Statement 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
Staff recommend acceptance of the preliminary financial statement as presented. 

BUDGET IMPACT 
Neutral 

SUMMARY 
Financial highlights for the month of April include: 

• The monthly statement indicates $8.9 million within the net position available for
use. This amount includes $6 million set aside by the Airport Commission and
City Councils to be applied toward the terminal project. Within this amount $2
million is from the CARES Act operations and maintenance grant, which has
been fully drawn down and input in the account, $2 million for the local matching
contribution, and $2 million in City Contributions.

o An accurate net position available for use is $3 million which is planned for
future federal funding grant matches, specifically $1 million for the $14
million runway widening project in 2025, and the remainder maintaining
the operational financial reserve.

ATTACHMENT 
Preliminary monthly financial statement for April 2024 

8



Y-T-D 2024 Actual Y-T-D 2023 Actual Y-T-D 2024 Budget 2024 Total Budget
% of Total 

Budget

OPERATING REVENUES

Hangar Rental 63,071 77,430 71,668 215,000 29%
FBO Rent 31,457 31,391 35,004 105,008 30%
Gas and Oil Commissions 74,568 74,536 100,000 300,000 25%
Aviation Fuel Tax Reimbursement 81,457 97,426 50,000 150,000 54%
Land Lease 219,814 205,046 366,332 1,099,000 20%
Land Lease PD Training Ctr 103,043 103,043 0 0 0%
Terminal Lease and Landing Fees 10,636 7,240 25,104 75,300 14%
Parking 0 0 0 0 0%
Miscellaneous 31,202 29,287 17,532 52,600 59%

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 615,248 625,399 665,640 1,996,908 31%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Personal Services 245,767                254,384.45                 382,472.00 1,147,418 21%
Supplies 32,440                  41,886.52                   41,184.00 123,550 26%
Purchased Services 360,402                  75,707.52                 907,842.00 2,084,222 17%

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 638,610 371,978 1,331,498 3,355,190 19%

OPERATING GAIN (LOSS) (23,362) 253,421 (665,858) (1,358,282)

NONOPERATING 
REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Passenger Facility Charge 0 0 0 0  
Interest Income 43,034 15,726 16,332 49,000 88%
Contributed Asset 0 0 0 0 
Capital Expenditures (3,507,201) (148,751) (24,777,028) (39,412,604) 9%

TOTAL NONOPERATING 
REVENUES (EXPENSES) (3,464,167) 1,866,976 (24,760,696) (39,363,604)

NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE 
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (3,487,529) 2,120,396 (25,426,554) (40,721,886)

Capital Contributions 2,414,288 1,102,505 5,489,499 21,958,000 11%

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 591,482 3,272,167 (17,662,522) (18,401,267)

NET POSITION, Beginning 28,274,198 21,237,480 0 0 

NET POSITION, Ending 28,825,702 24,509,647 (17,662,522) (18,401,267)
Investment in Capital Assets 19,843,609 15,440,026 0 0 
Net Position Available for use 8,982,093 9,069,621 (17,662,522) (18,401,267)

Airport Statement of Revenues and Expenses
From 01/01/2024-04/30/2024

PRELIMINARY

9



Date: May 16, 2024 
To: Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 
From: David Ruppel, Airport Director 
Re: Airport Report for April 2024 

Report Highlights 

 Colorado Cleanup Corporation began its work on the A and B Hangar demolition on May 7th

and expects to be complete in 25 days.  There will be an electrical outage on May 10th that will
effect the C-Hangars to allow for the modification of the connection from the A and B Hangars.
The outage will occur at 7:30 AM and should be restored by the end of the day.  This will effect
the C-Hangar hangar doors and lights.  Vertical Demolition will occur from May 13-22 and will
require a 15-20 foot exclusion area around each building while the work is being done.  The
EVEN numbered hangars in 4930 Grumman will be affected and should contact Airport
Operations at 970-614-4040 if there is a conflict.  Paving Operations will take place from May
23-31 and the area will be surrounded with lighted barricades while this work is going on.

 Digital Tower Vendor, RTX/Frequentis, met with airport staff on April 18th and began
negotiations for a future system installation.  The airport expects the next meeting to occur
early next month.  The airport is seeking a subscription model that will allow the vendor to
retain the equipment and provide ATC services.

 Hensel Phelps completed the window installation, roofing installation activities are underway,
electrical, plumbing, and mechanical rough in is underway, concrete floor polishing work is
underway, interior framing is completed, drywall installation is underway, exterior building
finishes are underway, and site electrical and communication conduit installation is
underway.  Interior finishes and room buildouts are beginning along with ceilings, and site
subgrade preparations for paving and concrete are underway.

 TAXIWAY B&D/HANGAR TAXILANES FNL had to split the project because the low bid on
Federal portion was not low bid on local or overall. FNL is in the process of rebidding the
local work and those new bids are due next week.  The Taxiway B&D work is in the
contracting and approvals process.

 FUEL FARM SITING project is underway to determine location and best practice
requirements for a consolidated fuel farm.  Siting will take into account ease of access
both for delivery and fuel truck use, constructability, and safety considerations.  The Siting
study will be completed in June.

 FCLWD Potable Water Pipeline construction continues with Taxiway F closure is completed
on May 10th.  The crossing for Earhart road will be managed with a detour  using Lindburgh
and Lear Drives and should be completed in June.

 The Airport Director search process is proceeding and ADK, the search firm, will be onsite
later this week to begin interviewing stakeholders and officials from the Cities.

 The next FNL Stakeholder meeting will be held on June 4th and will include in-person and on-
line options.

Airport Activity Dashboard 

 Flight operations for the month of April averaged 301 per day, and the thirteen-month
rolling average is 300.

 Wholesale fuel ordered by the jetCenter FBO was 103,236 gallons for the month of April, an

10



increase of 6% compared to the previous April at 97,019 gallons. 
o Total year to date fuel for jetCenter is up 10% year over year. 
o Total fuel flowage through April 2024, is 427,792 gallons YTD compared to 386,102  

gallons YTD in April 2023. 
 Business jet activity for April 2024 compared to the same month in 2023 was up 93%, going 

from 320 to 619 operations.  Some of this variation may be from our recent change to a new 
operations tracking system helps us capture more accurate total numbers business aircraft. 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Airport Owned T-Hangars Update 
 
As a reminder to all tenants, to remain in compliance with your lease and the Airport Rules and 
Regulations, you must have an operational aircraft in your hangar or be able to make your aircraft 
operational within no more than 6 months.   If this cannot be achieved, you must provide a 
detailed plan for making your aircraft operational to the Airport Director. 
 
Federal Contract Tower (FCT) 
 
The attorneys for the two Cities have accepted the Reimbursible Agreement (RA)  for the VISTA 
work and it is being processed for signature.  We expect to start the actual study in the next 
couple of months once the two Cities sign the RA.  
 
Terminal 
 
Hensel Phelps has completed the window installation and roofing is nearing completion. Interior 
electrical, plumbing, and mechanical rough in is underway and concrete floor polishing is nearing 
completion.  Interior framing is completed, drywall installation is underway, and exterior building 
finishes are being installed.  Site electrical and communication conduit installation is in work and 

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr

FNL Business Jet Activity 13-
Months

16%

84%

100LL Jet A

YTD 2024

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

Jan Feb Ma Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Total Fuel YoY Comparison

2021 2022 2023 2024

320
293

317 304
334 339 328

298

240
280

258
287 301

0

100

200

300

400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr

Airport Operations 8am - 6pm 
Daily Avg/Month

11



interior finishes and room buildouts are beginning along with ceilings, and site subgrade 
preparations for paving and concrete are underway. FNL staff is proceeding with a $1.34 million 
change order to add reconstruction of the main terminal parking lot. The original FNL Terminal 
construction contract included new asphalt paving for localized areas limited to the parking lot 
entrance/exit and passenger drop off loop. The main parking lot was planned to receive a 
maintenance seal coat and crack fill. Sealing activities were planned to be followed with new 
pavement markings to delineate new operational traffic patterns for both passenger vehicles and 
shuttle buses. Soon after construction started, it was determined that the parking lot was not in a 
condition to receive the recommended improvements and a full reconstruction of the lot was 
required. The parking lot work is possible due to savings on the overall project and will not 
require any additional funding. 
 
The DiTesco construction summary is attached. 
 
Digital Tower 
 
RTX/Frequesntis, met with airport staff on April 19th to discuss future system setup and costs.  RTX also 
provided and update on its continuing work at the FAA Tech Center in Atlantic City.  They still expect to 
receive System Design Approval (SDA) in 2025 and plan to begin FNL system installation immediately 
following that approval.  RTX is working on a proposal to provide their system to FNL via a subscription 
model where RTX will retain ownership of most of the equipment and FNL will purchase Air Traffic Control 
services via the Digital Tower.  FNL will continue to pursue both a traditional tower process and the digital 
tower to be able to take advantage of whichever is ready and viable in the shortest amount of time. 
 
STARS 
 
The FAA Reauthorization Act includes specific language concerning the design and approval of Remote 
Tower Systems and also states that the FAA must: 
 

 ‘‘(F) allow the use of surface surveillance technology, either standalone or integrated into the 
visual automation platform, as a situational awareness tool; 

 ‘‘(H) support active testing of a remote tower system that has achieved system design approval 
by the William J. Hughes Technical Center at an airport that has installed remote tower 
infrastructure to support such system. 

And also: 
 ‘‘(1) IN GENERAL.—Not later than 1 year after the date of enactment of this subsection, the 

Secretary shall allow air traffic controllers at towers operated under the Contract Tower 
Program to use approved advanced equipment and technologies to improve operational 
situational awareness, including Standard Terminal Automation Replacement System radar 
displays, Automatic Dependent Surveillance- Broadcast, Flight Data Input/Output, and 
Automatic Terminal Information System.  

 ‘‘(2) INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE. —Not later than 2 years after the date of 
enactment of this subsection, the Secretary shall allow airports to—  

 ‘‘(A) procure a Standard Terminal Automation Replacement System or any equivalent  
system through the Federal Aviation Administration, and install and maintain such system 
using Administration services: or  

 ‘‘(B) purchase a Standard Terminal Automation Replacement System, or any equivalent 
system, and install and maintain such system using services directly from an original 
equipment manufacturer. 

 
FCLWD Potable Water Line Construction  
 
The waterline construction is nearing completion with the Taxiway F crossing finished and the Earhart 
Road crossing to begin in the next two weeks.  The Earhart Road crossing will begin on May 20th and result 
in a detour via Lindburgh and Lear to access the Airport for approximately one week. 

12



 
Governance Study 
  
The meeting for the Governance Study Board is expected to be scheduled within the next two 
weeks.   The study is available on the FNL website at, 2023-12-26-Airport-Governance.pdf 
(flynoco.com). 
 
Runway Widening Project 
 
Per the engineer’s evaluation of the proposed three phase plan for the Runway Widening 
project, the plan would increase the total construction time to 200 days and the overall cost 
to $18.1 million.  In addition to the $2.7 million in additional construction cost there would 
also be a re-design cost of $125,000.  Due to the increased time required the project would 
very likely need to shut down over the winter further extending the period of time the 
runway would be closed or at least limited in length.  The FAA has stated that all of the 
additional costs would need to be covered locally.  Based on this information, the three phase 
approach is not viable. 
 

 
 
Taxiway B&D/Hangar Taxilanes  
 
The bids received for the project RFP were opened April 18th and project had to be split into two 
separate projects because the low bid on Federal project was not low bid on local portion. FNL is 
rebidding local Taxilane work as an independent project. Bids for the Taxilane rehabilitation project 
are due next week. The Taxiway B&D project will start at the earliest on June 26th, with 10 days of 
closure. Roughly a month total with curing and painting.  Both projects may still be completed at 
the same time depending on the outcome of the local bids. 
  
 
 

13



PDSC Meeting 

The most recent meeting of the PDSC was held on 5-1-2024.  The meeting minutes will be 
addressed in a separate agenda item. 

Airport Scheduled Events 
 May 20-25 closure of Earhart Drive for FCLWD waterline crossing
 Jun 20-24 Air Race Classic Terminus Airport
 June Crack Seal Dates TBD
 July Runway Painting Dates TBD
 Sep 14 Aims Aviation Day
 Oct 9 Terminal Target Completion
 Oct 12-18 NIFA SAFECON Event

Attachments 
1. Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal Construction Report
2. Loveland Fire and Rescue Authority ARFF monthly report
3. Remote Air Traffic Control Contract Progress Report #31
4. Senate Overwhelmingly Approves FAA Reauthorization Act
5. State Aviation Officials Applaud Senate Passage of FAA Reauthorization Bill
6. Website Platform Helps Airports Attract More Customers
7. Pitkin County Commissioners Approve Revised Airport Layout Plan
8. PitCo votes to shift airport runway 80 feet west

14



 $7,490,447

MAJOR MILESTONES

• Storefront/glazing installation  
is complete.

• Roofing installation activities  
are underway.

• Electrical, plumbing, and 
mechanical rough in is underway.

• Polished concrete floor work  
is underway.

• Interior partition wall framing  
is complete.

• Drywall installation is underway.
• Exterior building finishes  

are underway.
• Site electrical and communication 

conduit installation is underway. 

WORK UPCOMING

• Interior finishes and room buildout. 
• Drywall/acoustical ceiling panel 

installation. 
• Site improvements subgrade prep 

and paving. 

EXPENDITURE
TO DATE

3.27%

CHANGE ORDER  
PERCENTAGE

CONTRACT VALUE: $15,349,914

288
DAYS CHARGED TO DATE

ORIGINAL CONTRACT: 422 DAYS

48%
COMPLETE
(IN CONTRACT VALUE)

Exterior stucco veneer

1. REFER TO SYSTEM NOTES FOR DETAILS

2. REFER TO EXTERIOR COLOR SCHEDULE FOR ALL EXTERIOR 
COLORS.

3. REFER TO A7.2 FOR STOREFRONT FRAME SCHEDULES.

4. ALL EXTERIOR WALL MOUNTED LIGHTS TO BE FULL CUT-OFF, TYP

EXTERIOR ELEVATION GENERAL NOTES

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

R1/ R2   PREFINISHED METAL ROOF PANEL "CHARCOAL GRAY" BY BERRIDGE

W2         PREFINISHED METAL DEEP DECK PANEL   "CHARCOAL GRAY" BY BERRIDGE

W3         ACCENT PREFIN. METAL  PANEL "GREEN COPPER"

W1-A     STUCCO COLOR - A SW "SHOJI WHITE"

W1-B     STUCCO COLOR - B MATCH "CHARCOAL GRAY"

W4         NATURAL STONE VENEER BUFF/STAINED STRIP FROM 
                     ARKINS PARK, ASHLAR PATTERN

               STEEL AND TRIM MATCH "CHARCOAL GRAY"

               STEEL SUNSHADES CLEAR ALUM

S1/ S2   ALUM SOFFIT "DARK CHERRY"

               DOWNSPOUTS & GUTTERS        MATCH "CHARCOAL GRAY"

               GLAZING NOTES SEE WINDOW SCHEDULE

               OH DOORS        MATCH "CHARCOAL GRAY"

419 Canyon Ave Suite 200, Fort Collins, CO 80521  |  970.224.1191
108 East Lincolnway, Cheyenne, WY 82001  |  307.635.5710

www.VFLA.com

DRAWING NUMBER:

PROJECT NUMBER:

SEAL:

IN ASSOCIATION WITH:

Strength in design. Strength in partnership. 
Strength in community.

VAUGHT FRYE LARSON ARONSON ARCHITECTURE + INTERIORS, INC.
THIS DRAWING MAY NOT BE PHOTOGRAPHED, SCANNED, TRACED OR 

COPIED IN ANY MANNER WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF VFLA.

COPYRIGHT:

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

A R C H I T E C T U R E  +  I N T E R I O R S

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:
KL&A

MECHANICAL, PLUMBING AND ELECTRICAL 
ENGINEERS:
SWANSON RINK

CIVIL ENGINEER:
DIBBLE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT & PLANNING:
RIPLEY DESIGN

SUSTAINABILITY CONSULTANT:
MEAD & HUNT

SHEET ISSUANCES

DESCRIPTION DATE

7/
27

/2
02

3 
9:

34
:0

3 
PM

7/27/2023 9:34:03 PM

Au
to

de
sk

 D
oc

s:
//F

N
L 

Te
rm

in
al

/V
FL

A_
19

-1
29

_F
N

L 
Te

rm
in

al
_A

rc
h_

R
22

.rv
t

A3.2

EXTERIOR
PERSPECTIVES -

LANDSIDE

NORTHERN
COLORADO
REGIONAL
AIRPORT

TERMINAL
4825 EARHART RD.

LOVELAND, CO 80538

2019-129.3

ISSUE FOR CONSTRUCTION SET

30% SCHEMATIC DESIGN 10-28-2022
60% DESIGN DEVELOPMENT 01-13-2023
ISSUE FOR PERMIT 05-04-2023

SCALE:
1 EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVE - LOOKING SOUTHWEST

SCALE:4
EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVE - AERIAL VIEW
LOOKING NORTHWEST

SCALE:
3 EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVE - ARRIVALS

SCALE:
2 EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVE - AERIAL VIEW LOOKING SOUTHWEST

Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

MONTHLY REPORT: APRIL 2024

Overhead mechanical rough In

Terminal construction progress

LOOK AHEAD SCHEDULE APRIL MAY JUNE July

Roof system installation

Storefront/glazing installation

Electrical, plumbing, and mechanical rough in

Exterior building finishes

Interior partition wall framing

Drywall installation

Drywall/acoustical ceiling panel installation

Site utilities (electrical/communications)

Site surface improvements

15



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

2133 S. Timberline Rd, Suite 110 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Weekly Report  

  
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal (FNL) 
      

Owner: Northern Colorado Regional Airport Owner’s Project No.: AP2004 
Engineer: Dibble Engineer’s Project No.: 2019-129 
Contractor: Hensel Phelps  

 

Tasks completed/underway 05/06/24 – 05/10/24:  
• In wall rough in of electrical, mechanical, and plumbing is underway.  

• Concrete floor polishing is complete. 

• Interior wall framing is complete. 

• Interior drywall installation is underway.  

• Interior ceiling framing installation is underway. 

• Exterior wall insulation is underway.  

• Exterior stone veneer installation is underway.  

• Exterior stucco installation is underway. 

• Primary electrical feed installation is underway. 

 
Work scheduled for 05/13/24 - 05/17/24:  

• Continued in wall mechanical, electrical, and plumbing rough in.  

• Continued HVAC ductwork and damper installation. 

• Continued drywall and close in of interior partition walls. 

• Continued exterior finishes installation. 

• Mechanical screen wall painting. 

• Electrical room painting. 

• Primary electrical conduit installation to existing service vault. 

• Exterior site improvements subgrade prep. 

 
Upcoming Activity Schedule 5/06/24-5/10/24 5/13/24-5/17/24 5/20/24-5/24/24 
Concrete Floor Polishing    
Overhead Plumbing/HVAC/Electrical    
In Wall Mechanical, Electrical, and 

Plumbing Rough In 
   

Interior Drywall Installation    
Exterior Finishes Stucco/Stone/Metal 

Panel 
   

Electrical/Communications Utility 
Installation 

   

Exterior Site Improvements Prep    
 

Photos attached represent status of work over the last seven days. 

5/10/24 

16



Weekly Report Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal (FNL)

Photos

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
North East building
slab concrete
polishing.

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
North East building
slab concrete
polishing finish.

Printed on Fri May 10, 2024 at 03:23 pm MDT

Ditesco, LLC
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

4825 Earhart Rd
Loveland, Colorado 80538

Page 1 of 6
17

https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315
https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315


Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
Insulation
installation.

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
Insulation
installation.

Printed on Fri May 10, 2024 at 03:23 pm MDT

Ditesco, LLC
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

4825 Earhart Rd
Loveland, Colorado 80538

Page 2 of 6
18

https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315
https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315


Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
Departure lounge
ceiling framing/
soffit.

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
Departure lounge
ceiling framing/
soffit.

Printed on Fri May 10, 2024 at 03:23 pm MDT

Ditesco, LLC
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

4825 Earhart Rd
Loveland, Colorado 80538

Page 3 of 6
19

https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315
https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315


Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
East building
elevation exterior
wall stucco finish.

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/09/2024

Description
South building
elevation stucco and
rain screen
installation.

Printed on Fri May 10, 2024 at 03:23 pm MDT

Ditesco, LLC
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

4825 Earhart Rd
Loveland, Colorado 80538

Page 4 of 6
20

https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315
https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315


Weekly Report

Taken On
05/10/2024

Description
East exterior stone
veneer installation.

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/10/2024

Description
East exterior stone
veneer installation.

Printed on Fri May 10, 2024 at 03:23 pm MDT

Ditesco, LLC
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

4825 Earhart Rd
Loveland, Colorado 80538

Page 5 of 6
21

https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315
https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315


Weekly Report

Taken On
05/10/2024

Description
New electrical
transformer bedding
and conduit
installation.

Weekly Report

Taken On
05/10/2024

Description
Primary power utility
trenching to existing
service vault.

Printed on Fri May 10, 2024 at 03:23 pm MDT

Ditesco, LLC
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Terminal

4825 Earhart Rd
Loveland, Colorado 80538

Page 6 of 6
22

https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315
https://app.procore.com/2501511/project/images/show_album?id=13596315


1

May 2024 ARFF Update

Happy May!  

ARFF: 
 The upper card reader on Gate 3 is working.  It will read the LFRA window boxes and all other

prox cards with given access.
 ARFF member annual live burns to complete the FAR Part 139 certifications are:

o May 16th
o May 30th
o June 26th
o July 11th
o Burns are held at Denver Int'l Airport fire training center, and taught by Denver Fire Dept.

Flights for May: 
 May 2-5th - The Cirrus training conference will be held at the Embassy Suites and NoCo Regional

Airport.  30-50 Cirrus aircraft will be in our area for the weekend and doing training flights 50-70 miles
away.

 CDFPC has two SEATs based at NoCo Regional

Airport – Important Meetings:

 Airport Commission meeting will be held on May 16th, 3:30-5:00pm at the Fire Station conference
room

Other Airport News: 
 Airport terminal construction is on schedule and well underway!   The windows are filling in!  Please see

the www.flynoco.com website for updates on the terminal construction!
 Get connected to Denver flights through Landline!  You can search your favorite travel site (ie.

Priceline, Expedia) and enter Loveland/Fort Collins (FNL) as your departure airport.

23



2

o Kids ride free and parking at NoCo Regional is free!   There are over 8 trips a day to Denver 
International! 

o https://landline.com/ 
  

  
  

Have a wonderful month! 
  
Gina Gonzales 
ARFF Engineer 
Loveland Fire Rescue Authority 
LFRA Fire Station 4, Northern Colorado Regional Airport 

 
970-568-6026 
 – business cell – for messages as well 
gina.gonzales@lfra.org - email 
www.lfra.org   

 
  
www.flynoco.com 
  
**Like the flight attendant says, “First put the oxygen mask on yourself… only then can you 
help someone else with theirs” 
  
  

24



 
   
 
April 30, 2024 
 
From:  William E. Payne, P.E. 
To: Colorado Division of Aeronautics 
 
Section A – Remote Air Traffic Control Contract Progress Report #34 

 
Re: Period:  April 1 through April 30, 2024 
 
 

Digital Tower Implementation

STARS Operational at FNL 11/25/2022 12/15/2022 Complete

Move STARS Slave Display to Mobile ATCT 8/2/2023 TBD FAA withholds approval

Digital Tower System 

FNL Non-Binding Letter of Intent to RTX/Frequentis 1/18/2024 2/2/2024 Complete

RTX/Frequentis Letter of Intent to FNL 2/15/2024 2/15/2024 Complete

RTX/Frequentis Digital Tower Proposal 4/18/2024 4/18/2024 Being Reviewed

Digital Tower Testing

Raytheon-Frequentis Installs Equipment at Tech Center 4/21/2024 TBD In-Progress

FAA Send Closeout letter and Project Accounting 3/21/2024 3/21/2024 Complete

RTX/Frequentis Begins Testing at Tech Center 5/15/2024 TBD

RTX/Frequentis Completes System Design Approval TBD TBD

RTX/Frequentis to FNL TBD TBD

FAA Testing at FNL TBD TBD

Digital Tower Recieves Op Viability Decision TBD TBD

Digital Tower System and ATCT Commissioned TBD TBD

Functional Acceptance Decision TBD TBD

Colorado Digital Tower Project                                                                                             

Activity Status

Remarks

Status/Start 

Date 

(Projected)

Activity
Finish Date 

(Projected)

 
 
 
 
 25



2 
 

Remote Tower Project Narrative: 
 
RTX/Frequentis has begun installation of equipment at the National Aerospace Research 
and Technology Park (NARTP) and at the Atlantic City International Airport (ACY). To 
date, they have installed the test consoles and brought one of the three mobile camera 
masts to ACY. The control room at the NARTP still must be completed by the FAA before 
testing can begin. Frequentis has provided the SDA documents to Tech Ops and have 
had roughly a third accepted with the remainder in progress. The documents remaining 
have been deemed acceptable and are going through review by the agency.    
 
On April 24, 2024 the RTX/Frequentis team proffered a preliminary proposal to the 
Northern Colorado Regional Airport (FNL) to design and install their Digital Tower System 
after substantial completion of the System Design Approval (SDA).  
 
The system would be required to receive FAA specific site approval at FNL before 
becoming fully operational. It is anticipated that a one to two month testing period would 
be required prior to receiving Operational Viability Decision, System and Tower 
Commissioning. These final steps must be completed at the airport as SDA at the NARTP 
does not include operational testing.  
 
After reviewing the proposal, there are a few observations that will need to be addressed. 
The technical proposal and statement of work are reasonable with a few technical 
questions that will require further discussion--in particular, their proposal to use the 
STARS Mini-ELITE as the track-based interface with the system automation.  
 
It has long been my position that without a track-based (radar) component, as a situational 
awareness tool, a digital tower at an airport like FNL will be handicapped, given its level 
of operations. There are three ways in which this can be accomplished. 
 

1. A Stand-alone STARS remote tower display that would provide situational 
awareness to controllers as is currently done in airport traffic control towers 
(ATCT) in the National Airspace System (NAS) today. 

2. A STARS that will allow the data to be ingested into the automation platform and 
displayed on the video monitors. This would require a one-way communication 
configuration that will permit the radar data to be displayed without 
communication back to the NAS.     

3. A system like the STARS Mini-ELITE that could either stand alone with its own 
sensors and not be connected to the overlying radar facility (Tracon) or, if 
certified, be connected to the Tracon automation. Either path will require 
certification.    
 

We have proposed and previously discussed with RTX/Frequentis a funding mechanism 
for their consideration.  Under that scenario, the digital tower system would be owned by 
RTX/Frequentis and the airport would pay for the system and maintenance as a 
subscription service. In its simplest form, RTX/Frequentis would retain ownership of the 
system and maintain the equipment and charge a monthly fee. The fee would include the 
cost of the equipment and O&M for a period to be determined until the hard and soft cost 
of installation of the digital tower system is retired, and thereafter a monthly fee for 
operating and maintaining the system would be charged.  

26



3 
 

 
FNL is in the Federal Contract Tower (FCT) Program which, under the terms of the Tower 
Operating Agreement, does not recognize digital towers as an alternative to a legacy, 
“sticks and bricks” ATCT. This will have to be addressed with the FCT Program Office in 
advance of moving forward with a digital tower at FNL. To that end, I have been 
discussing the possibilities with NextGen and the FCT Manager. This situation may be 
rendered moot, however, provided the current version of the FAA Reauthorization bill is 
enacted into law, as it contains language we proposed to change Section 47124(b) Title 
41, United States Code to allow remote towers into the FCT Program.   
 
The Aeronautics Division started the remote tower project (now referred to as the digital 
tower program) in 2013 and has made a substantial investment in the project.  The FAA’s 
actions since have resulted in refocusing of the project away from the Division as a 
primary partner and instead toward the airport to determine its destiny. Moving forward, 
FNL will benefit greatly from reliance upon the Division’s extensive knowledge and 
experience with the digital tower program.  This will also allow the Division to complete 
what was started and ensure that Colorado’s effort in this innovative technology will not 
be wasted. It would also support furtherance of the ultimate goal of having multiple State 
airports either separately or in a digital tower center reap the benefits of airport traffic 
control. I truly believe if we don’t see the RTX/Frequentis option to its logical conclusion 
relative to all that has been achieved at FNL, the State will have missed the opportunity 
to turn our previous struggles into an extraordinary success.   
 
Proposed Digital Tower Process Moving Forward: 
 
   

     

                                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

            TBD                                 TBD                                  TBD                               TBD   
 

Projected Start Date 
 
 

Schedule Note: This status is based on the latest proposed schedule and is 
dependent upon System Design Approval at the Tech Center  

 

SRMD      

Successor 
Vendor to 

FNL 

Operational 
Viability 

Evaluation   

Functional 
Acceptance 

Decision      

Digital 
Tower 

Approved 
for FCT 

System 
Design 

Approval 
(Tech Center)       

27



4 
 

 
 
REMOTE TOWER PROJECT PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

 
Program Description/Background 

 
The Program Manager for this project, William E. Payne, will serve as a technical 
subject matter expert to represent the Division’s investment and interest in the 
Remote Tower and facilitate the project’s forward progress to FAA certification and 
deployment. The Program Manager will participate in and assist with the 
development of all evaluation, testing, and certification activities, as well as attend 
all project meetings, and will serve as the technical representative for the Division 
of Aeronautics during all phases of the project as enumerated below. 

 
Tasks: 
 

1. Provide Technical Representation and Oversight of the Project 
 

Effort this Period:  Completed. 
 

2. Participate in Development of the FAA’s Operational Safety Assessment 
(OSA) Basis for Evaluation of Non-Federal Remote Tower Equipment  
 

Effort this Period: The OSA is still in draft form and is continuing to be 
developed as the project proceeds toward System Design Approval. 
 

3. Participate in Development of the Operational Visual Requirements 
(OVR) 
 

Effort this Period:  The OVR Version 2.1 has been issued.  
 

4. Participate in Development of the Requirements/Specifications for Non-
Federal Tower Equipment 

 
Effort this Period: Participated in the FAA TechOps review and commented 
on the Remote Tower Requirements Document and prepared comments on 
OVR 2.1.  Completed. 
 

5. Assist with Development of System Configuration 
   

 Effort this Period:  The system configuration will be modified based on 
lessons learned 4K cameras and displays for demonstration onf March 27, 
2023. 

 
6. Modify System Configuration Based on Testing Phase Comments 

 
Effort this Period: Completed by Searidge. 
 

28



5 
 

7. Run Periodic Tests of the Remote Air Traffic Control Tower System 
During Periods of Evaluation/Testing Inactivity 

 
Effort this Period: Complete. 
 

8. Attend System FAA Technical Interchange Meetings (TIM) 
 

Effort this Period: Provided SME representation in the recent FAA 
discussion of OVR 2.1.  Completed. 
 

9. Participate in FAA Configuration Review Board (CRB) Activities 
 

Effort this Period: NextGen has yet to establish the CRB. This effort may be 
rolled into development of the Remote Tower AC. 
 

10. Evaluate an Air Situation Display in Preparation for Testing Against 
Standard Terminal Automation Replacement System Radar Equipment 
(STARS). 
 

Effort this Period: Complete.  
 

11. Collaborate with FAA on Alternate Phase 1 Virtual/Remote Testing 
 

Effort this Period: Complete  
 

12. Work with FAA to develop and Implement Phase 1 Passive Remote Tower 
Testing 
 

Effort this Period: Complete 
 

13. Work with FAA to Develop and Implement Phase 2 Active Remote Tower 
Testing 

 
Effort this Period: There has been no activity on this task this period.  
 

14. Work with FAA and FNL on Phase 3 Industry-Led Initial Operational 
Capability (IOC) 

 
Effort this Period: This task has been renamed Validation & Verification 
(V&V.) There has been no activity on this task this period. Phase 3 Active 
Remote Tower Testing will begin after Phase 2 Active Remote Tower 
testing is complete and the SRMD has been signed. 
 

15. Work with FAA on Phase 4 Remote Tower System Certification and 
Commissioning 

 
Effort this Period: There has been no activity on this task this period. Phase 
4 System Design Approval and Commissioning will begin after the 
conclusion of Phase 3 V&V and the SRMD has been signed. 

29



6 
 

 
16. Participate in Development of the FAA’s Advisory Circular (AC) for 

Remote Tower Systems for Non-Federal Applications 
 

Effort this Period: Continue participation in the FAA TechOps TIM to review 
and comment on the Remote Tower Advisory Circular. 
 

17. Provision of Regular Written Reports, Presentations and Updates on the 
Project’s Progress to Internal and External Stakeholders 

 
Effort this Period: Preparation of the monthly Program status report. 
 

18. Travel as Needed (In-State and Out of State) for Meetings with FAA, 
Airport and Division Personnel 

 
Effort this Period:  Travel to FNL for meetings with Airport Board and the 
Cities of Fort Collins and Loveland. 

 
 
DEVELOPMENT OF POTENTIAL ENHANCED SITUATIONAL AWARENESS TOOLS 
FOR NON-TOWERED AIRPORTS 
 
Tasks: 
 

1. Explore the Potential Development of a System Consisting of Existing 
and New Surveillance Sources that can be Deployed, Owned and 
Operated by Non-Towered Airports to Provide Airport Staff with Improved 
Visibility into the Local Airspace and on the Airport Surface, with the 
Ultimate Goal of Improving Aviation Safety and System Efficiency. 

 
Effort this Period: No activity this period. 
 

2. Prepare System Requirements to be Used by Airports and/or the Division 
when Seeking Vendor Proposals to Implement a Situational Awareness 
System. 

 
Effort this Period: No activity this period. 

   
 
  

30



7 
 

 
 

Glossary of Project Technical Acronyms 
 

ADS-B   Automatic Dependent Surveillance – Broadcast 
AGL   Above Ground Level 
ARTCC   Air Route Traffic Control Center 
ASDE-X  Airport Surface Detection Equipment – Model X 
ASOS   Automatic Surface Observation System 
ASR-9   Airport Surveillance Radar – Model 9 
AWOS   Automatic Weather Observation System 
ATC   Air Traffic Control 
ATIS   Automatic Terminal Information System 
AJT   Air Traffic Services 
AJI   Safety Technical Training Services 
AJV   Mission Support Policies and Procedures  
CTAF   Common Traffic Advisory Frequency 
ERAM   En Route Automation Modernization 
FAA   Federal Aviation Administration 
FAT   Factory Acceptance Test (alternately - First Article Test) 
FDIO   Flight Data Input/Output 
FTI   Federal Communications Infrastructure (Harris Corp.) 
GA   General Aviation 
HITL   Human In the Loop 
HMI   Human Machine Interface 
ILS   Instrument Landing System 
IOC   Initial Operating Capability 
IMC   Instrument Meteorological Condition 
LOA   Letter of Agreement 
MLAT   Multilateration 
MSL   Mean Sea Level (above) 
NAS   National Air Space 
NATCA   National Air Traffic Controllers Association 
NESG   NAS Enterprise Security Gateway 
NextGen   Next Generation Air Transportation System 
NORDO   No Radio 
OSA   Operational Safety Assessment 
OTW   Out of the Window 
OVD   Operational Viability Decision 
RSA   Runway Safety Area 
SAT   Site Acceptance Test 
SDA   System Design Approval 
SMR    Surface Movement Radar 
SMS   Safety Management System 
SRA   Safety Risk Assessment 
SRMD   Safety Risk Management Document 
SRMDM  Safety Risk Management Document Memorandum 
SRMP   Safety Risk Management Panel 
SHA   System Hazard Analysis 
SSHA   Sub-System Hazard Analysis 
STARS   Standard Terminal Automation Replacement System 
SWIM   System Wide Information Management 
TAMR   Terminal Automation Modernization and Replacement 
TRACON  Terminal Radar Control Facility 
UHF   Ultra High Frequency 
VFR   Visual Flight Rules 
VHF   Very High Frequency 
VMC   Visual Meteorological Condition 

31



8 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. FNL “Draft Graphic Remote Tower Timeline” as of April 30, 2024. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



2023

Colorado Digital Tower Timeline
(Draft)

FCT – Federal Contract Tower Program
SRMP - Safety Risk Management Panel
SRMD – Safety Risk Management Document
STARS – Standard Terminal Automation Replacement System
SDA – System Design Approval

Complete

Upcoming activity

Critical Path Task

220° Camera Array

220° Camera Array

360° Camera 
Array

2024

RTX/Frequentis 
Installs equipment at 

Tech Center
May 2024 

FAA FCT 
Program TOA         
Approved by 

Cities          
12-19-23

RTX/Frequentis 
receives Preliminary 

SDA approval 
December 2024-

Spring 2025  

RTX/Frequentis 
Begin SDA Testing at 

Tech Center         
June 2024 

RTX/Frequent 
Proposal
4-18-24 

MOU – Memorandum of Understanding  
Ops – Operations
TBD – To Be Determined
OVD – Operational Viability Decision
ORI - Operational Readiness Inspection (Mobile ATCT)
V&V – Validation & Verification

Abbreviation Key

FAA Closeout 
Letter and 

Project 
Accounting

FNL Executes 
Letter of Intent with 

RTX/Frequentis

RTX/Frequentis 
Executes Letter of 
Intent to Complete 

Testing at FNL

33



PRESS RELEASES 

(HTTPS://WWW.COMMERCE.SENATE.GOV/PRESSRELEASES) 

Senate Overwhelmingly Approves FAA Reauthorization 
Act 
(https://www.commerce.senate.gov/2024/5/senate
overwhelmingly-approves-faa-reauthorization-act) 

Mayg, 2024

Legislation sets national priorities to strengthen aviation safety standards, grow air traffic controller Ge safety inspector 

workforce, implement safety technology on runways Ge in cockpits 

Gives flyers new rights to hassle-free refunds, no-fee family seating Ge 24/7 customer service; improves accessibility Ge 

triples fines for airline consumer violations 

Grows infrastructure investments in airports of all sizes, ensures small, rural communities remain connected with air 

service 

Today, the U.S. Senate overwhelmingly approved the bipartisan Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Reauthorization Act 

to reauthorize the FAA and the NTSB for five years. Sponsored by Commerce Committee Chair Maria Cantwell (D-WashJ, 

Ranking Member Ted Cruz (R-Texas), Aviation Subcommittee Chair Tammy Duckworth (D-lll. ) and Ranking Member Jerry 

Moran (R-KanJ, the legislation prioritizes investments that will strengthen aviation safety, boost consumer protections. 

grow the aviation safety workforce, advance technology and innovation, and modernize our national airspace system into 

the future. The legislation is expected to pass the U.S. House of Representatives next week before moving to the 

President's desk. 

"The American people expect and deserve the safest. most reliable and modern aerospace system in the world and this 

landmark bill is intended to deliver just that. Our bipartisan legislation sets clear priorities to strengthen aviation safety 

standards, implement new safety technology, hire more Air Traffic Controllers and safety inspectors. give passengers a 

guaranteed right to a refund, advance innovation and modernize our air travel infrastructure nationwide. With tonight's 

overwhelming vote, we are one step closer to getting this bill onto the president's desk," said Chair Maria Cantwell. 

"Today the Senate overwhelmingly passed a major FAA Reauthorization that will modernize and transform our country's 

aviation system. It was a privilege to lead this significant piece of bipartisan legislation. It included hundreds of key 

priorities from across the political spectrum and touching every state in the nation. It ultimately gives the FAA the stability it 

needs to fulfill its primary mission-advancing aviation safety-while also making travel more convenient and accessible. 

America's aviation sector is the most innovative in the world, and this bill takes it to the next level by integrating the 

technologies of the future into our nation's aerospace system,' said Ranking Member Ted Cruz. 

"Our country's aviation sector is the linchpin of our economy. The historic investments and reforms in this legislation will 

have a significant impact on the daily lives of people across Texas and the nation. My bipartisan legislation will greatly 

benefit Texas's thriving aviation industry by enabling testing for various cutting-edge technologies, improving critical 

infrastructure at airports across the Lone Star State, and making possible a direct flight from San Antonio International 

Airport to Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport. I am proud to have worked with my Senate colleagues. 

Chairwoman Cantwell. Aviation Subcommittee Chairwoman Duckworth, and Ranking Member Moran to address the 

serious challenges facing the FAA and the aviation industry at large, and to advance provisions that will foster the next 

generation of aviation technology,'' Cruz continued. 

34



35



36



37



38



39



������������	
������������������
������������	�����������	������	
��������� !"�# !�$%"�&%&'���()�*+,,-./01234�5667859:7�47;79<76=>�?)@�A)AB*+./=C/D�:=>E+F�GF>=.(A)A1�HAIJKLBIM NO�PQRSP"�TUVU�W# !�$%"�&%&'X�Y�:Z-�[=/\+.=E�900+C\=/\+.�+]�</=/-�9̂\=/\+.�3]]\C\=E0�([9<931�_F-0\̀-./=.̀�*73@�aF-b�_-C+F=F+@�\00c-̀�/Z-�]+EE+d\.b�0/=/-,-./�F-b=F̀\.b�ef<f�<-.=/-�g=00=b-�+]�/Z-�h\g=F/\0=.@h\C=,-F=E�2-̀-F=E�9̂\=/\+.�9̀,\.\0/F=/\+.�(2991�4-=c/Z+F\i=/\+.�h\EED�j[9<93�=ggE=c̀0�/Z-�ef<f�<-.=/-�]+F�g=00\.b�/Z\0�h\g=F/\0=.@�h\C=,-F=E�299�4-=c/Z+F\i=/\+.�h\EEf�:Z\0C+,gF-Z-.0\̂-�h\EE�-.0cF-0�/Z=/�d-�C+./\.c-�/+�,=k-�,cCZ�.--̀-̀�\.̂-0/,-./0�\.�+cF�=b\.b�=̂\=/\+.\.]F=0/FcC/cF-@�hc/�=E0+�gE=.�]+F�/Z-�]c/cF-�=.̀�/=k-�=̀ =̂./=b-�+]�-lC\/\.b�.-d�=-F+.=c/\C=E�/-CZ.+E+b\-0�/Z=/�d\EEk--g�/Z-�e.\/-̀�</=/-0�=/�/Z-�]+F-]F+./�+]�bE+h=E�=̂\=/\+.f�m-�/Z=.k�*+,,\//--�*Z=\F�6=F\=�*=./d-EE@�4=.k\.b6-,h-F�:-̀�*Fci@�<chC+,,\//--�*Z=\F�:=,,>�8cCkd+F/Z@�=.̀�<chC+,,\//--�4=.k\.b�6-,h-F@�n-FF>�6+F=.@=.̀�6=o+F\/>�;-=̀-F�*ZcCk�<CZc,-F�]+F�/Z-\F�E-=̀-F0Z\g�=.̀�C+,,\/,-./�+.�b-//\.b�/Z\0�h\EE�/ZF+cbZ�/Z-�<-.=/-fm-�E++k�]+Fd=F̀�/+�0--\.b�/Z-�p+c0-�/=k-�cg�=.̀�g=00�/Z-�h\EE�qc\CkE>�+.�/Z-\F�F-/cF.�.-l/�d--kfr7=FE\-F�/Z\0�d--k@�[9<93�0-./�=�E-//-F�\.�0cgg+F/�+]�/Z-�h\g=F/\0=.@�h\C=,-F=E�299�F-=c/Z+F\i=/\+.�h\EE�=.̀cFb\.b�*+.bF-00�/+�g=00�\/�qc\CkE>�h-]+F-�/Z-�CcFF-./�=c/Z+F\i=/\+.�-lg\F-̀f�sss[9<93�\0�/Z-�.=/\+.=EE>�F-C+b.\i-̀�̂+\C-�]+F�/Z-�gchE\C�\./-F-0/�\.�=̂\=/\+.�+.�h-Z=E]�+]�/Z-�0/=/-0�=.̀/-FF\/+F\-0f�m-�F-gF-0-./�0/=/-�b+̂-F.,-./�=̂\=/\+.�=b-.C\-0�\.�=EE�I)�0/=/-0@�ac=,@�=.̀�_c-F/+�4\C+f�5/0�,\00\+.\0�/+�-.C+cF=b-�=.̀�]+0/-F�C++g-F=/\+.�/ZF+cbZ+c/�/Z-�gchE\C�0-C/+F�\.�/Z-�̀-̂-E+g,-./�=.̀�gF+,+/\+.�+]�=.=/\+.=E�=̂\=/\+.�0>0/-,�/Z=/�0=]-E>�=.̀�-]]-C/\̂-E>�0-F̂-0�/Z-�.--̀0�+]�C\/\i-.0@�C+,,-FC-@�=.̀�C+,,c.\/\-0/ZF+cbZ+c/�/Z-�e.\/-̀�</=/-0f�
40



��������	
��������������
�����������������
�����������
������������
�����
�������
������ !�"�#$$%!�&�'())$*+��� !�"�#$$%!�&�'())$*+,��������������-��,��������������-��. /0/1!*)$*+. /0/1!*)$*+2
�����2
������1!*)$*+���"�334�1!*)$*+���"�3345�����5�����6789::�;"+<()�="">6789::�;"+<()�="">678:::?@$�+A678:::?@$�+A;(B;C*!)+!$��="";(B;C*!)+!$��=""D��-���D��-����E�+"&*F+";�G!+A�"H!;+!�&�E�+"&*F+";�G!+A�"H!;+!�&F!*)$*+�G"B;!+";>�) F+=$*@F!*)$*+�G"B;!+";>�) F+=$*@A$;+"I?@F!�+F!�"I�B/�1!*)$*+���">A$;+"I?@F!�+F!�"I�B/�1!*)$*+���">= !&A+�!�=$*@F+!$��C$�+!�(F  /= !&A+�!�=$*@F+!$��C$�+!�(F  /

JKLMNOK�PQROSTUV�WKQXM�YNUXTUOM�YOOURZO�[TUK�\]MOTVKUM
_̂̂`a*$G+A�CF��B"�" (;!b"�=$*�F�/�F!*)$*+8�";)"C!F  /�;@F  �$�";�+AF+�;(=="*�c "F%F&"de+A"� $;;�$=�C(;+$@"*;�+$� F*&"*��"F*B/�F!*)$*+;f1)) "+$��E�+"*�F+!$�F �1!*)$*+�g1hij�!��"F;+<C"�+*F �i!;C$�;!��F�I�4$ (@B!F�0"+*$)$ !+F��1!*)$*+�g41kj�!��'$(+A�4F*$ !�F�AFb"�F��"G+$$ �+$�A" )�) (&�+A"!*�*"b"�("<%!  !�&� "F%;l�. /0/1!*)$*+�=*$@�1!*)$*+���"�334fhA"�I!&!+F �) F+=$*@8�GA!CA�!;�"@B"II"I�$��"FCA�F!*)$*+m;�G"B;!+"8�@F%";�!+�"F;/�=$*�+*Fb" "*;�+$�;""�F+�F�& F�C"�GAF+�= !&A+;�$*!&!�F+"�F+�+A"!* $CF �F!*)$*+f�E+�F ;$�F  $G;�+A"@�+$�B$$%�= !&A+;�B/�C !C%!�&�$��+A"�)*$b!I"I� !�%fc. /0/1!*)$*+�FC+;� !%"�F�7n?o�C(;+$@"*�;"*b!C"�F&"�+8d�;F/;�1B"�i"B"*8�F!*)$*+�I!*"C+$*�F+�1hif�c4$�;(@"*;�p(;+�CA$$;"�+A"!*�;"F*CAC*!+"*!F8�F�I�!+�)*$b!I";�+A"�B";+�$)+!$�;�=$*�= /!�&�+A*$(&A�$(*�F!*)$*+�b"*;(;�F�$+A"*f�E+�BF;!CF  /�A" );�I"C*"F;"�C$@)"+!+!$��=*$@�$+A"*F!*)$*+;fd3F;+�/"F*8�1hi�;"*b"I��"F* /�q�@!  !$��)F;;"�&"*;8�B(+�F))*$H!@F+" /�o:r�$=�C$�;(@"*;�!�!+;�+F*&"+�CF+CA@"�+�F*"F�I*$b"�+$�0! GF(%""�$*�4A!CF&$�=$*�$(+B$(�I�= !&A+;fch$�&"+�B!&&"*8�G"�AFb"�+$�CF)+(*"�+AF+� "F%F&"�B/�@$+!bF+!�&�)"$) "�+$�= /�=*$@�$(*F!*)$*+8d�i"B"*�;F/;f�c1�I�+A!;�!;�F�+$$ �@FI"�+$�C$@BF+�+AF+� "F%F&"fd.(*+A"*@$*"8�+A"�G"B;!+"�) F+=$*@�&!b";�1hi�!�;!&A+;�!�+$�(;"*;m�+*Fb" �;"F*CA";�F�I)(*CAF;!�&�AFB!+;8�GA!CA�)*$b!I";�F�B"++"*�(�I"*;+F�I!�&�$=�GAF+�C$�;(@"*;�!��i!;C$�;!�*"F  /�GF�+8�A"�FII;f�s!@�4*F=+$�8�b!C"�)*";!I"�+�$=�0F*%"+!�&�F�I�1!*�'"*b!C"�t"b" $)@"�+�F+�41k8�!;�F ;$"�+A(;"I�FB$(+�+A"�$� !�"�F!IfciA"��G"�=!*;+�A"F*I�FB$(+�!+8�E�+A$(&A+�!+�GF;�F�*"F  /�C "b"*�F�I�(�!u("�="F+(*"�+AF+�G"C$( I�(;"�+$��$+�$� /�I*!b"�+*F==!C�+$�$(*�G"B;!+"8�B(+�"�C$(*F&"�$(*� $CF �C$@@(�!+/�+$�= / $CF  /8d�;A"�;F/;f�c�(*�C$�;+F�+�@";;F&"�!;�+$�B$$%� $CF �F�I�= /� $CF fc. /0/1!*)$*+�)*$b!I";�F�GF/�+$�;A$G�C$�;(@"*;�+AF+�G"�CF��&"+�+A"@�GA"*"�+A"/��""I�+$&$8�;+F*+!�&�*!&A+�A"*"�F+�41k8d�4*F=+$��C$�+!�(";f�cE+�=!+;�!�+$�$(*� F/"*"I�F))*$FCA�+$@F*%"+!�&e$�"�$=�@F�/�+A!�&;�G"�I$�+$�"�;(*"�+AF+�$(*�C$@@(�!+/�+*Fb" ;�+A*$(&A�+A!;F!*)$*+fd�����������
�v
���

41



���������	��
�������	�����������������������	��
�������	�������������������	����	��������	����	�������������� !����������� !�"���#����$�����#���%�"���#����$�����#���%�������������#�������������#&��������'�������(����������������	&��������'�������(����������������	�������#)���#
�������������#���	�������#)���#
�������������#���	�������$�����#*�����%���������$�����#*�����%����#��
�#�������%%��������##��%��#��
�#�������%%��������##��%$�����������$�����#$�����������$�����#+ �, !�+ �, !�-�����./�0121��������#-�����./�0121��������#34567��+ �, 34567��+ �, 89:4��9�!�89:4��9�!�-��������;��<��-����������-��������;��<��-����������=;�=;�>?>@�A4  ��B�,�C97D5�!�>?>@�A4  ��B�,�C97D5�!�E����	�FE����	�F$������$������A74��9,5�G567�5����H!�A74��9,5�G567�5����H!�I��	�./.JI��	�./.J89:4��9�!�89:4��9�!�K���$����L�����������K���$����L�����������-�����������2K�-�����������2K�>?>@�A4  ��B�,�C97D5�!>?>@�A4  ��B�,�C97D5�!�-�����F1.�-�����F1.$������$������A74��9,5�G567�5����H!�A74��9,5�G567�5����H!�E��1�./.JE��1�./.J

2�����M�$$�N���������������%��������%�-�������O��N��P�����#��
���Q�	L	-�������R�#�����������%����	���#�R�������R��
�-S=��#���$������������#������N���	����������#���##���������%%��1T�������$$���%��#��������������$������1�=
���-S=�R�����������#����#������$������������������������#����%�	������%�-�������N�����#�����
�������	���������������������#R��������������������#�����
���������*������#����%���
�#������%��������#����L��R��������K
�����UR��
������%��$�������������
����������������������$���������#������������#�#�##��������R��
��#�����
�#��������N�%���
���R�	��������#1'V�������##�������	�R����������������������%�	������%�����
������	N(�M�$$���P�����#1�'2�R�<�������������$�##�����������$��������������%�	������1�=
����������#�����#�����N��$$������#�����#�����N����1(Q�	L	-��������%%��#�R
���
������#���#����
�������#�������1�K��#�$��#�R
����#����
�R��#�����%��������#��#�������R����#����
������%��$����$������	���#���	�������
���������<#
�$������1�-%�����
�	�����������#�������������#�������������������������������#N��
�	������������������	��1��$N���'$���(�#����
���������
�����#���	#����	�%���
�#�������������%��$�
����������1�=
������#�$��#�#��������%���
��������N��
�	����������������������	�����
��##���������������1�'S
�	�������������	�%��$������������R��#���U���$�����$�����������N(�M�$$��$�
�#�W�#1�'S
��<#��$�������������#���%�#�$��
�������#�R����N��������%���
��������������N�
����������R����
�����
�$1�S
�����������#�<��������%��
������#������N�#��������#�<�������
�#�����#�%��$���#��$��#1(-������#���	�X.N///�����$���
�����#��Q�	L	-������N����#��������$��#�����%����%�X.NY//10�����-�������O��<#�#���#%����������������N��������#�������������
��#������������	���$�1M�$$������#��
����%%�����#�����������������#���#�������P���##����������#�����Q�	L	-���������
���������������������������#
��#�R��
����#�$��#1'S
��������%�Q�	L	-������<#�����������#������#�������	�����������������#��������$���N�����R����������#��%�����#�W�#������$$���������
����#���%%�����#��
���������R��
��
�������#�$��#<����	#����%�������#N(�
��#�	#1�'S
�#��#�<��Z�#��������������������������1�;�<#������������������
�����������#��$���#������������P�������������$�����������#����%������#�$��#����%�����
����#�%���
��������#�����������%��$��
�����������1([4 \]94,H�[4�4-�������O����������#�������#�R��
�������������#
�������
���������#�#����������������R��#����$�����#N����������̂����	���#��#N��$�����%����_�����#����#N��$�����%�#����
�#��	���#��������NR
��
�%���
�#*��#��������#���������#����%�������R
��
��
�	����<�N����$���%�'%���(���#��#���#����������	��������#��������
����������$�����%�������#�����
�#��1S
��$�����#����������������#�R��
������������%��$�������
�������
�����
�$�#�����$���������������#�$�����%%�������	N�#�	#�M�$$�1'S
�����������#��
�$����������������%�R
������#�$��#��
�����%��
����������������#������N�R
��
�����
�����
�$��%�����
����$���������#��������#������#���
�	�����#���R
������#�$��#�������	���N(�
�����������#1�'Q����P�$���N�������#�$��
���������#��%���
�#����̀�#�a���#N������
�	��	������	����<�����R��%���#��$��#��������	��������%����
�#�%���
�#N�$��
���##�����
���
�$1�T�����R��
�	����R�R
�����#��$��#�����������N�#����
�����������
�1'-�#�N���%����Q�	L	-������N��������#�����<�����R��
������#��$��#<���$�#������#���
�	��������%���
�#��#�R
���N(�M�$$����������#1�'-����%�	������������R�	������#��$��#N�	������<����������������#
��#�R��
��
�$��������#�����
�R�����������#��������
�$1�E�RN��������#�����������R��
������#��$��#������
������#��$��#����������R��
�$1(-���
����#��%����
����#
������������#�$����������	#�#�%�������#��������������$���1b������
����%��$������������
��#�������#��$�������������#����%�#���#N�M�$$�����#����#��
��R��#��������%��$'���������	�
������#�����������������%����������#1(
42



���������	��
������������������������������������������� �!"���#$��������%�&�����'()*)#��+"������,&()�-.-/0�����"&(%��&���%����%��"+��!"��1"��&������"�1(�12������1(&%�%�(��2��"��""2�!(������"&��"!�#++(��"��34"�����5678��!����)9���%"��������0:������)���3;!�����+��%0���)0�<=..�"���%>��������0����1�����������1�&�(����&���"����>�������?�"�����)+�"+(���1�&�(()��""2�%�!(��������������&(��"!������1��+�����3$�����(("���&���"��%@&���"&���%>���������%"((����!"��+��2��!!�1���1)0:��������%%���3;���(("���&���"�+��(���12��"�����(�)���"��"&�����2�������������)���%�������(���(���"��������������"���������1��+������������&11���!&(0���1����(+��&�����&����>��)�%"((�������+��%�+�">�%��������&���"����>���������;�9�����������>�(���"��:$�����������+(��!"����(�"�������(+�%�#$����%&1������%�+��%��1��"��+��%�"�(�����%>��������0���1�&��������>��1"��&�����������"���"�"�����1�(()�>������������+"��9�����������"�����1��!"��!(�����?����"&������&��"���!�"��"�(�������%A+���)�1"�+����"���B
�CD�E�����F�C��#��G#H0�%����1"((�1��%����"&���'()*)#��+"�����(+�����2������"!!�1��(���������1��%��������"���������������"�����!!�10����1������&�����(+��������%@&���"�(�����&)���"���1����������>�����(��)�"!���"���%��������"��0�G��!�"����)��3 �!"��0��((�"!�"&��+��%��"1��(���%���+"����%���1��%�+�����������"����(������������0:������I+(������34"���������!!�1����)��"��"&�����������#�%�"�1�����1���1�+�&����"����)���"��"&���������0����1����(�"���((��������"&�"��������"&�1����>��(��(������0�(�2��+��A�""2����+��2�����+�1���:#�"�����%����"��%�!���&�����%�1��������1��������������>�(����1"���!�"����������)�>�����G#H9��������$���+�">�%����"���������������"����1��+��%��%>�����������������"����!!�1��>��3���1������0�!"��������1�0��!���1"��&����1�����"�"&����������!�"������%��������"������(�>���"�������"�9��������0:�G��!�"���I+(������3J�"������������!"�����"���(("���&���"��%@&���"&����%����&)���11"�%���()�:G��!�"���(�"�+"�����"&�������������"������>�(����!()�"&��"!�G#H0������9����+"����>��%"���"��!!�1��"��+��2�����>��&�0�1"�1����"�����(��0���%�A�����������>�1�����%��"�!"�����3������"���+����������1�"����"�!()�("1�(()0����("1�(�1"��&���)�����!���0:�������)��K����)���0�G#H����>�%��"��������=�-���((�"��+����������L
��E�M���
�F��	���*"��������-.�N�O�����+"����1&�����()�&�������'()*)#��+"���+(��!"��0����1��#��+"���P����"������%������������;���"���1����0�����+(��!"���1���"�(�>��������������+"����������"������2�

43



����������	�
����������������	��������������������	�������������
����������
��
�������������������������������	������������������������
������������������������
������������
������������������
����������������
������������������������
�����������������	���������� 
�����������������������������������������
���������
���������������������������������	�������	���	����������������������������!���������������
�����������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������"�	�����
��
����������	�����������
������������������������
����
���#�
�#��������������������	����!����������"�	����������
����������
��
���������������#��#��������	�������������������������������
��������������������������!$����������������
����������������������%�����������������������������������������
�!������&����&�������������������������	���
��������������������
��������������������������! ��'��
�����������
�����������������������������������������������!��
���
��������������	����(������	��)����	�
�����
�����	��������������������������������
�	���	�������������	�
����������������������������������������������������������$���	����
���
�����������������������
�����������������������������������
����������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������(�������������! ������
�������
�����������	�������������������������� 
�������������������������������
������������������������	����	�������������������
����������������
�����
�����������������������������	�����������������������!��������
44



���������	��	�
������������������
���������	�����	�
�����������
�������������������
���������������������������
�������������������	��������� ����������������������������������������������������
����� !"�����������������#���������������
��������!���	������������������#��#������������
�� !"��������������!�����$�!��#���������%
��������
���������������������
������
�������
��������������������������������������������������
#�����������& !"&��������������'

45



����������	
��
������������
��
�����������������
�����
�������������	����������������
������������������������ !"�#$%&'(�)*+',�-�./��� !"�#$%&'(�)*+',�01*223456789:;�<=>�?@�?A?B�=C�DEFG�3<�<HI
JKLLM�NKOPMQRSTUMO�VWXLYZ�[KPY\]̂C:_�̀:=_6>�Cab�9b4_8�b̂�cbdd4̀7C>�̂::;5=ce@�37Ce7̀�fb4̀C>�cbdd7887b̀:_8�g=88:;�=�_:8b64C7b̀�b̀�<=>�G�C9=C84hh:8C8�4g;=C:8�Cb�C9:�]7_gb_C�i=>b4C�36=̀�̂b_�C9:�]8g:̀j37Ce7̀�fb4̀C>�]7_gb_C@�7̀c64;7̀h�=�a7;:_�_4̀a=>�C9=C�ab46;=66ba�6=_h:_�=7_g6=̀:8�Cb�6=̀;kI9:�lb=_;�b̂�fb4̀C>�fbdd7887b̀:_8�mbC:;�̂b4_�Cb�b̀:b̀�n:;̀:8;=>�Cb�_:cbdd:̀;�=̀�4g;=C:;�]7_gb_Ci=>b4C�36=̀�o]i3p�̂b_�C9:�]8g:̀j37Ce7̀�fb4̀C>�]7_gb_CkI9:�q:;:_=6�]m7=C7b̀�];d7̀78C_=C7b̀�oq]]p�78�:rg:cC:;Cb�=gg_bm:�C9:�_:cbdd:̀;:;�c9=̀h:8@�a97c9�7̀c64;:

46



��������	
�����������

������	
�
���������
���������������

�������������������������������	
���
����������
��
����
����� 
�!����

������������	
��
��
����
����	
���"������������� ��
� ��#����
��������������$
�����%���&�'''������
���$�(
�����������������
� 
���&�����
����&�����������&� ��������
���&
����� 
���
��	
����
�����
���	�
�������
�
���������� �����	
��	���
������	
���(
����	
��������)	
������
���	���������
���������
��� ���
��&���
������
�������������������
��
������
���������	
����
���� ��������������&
���*��
�����
��
�����������
��� �����	
�����
�����������
���&����������������
������������$�������	
�������������������������
�������	
���+�������
,�
������
�����
���	����	
��	�������	���
� ������&&���
��	
�����
��
���	���
�������������	
�#�����������
��)	
��
�
������
�����������������������
����
��	����
����	����	
��������������
����������	
����&����������
�������������
���	����&������)	
�
"������
47



���������	�	
���
�����		��	�
��
���������������������
���������������������	���������������������
���
�����������
���	
�
���������
������ ���
�	�����
�������
���������!�"�
�
���#���
�����
$��%���
��
��
�������������������
������
���������
����
����!�������������	
�&'��������!�����
������������������
��������
��
�������
���(�������		������	�!�����
��	
����	���#���������������
�������)��
	!��$����"������
�������������
������!	����
����������
$��%���
�����	���
���������
��
��������*	�������
��	�����
�����	����	+�����
������������������
��	���
�������
�������������	��������	
���
��������������������������������
���,���
	��(����	
���
��������%���
��-�������.���������$�	���
����*	�����
�����	������$������!�	��
���������"�����������
��
�	�������"���������
���
�����
����
48



����������	����	
�������������������������	����� ����� ����� �!"�!#!$%�	���&��	��'(�)*�+��,�-(*.��/01.

49



���������	�	�
����������	���������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#$%&'(�)"(*'+&,-$./0'&1�*2"3'45�6�789�:;<=>�<?=�@A<BA5�C;D5<E�F;6GH�;I�C;JJAKKA;5=GK�:;<=H�<;�6J=5H�<?=�LKM=5N@A<BA5�C;D5<E�LAGM;G<�MO655A5PH;QDJ=5<>�K?AI<A5P�<?=�GD5R6E�ST�I==<�R=K<�A5K<=6H�;I�J;:A5P�<?=�<6UAR6E�ST�I==<�=6K<VW?=�Q?65P=�6MMOA=K�<;�<?=�6AGM;G<XK�ID<DG=�LAGM;G<�Y6E;D<�@O65�ZLY@[>�6�Q;5Q=M<D6O�MO655A5P�H;QDJ=5<�<?6<�PDAH=K�I=H=G6OID5HA5P�A5:=K<J=5<KV�L5�DM8<;8H6<=�LY@�AK�6�\=H=G6O�L:A6<A;5�LHJA5AK<G6<A;5�G=]DAG=J=5<V�4̂�<?A5B�A<XK�_==5�K?;R5�<?6<�<?=�;5OE�IAKQ6OOE�G=KM;5KA_O=�<?A5P�<;�H;�AK�<;�DK=�ID5HA5P�<?6<XK�6:6AO6_O=�IG;J�<?=�\LL>̀�K6AHC;JJAKKA;5=G�a<=:=�C?AOHV�̂W?=�MDGM;K=�;I�<?=�\LL�ID5HA5P�AK�<;�AJMG;:=�6AGM;G<�GD5R6EK>�<6UAR6EK>�65H�<?=�K6I=<E�;I<?=�6AGM;G<V�W?6<XK�R?6<�<?6<�J;5=E�AK�<?=G=�I;GV�W?6<XK�R?6<�R=�R65<�<;�DK=�A<�I;GV̀
50



��������	
���������������
�����	�������	����������	��	�������	��	����������	�������	������	��������������������������	���� ���	���������	������������	������	�����	� ���������	!�����������		��"��������	
�������������������	����#�������
�	�������������������	��	��	���������������������������	���������������	���������������������$�����
�����������������	��	�������	
%�	���������	&���������%��	����������	�"��������������	�������	��	�����	����	����������	
����	��	��	%�������'��
��	��������	�����������()*(%������������������	��������	������	����	���	�+��
���������
����	��������	��,))����	%����	����	��������������������	������������	���������	&��� ����������������������	����-./�	��**0/���	����������������	��	���������	�����������"�����������������������������	����	�������
%�	�����	��	����	���+	����	�����	/�����	�+��
%��������	��������������������������	���1����������
� ���2����	�������
%������+	��������������	��	��������	�������	�������
"
51



��������	
��������	���������	
�������	���������������	��������������������������	��������������	���	�����������	�	��������	���������������	�����������	���	��	�	��������������������������������	���������	�	����������	���������������������	�����	��������	������������	���	���������������������	�����������������	���������	��������	����������	��������	
�� !"#�$%!%&'(�)�!�*'%+�+,�%-.��/('.'!"'0�"1'�2�%(0�34"1�%�5%(4'"#��6�64!%!+4%-�7�0'-.��!�"1'�0'2"�"1'�+� !"#�+� -04!+ (�34"1� "�6'0'(%-8��(�'5'!�."%"'8�6 !04!&�"��1'-/�34"1�"1'�1 !0('0.��6�74--4�!.��6�0�--%(.�4!�%4(64'-0�%!0�-%!0.40'('+�!."( +"4�!9:5'(�;<�/'�/-'�./�,'�0 (4!&�"1'�/ 2-4+�+�77'!"�/�("4�!��6�"1'�7''"4!&9���77'!"'(.�6(�7�"1'�-�+%-�2 .4!'..�%!0%54%"4�!�+�77 !4"#�-%(&'-#�. //�("'0�"1'�%7'!07'!".�"��"1'�=>*8�314-'�%�."(�!&1�-0��6�-�+%-.�+�!+'(!'0�%2� "�"1'/(�./'+"��6�-%(&'(�/-%!'.��2?'+"'0�"��31%"�"1'#�54'3'0�%.�,�3"�34!&�"��"1'�@==9���774..4�!'(�@(%!+4'�)%+�2'(�."('..'0�1'(�%!0���774..4�!'(�*%""4��-%//'(A.�('+'!"�"(4/�"��B%.14!&"�!�C9�9�%.('%.�!4!&�"��. //�("�"1'�%7'!0'0�=>*9�D5'(#�6'0'(%-��664+4%-�"1'#�7'"�34"1�"�-0�"1'7�"1%"�"1'�@==�34--�!�"�%++'/"�%!�=>*"1%"�0�'.�!�"�340'!�"1'�"%E43%#F( !3%#�.'/%(%"4�!�"��6 --�+�7/-4%!+'�34"1�=4(/�("�C'.4&!�G(� /�HHH�I�J<<�6''"9�KH"A.�� (�640 +4%(#�0 "#�%.�"1'�+�774..4�!'(.�"��0��"1'�7�."�('./�!.42-'�"14!&�6�(�� (�'!"'(/(4.'�%"�"1'�%4(/�("8L�.1'�.%409K=!0�"1%"�4.�"��7�5'�6�(3%(0�!�3�%!0�%++'/"�"1'�6'0'(%-�7�!'#�%!0�64E�"1'�-%#� "��6�"1'�%4(64'-09L��774..4�!'(�M'--#�$+N4+1�-%.�M (#�+%."�"1'�.�-'�!%#�5�"'�2 "�.%40�.1'��!-#�040�.��"��('6-'+"�"1'�+�77 !4"#�"'!.4�!�5'(�"1'�"�/4+9KH�0�!A"�"14!,�HA0�2'�/( 0'!"�%.�%!�'-'+"'0�46�H�%05�+%"'0�/-%#4!&�+14+,'!�34"1�"1'�@==8L�.1'�.%409�KH�0�!A"�"14!,�"1'/�3'(�4.�4!�� (�+� ("�4!�"14.�('-%"4�!.14/9�=!0�H�"14!,8�4!�/%("4+ -%(8�"1'�+�!04"4�!��6�"1'�%4(/�("�0�'.!A"�&45'� .�%�31�-'�-�"�6�!'&�"4%"4!&�(��7�%!#7�('9L=-"'(4!&�"1'�=>*�"��/-%!�6�(�%�( !3%#�.146"�%!0�!�"�%�"%E43%#�.146"�4.�7'%!"�"��.%5'�"1'�%4(/�("�"47'�%!0�7�!'#8�%.�"1'( !3%#�4.�4!�0'./'(%"'�!''0��6�"�"%-�('+�!."( +"4�!9�
52



�����������	�
���	������
���	������������	���������
�	���������
�������������������
	������������������������� �����������!��
������
	�������
"��
�����
��
�����������#����
�	
���
�����������
"��
����!�	����������������!�����
�	������
����������������
���������������������$����������������	����������
	��%����
��&'�������((����
����
�	��
�	���������������!��)���������*���������#!�	�+�����!���
���	�������
�������!��������!�	�
��������$���
�	����������
,��-����������
���	��
�!������������������.��!�	�/�������	
�������������
���	�����
�
"��
��������0!�����!�
���
	�1
��0�������1
��0����2
�������
�	������
��������������
"��
��������������
�����!��
���!��0���!����������!��	������
���������
�����������3������������	���������������������#���/����
�	��������
�������������	���������
���
����
��������!���	0
�$��
��������34�5��!��
�����
"��
�������5�
����0�	������0��������
����������������.��!�	/�������	
����6��
�������	!���������!
������������0��
���
��7(8���
�
�������
�������������
�	���	!��������0��
���
��7(8���������2�������2
���
����������
�	��
�������
������������
���
�����������������������
�����
���!�
����������
��������	���
����������
������
	��������
���	�	��34�
���������
����9���
�����
����������0�
�	����!���
�	�
�������
����������������
������
���	�	��34��!0���������������#����2������
�	���������������
����������������������
���34��
����������
������������#����
����
���������������
������	���	��
����
�	�
��������
���
�����
�������

53



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER: 4 
MEETING DATE: May 14, 2024 

PREPARED BY: Francis Robbins, Airport Operations & Maintenance Manager 

TITLE 
CDOT Aeronautics Internship Grant 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
Adopt the resolution approving the 2024 Grant agreement with the State of Colorado 
Division on Aeronautics for the aviation management internship at the Northern 
Colorado Regional Airport.  

BUDGET IMPACT 
Positive: The grant agreement will provide additional financial resources to the Airport 

SUMMARY 
The grant agreement is for a 12-month internship program. The Airport has benefitted 
from this program in the past and two of the staff members were previous interns. The 
grant for the internship program is $21,840 and pays for up to 50% of the hourly wage 
for a paid intern employee. The total costs associated with this intern position have 
been budgeted for.  

The Amended and Restated IGA for the Joint Operation of the Airport approved by both 
City Councils in 2016 allows the Airport Commission the authority to enter into grant 
agreements to the extent permitted by grantors, so long as such grant agreements: 

i. do not include commitment of Airport revenues and funds for grant
matches of more than $300,000 from appropriated funds included in the
approved Airport budget;

ii. do not involve capital construction projects unless such projects are
included in the approved Airport budget; and

iii. are approved by the City Managers, to the extent the City Managers are
authorized by their respective City Councils to do so

ATTACHMENTS 
- Resolution # R-03-2024 - Approving the 2024 Grant Agreement with the State of

Colorado Division of Aeronautics
- CDOT 24-FNL-I01 Internship Grant - $21,840

54



RESOLUTION  # R-03-2024 
  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE 2024 GRANT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
STATE OF COLORADO DIVISION OF AERONAUTICS (CDAG #24-FNL-I01) FOR 

THE AVIATION MANAGEMENT INTERNSHIP AT THE NORTHERN 
COLORADO REGIONAL AIRPORT  

 
WHEREAS, the General Assembly of the State of Colorado has declared in Title 43 of 

the Colorado Revised Statutes, Article 10, 1991 in C.R.S. 43-10-101 (“the Act”) that: “. . . there 
exists a need to promote the safe operation and accessibility of general aviation and intrastate 
commercial aviation in this state; that improvement of general aviation and intrastate commercial 
aviation transportation facilities will promote diversified economic development across the state; 
and that accessibility to airport facilities for residents of this state is crucial in the event of a medical 
or other type of emergency;” and 
 

WHEREAS, the Act created the Colorado Aeronautical Board (“the Board”) to establish 
policy and procedures for distribution of monies in the Aviation Fund and created the Division of 
Aeronautics (“the Division”) to carry out the directives of the Board, including technical and 
planning assistance to airports and the administration of the state aviation system grant program.  
(See C.R.S. §43-10-103, C.R.S. §43-10-105, and C.R.S. §43-10-108.5 of the Act); and 
 

WHEREAS, any eligible entity operating a public-accessible airport in the state may file 
an application (the “Application”) for and be a recipient of a grant to be used solely for aviation 
purposes. The Division is authorized to assist such airports as request assistance by means of a 
Resolution passed by the applicant’s duly-authorized governing body, which understands that all 
funds shall be used exclusively for aviation purposes and that it will comply with all grant 
procedures and requirements as defined in the Division’s Program and Procedures Manual (“the 
Manual”) and the Airport Sponsor Assurances for Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant Funding 
(“Grant Assurances”) attached as “Exhibit C” to the Grant Award Letter (“Grant Agreement”). 
Such Grant Agreement is attached hereto as “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Collins and the City of Loveland (“the Cities”) own and 
operate in the State the Northern Colorado Regional Airport (“the Airport”) pursuant to that certain 
Amended and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement for the Joint Operation of the Fort Collins-
Loveland Municipal Airport dated January 22, 2015, as amended (“Airport IGA”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Cities have applied for grant CDAG #24-FNL-I01 (the “Grant 

Agreement”) from the Division for the purpose of funding the Aviation Management Internship at 
the Northern Colorado Regional Airport (the “Project”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Grant Agreement provides to the Airport twenty thousand eight hundred 

dollars ($21,840) (the “State Grant”), subject to the Cities providing a fifty percent (50%) local 
match for the Project in the amount of twenty-one thousand eight hundred forty dollars ($21,840), 
for a total Project cost of forty thousand six hundred dollars ($43,680); and 

 

55



 

 

2 
 

WHEREAS, a total of twenty-one thousand eight hundred forty dollars ($21,840) of 
additional local funding in the Airport Fund will be applied toward this Project, in addition to this 
State Grant, which additional funding has previously been appropriated and approved by the 
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission and both City Councils through the adoption of 
the 2024 Airport Budget. 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 4.J of the Airport IGA, the Commission is authorized to 

sign grant agreements to the extent permitted by grantors, so long as such grant agreements meet 
the standards set forth therein, including approval by the City Managers of both Cities to the extent 
they are authorized by their respective City Councils to do so. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE NORTHERN COLORADO 
REGIONAL AIRPORT COMMISSION AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. That the Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission (“the 
Commission”), pursuant to its authority under the Airport IGA to approve the Grant Agreement, 
attached hereto as “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein, on behalf of the Cities as the grant 
applicant, hereby formally requests assistance from the Colorado Aeronautical Board and the 
Division of Aeronautics in the form of a state aviation system grant.  The Commission states that 
such State Grant shall be used solely for aviation purposes, as determined by the State, and as 
generally described in the Application. 
 

Section 2. That the Commission, on behalf of the Cities, by approving the Grant 
Agreement and authorizing the City Managers to sign the Grant Agreement, commits to keep open 
and accessible for public use all grant-funded facilities, improvements and services for their useful 
life, as determined by the Division and stated in the Grant Agreement and Grant Assurances. 
 

Section 3. That the Commission, on behalf of the Cities, hereby designates Francis 
Robbins, Airport Operations Manager, as the Project Director, as described in the Manual, and 
authorizes the Project Director to act in all matters relating to the work project proposed in the 
Application on its behalf, and further authorizes the City Managers of the Cities to execute the 
Grant Agreement with such modifications in form or substance as the City Managers, in 
consultation with their respective City Attorney’s Office, may deem necessary to effectuate the 
purposes of this Resolution or to protect the interests of the Cities to reflect approval of the City 
Managers, to the extent that they have been authorized to do so by their respective City Councils. 
 

Section 4. That the Cities have appropriated or will appropriate or otherwise make 
available in a timely manner their share of all funds that are required to be provided by the Cities 
under the terms and conditions of the Grant Agreement. 
 

Section 5. That on behalf of the Cities and subject to the foregoing, the Commission 
hereby accepts all guidelines, procedures, standards, and requirements described in the Manual as 
applicable to the performance of the grant work and hereby approves the Grant Agreement 
submitted by the State, including all terms and conditions contained therein. 

56



 

 

3 
 

 
Section 6. That this Resolution shall be effective as of the date and time of its 

adoption. 
 
ADOPTED this _____ day of May, 2024. 

 
 
 
              

      Jeni Arndt, Chair of the 
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
     
Secretary 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

57



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-I01 

 Page 1 of  1 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

 Colorado Division of Aeronautics 
Discretionary Aviation Grant Resolution 
 

RESOLUTION 
WHEREAS: 
The General Assembly of the State of Colorado declared in Title 43 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, Article 10, 
1991 in CRS §43-10-101 (the Act) “… that there exists a need to promote the safe operations and accessibility of 
general aviation in this state; that improvements to general aviation transportation facilities will promote 
diversified economic development across the state; and that accessibility to airport facilities for residents of this 
state is crucial in the event of a medical or other type of emergency…” 
The Act created the Colorado Aeronautical Board (“the Board”) to establish policy and procedures for distribution 
of monies in the Aviation Fund and created the Division of Aeronautics (“the Division”) to carry out the directives 
of the Board, including technical and planning assistance to airports and the administration of the state aviation 
system grant program. SEE CRS §43-10-103 and C.R.S. §43-10-105 and CRS §43-10-108.5 of the Act. 
Any eligible entity operating an FAA-designated public-use airport in the state may file an application for and be 
recipient of a grant to be used solely for aviation purposes. The Division is authorized to assist such airports and 
request assistance by means of a Resolution passed by the applicant’s duly-authorized governing body, which 
understands that all funds shall be used exclusively for aviation purposes and that it will comply with all grant 
procedures, grant assurances and requirements as defined in the Division’s Programs and Procedures Manual, 
(“the Manual”) and the Airport Sponsor Assurances for Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant Funding (“Grant 
Assurances”) attached hereto as Exhibit B for the project detailed in the Discretionary Aviation Grant Application 
(“Application”) attached hereto as Exhibit A and in conjunction with CDOT’s Small Dollar Grant Award Terms 
and Conditions attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 
The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland, as a duly authorized governing body of the grant applicant, hereby formally 
requests assistance from the Colorado Aeronautical Board and the Division of Aeronautics in the form of a state 
aviation system grant. The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland states that such grant shall be used solely for aviation 
purposes, as determined by the State, and as generally described in the Application. 
By signing this Grant Resolution, the applicant commits to keep open and accessible for public use all grant 
funded facilities, improvements and services for their useful life, as determined by the Division and stated in the 
Grant Assurances. 
FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED: 
That the Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland hereby designates Francis Robbins as the Project Director, as described 
in the Manual and authorizes the Project Director to act in all matters relating to the work project proposed in the 
Application, including execution of any amendments. 
FURTHER: 
The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland has appropriated or will otherwise make available in a timely manner all 
funds, if any, that are required to be provided by the applicant as shown on the Application. 
FINALLY: 
The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland hereby accepts all guidelines, procedures, standards, and requirements 
described in the Manual as applicable to the performance of the grant work and hereby approves this Grant 
Resloution, including all terms and conditions contained therein. 
 
 
By:         Date: ______________  
  
Print Name and Title:_____________________________________ 
 
   
ATTEST (if needed)  
 
By:          
  
Print Name and Title:_____________________________________ 

58



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-I01 

 Page 1 of  1 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 Colorado Division of Aeronautics 
Discretionary Aviation Grant Application 
 

 
APPLICANT INFORMATION 

APPLICANT SPONSOR: 
Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 

AIRPORT:  
Northern Colorado Regional 
Airport 

IDENTIFIER:  
FNL 

PROJECT DIRECTOR: Francis Robbins 
MAILING ADDRESS: 
4900 Earhart Road 
 

EMAIL 
ADDRESS: francis.robbins@cityofloveland.org 

PHONE 
NUMBER: (970) 962-2853 

 

GRANT NAME AND TERMS 
 

24-FNL-I01 
TERMS 

Execution Date: Expiration Date: 
June 30, 2026 

 

FUNDING SUMMARY 
 

Funding Source Funding Amount 
State Aviation Grant:      $21,840.00 
Local Cash:         $21,840.00 
Local In-Kind:          $0.00 
Federal Aviation Grant:    $0.00 
Total Project Funding:         $43,680.00 

 

PROJECT SCHEDULE & BUDGET 
 

ELEMENT 
DESCRIPTION STATE FUNDING LOCAL FUNDING FEDERAL FUNDING TOTAL 

A. A-Payton Goudreau $21,840.00 Up to 
50.00% $21,840.00 50.00% $0.00 0.00% $43,680.00 

TOTALS $21,840.00  $21,840.00  $0.00  $43,680.00 
 

59



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-I01 

 Page 1 of  2 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

EXHIBIT B, GRANT ASSURANCES 
Airport Sponsor Assurances for  

Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant Funding 
Approved by CAB January 22, 2018 

I. APPLICABILITY 

a. These assurances shall be complied with by Airport Sponsors in the performance of all projects at 
airports that receive Colorado Department of Transportation – Division of Aeronautics (Division) 
Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant (CDAG) funding for projects including but not limited to:  master 
planning, land acquisition, equipment acquisition or capital improvement projects (Project).  It is not the 
intent of these Assurances to expand existing Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Grant Assurances 
for airports included in the National Plan of Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS); as similar assurances 
already exist for acceptance of FAA funding.  

b. Upon acceptance of this grant agreement these assurances are incorporated in and become a part thereof. 

II. DURATION 

a. The terms, conditions and assurances of the grant agreement shall remain in full force and effect 
throughout the useful life of the Project as defined in Table 1 (Useful Life), or if the airport for which 
the Project is funded ceases to function as a public airport, for twenty (20) years from the date of Project 
completion, whichever period is greater.  However, there shall be no limit on the duration of the 
assurances with respect to real property acquired with CDAG Project funds. 

III. COMPLIANCE 

a. Should an Airport Sponsor be notified to be in non-compliance with any terms of this agreement, they 
may become ineligible for future Division funding until such non-compliance is cured. 

b. If any Project is not used for aviation purposes during its Useful Life, or if the airport for which the 
Project is funded ceases to function as a public airport, for twenty (20) years from the date of Project 
completion or at any time during the estimated useful life of the Project as defined in Table 1, whichever 
period is greater, the Airport Sponsor may be liable for repayment to the Division of any or all funds 
contributed by the Division under this agreement.  If the airport at which the Project is constructed is 
abandoned for any reason, the Division may in its discretion discharge the Airport Sponsor from any 
repayment obligation upon written request by the Airport Sponsor. 

IV. AIRPORT SPONSOR GRANT ASSURANCES 

1. Compatible Land Use.  Compatible land use and planning in and around airports benefits the state aviation 
system by providing opportunities for safe airport development, preservation of airport and aircraft 
operations, protection of airport approaches, reduced potential for litigation and compliance with appropriate 
airport design standards. The airport will take appropriate action, to the extent reasonable, to restrict the use 
of land adjacent to, in the immediate vicinity of, or on the airport to activities and purposes compatible with 
normal airport operations, including landing and takeoff of aircraft. 

2. On-Airport Hazard Removal and Mitigation.  The airport will take appropriate action to protect aircraft 
operations to/from the airport and ensure paths are adequately cleared and protected by removing, lowering, 
relocating, marking, or lighting or otherwise mitigating existing airport hazards and by preventing the 
establishment or creation of future airport hazards.   

3. Safe, Efficient Use, and Preservation of Navigable Airspace.  The airport shall comply with 14 CFR Part 
77 for all future airport development and anytime an existing airport development is altered.  

4. Operation and Maintenance.  In regards to Projects that receive Division funding, the airport sponsor 
certifies that it has the financial or other resources that may be necessary for the preventive maintenance, 
maintenance, repair and operation of such projects during their Useful Life.

60



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-I01 

 Page 2 of  2 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

The airport and all facilities which are necessary to serve the aeronautical users of the airport shall be operated 
at all times in a safe and serviceable condition.  The airport will also have in effect arrangements for: 

a. Operating the airport's aeronautical facilities whenever required; 
b. Promptly marking and lighting hazards resulting from airport conditions, including temporary 

conditions; and  
c. Promptly notifying airmen of any condition affecting aeronautical use of the airport. 

5. Airport Revenues.  All revenues generated by the airport will be expended by it for the capital or operating 
costs of the airport, the local airport system, or other local facilities owned or operated by the owner or 
operator of the airport for aviation purposes. 

6. Airport Layout Plan (ALP).  Once accomplished and as otherwise may be required to develop, it will keep 
up-to-date a minimum of an ALP of the airport showing (1) boundaries of the airport and all proposed 
additions thereto, together with the boundaries of all offsite areas owned or controlled by the sponsor for 
airport purposes and proposed additions thereto; (2) the location and nature of all existing and proposed 
airport facilities and structures (such as runways, taxiways, aprons, terminal buildings, hangars and roads), 
including all proposed extensions and reductions of existing airport facilities; and (3) the location of all 
existing improvements thereon. 

7. Use for Aviation Purposes.  The Airport Sponsor shall not use runways, taxiways, aprons, seeded areas or 
any other appurtenance or facility constructed, repaired, renovated or maintained under the terms of this 
Agreement for activities other than aviation purposes unless otherwise exempted by the Division. 

TABLE 1 

Project Type Useful Life 

a.   All construction projects (unless listed separately below) 20 years 

b.  All equipment and vehicles 10 years 

c.   Pavement rehabilitation (not reconstruction, which is 20 years) 10 years 

d.   Asphalt seal coat, slurry seal, and joint sealing 3 years 

e.   Concrete joint replacement 7 years 

f.    Airfield lighting and signage 10 years 

g.    Navigational Aids 15 years 

h.   Buildings 40 years 

i.    Land Unlimited 

 

61



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

MODEL SMALL DOLLAR GRANT AWARDS AND CONTENT 
This is a State Controller Contract, Grant, and Purchase Order Policy under the State Fiscal Rules. All Small Dollar 
Grant Awards shall use one of the approved models Small Dollar Grant Award or Grant Agreement forms described 
in Fiscal Rule 3-4 unless the State Agency or Institution of Higher Education (IHE) has obtained the prior written 
approval from the Office of the State Controller (OSC). 

 
 

1) Available Model Small Dollar Grant Awards. The following model Small Dollar Grant Awards may 
be used by State Agencies and IHEs without additional approval from the OSC: 

a. Financial System Generated Small Dollar Grant Awards. This model is the system-generated 
document resulting from a Colorado Operations Resource Engine (CORE) POGG1 encumbrance 
or through another approved state financial system, which also explicitly references a link to the 
State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions that are attached to this policy. 
This model does not include other documents with a similar or the same appearance as one of 
these documents that is not generated within the financial system 

b. Other Approved Forms. A State Agency or IHE, at the discretion of the State Agency’s or IHE’s 
Procurement Official or State Controller delegate, may request other approved forms from the 
OSC. 

c. Backup Forms. If CORE or the approved state financial system used by the State Agency or IHE 
is unavailable for an extended period of time when a Small Dollar Grant Award must be issued, 
the State Agency or IHE, with the prior approval of the OSC, may use a backup form with the same 
or substantially similar appearance as one of the documents described in §1)a. 

 
2) Modifications of Model Small Dollar Grant Awards. A State Agency or Institution of Higher Education 

issuing a Small Dollar Grant Award may not modify the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award 
Terms and Conditions attached to this policy, including Addendum 1: Additional Terms & Conditions for 
Information Technology (“Addendum”), in any way without prior written approval of the OSC. 

a. Exception. The Office of Information Technology (OIT) may modify the provisions of Addendum 
for the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Awards specifically issued by OIT with the prior written 
approval of the Procurement Official of OIT or authorized delegate, without obtaining additional 
approval from OSC. 

b. Unauthorized Modifications. Except as described in §2)a., the failure of a State Agency or IHE 
to obtain approval from the OSC prior to issuing a Small Dollar Grant Award with modified the 
State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions shall constitute a violation of 
Fiscal Rule 3-4, §§ 4.1.7. and 5.1. 

 
3) Small Dollar Grant Award Exhibits and References. All Small Dollar Grant Awards shall either 

include or specifically reference the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions 
by hyperlink or, if modified in accordance with §2), attach the modified State of Colorado Small Dollar 
Grant Award Terms and Conditions and shall clarify on the Small Dollar Grant Award that the attached 
modified State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions shall govern the Small 
Dollar Grant Award in lieu of the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions 
referenced by hyperlink. Small Dollar Grant Awards shall also include any additional exhibits, based on 
the nature of the work performed under the Small Dollar Grant Award, as required by any other state 

 
 
 

 
 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 1 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

62



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

and/or federal agency with authority over that type of work or by any entity providing funding for the Small Dollar 
Grant Award, including, but not limited to, the following: 

a. Additional information technology provisions required by OIT. 
b. Additional provisions required to comply with the Office of Management and Budget Uniform 

Guidance, or the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, or any other applicable 
federal terms and conditions. 

c. Any federally required attachments relating to confidential information, such as a Health 
Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Business Associate Addendum or a Federal 
Tax Information Exhibit. 

 
 

 
Robert Jaros, CPA, MBA, JD State 

Controller 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 2 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

63



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions 
1. Offer/Acceptance. This Small Dollar Grant Award, together with these terms and conditions (including, if applicable, Addendum 1: Additional 
Terms and Conditions for Information Technology below), and any other attachments, exhibits, specifications, or appendices, whether attached or 
incorporated by reference (collectively the “Agreement”) shall represent the entire and exclusive agreement between the State of Colorado, by and 
through the agency identified on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award (“State”) and the Subrecipient identified on the face of the Small Dollar 
Grant Award (“Grantee”). If this Agreement refers to Grantee’s bid or proposal, this Agreement is an ACCEPTANCE of Grantee’s OFFER TO 
PERFORM in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If a bid or proposal is not referenced, this Agreement is an OFFER TO 
ENTER INTO AGREEMENT, subject to Grantee’s acceptance, demonstrated by Grantee’s beginning performance or written acceptance of this 
Agreement. Any COUNTER-OFFER automatically CANCELS this Agreement, unless a change order is issued by the State accepting a counter-
offer. Except as provided herein, the State shall not be responsible or liable for any Work performed prior to issuance of this Agreement. The 
State’s financial obligations to the Grantee are limited by the amount of Grant Funds awarded as reflected on the face of the Small Dollar Grant 
Award. 
2. Order of Precedence. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency within this Agreement, such conflict or inconsistency shall be resolved by 
giving preference to the documents in the following order of priority: (1) the Small dollar Grant Award document; (2) these terms and conditions 
(including, if applicable, Addendum 1 below); and (3) any attachments, exhibits, specifications, or appendices, whether attached or incorporated 
by reference. Notwithstanding the above, if this Agreement has been funded, in whole or in part, with a Federal Award, in the event of a conflict 
between the Federal Grant and this Agreement, the provisions of the Federal Grant shall control. Grantee shall comply with all applicable Federal 
provisions at all times during the term of this Agreement. Any terms and conditions included on Grantee’s forms or invoices not included in this 
Agreement are void. 
3. Changes. Once accepted in accordance with §1, this Agreement shall not be modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except in writing by 
the State and accepted by Grantee. 
4. Definitions. The following terms shall be construed and interpreted as follows: (a) “Award” means an award by a Recipient to a Subrecipient; 
(b) “Budget” means the budget for the Work described in this Agreement; (c) “Business Day” means any day in which the State is open and 
conducting business, but shall not include Saturday, Sunday or any day on which the State observes one of the holidays listed in CRS §24-11- 
101(1); (d) “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code in CRS Title 4; (e) “Effective Date” means the date on which this Agreement is issued 
as shown on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award; (f) “Federal Award” means an award of federal financial assistance or a cost-reimbursement 
contract, , by a Federal Awarding Agency to the Recipient. “Federal Award” also means an agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of 
the Federal Award, which terms and conditions shall flow down to the Award unless such terms and conditions specifically indicate otherwise. The 
term does not include payments to a contractor or payments to an individual that is a beneficiary of a Federal program; (g) “Federal Awarding 
Agency” means a Federal agency providing a Federal Award to a Recipient; (h) “Grant Funds” means the funds that have been appropriated, 
designated, encumbered, or otherwise made available for payment by the State under this Agreement; (i) “Matching Funds” mean the funds 
provided by the Grantee to meet cost sharing requirements described in this Agreement; (j) “Recipient” means the State agency identified on the 
face of the Small Dollar Grant Award; (k) “Subcontractor” means third parties, if any, engaged by Grantee to aid in performance of the Work; (l) 
“Subrecipient” means a non-Federal entity that receives a sub-award from a Recipient to carry out part of a program, but does not include an 
individual that is a beneficiary of such program; (m) “Uniform Guidance” means the Office of Management and Budget Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, identified as the 2 C.F.R. (Code of Federal Regulations) Part 200, 
commonly known as the “Super Circular,” which supersedes requirements from OMB Circulars A-21, A-87, A-110, A-122, A-89, A-102, and A- 
133, and the guidance in Circular a-50 on Single Audit Act follow-up; and (n) “Work” means the goods delivered or services, or both, performed 
pursuant to this Agreement and identified as Line Items on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award. 
5. Delivery. Grantee shall furnish the Work in strict accordance with the specifications and price set forth in this Agreement. The State shall 
have no liability to compensate Grantee for the performance of any Work not specifically set forth in the Agreement. 
6. Rights to Materials. [Not Applicable to Agreements issued either in whole in part for Information Technology, as defined in CRS § 
24-37.5-102(2); in which case Addendum 1 §2 applies in lieu of this section.] Unless specifically stated otherwise in this Agreement, all 
materials, including without limitation supplies, equipment, documents, content, information, or other material of any type, whether tangible or 
intangible (collectively “Materials”), furnished by the State to Grantee or delivered by Grantee to the State in performance of its obligations under 
this Agreement shall be the exclusive property the State. Grantee shall return or deliver all Materials to the State upon completion or termination 
of this Agreement. 
7. Grantee Records. Grantee shall make, keep, maintain, and allow inspection and monitoring by the State of a complete file of all records, 
documents, communications, notes and other written materials, electronic media files, and communications, pertaining in any manner to the Work 
(including, but not limited to the operation of programs) performed under this Agreement (collectively “Grantee Records”). Unless otherwise 
specified by the State, the Grantee shall retain Grantee Records for a period (the “Record Retention Period”) of three years following the date of 
submission to the State of the final expenditure report, or if this Award is renewed quarterly or annually, from the date of the submission of each 
quarterly or annual report, respectively. If any litigation, claim, or audit related to this Award starts before expiration of the Record Retention Period, 
the Record Retention Period shall extend until all litigation, claims or audit finding have been resolved and final action taken by the State or Federal 
Awarding Agency. The Federal Awarding Agency, a cognizant agency for audit, oversight, or indirect costs, and the State, may notify Grantee in 
writing that the Record Retention Period shall be extended. For records for real property and equipment, the Record Retention Period shall extend 
three years following final disposition of such property. Grantee shall permit the State, the federal government, and any other duly authorized 
agent of a governmental agency to audit, inspect, examine, excerpt, copy and transcribe Grantee Records during the Record Retention Period. 
Grantee shall make Grantee Records available during normal business hours at Grantee’s office or place of business, or at other mutually agreed 
upon times or locations, upon no fewer than two Business Days’ notice from the State, unless the State determines that a shorter period of notice, 
or no notice, is necessary to protect the interests of the State. The State, in its discretion, may monitor Grantee’s performance of its obligations 
under this Agreement using procedures as determined by the State. The federal government and any other duly authorized agent of a 
governmental agency, in its discretion, Grantee shall allow the State to perform all monitoring required by the Uniform Guidance, based on the 
State’s risk analysis of Grantee and this Agreement, and the State shall have the right, in its discretion, to change its monitoring procedures and 
requirements at any time during the term of this Agreement. The State will monitor Grantee’s performance in a manner that does not unduly 
interfere with Grantee’s performance of the Work. Grantee shall promptly submit to the State a copy of any final audit report of an audit performed 

 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 3 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

64



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

on Grantee Records that relates to or affects this Agreement or the Work, whether the audit is conducted by Grantee, a State agency or the State’s 
authorized representative, or a third party. If applicable, the Grantee may be required to perform a single audit under 2 CFR 200.501, et seq. 
Grantee shall submit a copy of the results of that audit to the State within the same timelines as the submission to the federal government. 
8. Reporting. If Grantee is served with a pleading or other document in connection with an action before a court or other administrative decision 
making body, and such pleading or document relates to this Agreement or may affect Grantee’s ability to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement, Grantee shall, within 10 days after being served, notify the State of such action and deliver copies of such pleading or document to 
the State. Grantee shall disclose, in a timely manner, in writing to the State and the Federal Awarding Agency, all violations of federal or State 
criminal law involving fraud, bribery, or gratuity violations potentially affecting the Award. The State or the Federal Awarding Agency may impose 
any penalties for noncompliance allowed under 2 CFR Part 180 and 31 U.S.C. 3321, which may include, without limitation, suspension or 
debarment. 
9. Conflicts of Interest. Grantee acknowledges that with respect to this Agreement, even the appearance of a conflict of interest is harmful to 
the State’s interests. Absent the State’s prior written approval, Grantee shall refrain from any practices, activities, or relationships that reasonably 
may appear to be in conflict with the full performance of Grantee’s obligations to the State under this Agreement. If a conflict or appearance of a 
conflict of interest exists, or if Grantee is uncertain as to such, Grantee shall submit to the State a disclosure statement setting forth the relevant 
details for the State’s consideration. Failure to promptly submit a disclosure statement or to follow the State’s direction in regard to the actual or 
apparent conflict constitutes a breach of this Agreement. Grantee certifies that to their knowledge, no employee of the State has any personal or 
beneficial interest whatsoever in the service or property described in this Agreement. Grantee has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, 
direct or indirect, that would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of Grantee’s Services and Grantee shall not employ any person 
having such known interests. 
10. Taxes. The State is exempt from federal excise taxes and from State and local sales and use taxes. The State shall not be liable for the 
payment of any excise, sales, of use taxes imposed on Grantee. A tax exemption certificate will be made available upon Grantee’s request. 
Grantee shall be solely responsible for any exemptions from the collection of excise, sales or use taxes that Grantee may wish to have in place in 
connection with this Agreement. 
11. Payment. Payments to Grantee are limited to the unpaid, obligated balance of the Grant Funds. The State shall not pay Grantee any amount 
under this Agreement that exceeds the Document Total shown on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award. The State shall pay Grantee in the 
amounts and in accordance with the schedule and other conditions set forth in this Agreement. Grantee shall initiate payment requests by invoice 
to the State, in a form and manner approved by the State. The State shall pay Grantee for all amounts due within 45 days after receipt of an 
Awarding Agency’s approved invoicing request, or in instances of reimbursement grant programs a request for reimbursement, compliant with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and, if applicable Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) of amount requested. 
Amounts not paid by the State within 45 days of the State’s acceptance of the invoice shall bear interest on the unpaid balance beginning on the 
45th day at the rate set forth in CRS §24-30-202(24) until paid in full. Interest shall not accrue if a good faith dispute exists as to the State’s 
obligation to pay all or a portion of the amount due. Grantee shall invoice the State separately for interest on delinquent amounts due, referencing 
the delinquent payment, number of day’s interest to be paid, and applicable interest rate. The acceptance of an invoice shall not constitute 
acceptance of any Work performed under this Agreement. Except as specifically agreed in this Agreement, Grantee shall be solely responsible 
for all costs, expenses, and other charges it incurs in connection with its performance under this Grantee. 
12. Term. The parties’ respective performances under this Agreement shall commence on the “Service From” date identified on the face of the 
Small Dollar Grant Award, unless otherwise specified, and shall terminate on the “Service To” date identified on the face of the Small Dollar Grant 
Award unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
13. Payment Disputes. If Grantee disputes any calculation, determination or amount of any payment, Grantee shall notify the State in writing of 
its dispute within 30 days following the earlier to occur of Grantee’s receipt of the payment or notification of the determination or calculation of the 
payment by the State. The State will review the information presented by Grantee and may make changes to its determination based on this 
review. The calculation, determination or payment amount that results from the State’s review shall not be subject to additional dispute under this 
subsection. No payment subject to a dispute under this subsection shall be due until after the State has concluded its review, and the State shall 
not pay any interest on any amount during the period it is subject to dispute under this subsection. 
14. Matching Funds. Grantee shall provide Matching Funds, if required by this Agreement. If permitted under the terms of the grant and per this 
Agreement, Grantee may be permitted to provide Matching Funds prior to or during the course of the project or the match will be an in-kind match. 
Grantee shall report to the State regarding the status of such funds upon request. Grantee’s obligation to pay all or any part of any Matching 
Funds, whether direct or contingent, only extend to funds duly and lawfully appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by the authorized 
representatives of Grantee and paid into Grantee’s treasury or bank account. Grantee represents to the State that the amount designated 
“Grantee’s Matching Funds” pursuant to this Agreement, has been legally appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by its authorized 
representatives and paid into its treasury or bank account. Grantee does not by this Agreement irrevocably pledge present cash reserves for 
payments in future fiscal years, and this Agreement is not intended to create a multiple-fiscal year debt of Grantee. Grantee shall not pay or be 
liable for any claimed interest, late charges, fees, taxes or penalties of any nature, except as required by Grantee’s laws or policies. 
15. Reimbursement of Grantee Costs. If applicable, the State shall reimburse Grantee’s allowable costs, not exceeding the maximum total 
amount described in this Agreement for all allowable costs described in the grant except that Grantee may adjust the amounts between each line 
item of the Budget without formal modification to this Agreement as long as the Grantee provides notice to, and received approval from the State 
of the change, the change does not modify the total maximum amount of this Agreement, and the change does not modify any requirements of 
the Work. If applicable, the State shall reimburse Grantee for the properly documented allowable costs related to the Work after review and 
approval thereof, subject to the provisions of this Agreement. However, any costs incurred by Grantee prior to the Effective Date shall not be 
reimbursed absent specific allowance of pre-award costs. Grantee’s costs for Work performed after the “Service To” date identified on the face of 
the Small Dollar Grant Award, or after any phase performance period end date for a respective phase of the Work, shall not be reimbursable. The 
State shall only reimburse allowable costs described in this Agreement and shown in the Budget if those costs are (a) reasonable and necessary 
to accomplish the Work, and (b) equal to the actual net cost to Grantee (i.e. the price paid minus any items of value received by Grantee that 
reduce the costs actually incurred). 
16. Close-Out. Grantee shall close out this Award within 45 days after the “Service To” date identified on the face of the Small Dollar Grant 
Award, including any modifications. To complete close-out, Grantee shall submit to the State all deliverables (including documentation) as defined 

 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 4 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

65



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

in this Agreement and Grantee’s final reimbursement request or invoice. In accordance with the Agreement, the State may withhold a percentage 
of allowable costs until all final documentation has been submitted and accepted by the State as substantially complete. 
17. Assignment. Grantee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement may not be transferred or assigned without the prior, written consent of 
the State and execution of a new agreement. Any attempt at assignment or transfer without such consent and new agreement shall be void. Any 
assignment or transfer of Grantee’s rights and obligations approved by the State shall be subject to the provisions of this Agreement. 
18. Subcontracts. Grantee shall not enter into any subcontract in connection with its obligations under this Agreement without the prior, written 
approval of the State. Grantee shall submit to the State a copy of each subcontract upon request by the State. All subcontracts entered into by 
Grantee in connection with this Agreement shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations, shall provide that they are 
governed by the laws of the State of Colorado, and shall be subject to all provisions of this Agreement. 
19. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other 
provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect, provided that the Parties can continue to perform their obligations in 
accordance with the intent of the Agreement. 
20. Survival of Certain Agreement Terms. Any provision of this Agreement that imposes an obligation on a party after termination or expiration 
of the Agreement shall survive the termination or expiration of the Agreement and shall be enforceable by the other party. 
21. Third Party Beneficiaries. Except for the parties’ respective successors and assigns, this Agreement does not and is not intended to confer 
any rights or remedies upon any person or entity other than the Parties. Enforcement of this Agreement and all rights and obligations hereunder 
are reserved solely to the parties. Any services or benefits which third parties receive as a result of this Agreement are incidental to the Agreement, 
and do not create any rights for such third parties. 
22. Waiver. A party’s failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement, whether explicit or by lack of enforcement, 
shall not operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of such 
right, power, or privilege. 
23. Indemnification. [Not Applicable to Inter-governmental agreements] Grantee shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the State, its 
employees, agents and assignees (the “Indemnified Parties”), against any and all costs, expenses, claims, damages, liabilities, court awards and 
other amounts (including attorneys’ fees and related costs) incurred by any of the Indemnified Parties in relation to any act or omission by Grantee, 
or its employees, agents, Subcontractors, or assignees in connection with this Agreement. This shall include, without limitation, any and all costs, 
expenses, claims, damages, liabilities, court awards and other amounts incurred by the Indemnified Parties in relation to any claim that any work 
infringes a patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, or any other intellectual property right or any claim for loss or improper disclosure of any 
confidential information or personally identifiable information. If Grantee is a public agency prohibited by applicable law from indemnifying any 
party, then this section shall not apply. 
24. Notice. All notices given under this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be delivered to the contacts for each party listed on the face of 
the Small Dollar Grant Award. Either party may change its contact or contact information by notice submitted in accordance with this section 
without a formal modification to this Agreement. 
25. Insurance. Except as otherwise specifically stated in this Agreement or any attachment or exhibit to this Agreement, Grantee shall obtain 
and maintain insurance as specified in this section at all times during the term of the Agreement: (a) workers’ compensation insurance as required 
by state statute, and employers’ liability insurance covering all Grantee employees acting within the course and scope of their employment, (b) 
Commercial general liability insurance written on an Insurance Services Office occurrence form, covering premises operations, fire damage, 
independent contractors, products and completed operations, blanket contractual liability, personal injury, and advertising liability with minimum 
limits as follows: $1,000,000 each occurrence; $1,000,000 general aggregate; $1,000,000 products and completed operations aggregate; and 
$50,000 any one fire, and (c) Automobile liability insurance covering any auto (including owned, hired and non-owned autos) with a minimum limit 
of $1,000,000 each accident combined single limit. If Grantee will or may have access to any protected information, then Grantee shall also obtain 
and maintain insurance covering loss and disclosure of protected information and claims based on alleged violations of privacy right through 
improper use and disclosure of protected information with limits of $1,000,000 each occurrence and $1,000,000 general aggregate at all times 
during the term of the Small Dollar Grant Award. Additional insurance may be required as provided elsewhere in this Agreement or any attachment 
or exhibit to this Agreement. All insurance policies required by this Agreement shall be issued by insurance companies with an AM Best rating of 
A-VIII or better. If Grantee is a public agency within the meaning of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, then this section shall not apply and 
Grantee shall instead comply with the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act. 
26. Termination Prior to Grantee Acceptance. If Grantee has not begun performance under this Agreement, the State may cancel this 
Agreement by providing written notice to the Grantee. 
27. Termination for Cause. If Grantee refuses or fails to timely and properly perform any of its obligations under this Agreement with such 
diligence as will ensure its completion within the time specified in this Agreement, the State may notify Grantee in writing of non-performance and, 
if not corrected by Grantee within the time specified in the notice, terminate Grantee’s right to proceed with the Agreement or such part thereof as 
to which there has been delay or a failure. Grantee shall continue performance of this Agreement to the extent not terminated. Grantee shall be 
liable for excess costs incurred by the State in procuring similar Work and the State may withhold such amounts, as the State deems necessary. 
If after rejection, revocation, or other termination of Grantee’s right to proceed under the Colorado Uniform Commercial Code (CUCC) or this 
clause, the State determines for any reason that Grantee was not in default or the delay was excusable, the rights and obligations of the State and 
Grantee shall be the same as if the notice of termination had been issued pursuant to termination under §28. 
28. Termination in Public Interest. The State is entering into this Agreement for the purpose of carrying out the public interest of the State, as 
determined by its Governor, General Assembly, Courts, or Federal Awarding Agency. If this Agreement ceases to further the public interest of the 
State as determined by its Governor, General Assembly, Courts, or Federal Awarding Agency, the State, in its sole discretion, may terminate this 
Agreement in whole or in part and such termination shall not be deemed to be a breach of the State’s obligations hereunder. This section shall not 
apply to a termination for cause, which shall be governed by §27. A determination that this Small Dollar Grant Award should be terminated in the 
public interest shall not be equivalent to a State right to terminate for convenience. The State shall give written notice of termination to Grantee 
specifying the part of the Agreement terminated and when termination becomes effective. Upon receipt of notice of termination, Grantee shall not 
incur further obligations except as necessary to mitigate costs of performance. The State shall pay the Agreement price or rate for Work performed 

 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 5 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

66



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

and accepted by State prior to the effective date of the notice of termination. The State’s termination liability under this section shall not exceed 
the total Agreement price. 
29. Termination for Funds Availability. The State is prohibited by law from making commitments beyond the term of the current State Fiscal 
Year. Payment to Grantee beyond the current State Fiscal Year is contingent on the appropriation and continuing availability of Grant Funds in 
any subsequent year (as provided in the Colorado Special Provisions). If federal funds or funds from any other non-State funds constitute all or 
some of the Grant Funds, the State’s obligation to pay Grantee shall be contingent upon such non-State funding continuing to be made available 
for payment. Payments to be made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made only from Grant Funds, and the State’s liability for such payments 
shall be limited to the amount remaining of such Grant Funds. If State, federal or other funds are not appropriated, or otherwise become unavailable 
to fund this Agreement, the State may, upon written notice, terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, without incurring further liability. The 
State shall, however, remain obligated to pay for Work performed and accepted prior to the effective date of notice of termination, and this 
termination shall otherwise be treated as if this Agreement were terminated in the public interest as described in §28. 
30. Grantee’s Termination Under Federal Requirements. If the Grant Funds include any federal funds, then Grantee may request termination 
of this Grant by sending notice to the State, or to the Federal Awarding Agency with a copy to the State, which includes the reasons for the 
termination and the effective date of the termination. If this Grant is terminated in this manner, then Grantee shall return any advanced payments 
made for Work that will not be performed prior to the effective date of the termination. 
31. Governmental Immunity. Liability for claims for injuries to persons or property arising from the negligence of the State, its departments, 
boards, commissions committees, bureaus, offices, employees and officials shall be controlled and limited by the provisions of the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, CRS §24-10-101, et seq., the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. Pt. VI, Ch. 171 and 28 U.S.C. 1346(b), and the 
State’s risk management statutes, CRS §§24-30-1501, et seq. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, 
express or implied, of any of the immunities, rights, benefits, protections, or other provisions, contained in these statutes. 
32. Grant Recipient. Grantee shall perform its duties hereunder as a grant recipient and not as an employee. Neither Grantee nor any agent or 
employee of Grantee shall be deemed to be an agent or employee of the State. Grantee shall not have authorization, express or implied, to bind 
the State to any agreement, liability or understanding, except as expressly set forth herein. Grantee and its employees and agents are not 
entitled to unemployment insurance or workers compensation benefits through the State and the State shall not pay for or otherwise 
provide such coverage for Grantee or any of its agents or employees. Grantee shall pay when due all applicable employment taxes and 
income taxes and local head taxes incurred pursuant to this Agreement. Grantee shall (a) provide and keep in force workers' 
compensation and unemployment compensation insurance in the amounts required by law, (b) provide proof thereof when requested 
by the State, and (c) be solely responsible for its acts and those of its employees and agents. 
33. Compliance with Law. Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and State laws, rules, and regulations in effect or hereafter 
established, including, without limitation, laws applicable to discrimination and unfair employment practices. 
34. Choice of Law, Jurisdiction and Venue. [Not Applicable to Inter-governmental agreements] Colorado law, and rules and regulations 
issued pursuant thereto, shall be applied in the interpretation, execution, and enforcement of this Agreement. Any provision included or 
incorporated herein by reference which conflicts with said laws, rules, and regulations shall be null and void. All suits or actions related to this 
Agreement shall be filed and proceedings held in the State of Colorado and exclusive venue shall be in the City and County of Denver. Any 
provision incorporated herein by reference which purports to negate this or any other provision in this Agreement in whole or in part shall not be 
valid or enforceable or available in any action at law, whether by way of complaint, defense, or otherwise. Any provision rendered null and void by 
the operation of this provision or for any other reason shall not invalidate the remainder of this Agreement, to the extent capable of execution. 
Grantee shall exhaust administrative remedies in CRS §24-109-106, prior to commencing any judicial action against the State regardless of 
whether the Colorado Procurement Code applies to this Agreement. 
35. Prohibited Terms. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any provision of CRS §24-106-109. Any term included in this 
Agreement that requires the State to indemnify or hold Grantee harmless; requires the State to agree to binding arbitration; limits Grantee’s liability 
for damages resulting from death, bodily injury, or damage to tangible property; or that conflicts with that statute in any way shall be void ab initio. 
36. Public Contracts for Services. [Not Applicable to offer, issuance, or sale of securities, investment advisory services, fund 
management services, sponsored projects, intergovernmental grant agreements, or information technology services or products and 
services] Grantee certifies, warrants, and agrees that it does not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien who will perform work under 
this Agreement and will confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment in the United States to perform 
work under this Agreement, through participation in the E-Verify Program or the Department program established pursuant to CRS §8-17.5- 
102(5)(c), Grantee shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under this Agreement or enter into a contract or 
agreement with a Subcontractor that fails to certify to Grantee that the Subcontractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to 
perform work under this Agreement. Grantee shall (a) not use E-Verify Program or Department program procedures to undertake pre- employment 
screening of job applicants during performance of this Agreement, (b) notify Subcontractor and the State within three days if Grantee has actual 
knowledge that Subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal alien for work under this Agreement, (c) terminate the subcontract if 
Subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien within three days of receiving notice, and (d) comply with reasonable 
requests made in the course of an investigation, undertaken pursuant to CRS §8-17.5-102(5), by the Colorado Department of Labor and 
Employment. If Grantee participates in the Department program, Grantee shall deliver to the State a written, notarized affirmation that Grantee has 
examined the legal work status of such employee, and shall comply with all of the other requirements of the Department program. If Grantee fails 
to comply with any requirement of this provision or CRS §8-17.5-101 et seq., the State may terminate this Agreement for breach and, if so 
terminated, Grantee shall be liable for damages. 
37. Public Contracts with Natural Persons. Grantee, if a natural person 18 years of age or older, hereby swears and affirms under penalty of 
perjury that the person (a) is a citizen or otherwise lawfully present in the United States pursuant to federal law, (b) shall comply with the provisions 
of CRS §24-76.5-101 et seq., and (c) has produced a form of identification required by CRS §24-76.5-103 prior to the date Grantee begins Work 
under terms of the Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 6 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

67



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

ADDENDUM 1: 
Additional Terms & Conditions for Information Technology 

IF ANY PART OF THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT IS INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, AS 
DEFINED IN CRS § 24-37.5-102 (2), THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS ALSO APPLY TO THIS AGREEMENT. 

A. Definitions. The following terms shall be construed and interpreted as follows: (a) “CJI” means criminal justice information collected by 
criminal justice agencies needed for the performance of their authorized functions, including, without limitation, all information defined as criminal 
justice information by the U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation, Criminal Justice Information Services Security Policy, as 
amended, and all Criminal Justice Records as defined under CRS §24-72-302; (b) “Incident” means any accidental or deliberate event that results 
in or constitutes an imminent threat of the unauthorized access, loss, disclosure, modification, disruption, or destruction of any communications or 
information resources of the State, pursuant to CRS §§24-37.5-401 et seq.; (c) “PCI” means payment card information including any data related 
to credit card holders’ names, credit card numbers, or the other credit card information as may be protected by state or federal law; (d) “PHI” 
means any protected health information, including, without limitation any information whether oral or recorded in any form or medium that relates 
to the past, present or future physical or mental condition of an individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the past, present or future 
payment for the provision of health care to an individual; and that identifies the individual or with respect to which there is a reasonable basis to 
believe the information can be used to identify the individual including, without limitation, any information defined as Individually Identifiable Health 
Information by the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act; (e) “PII” means personally identifiable information including, without 
limitation, any information maintained by the State about an individual that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual‘s identity, such as 
name, social security number, date and place of birth, mother’s maiden name, or biometric records, including, without limitation, all information 
defined as personally identifiable information in CRS §24-72-501; (f) “State Confidential Information” means any and all State Records not 
subject to disclosure under the Colorado Open Records Act and includes, without limitation, PII, PHI, PCI, Tax Information, CJI, and State 
personnel records not subject to disclosure under the Colorado Open Records Act, (g) “State Fiscal Rules” means those fiscal rules promulgated 
by the Colorado State Controller pursuant to CRS §24-30-202(13)(a); (h) “State Fiscal Year” means a 12 month period beginning on July 1 of 
each calendar year and ending on June 30 of the following calendar year; (i) “State Records” means any and all State data, information, and 
records, regardless of physical form; (j) “Tax Information” means federal and State of Colorado tax information including, without limitation, federal 
and State tax returns, return information, and such other tax-related information as may be protected by federal and State law and regulation, 
including, without limitation all information defined as federal tax information in Internal Revenue Service Publication 1075; and (k) “Work Product” 
means the tangible and intangible results of the delivery of goods and performance of services, whether finished or unfinished, including drafts. 
Work Product includes, but is not limited to, documents, text, software (including source code), research, reports, proposals, specifications, plans, 
notes, studies, data, images, photographs, negatives, pictures, drawings, designs, models, surveys, maps, materials, ideas, concepts, know-how, 
information, and any other results of the Work, but does not include any material that was developed prior to the Effective Date that is used, without 
modification, in the performance of the Work. 
B. Intellectual Property. Except to the extent specifically provided elsewhere in this Agreement, any State information, including without 
limitation pre-existing State software, research, reports, studies, data, photographs, negatives or other documents, drawings, models, materials; 
or Work Product prepared by Grantee in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement shall be the exclusive property of the State 
(collectively, “State Materials”). All State Materials shall be delivered to the State by Grantee upon completion or termination of this Agreement. 
The State’s exclusive rights in any Work Product prepared by Grantee shall include, but not be limited to, the right to copy, publish, display, transfer, 
and prepare derivative works. Grantee shall not use, willingly allow, cause or permit any State Materials to be used for any purpose other than the 
performance of Grantee’s obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the State. The State shall maintain complete and accurate 
records relating to (a) its use of all Grantee and third party software licenses and rights to use any Grantee or third party software granted under this 
Agreement and its attachments to which the State is a party and (b) all amounts payable to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement and its attachments 
and the State’s obligations under this Agreement or any amounts payable to Grantee in relation to this Agreement, which records shall contain 
sufficient information to permit Grantee to confirm the State’s compliance with the use restrictions and payment obligations under this Agreement 
or to any third party use restrictions to which the State is a party. Grantee retains the exclusive rights, title and ownership to any and all pre-existing 
materials owned or licensed to Grantee including, but not limited to all pre-existing software, licensed products, associated source code, machine 
code, text images, audio, video, and third party materials, delivered by Grantee under the Agreement, whether incorporated in a deliverable or 
necessary to use a deliverable (collectively, “Grantee Property”). Grantee Property shall be licensed to the State as set forth in a State-approved 
license agreement (a) entered into as exhibits or attachments to this Agreement, (b) obtained by the State from the applicable third party Grantee, 
or (c) in the case of open source software, the license terms set forth in the applicable open source license agreement. Notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary herein, the State shall not be subject to any provision incorporated in any exhibit or attachment attached hereto, any provision 
incorporated in any terms and conditions appearing on any website, any provision incorporated into any click through or online agreements, or 
any provision incorporated into any other document or agreement between the parties that (a) requires the State or the State to indemnify Grantee 
or any other party, (b) is in violation of State laws, regulations, rules, State Fiscal Rules, policies, or other State requirements as deemed solely 
by the State, or (c) is contrary to this Agreement. 
C. Information Confidentiality. Grantee shall keep confidential, and cause all Subcontractors to keep confidential, all State Records, unless 
those State Records are publicly available. Grantee shall not, without prior written approval of the State, use, publish, copy, disclose to any third 
party, or permit the use by any third party of any State Records, except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, permitted by law, or approved in 
writing by the State. If Grantee will or may have access to any State Confidential Information or any other protected information, Grantee shall 
provide for the security of all State Confidential Information in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, policies, publications, and guidelines. 
Grantee shall comply with all Colorado Office of Information Security (“OIS”) policies and procedures which OIS has issued pursuant to CRS §§24- 
37.5-401 through 406 and 8 CCR §1501-5 and posted at http://oit.state.co.us/ois, all information security and privacy obligations imposed by any 
federal, state, or local statute or regulation, or by any industry standards or guidelines, as applicable based on the classification of the data relevant 
to Grantee’s performance under this Agreement. Such obligations may arise from: Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA); 
IRS Publication 1075; Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI-DSS); FBI Criminal Justice Information Service Security Addendum; 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) Minimum Acceptable Risk Standards for Exchanges; and Electronic Information Exchange 

 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 7 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

68

http://oit.state.co.us/ois


EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

Security Requirements and Procedures for State and Local Agencies Exchanging Electronic Information with The Social Security Administration. 
Grantee shall immediately forward any request or demand for State Records to the State’s principal representative. 
D. Other Entity Access and Nondisclosure Agreements. Grantee may provide State Records to its agents, employees, assigns and 
Subcontractors as necessary to perform the work, but shall restrict access to State Confidential Information to those agents, employees, assigns, 
and Subcontractors who require access to perform their obligations under this Agreement. Grantee shall ensure all such agents, employees, 
assigns, and Subcontractors sign agreements containing nondisclosure provisions at least as protective as those in this Agreement, and that the 
nondisclosure provisions are in force at all times the agent, employee, assign, or Subcontractors has access to any State Confidential Information. 
Grantee shall provide copies of those signed nondisclosure provisions to the State upon execution of the nondisclosure provisions if requested by 
the State. 
E. Use, Security, and Retention. Grantee shall use, hold, and maintain State Confidential Information in compliance with any and all applicable 
laws and regulations only in facilities located within the United States, and shall maintain a secure environment that ensures confidentiality of all 
State Confidential Information. Grantee shall provide the State with access, subject to Grantee’s reasonable security requirements, for purposes 
of inspecting and monitoring access and use of State Confidential Information and evaluating security control effectiveness. Upon the expiration 
or termination of this Agreement, Grantee shall return State Records provided to Grantee or destroy such State Records and certify to the State 
that it has done so, as directed by the State. If Grantee is prevented by law or regulation from returning or destroying State Confidential Information, 
Grantee warrants it will guarantee the confidentiality of, and cease to use, such State Confidential Information. 
F. Incident Notice and Remediation. If Grantee becomes aware of any Incident, it shall notify the State immediately and cooperate with the 
State regarding recovery, remediation, and the necessity to involve law enforcement, as determined by the State. Unless Grantee can establish 
none of Grantee or any of its agents, employees, assigns or Subcontractors are the cause or source of the Incident, Grantee shall be responsible 
for the cost of notifying each person who may have been impacted by the Incident. After an Incident, Grantee shall take steps to reduce the risk 
of incurring a similar type of Incident in the future as directed by the State, which may include, but is not limited to, developing and implementing 
a remediation plan that is approved by the State at no additional cost to the State. The State may adjust or direct modifications to this plan, in its 
sole discretion and Grantee shall make all modifications as directed by the State. If Grantee cannot produce its analysis and plan within the allotted 
time, the State, in its sole discretion, may perform such analysis and produce a remediation plan, and Grantee shall reimburse the State for the 
reasonable actual costs thereof. 
G. Data Protection and Handling. Grantee shall ensure that all State Records and Work Product in the possession of Grantee or any 
Subcontractors are protected and handled in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement at all times. Upon request by the State made 
any time prior to 60 days following the termination of this Agreement for any reason, whether or not this Agreement is expiring or terminating, 
Grantee shall make available to the State a complete and secure download file of all data that is encrypted and appropriately authenticated. This 
download file shall be made available to the State within 10 Business Days following the State’s request, and shall contain, without limitation, all 
State Records, Work Product, and any other information belonging to the State. Upon the termination of Grantee’s services under this Agreement, 
Grantee shall, as directed by the State, return all State Records provided by the State to Grantee, and the copies thereof, to the State or destroy 
all such State Records and certify to the State that it has done so. If legal obligations imposed upon Grantee prevent Grantee from returning or 
destroying all or part of the State Records provided by the State, Grantee shall guarantee the confidentiality of all State Records in Grantee’s 
possession and will not actively process such data. The State retains the right to use the established operational services to access and retrieve 
State Records stored on Grantee’s infrastructure at its sole discretion and at any time. 
H. Compliance. If applicable, Grantee shall review, on a semi-annual basis, all OIS policies and procedures which OIS has promulgated 
pursuant to CRS §§ 24-37.5-401 through 406 and 8 CCR § 1501-5 and posted at http://oit.state.co.us/ois, to ensure compliance with the standards 
and guidelines published therein. Grantee shall cooperate, and shall cause its Subcontractors to cooperate, with the performance of security audit 
and penetration tests by OIS or its designee. 
I. Safeguarding PII. If Grantee or any of its Subcontractors will or may receive PII under this Agreement, Grantee shall provide for the security 
of such PII, in a manner and form acceptable to the State, including, without limitation, all State requirements relating to non-disclosure, use of 
appropriate technology, security practices, computer access security, data access security, data storage encryption, data transmission encryption, 
security inspections, and audits. Grantee shall take full responsibility for the security of all PII in its possession or in the possession of its 
Subcontractors, and shall hold the State harmless for any damages or liabilities resulting from the unauthorized disclosure or loss thereof. Grantee 
shall be a “Third-Party Service Provider” as defined in CRS §24-73-103(1)(i) and shall maintain security procedures and practices consistent with 
CRS §§24-73-101 et seq. 
J. Software Piracy Prohibition. The State or other public funds payable under this Agreement shall not be used for the acquisition, operation, 
or maintenance of computer software in violation of federal copyright laws or applicable licensing restrictions. Grantee hereby certifies and warrants 
that, during the term of this Agreement and any extensions, Grantee has and shall maintain in place appropriate systems and controls to prevent 
such improper use of public funds. If the State determines that Grantee is in violation of this provision, the State may exercise any remedy available 
at law or in equity or under this Agreement, including, without limitation, immediate termination of this Agreement and any remedy consistent with 
federal copyright laws or applicable licensing restrictions. 
K. Information Technology. To the extent that Grantee provides physical or logical storage of State Records; Grantee creates, uses, 
processes, discloses, transmits, or disposes of State Records; or Grantee is otherwise given physical or logical access to State Records in order 
to perform Grantee’s obligations under this Agreement, the following terms shall apply. Grantee shall, and shall cause its Subcontractors, to: 
Provide physical and logical protection for all hardware, software, applications, and data that meets or exceeds industry standards and the 
requirements of this Agreement; Maintain network, system, and application security, which includes, but is not limited to, network firewalls, intrusion 
detection (host and network), annual security testing, and improvements or enhancements consistent with evolving industry standards; Comply 
with State and federal rules and regulations related to overall security, privacy, confidentiality, integrity, availability, and auditing; Provide that 
security is not compromised by unauthorized access to workspaces, computers, networks, software, databases, or other physical or electronic 
environments; Promptly report all Incidents, including Incidents that do not result in unauthorized disclosure or loss of data integrity, to a designated 
representative of the OIS; Comply with all rules, policies, procedures, and standards issued by the Governor’s Office of Information Technology 
(OIT), including project lifecycle methodology and governance, technical standards, documentation, and other requirements posted at 
www.oit.state.co.us/about/policies. Grantee shall not allow remote access to State Records from outside the United States, including access by 

 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 8 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

69

http://oit.state.co.us/ois
http://www.oit.state.co.us/about/policies


EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

Grantee’s employees or agents, without the prior express written consent of OIS. Grantee shall communicate any request regarding non-U.S. 
access to State Records to the State. The State, acting by and through OIS, shall have sole discretion to grant or deny any such request. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 9 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

70



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER:  5 
MEETING DATE:  May 16, 2024 
PREPARED BY:  Francis Robbins, Operations & Maintenance Manager 

TITLE  
New Terminal Project Grant Funding Approval 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
A motion to approve Resolution ##-2024 recommending the City of Fort Collins and City 
of Loveland Accept FAA Grant BIL 45. 
A Motion to approve Resolution ##-2024 recommending the City of Fort Collins and City 
of Loveland accept CDOT grant 24-FNL-01 with state grant match for FAA grants 45 
and 46.  

BUDGET IMPACT 
Positive - $1,590,000 revenue for Fiscal Year 2024.  
This amount is in the 2024 budgeted for expense on the New Terminal Construction. 

SUMMARY 
 The FAA has awarded FNL a grant for the construction of the New Terminal Project in 
the amount of $1.59 million connected with the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) 
signed by Pres. Biden in 2021. This amount is part of the initial total project budget of 
$21.9 million from multiple funding sources including Cares Act grants, City Sponsor 
contributions, and Airport reserve funds. Federal grants are to be signed by the Airport 
Sponsors, City of Loveland and City of Fort Collins.  

This Federal Grant is a 90% Federal – 10% Local share component. The airport has 
budgeted the local funds necessary to cover the local component. The BIL Grant funds 
were allotted to airports on a Formula basis. Primary commercial service airports share 
$2.3 Billion dollars annually based on passenger enplanements. For the determining 
years, FNL was considered a primary commercial service airport with over 10,000 
passenger enplanements. Non-primary commercial airports and General Aviation 
airport received funds at a much lower rate, as little as $113,000. All FAA grant funds 
are planned using the Capital Improvement Plan updated annually in coordination with 
FAA, CDOT Aeronautics, Airport Staff and approved by the Airport Commission.  

HISTORY 

71



              

Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission Page 2 of 2 

 

The Airport Commission in June of 2020 directed staff to begin working on the creation 
of a new terminal facility. This decision was based on an analysis of the airport’s needs 
and strategic plan at the time conducted by the Commission’s Planning and 
Development Subcommittee. It was also as a direct result of receiving a federal funding 
award of $16.9 million. The recommendation was based on the following criteria: 

• Allows for greater direct utilization of the Airport by the public 
• Highest economic impact & job creation potential 
• Is aligned with Strategic Plan, Master Plan and policies 
• Can be accomplished within funding use guidelines & four- year time constraint 
• Generates new revenue streams, enhancing financial sustainability 
• Creates solutions for safety, capacity, and functionality issues with existing 

facilities 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution R-04-2024 
Draft Grant BIL 45 
Resolution R-05-2024 
CDOT Grant 24-FNL-01 

72



 

 

1 
 

RESOLUTION  # R-04-2024 
  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE 2024 GRANT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
STATE OF COLORADO DIVISION OF AERONAUTICS (CDAG #24-FNL-01) FOR 

THE TERMINAL BUILDING PROJECT AT THE NORTHERN COLORADO 
REGIONAL AIRPORT  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Fort Collins and the City of Loveland (“the Cities”) own and 

operate the Northern Colorado Regional Airport (“the Airport”) pursuant to that certain Amended 
and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement for the Joint Operation of the Fort Collins-Loveland 
Municipal Airport dated January 22, 2015, as amended (“Airport IGA”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Cities have commenced both horizontal and vertical construction of a 

terminal building at the Airport (the “Project”) utilizing a combination of local funds and grant 
funds. As part of such funding, the Cities applied for Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (“BIL”) grant  
funds for the Project and have been awarded $1,590,000 in BIL grant funds (“BIL Grant Funds”) 
towards the Project. The BIL Grant Funds have been previously budgeted and appropriated as part 
of the Project budget and the Airport budget for 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Federal Aviation Administration requires that the Cities execute a grant 

agreement in the form substantially similar to that attached hereto as “Exhibit A” (the “Grant 
Agreement”) in order to accept the BIL Grant Funds. The Grant Agreement requires that the Cities 
provide a local match of ten percent (10%) of the BIL Grant Funds, which local match is being 
funded through Airport budgeted and appropriated funds and a Colorado Department of 
Transportation Division of Aeronautics grant; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to the dollar amount of the Grant Agreement, the City Councils of the 

Cities must provide the final approval of the Grant Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission supports approval of 

the Grant Agreement and recommends that the City Councils approve and sign any documents 
necessary to accept the BIL Grant funding in the amount of $1,590,000. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE NORTHERN COLORADO 

REGIONAL AIRPORT COMMISSION AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. That the Commission recommends that the City Councils of the Cities of 

Loveland and Fort Collins approve the Grant Agreement and sign any documents necessary to 
accept the BIL Grant Funds. 

 
Section 2. That this Resolution shall be effective as of the date and time of its 

adoption. 
 
ADOPTED this 16th day of May, 2024. 

 
 

73



 

 

2 
 

 
              

      Jeni Arndt, Chair of the 
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
     
Secretary 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

74



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

1 

 

U.S. Department 
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

Airports Division 
Northwest Mountain Region 
Colorado, Utah, Wyoming 

Denver Airports District Office 
26805 E 68th Ave, Ste 224 
Denver, CO 80249-6339 

{{DateTime_es_:signer1:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}} 

Mr. Rod Wensing 
Acting City Manager, City of Loveland 
500 East 3rd Street, Suite 300 
Loveland, CO 80537 
 
Ms. Kelly DiMartino 
City Manager, City of Fort Collins 
300 La Porte Avenue 
Fort Collins, CO 80522 

Dear Mr. Wensing and Ms. DiMartino: 

The Grant Offer for the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) - Airport Infrastructure Grant (AIG) Project 
No. 3-08-0023-045-2024 at Northern Colorado Regional Airport is attached for execution. This letter 
outlines the steps you must take to properly enter into this agreement and provides other useful 
information. Please read the conditions, special conditions, and assurances that comprise the grant offer 
carefully. 

You may not make any modification to the text, terms or conditions of the grant offer. 

Steps You Must Take to Enter Into Agreement.  To properly enter into this agreement, you must do the 
following: 

1. The governing body must give authority to execute the grant to the individual(s) signing the 
grant, i.e., the person signing the document must be the sponsor’s authorized representative(s) 
(hereinafter “authorized representative”). 

2. The authorized representative must execute the grant by adding their electronic signature to 
the appropriate certificate at the end of the agreement. 

3. Once the authorized representative has electronically signed the grant, the sponsor’s attorney(s) 
will automatically receive an email notification. 

4. On the same day or after the authorized representative has signed the grant, the sponsor’s 
attorney(s) will add their electronic signature to the appropriate certificate at the end of the 
agreement. 

5.  If there are co-sponsors, the authorized representative(s) and sponsor’s attorney(s) must follow 
the above procedures to fully execute the grant and finalize the process.  Signatures must be 
obtained and finalized no later than XXX.  

6. The fully executed grant will then be automatically sent to all parties as an email attachment. 

75



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

2 

Payment. Subject to the requirements in 2 CFR § 200.305 (Federal Payment), each payment request for 
reimbursement under this grant must be made electronically via the Delphi eInvoicing System. Please 
see the attached Grant Agreement for more information regarding the use of this System.  

Project Timing. The terms and conditions of this agreement require you to complete the project without 
undue delay and no later than the Period of Performance end date (1,460 days from the grant execution 
date). We will be monitoring your progress to ensure proper stewardship of these Federal funds. We 
expect you to submit payment requests for reimbursement of allowable incurred project expenses 
consistent with project progress. Your grant may be placed in “inactive” status if you do not make draws 
on a regular basis, which will affect your ability to receive future grant offers. Costs incurred after the 
Period of Performance ends are generally not allowable and will be rejected unless authorized by the 
FAA in advance.  

Reporting. Until the grant is completed and closed, you are responsible for submitting formal reports as 
follows:  

 For all grants, you must submit by December 31st of each year this grant is open: 
1. A signed/dated SF-270 (Request for Advance or Reimbursement for non-construction 

projects) or SF-271 or equivalent (Outlay Report and Request for Reimbursement for 
Construction Programs), and  

2. An SF-425 (Federal Financial Report). 

 For non-construction projects, you must submit FAA Form 5100-140, Performance Report within 
30 days of the end of the Federal fiscal year. 

 For construction projects, you must submit FAA Form 5370-1, Construction Progress and 
Inspection Report, within 30 days of the end of each Federal fiscal quarter. 

Audit Requirements. As a condition of receiving Federal assistance under this award, you must comply 
with audit requirements as established under 2 CFR Part 200. Subpart F requires non-Federal entities 
that expend $750,000 or more in Federal awards to conduct a single or program specific audit for that 
year. Note that this includes Federal expenditures made under other Federal-assistance programs. 
Please take appropriate and necessary action to ensure your organization will comply with applicable 
audit requirements and standards. 

Closeout. Once the project(s) is completed and all costs are determined, we ask that you work with your 
FAA contact indicated below to close the project without delay and submit the necessary final closeout 
documentation as required by your Region/Airports District Office. 

FAA Contact Information. Todd Minnich, (303) 342-1279, todd.e.minnich@faa.gov is the assigned 
program manager for this grant and is readily available to assist you and your designated representative 
with the requirements stated herein. 

We sincerely value your cooperation in these efforts and look forward to working with you to complete 
this important project. 

Sincerely, 

{{Sig_es_:signer1:                        signature}}  

John P. Bauer 
Manager, Denver Airports District Office 

76

https://www.faa.gov/documentLibrary/media/Form/faa-form-5100-140-perfomance-report-2020.pdf
https://www.faa.gov/documentLibrary/media/Form/faa-form-5370-1-construction-progress-inspection-report.pdf
https://www.faa.gov/documentLibrary/media/Form/faa-form-5370-1-construction-progress-inspection-report.pdf


 3-08-0023-045-2024 

3 

  

 
U.S. Department 
of Transportation 
Federal Aviation 
Administration 

FY 2024 AIRPORT INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT 
GRANT AGREEMENT 

Part I - Offer 
 

Federal Award Offer Date {{DateTime_es_:signer1:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}} 

    
Airport/Planning Area Northern Colorado Regional Airport 
    
Airport Infrastructure Grant 
Number 3-08-0023-045-2024  [Contract # DOT-FA24NM-1018] 

    
Unique Entity Identifier EJKMMHAX3VU6 
    
TO: City of Fort Collins, Colorado and City of Loveland, Colorado 

  (herein called the "Sponsor") (For Co-Sponsors, list all Co-Sponsor names. The word "Sponsor" in this Grant Agreement also 
applies to a Co-Sponsor.)  

   

    
FROM: The United States of America (acting through the Federal Aviation Administration, herein 

called the "FAA") 
 

WHEREAS, the Sponsor has submitted to the FAA a Project Application dated January 12, 2024, for a 
grant of Federal funds for a project at or associated with the Northern Colorado Regional Airport, which 
is included as part of this Grant Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the FAA has approved a project for the Northern Colorado Regional Airport (herein called the 
“Project”) consisting of the following:  

Construct Terminal Building (phase III) 

which is more fully described in the Project Application. 

NOW THEREFORE, Pursuant to and for the purpose of carrying out the Infrastructure Investment and 
Jobs Act (Public Law 117-58) of 2021 referred to as the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL); and the 
representations contained in the Project Application; and in consideration of: (a) the Sponsor’s adoption 
and ratification of the Grant Assurances attached hereto; (b) the Sponsor’s acceptance of this Offer; and 
(c) the benefits to accrue to the United States and the public from the accomplishment of the Project 
and compliance with the Grant Assurance and conditions as herein provided; 

77



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

4 

THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION, FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE UNITED STATES, HEREBY 
OFFERS AND AGREES to pay (90) % of the allowable costs incurred accomplishing the Project as the 
United States share of the Project.  

Assistance Listings Number (Formerly CFDA Number): 20.106  

This Offer is made on and SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  

CONDITIONS 

1. Maximum Obligation. The maximum obligation of the United States payable under this Offer is 
$XXX,XXX. 

The following amounts represent a breakdown of the maximum obligation for the purpose of 
establishing allowable amounts for any future grant amendment, which may increase the foregoing 
maximum obligation of the United States under the provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 47108(b):  
$0 for planning  
$XXX,XXX airport development or noise program implementation; and, 
$0 for land acquisition. 

2. Grant Performance. This Grant Agreement is subject to the following Federal award requirements: 

a. Period of Performance: 

1. Shall start on the date the Sponsor formally accepts this Agreement and is the date signed 
by the last Sponsor signatory to the Agreement. The end date of the Period of Performance 
is 4 years (1,460 calendar days) from the date of acceptance. The Period of Performance end 
date shall not affect, relieve, or reduce Sponsor obligations and assurances that extend 
beyond the closeout of this Grant Agreement. 

2. Means the total estimated time interval between the start of an initial Federal award and 
the planned end date, which may include one or more funded portions or budget periods (2 
Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 200.1). 

b. Budget Period: 

1. For this Grant is 4 years (1,460 calendar days) and follows the same start and end date as 
the Period of Performance provided in paragraph 2(a)(1). Pursuant to 2 CFR § 200.403(h), 
the Sponsor may charge to the Grant only allowable costs incurred during the Budget 
Period. Eligible project-related costs incurred on or after November 15, 2021 that comply 
with all Federal funding procurement requirements and FAA standards are allowable costs. 

2. Means the time interval from the start date of a funded portion of an award to the end date 
of that funded portion during which the Sponsor is authorized to expend the funds awarded, 
including any funds carried forward or other revisions pursuant to 2 CFR § 200.308. 

c. Close Out and Termination 

1. Unless the FAA authorizes a written extension, the Sponsor must submit all Grant closeout 
documentation and liquidate (pay-off) all obligations incurred under this award no later 
than 120 calendar days after the end date of the Period of Performance. If the Sponsor does 
not submit all required closeout documentation within this time period, the FAA will 
proceed to close out the grant within one year of the Period of Performance end date with 
the information available at the end of 120 days (2 CFR § 200.344). 

78



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

5 

2. The FAA may terminate this Grant, in whole or in part, in accordance with the conditions set 
forth in 2 CFR § 200.340, or other Federal regulatory or statutory authorities as applicable. 

3. Ineligible or Unallowable Costs. The Sponsor must not include any costs in the project that the FAA 
has determined to be ineligible or unallowable.  

4. Indirect Costs - Sponsor. The Sponsor may charge indirect costs under this award by applying the 
indirect cost rate identified in the project application as accepted by the FAA, to allowable costs for 
Sponsor direct salaries and wages.  

5. Determining the Final Federal Share of Costs. The United States’ share of allowable project costs 
will be made in accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 47109, the regulations, policies, and procedures of the 
Secretary of Transportation (“Secretary”), and any superseding legislation. Final determination of 
the United States’ share will be based upon the final audit of the total amount of allowable project 
costs and settlement will be made for any upward or downward adjustments to the Federal share of 
costs.  

6. Completing the Project Without Delay and in Conformance with Requirements. The Sponsor must 
carry out and complete the project without undue delays and in accordance with this Agreement, 
BIL (Public Law 117-58), the regulations, policies, and procedures of the Secretary. Per 2 CFR 
§ 200.308, the Sponsor agrees to report and request prior FAA approval for any disengagement from 
performing the project that exceeds three months or a 25 percent reduction in time devoted to the 
project. The report must include a reason for the project stoppage. The Sponsor also agrees to 
comply with the grant assurances, which are part of this Agreement. 

7. Amendments or Withdrawals before Grant Acceptance. The FAA reserves the right to amend or 
withdraw this offer at any time prior to its acceptance by the Sponsor.  

8. Offer Expiration Date. This offer will expire and the United States will not be obligated to pay any 
part of the costs of the project unless this offer has been accepted by the Sponsor on or before XXX, 
or such subsequent date as may be prescribed in writing by the FAA.  

9. Improper Use of Federal Funds. The Sponsor must take all steps, including litigation if necessary, to 
recover Federal funds spent fraudulently, wastefully, or in violation of Federal antitrust statutes, or 
misused in any other manner for any project upon which Federal funds have been expended. For 
the purposes of this Grant Agreement, the term “Federal funds” means funds however used or 
dispersed by the Sponsor, that were originally paid pursuant to this or any other Federal grant 
agreement. The Sponsor must obtain the approval of the Secretary as to any determination of the 
amount of the Federal share of such funds. The Sponsor must return the recovered Federal share, 
including funds recovered by settlement, order, or judgment, to the Secretary. The Sponsor must 
furnish to the Secretary, upon request, all documents and records pertaining to the determination 
of the amount of the Federal share or to any settlement, litigation, negotiation, or other efforts 
taken to recover such funds. All settlements or other final positions of the Sponsor, in court or 
otherwise, involving the recovery of such Federal share require advance approval by the Secretary.  

10. United States Not Liable for Damage or Injury. The United States is not responsible or liable for 
damage to property or injury to persons which may arise from, or be incident to, compliance with 
this Grant Agreement.  

11. System for Award Management (SAM) Registration and Unique Entity Identifier (UEI).  

a. Requirement for System for Award Management (SAM): Unless the Sponsor is exempted from 
this requirement under 2 CFR § 25.110, the Sponsor must maintain the currency of its 

79



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

6 

information in the SAM until the Sponsor submits the final financial report required under this 
Grant, or receives the final payment, whichever is later. This requires that the Sponsor review 
and update the information at least annually after the initial registration and more frequently if 
required by changes in information or another award term. Additional information about 
registration procedures may be found at the SAM website (currently at http://www.sam.gov). 

b. Unique entity identifier (UEI) means a 12-character alpha-numeric value used to identify a 
specific commercial, nonprofit or governmental entity. A UEI may be obtained from SAM.gov at 
https://sam.gov/content/entity-registration. 

12. Electronic Grant Payment(s). Unless otherwise directed by the FAA, the Sponsor must make each 
payment request under this Agreement electronically via the Delphi eInvoicing System for 
Department of Transportation (DOT) Financial Assistance Awardees.  

13. Informal Letter Amendment of BIL Projects. If, during the life of the project, the FAA determines 
that the maximum grant obligation of the United States exceeds the expected needs of the Sponsor 
by $25,000 or five percent (5%), whichever is greater, the FAA can issue a letter amendment to the 
Sponsor unilaterally reducing the maximum obligation.  

The FAA can, subject to the availability of Federal funds, also issue a letter to the Sponsor increasing 
the maximum obligation if there is an overrun in the total actual eligible and allowable project costs 
to cover the amount of the overrun provided it will not exceed the statutory limitations for grant 
amendments. The FAA’s authority to increase the maximum obligation does not apply to the 
“planning” component of Condition No. 1, Maximum Obligation.  

The FAA can also issue an informal letter amendment that modifies the grant description to correct 
administrative errors or to delete work items if the FAA finds it advantageous and in the best 
interests of the United States.  

An informal letter amendment has the same force and effect as a formal grant amendment.  

14. Air and Water Quality. The Sponsor is required to comply with all applicable environmental 
standards, as further defined in the Grant Assurances, for all projects in this grant. If the Sponsor 
fails to comply with this requirement, the FAA may suspend, cancel, or terminate this Grant 
Agreement.  

15. Financial Reporting and Payment Requirements. The Sponsor will comply with all Federal financial 
reporting requirements and payment requirements, including submittal of timely and accurate 
reports.  

16. Buy American. Unless otherwise approved in advance by the FAA, in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 
§ 50101, the Sponsor will not acquire or permit any contractor or subcontractor to acquire any steel 
or manufactured goods produced outside the United States to be used for any project for which 
funds are provided under this Grant. The Sponsor will include a provision implementing Buy 
American in every contract and subcontract awarded under this Grant.  

17. Build America, Buy American. The Sponsor must comply with the requirements under the Build 
America, Buy America Act (Public Law 117-58).  

18. Maximum Obligation Increase. In accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 47108(b)(3), as amended, the 
maximum obligation of the United States, as stated in Condition No. 1, Maximum Obligation, of this 
Grant:  

a. May not be increased for a planning project; 

80

http://www.sam.gov/
https://sam.gov/content/entity-registration


 3-08-0023-045-2024 

7 

b. May be increased by not more than 15 percent for development projects, if funds are available; 

c. May be increased by not more than the greater of the following for a land project, if funds are 
available: 

1. 15 percent; or 

2. 25 percent of the total increase in allowable project costs attributable to acquiring an 
interest in the land. 

If the Sponsor requests an increase, any eligible increase in funding will be subject to the United 
States Government share as provided in BIL (Public Law 117-58), or other superseding legislation if 
applicable, for the fiscal year appropriation with which the increase is funded. The FAA is not 
responsible for the same Federal share provided herein for any amount increased over the initial 
grant amount. The FAA may adjust the Federal share as applicable through an informal letter of 
amendment. 

19. Audits for Sponsors.  

PUBLIC SPONSORS. The Sponsor must provide for a Single Audit or program-specific audit in 
accordance with 2 CFR Part 200. The Sponsor must submit the audit reporting package to the 
Federal Audit Clearinghouse on the Federal Audit Clearinghouse’s Internet Data Entry System at 
http://harvester.census.gov/facweb/. Upon request of the FAA, the Sponsor shall provide one copy 
of the completed audit to the FAA. Sponsors that expend less than $750,000 in Federal awards and 
are exempt from Federal audit requirements must make records available for review or audit by the 
appropriate Federal agency officials, State, and Government Accountability Office. The FAA and 
other appropriate Federal agencies may request additional information to meet all Federal audit 
requirements.  

20. Suspension or Debarment. When entering into a “covered transaction” as defined by 2 CFR § 
180.200, the Sponsor must:  

a. Verify the non-Federal entity is eligible to participate in this Federal program by:  

1. Checking the Responsibility/Qualification records in the Federal Awardee Performance and 
Integrity Information System (FAPIIS) as maintained within the System for Award 
Management (SAM) to determine if the non-Federal entity is excluded or disqualified; or 

2. Collecting a certification statement from the non-Federal entity attesting they are not 
excluded or disqualified from participating; or 

3. Adding a clause or condition to covered transactions attesting the individual or firm are not 
excluded or disqualified from participating. 

b. Require prime contractors to comply with 2 CFR § 180.330 when entering into lower-tier 
transactions with their contractors and sub-contractors. 

c. Immediately disclose in writing to the FAA whenever (1) the Sponsor learns they have entered 
into a covered transaction with an ineligible entity or (2) the Public Sponsor suspends or debars 
a contractor, person, or entity. 

21. Ban on Texting While Driving.  

a. In accordance with Executive Order 13513, Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging 
While Driving, October 1, 2009, and DOT Order 3902.10, Text Messaging While Driving, 
December 30, 2009, the Sponsor is encouraged to:  

81

http://harvester.census.gov/facweb/


 3-08-0023-045-2024 

8 

1. Adopt and enforce workplace safety policies to decrease crashes caused by distracted 
drivers including policies to ban text messaging while driving when performing any work for, 
or on behalf of, the Federal government, including work relating to a grant or subgrant. 

2. Conduct workplace safety initiatives in a manner commensurate with the size of the 
business, such as:  

i. Establishment of new rules and programs or re-evaluation of existing programs to 
prohibit text messaging while driving; and 

ii. Education, awareness, and other outreach to employees about the safety risks 
associated with texting while driving. 

b. The Sponsor must insert the substance of this clause on banning texting while driving in all 
subgrants, contracts, and subcontracts funded with this Grant. 

22. Trafficking in Persons.  

a. Posting of contact information. 

1. The Sponsor must post the contact information of the national human trafficking hotline 
(including options to reach out to the hotline such as through phone, text, or TTY) in all 
public airport restrooms. 

b. Provisions applicable to a recipient that is a private entity. 

1. You as the recipient, your employees, subrecipients under this Grant, and subrecipients’ 
employees may not:  

i. Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the Grant 
and applicable conditions are in effect; 

ii. Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the Grant and applicable 
conditions are in effect; or 

iii. Use forced labor in the performance of the Grant or any subgrants under this Grant. 

2. We as the Federal awarding agency, may unilaterally terminate this Grant, without penalty, 
if you or a subrecipient that is a private entity –   

i. Is determined to have violated a prohibition in paragraph (b) of this Grant Condition; or 

ii. Has an employee who is determined by the agency official authorized to terminate the 
Grant to have violated a prohibition in paragraph (b) of this Grant Condition through 
conduct that is either –  

a) Associated with performance under this Grant; or 

b) Imputed to you or the subrecipient using the standards and due process for 
imputing the conduct of an individual to an organization that are provided in 2 CFR 
Part 180, “OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and 
Suspension (Nonprocurement),” as implemented by our agency at 2 CFR Part 1200. 

c. Provision applicable to a recipient other than a private entity. We as the Federal awarding 
agency may unilaterally terminate this Grant, without penalty, if a subrecipient that is a private 
entity –  

82



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

9 

1. Is determined to have violated an applicable prohibition in paragraph (a) of this Grant 
Condition; or 

2. Has an employee who is determined by the agency official authorized to terminate the 
Grant to have violated an applicable prohibition in paragraph (a) of this Grant Condition 
through conduct that is either – 

i. Associated with performance under this Grant; or 

ii. Imputed to the subrecipient using the standards and due process for imputing the 
conduct of an individual to an organization that are provided in 2 CFR Part 180, “OMB 
Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension 
(Nonprocurement),” as implemented by our agency at 2 CFR Part 1200. 

d. Provisions applicable to any recipient. 

1. You must inform us immediately of any information you receive from any source alleging a 
violation of a prohibition in paragraph (a) of this Grant Condition. 

2. Our right to terminate unilaterally that is described in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Grant 
Condition:  

i. Implements section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA), as 
amended [22 U.S.C. § 7104(g)], and 

ii. Is in addition to all other remedies for noncompliance that are available to us under this 
Grant. 

3. You must include the requirements of paragraph (a) of this Grant Condition in any subgrant 
you make to a private entity. 

e. Definitions. For purposes of this Grant Condition: 

1. “Employee” means either: 

i. An individual employed by you or a subrecipient who is engaged in the performance of 
the project or program under this Grant; or 

ii. Another person engaged in the performance of the project or program under this Grant 
and not compensated by you including, but not limited to, a volunteer or individual 
whose services are contributed by a third party as an in-kind contribution toward cost 
sharing or matching requirements. 

2. “Forced labor” means labor obtained by any of the following methods: the recruitment, 
harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person for labor or services, through 
the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of subjection to involuntary servitude, 
peonage, debt bondage, or slavery. 

3. “Private entity”: 

i. Means any entity other than a State, local government, Indian tribe, or foreign public 
entity, as those terms are defined in 2 CFR § 175.25. 

ii. Includes: 

a) A nonprofit organization, including any nonprofit institute of higher education, 
hospital, or tribal organization other than one included in the definition of Indian 
tribe at 2 CFR § 175.25(b). 

83



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

10 

b) A for-profit organization. 

4. “Severe forms of trafficking in persons,” “commercial sex act,” and “coercion” have the 
meanings given at section 103 of the TVPA, as amended (22 U.S.C. § 7102). 

23. BIL Funded Work Included in a PFC Application. Within 120 days of acceptance of this Grant 
Agreement, the Sponsor must submit to the FAA an amendment to any approved Passenger Facility 
Charge (PFC) application that contains an approved PFC project also covered under this Grant 
Agreement as described in the project application. The airport sponsor may not make any 
expenditure under this Grant Agreement until project work addressed under this Grant Agreement 
is removed from an approved PFC application by amendment.  

24. Exhibit “A” Property Map. The Exhibit “A” Property Map dated June 2020, is incorporated herein by 
reference or is submitted with the project application and made part of this Grant Agreement.  

25. Employee Protection from Reprisal.  

a. Prohibition of Reprisals.  

1. In accordance with 41 U.S.C. § 4712, an employee of a Sponsor, grantee, subgrantee, 
contractor, or subcontractor may not be discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated 
against as a reprisal for disclosing to a person or body described in sub-paragraph (a)(2) 
below, information that the employee reasonably believes is evidence of:  

i. Gross mismanagement of a Federal grant; 

ii. Gross waste of Federal funds; 

iii. An abuse of authority relating to implementation or use of Federal funds; 

iv. A substantial and specific danger to public health or safety; or 

v. A violation of law, rule, or regulation related to a Federal grant. 

2. Persons and bodies covered. The persons and bodies to which a disclosure by an employee 
is covered are as follows: 

i. A member of Congress or a representative of a committee of Congress; 

ii. An Inspector General; 

iii. The Government Accountability Office; 

iv. A Federal employee responsible for contract or grant oversight or management at the 
relevant agency; 

v. A court or grand jury; 

vi. A management official or other employee of the Sponsor, contractor, or subcontractor 
who has the responsibility to investigate, discover, or address misconduct; or 

vii. An authorized official of the Department of Justice or other law enforcement agency. 

b. Investigation of Complaints. 

1. Submission of Complaint. A person who believes that they have been subjected to a reprisal 
prohibited by paragraph (a) of this Condition may submit a complaint regarding the reprisal 
to the Office of Inspector General (OIG) for the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

84



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

11 

2. Time Limitation for Submittal of a Complaint. A complaint may not be brought under this 
subsection more than three years after the date on which the alleged reprisal took place. 

3. Required Actions of the Inspector General. Actions, limitations, and exceptions of the OIG’s 
office are established under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(b). 

c. Remedy and Enforcement Authority. 

1. Assumption of Rights to Civil Remedy. Upon receipt of an explanation of a decision not to 
conduct or continue an investigation by the OIG, the person submitting a complaint assumes 
the right to a civil remedy under 41 U.S.C. § 4712(c)(2). 

26. Co-Sponsor. The Co-Sponsors understand and agree that they jointly and severally adopt and ratify 
the representations and assurances contained therein and that the word "Sponsor" as used in the 
application and other assurances is deemed to include all Co-Sponsors.  

27. Prohibited Telecommunications and Video Surveillance Services and Equipment. The Sponsor 
agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to use and procurement of certain 
telecommunications and video surveillance services or equipment in compliance with the National 
Defense Authorization Act [Public Law 115-232 § 889(f)(1)] and 2 CFR § 200.216. 

28. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act.  As a condition of a grant award, the Sponsor shall demonstrate that 
it complies with the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d et seq) 
and implementing regulations (49 CFR part 21), the Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (49 
U.S.C. § 47123), the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101 et seq.), Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 
U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.), U.S. Department of Transportation and Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) Assurances, and other relevant civil rights statutes, regulations, or authorities. This may 
include, as applicable, providing a current Title VI Program Plan and a Community Participation Plan 
(alternatively may be called a Public Participation Plan) to the FAA for approval, in the format and 
according to the timeline required by the FAA, and other information about the communities that 
will be benefited and impacted by the project. A completed FAA Title VI Pre-Grant Award Checklist is 
also required for every grant application, unless excused by the FAA. The Sponsor shall affirmatively 
ensure that when carrying out any project supported by this grant that it complies with all federal 
nondiscrimination and civil rights laws based on race, color, national origin (including limited English 
proficiency), sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity), creed, age, disability, genetic 
information, or environmental justice in consideration for federal financial assistance. The Sponsor, 
who have not sufficiently demonstrated the conditions of compliance with civil rights requirements 
will be required to do so before receiving funds. The Department’s and FAA’s Office of Civil Rights 
may provide resources and technical assistance to recipients to ensure full and sustainable 
compliance with Federal civil rights requirements. Failure to comply with civil rights requirements 
will be considered a violation of the agreement or contract and be subject to any enforcement 
action as authorized by law.  

85



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

12 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

29. Final Project Documentation. The Sponsor understands and agrees that in accordance with 49 USC 
47111, and with the Airport District Office's (ADO) concurrence, that no payments totaling more 
than 90.0 percent of United States Government’s share of the project’s estimated allowable cost 
may be made before the project is determined to be substantially complete. Substantially complete 
means the following: (1) The project results in a complete, usable unit of work as defined in the 
grant agreement and (2) The sponsor submits necessary documents showing that the project is 
substantially complete per the contract requirements, or has a plan (that FAA agrees with) that 
addresses all elements contained on the punch list. Furthermore, no payments totaling more than 
97.5 percent of the United States Government’s share of the project’s estimated allowable cost may 
be made until: (1) The sponsor submits all necessary closeout documentation and (2) The sponsor 
receives final payment notification from the ADO. 

30. Airports Geographic Information System (AGIS) Requirements. AGIS requirements, as specified in 
Advisory Circular 150/5300-18, apply to the project included in this grant offer. Final construction 
as-built information or planning deliverables must be collected according to these specifications and 
submitted to the FAA. The submittal must be reviewed and accepted by the FAA before the grant 
can be administratively closed. 

31. Solid Waste Recycling Plan. The Sponsor certifies that it has a solid waste recycling plan as part of 
an existing Airport Master Plan, as described by 49 U.S.C. § 47106(a)(6). 

32. Airport Layout Plan. The Sponsor understands and agrees to update the Airport Layout Plan to 
reflect the construction to standards satisfactory to the FAA and submit it in final form to the FAA as 
prescribed by 49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(16). It is further mutually agreed that the reasonable cost of 
developing said Airport Layout Plan Map is an allowable cost within the scope of this project, if 
applicable. Airport Sponsors Grant Assurance 29 further addresses the Sponsor’s statutory 
obligations to maintain an airport layout plan in accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 47107(a)(16).  

33. Building BIL Proration. For purposes of computing the United States’ share of the allowable project 
costs of the project, the allowable cost of the Terminal Building included in the project must not 
exceed 92.11% percent of the actual cost of the entire building.  

34. Buy American Executive Orders. The Sponsor agrees to abide by applicable Executive Orders in 
effect at the time this Grant Agreement is executed, including Executive Order 14005, Ensuring the 
Future Is Made in All of America by All of America’s Workers.  

86



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

13 

The Sponsor’s acceptance of this Offer and ratification and adoption of the Project Application 
incorporated herein shall be evidenced by execution of this instrument by the Sponsor, as hereinafter 
provided, and this Offer and Acceptance shall comprise a Grant Agreement, constituting the contractual 
obligations and rights of the United States and the Sponsor with respect to the accomplishment of the 
Project and compliance with the Grant Assurances, terms, and conditions as provided herein. Such Grant 
Agreement shall become effective upon the Sponsor’s acceptance of this Offer.  

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.1 

  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION 

{{Sig_es_:signer1:signature:dimension(height=12mm, width=70mm}} 

(Signature) 

{{N_es_:signer1:fullname                            }} 
(Typed Name) 

{{N_es_:signer1:title                            }} 
(Title of FAA Official) 

 

 

  

 
1 Knowingly and willfully providing false information to the Federal government is a violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001 (False Statements) and could subject you to fines, imprisonment, or both. 

87



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

14 

Part II - Acceptance 
The Sponsor does hereby ratify and adopt all assurances, statements, representations, warranties, 
covenants, and agreements contained in the Project Application and incorporated materials referred to 
in the foregoing Offer, and does hereby accept this Offer and by such acceptance agrees to comply with 
all of the Grant Assurances, terms, and conditions in this Offer and in the Project Application.  

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.2 

Dated  {{DateTime_es_:signer2:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 

 
City of Fort Collins, Colorado 

 (Name of Sponsor) 

 
{{Sig_es_:signer2:signature:dimension(height=12mm, width=70mm}} 

 (Signature of Sponsor’s Authorized Official) 

By: {{N_es_:signer2:fullname                            }} 
 (Typed Name of Sponsor’s Authorized Official) 

Title: {{*Ttl_es_:signer2:title                                 }} 
 (Title of Sponsor’s Authorized Official) 

 

  

 
2 Knowingly and willfully providing false information to the Federal government is a violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001 (False Statements) and could subject you to fines, imprisonment, or both. 

88



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

15 

 CERTIFICATE OF SPONSOR’S ATTORNEY  
 
I, {{N_es_:signer3:                            fullname}}, acting as Attorney for the Sponsor do hereby certify: 

That in my opinion the Sponsor is empowered to enter into the foregoing Grant Agreement under the 
laws of the State of __Colorado__. Further, I have examined the foregoing Grant Agreement and the 
actions taken by said Sponsor and Sponsor’s official representative, who has been duly authorized to 
execute this Grant Agreement, which is in all respects due and proper and in accordance with the laws 
of the said State; the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (Public Law 117-58) of 2021 referred to as 
the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), Division J, Title VIII; and the representations contained in the 
Project Application. In addition, for grants involving projects to be carried out on property not owned by 
the Sponsor, there are no legal impediments that will prevent full performance by the Sponsor. Further, 
it is my opinion that the said Grant Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation of the Sponsor 
in accordance with the terms thereof. 

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.3 

Dated at  {{DateTime_es_:signer3:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 By: {{Sig_es_:signer3:signature:dimension(height=12mm, width=70mm}} 
 (Signature of Sponsor’s Attorney) 

 

  

 
3 Knowingly and willfully providing false information to the Federal government is a violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 1001 (False Statements) and could subject you to fines, imprisonment, or both.  

89



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

16 

 
The Sponsor does hereby ratify and adopt all assurances, statements, representations, warranties, 
covenants, and agreements contained in the Project Application and incorporated materials referred to 
in the foregoing Offer, and does hereby accept this Offer and by such acceptance agrees to comply with 
all of the Grant Assurances, terms, and conditions in this Offer and in the Project Application.  

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.4 

Dated  {{DateTime_es_:signer4:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 

 

 
City of Loveland, Colorado 

 (Name of Sponsor) 

 
{{Sig_es_:signer4:signature:dimension(height=12mm, width=70mm}} 

 (Signature of Sponsor’s Authorized Official) 

By: {{N_es_:signer4:fullname                            }} 
 (Typed Name of Sponsor’s Authorized Official) 

Title: {{*Ttl_es_:signer4:title                                 }} 
 (Title of Sponsor’s Authorized Official) 

 

 

4 Knowingly and willfully providing false information to the Federal government is a violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001 (False Statements) and could subject you to fines, imprisonment, or both.  

90



 3-08-0023-045-2024 

17 

 CERTIFICATE OF SPONSOR’S ATTORNEY 

I, {{N_es_:signer5:                            fullname}}, acting as Attorney for the Sponsor do hereby certify: 

That in my opinion the Sponsor is empowered to enter into the foregoing Grant Agreement under the 
laws of the State of __Colorado__. Further, I have examined the foregoing Grant Agreement and the 
actions taken by said Sponsor and Sponsor’s official representative, who has been duly authorized to 
execute this Grant Agreement, which is in all respects due and proper and in accordance with the laws 
of the said State; the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (Public Law 117-58) of 2021 referred to as 
the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), Division J, Title VIII; and the representations contained in the 
Project Application. In addition, for grants involving projects to be carried out on property not owned by 
the Sponsor, there are no legal impediments that will prevent full performance by the Sponsor. Further, 
it is my opinion that the said Grant Agreement constitutes a legal and binding obligation of the Sponsor 
in accordance with the terms thereof. 

Please read the following information: By signing this document, you are agreeing that you have 
reviewed the following consumer disclosure information and consent to transact business using 
electronic communications, to receive notices and disclosures electronically, and to utilize electronic 
signatures in lieu of using paper documents. You are not required to receive notices and disclosures or 
sign documents electronically. If you prefer not to do so, you may request to receive paper copies and 
withdraw your consent at any time.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.5 

Dated at  {{DateTime_es_:signer5:calc(now()):format(date," mmmm d, yyyy")}}  

 By: {{Sig_es_:signer5:signature:dimension(height=12mm, width=70mm}} 
 (Signature of Sponsor’s Attorney) 

 

 

 
5 Knowingly and willfully providing false information to the Federal government is a violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1001 (False Statements) and could subject you to fines, imprisonment, or both. 

91



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 1 of 18 

ASSURANCES 
AIRPORT SPONSORS 

A. General. 

1. These assurances shall be complied with in the performance of grant agreements for airport 
development, airport planning, and noise compatibility program grants for airport sponsors. 

2. These assurances are required to be submitted as part of the project application by sponsors 
requesting funds under the provisions of Public Law 117-58, Division J, Title VIII, as amended. 
As used herein, the term "public agency sponsor" means a public agency with control of a 
public-use airport; the term "private sponsor" means a private owner of a public-use airport; 
and the term "sponsor" includes both public agency sponsors and private sponsors. 

3. Upon acceptance of this grant offer by the sponsor, these assurances are incorporated in and 
become part of this Grant Agreement. 

B. Duration and Applicability. 

1. Airport development or Noise Compatibility Program Projects Undertaken by a Public Agency 
Sponsor. 

The terms, conditions and assurances of this Grant Agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect throughout the useful life of the facilities developed or equipment acquired for an 
airport development or noise compatibility program project, or throughout the useful life of 
the project items installed within a facility under a noise compatibility program project, but in 
any event not to exceed twenty (20) years from the date of acceptance of a grant offer of 
Federal funds for the project. However, there shall be no limit on the duration of the 
assurances regarding Exclusive Rights and Airport Revenue so long as the airport is used as an 
airport. There shall be no limit on the duration of the terms, conditions, and assurances with 
respect to real property acquired with federal funds. Furthermore, the duration of the Civil 
Rights assurance shall be specified in the assurances.  

2. Airport Development or Noise Compatibility Projects Undertaken by a Private Sponsor. 

The preceding paragraph (1) also applies to a private sponsor except that the useful life of 
project items installed within a facility or the useful life of the facilities developed or equipment 
acquired under an airport development or noise compatibility program project shall be no less 
than ten (10) years from the date of acceptance of Federal aid for the project.  

3. Airport Planning Undertaken by a Sponsor. 

Unless otherwise specified in this Grant Agreement, only Assurances 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 13, 18, 23, 25, 
30, 32, 33, 34, and 37 in Section C apply to planning projects. The terms, conditions, and 
assurances of this Grant Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the life of the 
project; there shall be no limit on the duration of the assurances regarding Exclusive Rights and 
Airport Revenue so long as the airport is used as an airport.  

  

92



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 2 of 18 

C. Sponsor Certification. 

The sponsor hereby assures and certifies, with respect to this grant that: 

1. General Federal Requirements 

It will comply with all applicable Federal laws, regulations, executive orders, policies, guidelines, and 
requirements as they relate to the application, acceptance, and use of Federal funds for this Grant 
including but not limited to the following:  

FEDERAL LEGISLATION 
a. 49 U.S.C. subtitle VII, as amended. 

b. Davis-Bacon Act, as amended — 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144, 3146, and 3147, et seq.1 

c. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act – 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

d. Hatch Act – 5 U.S.C. § 1501, et seq.2 

e. Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 4601, et seq.1, 2 

f. National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 – Section 106 – 54 U.S.C. § 306108.1 

g. Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974 – 54 U.S.C. § 312501, et seq.1 

h. Native Americans Grave Repatriation Act – 25 U.S.C. § 3001, et seq. 

i. Clean Air Act, P.L. 90-148, as amended – 42 U.S.C. § 7401, et seq. 

j. Coastal Zone Management Act, P.L. 92-583, as amended – 16 U.S.C. § 1451, et seq. 

k. Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 – Section 102(a) - 42 U.S.C. § 4012a.1 

l. 49 U.S.C. § 303, (formerly known as Section 4(f)) 

m. Rehabilitation Act of 1973 – 29 U.S.C. § 794. 

n. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); 

o. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) (prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of disability). 

p. Age Discrimination Act of 1975 – 42 U.S.C. § 6101, et seq. 

q. American Indian Religious Freedom Act, P.L. 95-341, as amended. 

r. Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended – 42 U.S.C. § 4151, et seq.1 

s. Powerplant and Industrial Fuel Use Act of 1978 – Section 403 – 42 U.S.C. § 8373.1 

t. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act – 40 U.S.C. § 3701, et seq.1 

u. Copeland Anti-kickback Act – 18 U.S.C. § 874.1 

v. National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 – 42 U.S.C. § 4321, et seq.1 

w. Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, P.L. 90-542, as amended – 16 U.S.C. § 1271, et seq. 

x. Single Audit Act of 1984 – 31 U.S.C. § 7501, et seq.2 

93



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 3 of 18 

y. Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 – 41 U.S.C. §§ 8101 through 8105. 

z. The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006, as amended (Pub. L. 109-282, 
as amended by section 6202 of Pub. L. 110-252). 

aa. Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, P.L. 100-259. 

bb. Build America, Buy America Act, P.L. 117-58, Title IX. 

EXECUTIVE ORDERS 
a. Executive Order 11246 – Equal Employment Opportunity1 

b. Executive Order 11990 – Protection of Wetlands 

c. Executive Order 11998 – Flood Plain Management 

d. Executive Order 12372 – Intergovernmental Review of Federal Programs 

e. Executive Order 12699 – Seismic Safety of Federal and Federally Assisted New Building 
Construction1 

f. Executive Order 12898 – Environmental Justice 

g. Executive Order 13166 – Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English 
Proficiency 

h. Executive Order 13985 – Executive Order on Advancing Racial Equity and Support for 
Underserved Communities Through the Federal Government 

i. Executive Order 13988 - Preventing and Combating Discrimination on the Basis of Gender Identity 
or Sexual Orientation 

j. Executive Order 14005 – Ensuring the Future is Made in all of America by All of America’s 
Workers 

k. Executive Order 14008 – Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad 

FEDERAL REGULATIONS 
a. 2 CFR Part 180 – OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension 

(Nonprocurement). 

b. 2 CFR Part 200 – Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards. 4, 5 

c. 2 CFR Part 1200 – Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment. 

d. 14 CFR Part 13 – Investigative and Enforcement Procedures. 

e. 14 CFR Part 16 – Rules of Practice for Federally-Assisted Airport Enforcement Proceedings. 

f. 14 CFR Part 150 – Airport Noise Compatibility Planning. 

g. 28 CFR Part 35 – Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in State and Local Government 
Services. 

h. 28 CFR § 50.3 – U.S. Department of Justice Guidelines for the Enforcement of Title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964. 

i. 29 CFR Part 1 – Procedures for Predetermination of Wage Rates.1 

94



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 4 of 18 

j. 29 CFR Part 3 – Contractors and Subcontractors on Public Building or Public Work Financed in 
Whole or in Part by Loans or Grants from the United States.1 

k. 29 CFR Part 5 – Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts Covering Federally Financed 
and Assisted Construction (Also Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Nonconstruction 
Contracts Subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act).1 

l. 41 CFR Part 60 – Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment 
Opportunity, Department of Labor (Federal and Federally-assisted contracting requirements).1 

m. 49 CFR Part 20 – New Restrictions on Lobbying. 

n. 49 CFR Part 21 – Nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department of 
Transportation - Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

o. 49 CFR Part 23 – Participation by Disadvantage Business Enterprise in Airport Concessions. 

p. 49 CFR Part 24 – Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition for Federal and 
Federally-Assisted Programs.1, 2 

q. 49 CFR Part 26 – Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of 
Transportation Financial Assistance Programs. 

r. 49 CFR Part 27 – Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability in Programs or Activities Receiving 
Federal Financial Assistance.1 

s. 49 CFR Part 28 – Enforcement of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap in Programs or 
Activities Conducted by the Department of Transportation. 

t. 49 CFR Part 30 – Denial of Public Works Contracts to Suppliers of Goods and Services of 
Countries That Deny Procurement Market Access to U.S. Contractors. 

u. 49 CFR Part 32 – Governmentwide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial 
Assistance). 

v. 49 CFR Part 37 – Transportation Services for Individuals with Disabilities (ADA). 

w. 49 CFR Part 38 – Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Accessibility Specifications for 
Transportation Vehicles. 

x. 49 CFR Part 41 – Seismic Safety. 

FOOTNOTES TO ASSURANCE (C)(1) 
1 These laws do not apply to airport planning sponsors. 
2 These laws do not apply to private sponsors. 
3 2 CFR Part 200 contains requirements for State and Local Governments receiving Federal 

assistance. Any requirement levied upon State and Local Governments by this regulation shall 
apply where applicable to private sponsors receiving Federal assistance under Title 49, United 
States Code. 

4 Cost principles established in 2 CFR part 200 subpart E must be used as guidelines for 
determining the eligibility of specific types of expenses. 

5 Audit requirements established in 2 CFR part 200 subpart F are the guidelines for audits. 
  

95



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 5 of 18 

SPECIFIC ASSURANCES 

Specific assurances required to be included in grant agreements by any of the above laws, regulations or 
circulars are incorporated by reference in this Grant Agreement. 

2. Responsibility and Authority of the Sponsor. 

a. Public Agency Sponsor: 

It has legal authority to apply for this Grant, and to finance and carry out the proposed project; 
that a resolution, motion or similar action has been duly adopted or passed as an official act of 
the applicant's governing body authorizing the filing of the application, including all 
understandings and assurances contained therein, and directing and authorizing the person 
identified as the official representative of the applicant to act in connection with the 
application and to provide such additional information as may be required. 

b. Private Sponsor: 

It has legal authority to apply for this Grant and to finance and carry out the proposed project 
and comply with all terms, conditions, and assurances of this Grant Agreement. It shall 
designate an official representative and shall in writing direct and authorize that person to file 
this application, including all understandings and assurances contained therein; to act in 
connection with this application; and to provide such additional information as may be 
required. 

3. Sponsor Fund Availability. 

It has sufficient funds available for that portion of the project costs which are not to be paid by the 
United States. It has sufficient funds available to assure operation and maintenance of items funded 
under this Grant Agreement which it will own or control. 

4. Good Title. 

a. It, a public agency or the Federal government, holds good title, satisfactory to the Secretary, to 
the landing area of the airport or site thereof, or will give assurance satisfactory to the 
Secretary that good title will be acquired. 

b. For noise compatibility program projects to be carried out on the property of the sponsor, it 
holds good title satisfactory to the Secretary to that portion of the property upon which Federal 
funds will be expended or will give assurance to the Secretary that good title will be obtained. 

5. Preserving Rights and Powers. 

a. It will not take or permit any action which would operate to deprive it of any of the rights and 
powers necessary to perform any or all of the terms, conditions, and assurances in this Grant 
Agreement without the written approval of the Secretary, and will act promptly to acquire, 
extinguish or modify any outstanding rights or claims of right of others which would interfere 
with such performance by the sponsor. This shall be done in a manner acceptable to the 
Secretary. 

b. Subject to the FAA Act of 2018, Public Law 115-254, Section 163, it will not sell, lease, 
encumber, or otherwise transfer or dispose of any part of its title or other interests in the 
property shown on Exhibit A to this application or, for a noise compatibility program project, 
that portion of the property upon which Federal funds have been expended, for the duration of 
the terms, conditions, and assurances in this Grant Agreement without approval by the 

96



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 6 of 18 

Secretary. If the transferee is found by the Secretary to be eligible under Title 49, United States 
Code, to assume the obligations of this Grant Agreement and to have the power, authority, and 
financial resources to carry out all such obligations, the sponsor shall insert in the contract or 
document transferring or disposing of the sponsor's interest, and make binding upon the 
transferee all of the terms, conditions, and assurances contained in this Grant Agreement. 

c. For all noise compatibility program projects which are to be carried out by another unit of local 
government or are on property owned by a unit of local government other than the sponsor, it 
will enter into an agreement with that government. Except as otherwise specified by the 
Secretary, that agreement shall obligate that government to the same terms, conditions, and 
assurances that would be applicable to it if it applied directly to the FAA for a grant to 
undertake the noise compatibility program project. That agreement and changes thereto must 
be satisfactory to the Secretary. It will take steps to enforce this agreement against the local 
government if there is substantial non-compliance with the terms of the agreement. 

d. For noise compatibility program projects to be carried out on privately owned property, it will 
enter into an agreement with the owner of that property which includes provisions specified by 
the Secretary. It will take steps to enforce this agreement against the property owner 
whenever there is substantial non-compliance with the terms of the agreement. 

e. If the sponsor is a private sponsor, it will take steps satisfactory to the Secretary to ensure that 
the airport will continue to function as a public-use airport in accordance with these assurances 
for the duration of these assurances. 

f. If an arrangement is made for management and operation of the airport by any agency or 
person other than the sponsor or an employee of the sponsor, the sponsor will reserve 
sufficient rights and authority to ensure that the airport will be operated and maintained in 
accordance with Title 49, United States Code, the regulations and the terms, conditions and 
assurances in this Grant Agreement and shall ensure that such arrangement also requires 
compliance therewith. 

g. Sponsors of commercial service airports will not permit or enter into any arrangement that 
results in permission for the owner or tenant of a property used as a residence, or zoned for 
residential use, to taxi an aircraft between that property and any location on airport. Sponsors 
of general aviation airports entering into any arrangement that results in permission for the 
owner of residential real property adjacent to or near the airport must comply with the 
requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 47107(s) and the sponsor assurances. 

6. Consistency with Local Plans. 

The project is reasonably consistent with plans (existing at the time of submission of this 
application) of public agencies that are authorized by the State in which the project is located to 
plan for the development of the area surrounding the airport. 

7. Consideration of Local Interest. 

It has given fair consideration to the interest of communities in or near where the project may be 
located. 

8. Consultation with Users. 

In making a decision to undertake any airport development project under Title 49, United States 
Code, it has undertaken reasonable consultations with affected parties using the airport at which 
project is proposed. 

97



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 7 of 18 

9. Public Hearings. 

In projects involving the location of an airport, an airport runway, or a major runway extension, it 
has afforded the opportunity for public hearings for the purpose of considering the economic, 
social, and environmental effects of the airport or runway location and its consistency with goals 
and objectives of such planning as has been carried out by the community and it shall, when 
requested by the Secretary, submit a copy of the transcript of such hearings to the Secretary. 
Further, for such projects, it has on its management board either voting representation from the 
communities where the project is located or has advised the communities that they have the right 
to petition the Secretary concerning a proposed project. 

10. Metropolitan Planning Organization. 

In projects involving the location of an airport, an airport runway, or a major runway extension at a 
medium or large hub airport, the sponsor has made available to and has provided upon request to 
the metropolitan planning organization in the area in which the airport is located, if any, a copy of 
the proposed amendment to the airport layout plan to depict the project and a copy of any airport 
master plan in which the project is described or depicted. 

11. Pavement Preventive Maintenance. 

With respect to a project approved after January 1, 1995, for the replacement or reconstruction of 
pavement at the airport, it assures or certifies that it has implemented an effective airport 
pavement maintenance-management program and it assures that it will use such program for the 
useful life of any pavement constructed, reconstructed or repaired with Federal financial assistance 
at the airport. It will provide such reports on pavement condition and pavement management 
programs as the Secretary determines may be useful. 

12. Terminal Development Prerequisites. 

For projects which include terminal development at a public use airport, as defined in Title 49, it 
has, on the date of submittal of the project grant application, all the safety equipment required for 
certification of such airport under 49 U.S.C. § 44706, and all the security equipment required by rule 
or regulation, and has provided for access to the passenger enplaning and deplaning area of such 
airport to passengers enplaning and deplaning from aircraft other than air carrier aircraft. 

13. Accounting System, Audit, and Record Keeping Requirements. 

a. It shall keep all project accounts and records which fully disclose the amount and disposition by 
the recipient of the proceeds of this Grant, the total cost of the project in connection with 
which this Grant is given or used, and the amount or nature of that portion of the cost of the 
project supplied by other sources, and such other financial records pertinent to the project. The 
accounts and records shall be kept in accordance with an accounting system that will facilitate 
an effective audit in accordance with the Single Audit Act of 1984. 

b. It shall make available to the Secretary and the Comptroller General of the United States, or 
any of their duly authorized representatives, for the purpose of audit and examination, any 
books, documents, papers, and records of the recipient that are pertinent to this Grant. The 
Secretary may require that an appropriate audit be conducted by a recipient. In any case in 
which an independent audit is made of the accounts of a sponsor relating to the disposition of 
the proceeds of a grant or relating to the project in connection with which this Grant was given 
or used, it shall file a certified copy of such audit with the Comptroller General of the United 

98



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 8 of 18 

States not later than six (6) months following the close of the fiscal year for which the audit was 
made. 

14. Minimum Wage Rates. 

It shall include, in all contracts in excess of $2,000 for work on any projects funded under this Grant 
Agreement which involve labor, provisions establishing minimum rates of wages, to be 
predetermined by the Secretary of Labor under 40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144, 3146, and 3147, Public 
Building, Property, and Works), which contractors shall pay to skilled and unskilled labor, and such 
minimum rates shall be stated in the invitation for bids and shall be included in proposals or bids for 
the work. 

15. Veteran's Preference. 

It shall include in all contracts for work on any project funded under this Grant Agreement which 
involve labor, such provisions as are necessary to insure that, in the employment of labor (except in 
executive, administrative, and supervisory positions), preference shall be given to Vietnam era 
veterans, Persian Gulf veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war veterans, disabled veterans, and small 
business concerns owned and controlled by disabled veterans as defined in 49 U.S.C. § 47112. 
However, this preference shall apply only where the individuals are available and qualified to 
perform the work to which the employment relates. 

16. Conformity to Plans and Specifications. 

It will execute the project subject to plans, specifications, and schedules approved by the Secretary. 
Such plans, specifications, and schedules shall be submitted to the Secretary prior to 
commencement of site preparation, construction, or other performance under this Grant 
Agreement, and, upon approval of the Secretary, shall be incorporated into this Grant Agreement. 
Any modification to the approved plans, specifications, and schedules shall also be subject to 
approval of the Secretary, and incorporated into this Grant Agreement. 

17. Construction Inspection and Approval. 

It will provide and maintain competent technical supervision at the construction site throughout the 
project to assure that the work conforms to the plans, specifications, and schedules approved by 
the Secretary for the project. It shall subject the construction work on any project contained in an 
approved project application to inspection and approval by the Secretary and such work shall be in 
accordance with regulations and procedures prescribed by the Secretary. Such regulations and 
procedures shall require such cost and progress reporting by the sponsor or sponsors of such 
project as the Secretary shall deem necessary. 

18. Planning Projects. 

In carrying out planning projects: 

a. It will execute the project in accordance with the approved program narrative contained in the 
project application or with the modifications similarly approved. 

b. It will furnish the Secretary with such periodic reports as required pertaining to the planning 
project and planning work activities. 

c. It will include in all published material prepared in connection with the planning project a 
notice that the material was prepared under a grant provided by the United States. 

99



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 9 of 18 

d. It will make such material available for examination by the public, and agrees that no material 
prepared with funds under this project shall be subject to copyright in the United States or any 
other country. 

e. It will give the Secretary unrestricted authority to publish, disclose, distribute, and otherwise 
use any of the material prepared in connection with this grant. 

f. It will grant the Secretary the right to disapprove the sponsor's employment of specific 
consultants and their subcontractors to do all or any part of this project as well as the right to 
disapprove the proposed scope and cost of professional services. 

g. It will grant the Secretary the right to disapprove the use of the sponsor's employees to do all 
or any part of the project. 

h. It understands and agrees that the Secretary's approval of this project grant or the Secretary's 
approval of any planning material developed as part of this grant does not constitute or imply 
any assurance or commitment on the part of the Secretary to approve any pending or future 
application for a Federal airport grant. 

19. Operation and Maintenance. 

a. The airport and all facilities which are necessary to serve the aeronautical users of the airport, 
other than facilities owned or controlled by the United States, shall be operated at all times in a 
safe and serviceable condition and in accordance with the minimum standards as may be 
required or prescribed by applicable Federal, state, and local agencies for maintenance and 
operation. It will not cause or permit any activity or action thereon which would interfere with 
its use for airport purposes. It will suitably operate and maintain the airport and all facilities 
thereon or connected therewith, with due regard to climatic and flood conditions. Any proposal 
to temporarily close the airport for non-aeronautical purposes must first be approved by the 
Secretary. In furtherance of this assurance, the sponsor will have in effect arrangements for: 

1. Operating the airport's aeronautical facilities whenever required; 

2. Promptly marking and lighting hazards resulting from airport conditions, including 
temporary conditions; and 

3. Promptly notifying aviators of any condition affecting aeronautical use of the airport. 
Nothing contained herein shall be construed to require that the airport be operated for 
aeronautical use during temporary periods when snow, flood, or other climatic conditions 
interfere with such operation and maintenance. Further, nothing herein shall be construed 
as requiring the maintenance, repair, restoration, or replacement of any structure or 
facility which is substantially damaged or destroyed due to an act of God or other 
condition or circumstance beyond the control of the sponsor. 

b. It will suitably operate and maintain noise compatibility program items that it owns or controls 
upon which Federal funds have been expended. 

20. Hazard Removal and Mitigation. 

It will take appropriate action to assure that such terminal airspace as is required to protect 
instrument and visual operations to the airport (including established minimum flight altitudes) will 
be adequately cleared and protected by removing, lowering, relocating, marking, or lighting or 
otherwise mitigating existing airport hazards and by preventing the establishment or creation of 
future airport hazards. 

100



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 10 of 18 

21. Compatible Land Use. 

It will take appropriate action, to the extent reasonable, including the adoption of zoning laws, to 
restrict the use of land adjacent to or in the immediate vicinity of the airport to activities and 
purposes compatible with normal airport operations, including landing and takeoff of aircraft. In 
addition, if the project is for noise compatibility program implementation, it will not cause or permit 
any change in land use, within its jurisdiction, that will reduce its compatibility, with respect to the 
airport, of the noise compatibility program measures upon which Federal funds have been 
expended. 

22. Economic Nondiscrimination. 

a. It will make the airport available as an airport for public use on reasonable terms and without 
unjust discrimination to all types, kinds and classes of aeronautical activities, including 
commercial aeronautical activities offering services to the public at the airport. 

b. In any agreement, contract, lease, or other arrangement under which a right or privilege at the 
airport is granted to any person, firm, or corporation to conduct or to engage in any 
aeronautical activity for furnishing services to the public at the airport, the sponsor will insert 
and enforce provisions requiring the contractor to:  

1.    Furnish said services on a reasonable, and not unjustly discriminatory, basis to all users 
thereof, and 

2.    Charge reasonable, and not unjustly discriminatory, prices for each unit or service, 
provided that the contractor may be allowed to make reasonable and nondiscriminatory 
discounts, rebates, or other similar types of price reductions to volume purchasers. 

c. Each fixed-based operator at the airport shall be subject to the same rates, fees, rentals, and 
other charges as are uniformly applicable to all other fixed-based operators making the same or 
similar uses of such airport and utilizing the same or similar facilities. 

d. Each air carrier using such airport shall have the right to service itself or to use any fixed-based 
operator that is authorized or permitted by the airport to serve any air carrier at such airport. 

e. Each air carrier using such airport (whether as a tenant, non-tenant, or subtenant of another air 
carrier tenant) shall be subject to such nondiscriminatory and substantially comparable rules, 
regulations, conditions, rates, fees, rentals, and other charges with respect to facilities directly 
and substantially related to providing air transportation as are applicable to all such air carriers 
which make similar use of such airport and utilize similar facilities, subject to reasonable 
classifications such as tenants or non-tenants and signatory carriers and non-signatory carriers. 
Classification or status as tenant or signatory shall not be unreasonably withheld by any airport 
provided an air carrier assumes obligations substantially similar to those already imposed on air 
carriers in such classification or status. 

f. It will not exercise or grant any right or privilege which operates to prevent any person, firm, or 
corporation operating aircraft on the airport from performing any services on its own aircraft 
with its own employees (including, but not limited to maintenance, repair, and fueling) that it 
may choose to perform. 

g. In the event the sponsor itself exercises any of the rights and privileges referred to in this 
assurance, the services involved will be provided on the same conditions as would apply to the 
furnishing of such services by commercial aeronautical service providers authorized by the 
sponsor under these provisions. 

101



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 11 of 18 

h. The sponsor may establish such reasonable, and not unjustly discriminatory, conditions to be 
met by all users of the airport as may be necessary for the safe and efficient operation of the 
airport. 

i. The sponsor may prohibit or limit any given type, kind or class of aeronautical use of the airport 
if such action is necessary for the safe operation of the airport or necessary to serve the civil 
aviation needs of the public. 

23. Exclusive Rights. 

It will permit no exclusive right for the use of the airport by any person providing, or intending to 
provide, aeronautical services to the public. For purposes of this paragraph, the providing of the 
services at an airport by a single fixed-based operator shall not be construed as an exclusive right if 
both of the following apply: 

a. It would be unreasonably costly, burdensome, or impractical for more than one fixed-based 
operator to provide such services, and 

b. If allowing more than one fixed-based operator to provide such services would require the 
reduction of space leased pursuant to an existing agreement between such single fixed-based 
operator and such airport. It further agrees that it will not, either directly or indirectly, grant or 
permit any person, firm, or corporation, the exclusive right at the airport to conduct any 
aeronautical activities, including, but not limited to charter flights, pilot training, aircraft rental 
and sightseeing, aerial photography, crop dusting, aerial advertising and surveying, air carrier 
operations, aircraft sales and services, sale of aviation petroleum products whether or not 
conducted in conjunction with other aeronautical activity, repair and maintenance of aircraft, 
sale of aircraft parts, and any other activities which because of their direct relationship to the 
operation of aircraft can be regarded as an aeronautical activity, and that it will terminate any 
exclusive right to conduct an aeronautical activity now existing at such an airport before the 
grant of any assistance under Title 49, United States Code. 

24. Fee and Rental Structure. 

It will maintain a fee and rental structure for the facilities and services at the airport which will 
make the airport as self-sustaining as possible under the circumstances existing at the particular 
airport, taking into account such factors as the volume of traffic and economy of collection. No part 
of the Federal share of an airport development, airport planning or noise compatibility project for 
which a Grant is made under Title 49, United States Code, the Airport and Airway Improvement Act 
of 1982, the Federal Airport Act or the Airport and Airway Development Act of 1970 shall be 
included in the rate basis in establishing fees, rates, and charges for users of that airport. 

25. Airport Revenues. 

a. All revenues generated by the airport and any local taxes on aviation fuel established after 
December 30, 1987, will be expended by it for the capital or operating costs of the airport; the 
local airport system; or other local facilities which are owned or operated by the owner or 
operator of the airport and which are directly and substantially related to the actual air 
transportation of passengers or property; or for noise mitigation purposes on or off the airport. 
The following exceptions apply to this paragraph: 

1. If covenants or assurances in debt obligations issued before September 3, 1982, by the 
owner or operator of the airport, or provisions enacted before September 3, 1982, in 
governing statutes controlling the owner or operator's financing, provide for the use of the 

102



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 12 of 18 

revenues from any of the airport owner or operator's facilities, including the airport, to 
support not only the airport but also the airport owner or operator's general debt 
obligations or other facilities, then this limitation on the use of all revenues generated by 
the airport (and, in the case of a public airport, local taxes on aviation fuel) shall not apply. 

2. If the Secretary approves the sale of a privately owned airport to a public sponsor and 
provides funding for any portion of the public sponsor’s acquisition of land, this limitation 
on the use of all revenues generated by the sale shall not apply to certain proceeds from 
the sale. This is conditioned on repayment to the Secretary by the private owner of an 
amount equal to the remaining unamortized portion (amortized over a 20-year period) of 
any airport improvement grant made to the private owner for any purpose other than land 
acquisition on or after October 1, 1996, plus an amount equal to the federal share of the 
current fair market value of any land acquired with an airport improvement grant made to 
that airport on or after October 1, 1996. 

3. Certain revenue derived from or generated by mineral extraction, production, lease, or 
other means at a general aviation airport (as defined at 49 U.S.C. § 47102), if the FAA 
determines the airport sponsor meets the requirements set forth in Section 813 of Public 
Law 112-95. 

b. As part of the annual audit required under the Single Audit Act of 1984, the sponsor will direct 
that the audit will review, and the resulting audit report will provide an opinion concerning, the 
use of airport revenue and taxes in paragraph (a), and indicating whether funds paid or 
transferred to the owner or operator are paid or transferred in a manner consistent with Title 
49, United States Code and any other applicable provision of law, including any regulation 
promulgated by the Secretary or Administrator. 

26. Reports and Inspections. 

It will: 

a. submit to the Secretary such annual or special financial and operations reports as the Secretary 
may reasonably request and make such reports available to the public; make available to the 
public at reasonable times and places a report of the airport budget in a format prescribed by 
the Secretary; 

b. for airport development projects, make the airport and all airport records and documents 
affecting the airport, including deeds, leases, operation and use agreements, regulations and 
other instruments, available for inspection by any duly authorized agent of the Secretary upon 
reasonable request; 

c. for noise compatibility program projects, make records and documents relating to the project 
and continued compliance with the terms, conditions, and assurances of this Grant Agreement 
including deeds, leases, agreements, regulations, and other instruments, available for 
inspection by any duly authorized agent of the Secretary upon reasonable request; and 

d. in a format and time prescribed by the Secretary, provide to the Secretary and make available 
to the public following each of its fiscal years, an annual report listing in detail: 

1. all amounts paid by the airport to any other unit of government and the purposes for 
which each such payment was made; and 

2. all services and property provided by the airport to other units of government and the 
amount of compensation received for provision of each such service and property. 

103



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 13 of 18 

27. Use by Government Aircraft. 

It will make available all of the facilities of the airport developed with Federal financial assistance 
and all those usable for landing and takeoff of aircraft to the United States for use by Government 
aircraft in common with other aircraft at all times without charge, except, if the use by Government 
aircraft is substantial, charge may be made for a reasonable share, proportional to such use, for the 
cost of operating and maintaining the facilities used. Unless otherwise determined by the Secretary, 
or otherwise agreed to by the sponsor and the using agency, substantial use of an airport by 
Government aircraft will be considered to exist when operations of such aircraft are in excess of 
those which, in the opinion of the Secretary, would unduly interfere with use of the landing areas 
by other authorized aircraft, or during any calendar month that: 

a. Five (5) or more Government aircraft are regularly based at the airport or on land adjacent 
thereto; or 

b. The total number of movements (counting each landing as a movement) of Government 
aircraft is 300 or more, or the gross accumulative weight of Government aircraft using the 
airport (the total movement of Government aircraft multiplied by gross weights of such 
aircraft) is in excess of five million pounds. 

28. Land for Federal Facilities. 

It will furnish without cost to the Federal Government for use in connection with any air traffic 
control or air navigation activities, or weather-reporting and communication activities related to air 
traffic control, any areas of land or water, or estate therein as the Secretary considers necessary or 
desirable for construction, operation, and maintenance at Federal expense of space or facilities for 
such purposes. Such areas or any portion thereof will be made available as provided herein within 
four months after receipt of a written request from the Secretary.  

29. Airport Layout Plan. 

a. Subject to the FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018, Public Law 115-254, Section 163, it will keep up 
to date at all times an airport layout plan of the airport showing: 

1. boundaries of the airport and all proposed additions thereto, together with the boundaries 
of all offsite areas owned or controlled by the sponsor for airport purposes and proposed 
additions thereto; 

2. the location and nature of all existing and proposed airport facilities and structures (such 
as runways, taxiways, aprons, terminal buildings, hangars and roads), including all 
proposed extensions and reductions of existing airport facilities; 

3. the location of all existing and proposed non-aviation areas and of all existing 
improvements thereon; and 

4. all proposed and existing access points used to taxi aircraft across the airport’s property 
boundary.  

Such airport layout plans and each amendment, revision, or modification thereof, shall be 
subject to the approval of the Secretary which approval shall be evidenced by the signature of 
a duly authorized representative of the Secretary on the face of the airport layout plan. The 
sponsor will not make or permit any changes or alterations in the airport or any of its facilities 
which are not in conformity with the airport layout plan as approved by the Secretary and 

104



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 14 of 18 

which might, in the opinion of the Secretary, adversely affect the safety, utility or efficiency of 
the airport. 

b. Subject to the FAA Reauthorization Act of 2018, Public Law 115-254, Section 163, if a change or 
alteration in the airport or the facilities is made which the Secretary determines adversely 
affects the safety, utility, or efficiency of any federally owned, leased, or funded property on or 
off the airport and which is not in conformity with the airport layout plan as approved by the 
Secretary, the owner or operator will, if requested, by the Secretary: 

1.  eliminate such adverse effect in a manner approved by the Secretary; or  

2.  bear all costs of relocating such property (or replacement thereof) to a site acceptable to 
the Secretary and all costs of restoring such property (or replacement thereof) to the level 
of safety, utility, efficiency, and cost of operation existing before the unapproved change in 
the airport or its facilities except in the case of a relocation or replacement of an existing 
airport facility due to a change in the Secretary’s design standards beyond the control of 
the airport sponsor. 

30. Civil Rights. 

It will promptly take any measures necessary to ensure that no person in the United States shall, on 
the grounds of race, color, and national origin (including limited English proficiency) in accordance 
with the provisions of  Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d to 
2000d-4); creed and sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity) per 49 U.S.C. § 47123 
and related requirements; age per the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and related requirements; or 
disability per the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and related requirements, be excluded 
from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in any 
program and activity conducted with, or benefiting from, funds received from this Grant. 

a. Using the definitions of activity, facility, and program as found and defined in 49 CFR 
§§ 21.23(b) and 21.23(e), the sponsor will facilitate all programs, operate all facilities, or 
conduct all programs in compliance with all non-discrimination requirements imposed by or 
pursuant to these assurances. 

b. Applicability 

1. Programs and Activities. If the sponsor has received a grant (or other federal assistance) 
for any of the sponsor’s program or activities, these requirements extend to all of the 
sponsor’s programs and activities. 

2. Facilities. Where it receives a grant or other federal financial assistance to construct, 
expand, renovate, remodel, alter, or acquire a facility, or part of a facility, the assurance 
extends to the entire facility and facilities operated in connection therewith. 

3. Real Property. Where the sponsor receives a grant or other Federal financial assistance in 
the form of, or for the acquisition of real property or an interest in real property, the 
assurance will extend to rights to space on, over, or under such property. 

c. Duration. 

The sponsor agrees that it is obligated to this assurance for the period during which Federal 
financial assistance is extended to the program, except where the Federal financial assistance is 
to provide, or is in the form of, personal property, or real property, or interest therein, or 

105



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 15 of 18 

structures or improvements thereon, in which case the assurance obligates the sponsor, or any 
transferee for the longer of the following periods: 

1. So long as the airport is used as an airport, or for another purpose involving the provision 
of similar services or benefits; or 

2. So long as the sponsor retains ownership or possession of the property. 

d. Required Solicitation Language. It will include the following notification in all solicitations for 
bids, Requests For Proposals for work, or material under this Grant Agreement and in all 
proposals for agreements, including airport concessions, regardless of funding source: 

“The (City of Fort Collins, Colorado and City of Loveland, Colorado), in accordance with the 
provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) 
and the Regulations, hereby notifies all bidders or offerors that it will affirmatively ensure that 
for any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, [select businesses, or 
disadvantaged business enterprises or airport concession disadvantaged business enterprises] 
will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and no 
businesses will be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, national origin (including 
limited English proficiency), creed, sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity), age, or 
disability in consideration for an award.” 

e. Required Contract Provisions. 

1. It will insert the non-discrimination contract clauses requiring compliance with the acts and 
regulations relative to non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the 
Department of Transportation (DOT), and incorporating the acts and regulations into the 
contracts by reference in every contract or agreement subject to the non-discrimination in 
Federally-assisted programs of the DOT acts and regulations. 

2. It will include a list of the pertinent non-discrimination authorities in every contract that is 
subject to the non-discrimination acts and regulations. 

3. It will insert non-discrimination contract clauses as a covenant running with the land, in 
any deed from the United States effecting or recording a transfer of real property, 
structures, use, or improvements thereon or interest therein to a sponsor. 

4. It will insert non-discrimination contract clauses prohibiting discrimination on the basis of 
race, color, national origin (including limited English proficiency), creed, sex (including 
sexual orientation and gender identity), age, or disability as a covenant running with the 
land, in any future deeds, leases, license, permits, or similar instruments entered into by 
the sponsor with other parties: 

a. For the subsequent transfer of real property acquired or improved under the 
applicable activity, project, or program; and 

b. For the construction or use of, or access to, space on, over, or under real property 
acquired or improved under the applicable activity, project, or program. 

f. It will provide for such methods of administration for the program as are found by the 
Secretary to give reasonable guarantee that it, other recipients, sub-recipients, sub-grantees, 
contractors, subcontractors, consultants, transferees, successors in interest, and other 
participants of Federal financial assistance under such program will comply with all 
requirements imposed or pursuant to the acts, the regulations, and this assurance. 

106



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 16 of 18 

g. It agrees that the United States has a right to seek judicial enforcement with regard to any 
matter arising under the acts, the regulations, and this assurance. 

31. Disposal of Land. 

a. For land purchased under a grant for airport noise compatibility purposes, including land 
serving as a noise buffer, it will dispose of the land, when the land is no longer needed for such 
purposes, at fair market value, at the earliest practicable time. That portion of the proceeds of 
such disposition which is proportionate to the United States' share of acquisition of such land 
will be, at the discretion of the Secretary, (1) reinvested in another project at the airport, or (2) 
transferred to another eligible airport as prescribed by the Secretary. The Secretary shall give 
preference to the following, in descending order: 

1. Reinvestment in an approved noise compatibility project; 

2. Reinvestment in an approved project that is eligible for grant funding under 49 U.S.C. 
§ 47117(e);  

3. Reinvestment in an approved airport development project that is eligible for grant funding 
under 49 U.S.C. §  47114, 47115, or 47117, or under Public Law 117-58, Division J, Title VIII; 
or 

4. Transfer to an eligible sponsor of another public airport to be reinvested in an approved 
noise compatibility project at that airport.  

If land acquired under a grant for noise compatibility purposes is leased at fair market value 
and consistent with noise buffering purposes, the lease will not be considered a disposal of the 
land. Revenues derived from such a lease may be used for an approved airport development 
project that would otherwise be eligible for grant funding or any permitted use of airport 
revenue. 

b. For land purchased under a grant for airport development purposes (other than noise 
compatibility), it will, when the land is no longer needed for airport purposes, dispose of such 
land at fair market value or make available to the Secretary an amount equal to the United 
States' proportionate share of the fair market value of the land. That portion of the proceeds of 
such disposition which is proportionate to the United States' share of the cost of acquisition of 
such land will, upon application to the Secretary, be reinvested or transferred to another 
eligible airport as prescribed by the Secretary. The Secretary shall give preference to the 
following, in descending order:  

1. Reinvestment in an approved noise compatibility project; 

2. Reinvestment in an approved project that is eligible for grant funding under 49 U.S.C. 
§ 47117(e); 

3. Reinvestment in an approved airport development project that is eligible for grant funding 
under 49 U.S.C. §§ 47114, 47115, or 47117, or under Public Law 117-58, Division J, Title 
VIII; or 

4. Transfer to an eligible sponsor of another public airport to be reinvested in an approved 
noise compatibility project at that airport. 

c. Land shall be considered to be needed for airport purposes under this assurance if (1) it may be 
needed for aeronautical purposes (including runway protection zones) or serve as noise buffer 
land, and (2) the revenue from interim uses of such land contributes to the financial self-

107



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 17 of 18 

sufficiency of the airport. Further, land purchased with a grant received by an airport operator 
or owner before December 31, 1987, will be considered to be needed for airport purposes if 
the Secretary or Federal agency making such grant before December 31, 1987, was notified by 
the operator or owner of the uses of such land, did not object to such use, and the land 
continues to be used for that purpose, such use having commenced no later than 
December 15, 1989. 

d. Disposition of such land under (a), (b), or (c) will be subject to the retention or reservation of 
any interest or right therein necessary to ensure that such land will only be used for purposes 
which are compatible with noise levels associated with operation of the airport. 

32. Engineering and Design Services. 

If any phase of such project has received Federal funds under Chapter 471 subchapter 1 of Title 49 
U.S.C., or Public Law 117-58, Division J, Title VIII it will award each contract, or sub-contract for 
program management, construction management, planning studies, feasibility studies, architectural 
services, preliminary engineering, design, engineering, surveying, mapping or related services in the 
same manner as a contract for architectural and engineering services is negotiated under Chapter 
11 of Title 40 U S.C., or an equivalent qualifications-based requirement prescribed for or by the 
sponsor of the airport. 

33. Foreign Market Restrictions. 

It will not allow funds provided under this Grant to be used to fund any project which uses any 
product or service of a foreign country during the period in which such foreign country is listed by 
the United States Trade Representative as denying fair and equitable market opportunities for 
products and suppliers of the United States in procurement and construction. 

34. Policies, Standards, and Specifications. 

It will carry out any project funded under a Bipartisan Infrastructure Law grant in accordance with 
policies, standards, and specifications approved by the Secretary including, but not limited to, 
current FAA Advisory Circulars (https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/media/aip-pfc-checklist.pdf) for 
BIL projects as of January 12, 2024. 

35. Relocation and Real Property Acquisition. 

a. It will be guided in acquiring real property, to the greatest extent practicable under State law, 
by the land acquisition policies in Subpart B of 49 CFR Part 24 and will pay or reimburse 
property owners for necessary expenses as specified in Subpart B. 

b. It will provide a relocation assistance program offering the services described in Subpart C of 49 
CFR Part 24 and fair and reasonable relocation payments and assistance to displaced persons as 
required in Subpart D and E of 49 CFR Part 24. 

c. It will make available within a reasonable period of time prior to displacement, comparable 
replacement dwellings to displaced persons in accordance with Subpart E of 49 CFR Part 24. 

36. Access By Intercity Buses. 

The airport owner or operator will permit, to the maximum extent practicable, intercity buses or 
other modes of transportation to have access to the airport; however, it has no obligation to fund 
special facilities for intercity buses or for other modes of transportation. 

108



  3-08-0023-045-2024 

 
Airport Sponsors Assurances Bipartisan Infrastructure Law         Page 18 of 18 

37. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. 

The sponsor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, in the award and 
performance of any DOT-assisted contract covered by 49 CFR Part 26, or in the award and 
performance of any concession activity contract covered by 49 CFR Part 23. In addition, the sponsor 
shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the administration of its 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) and Airport Concessions Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (ACDBE) programs or the requirements of 49 CFR Parts 23 and 26. The sponsor shall take 
all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR Parts 23 and 26 to ensure nondiscrimination in the 
award and administration of DOT-assisted contracts, and/or concession contracts. The sponsor’s 
DBE and ACDBE programs, as required by 49 CFR Parts 26 and 23, and as approved by DOT, are 
incorporated by reference in this agreement. Implementation of these programs is a legal obligation 
and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a violation of this agreement. Upon notification 
to the sponsor of its failure to carry out its approved program, the Department may impose 
sanctions as provided for under Parts 26 and 23 and may, in appropriate cases, refer the matter for 
enforcement under 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 (31 
U.S.C. §§ 3801-3809, 3812). 

38. Hangar Construction. 

If the airport owner or operator and a person who owns an aircraft agree that a hangar is to be 
constructed at the airport for the aircraft at the aircraft owner’s expense, the airport owner or 
operator will grant to the aircraft owner for the hangar a long term lease that is subject to such 
terms and conditions on the hangar as the airport owner or operator may impose. 

39. Competitive Access. 

a. If the airport owner or operator of a medium or large hub airport (as defined in 49 U.S.C. 
§ 47102) has been unable to accommodate one or more requests by an air carrier for access to 
gates or other facilities at that airport in order to allow the air carrier to provide service to the 
airport or to expand service at the airport, the airport owner or operator shall transmit a report 
to the Secretary that: 

1. Describes the requests; 

2. Provides an explanation as to why the requests could not be accommodated; and 

3. Provides a time frame within which, if any, the airport will be able to accommodate the 
requests. 

b. Such report shall be due on either February 1 or August 1 of each year if the airport has been 
unable to accommodate the request(s) in the six month period prior to the applicable due date. 

 

 

109



 

 

1 
 

RESOLUTION  # R-04-2024 
  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE 2024 GRANT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
STATE OF COLORADO DIVISION OF AERONAUTICS (CDAG #24-FNL-01) FOR 

THE TERMINAL BUILDING PROJECT AT THE NORTHERN COLORADO 
REGIONAL AIRPORT  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Fort Collins and the City of Loveland (“the Cities”) own and 

operate the Northern Colorado Regional Airport (“the Airport”) pursuant to that certain Amended 
and Restated Intergovernmental Agreement for the Joint Operation of the Fort Collins-Loveland 
Municipal Airport dated January 22, 2015, as amended (“Airport IGA”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Cities have commenced both horizontal and vertical construction of a 

terminal building at the Airport (the “Project”) utilizing a combination of local funds and grant 
funds. As part of such funding, the Cities applied for Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (“BIL”) grant  
funds for the Project and have been awarded $1,590,000 in BIL grant funds (“BIL Grant Funds”) 
towards the Project. The BIL Grant Funds have been previously budgeted and appropriated as part 
of the Project budget and the Airport budget for 2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Federal Aviation Administration requires that the Cities execute a grant 

agreement in the form substantially similar to that attached hereto as “Exhibit A” (the “Grant 
Agreement”) in order to accept the BIL Grant Funds. The Grant Agreement requires that the Cities 
provide a local match of ten percent (10%) of the BIL Grant Funds, which local match is being 
funded through Airport budgeted and appropriated funds and a Colorado Department of 
Transportation Division of Aeronautics grant; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to the dollar amount of the Grant Agreement, the City Councils of the 

Cities must provide the final approval of the Grant Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission supports approval of 

the Grant Agreement and recommends that the City Councils approve and sign any documents 
necessary to accept the BIL Grant funding in the amount of $1,590,000. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE NORTHERN COLORADO 

REGIONAL AIRPORT COMMISSION AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. That the Commission recommends that the City Councils of the Cities of 

Loveland and Fort Collins approve the Grant Agreement and sign any documents necessary to 
accept the BIL Grant Funds. 

 
Section 2. That this Resolution shall be effective as of the date and time of its 

adoption. 
 
ADOPTED this 16th day of May, 2024. 

 
 

110



 

 

2 
 

 
              

      Jeni Arndt, Chair of the 
Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
     
Secretary 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

111



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-01 

 Page 1 of  1 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

  Colorado Division of Aeronautics 
  Discretionary Aviation Grant Resolution 
 

RESOLUTION 
WHEREAS: 
The General Assembly of the State of Colorado declared in Title 43 of the Colorado Revised Statutes, Article 10, 1991 in 
CRS §43-10-101 (the Act) “… that there exists a need to promote the safe operations and accessibility of general aviation 
in this state; that improvements to general aviation transportation facilities will promote diversified economic development 
across the state; and that accessibility to airport facilities for residents of this state is crucial in the event of a medical or 
other type of emergency…” 
The Act created the Colorado Aeronautical Board (“the Board”) to establish policy and procedures for distribution of 
monies in the Aviation Fund and created the Division of Aeronautics (“the Division”) to carry out the directives of the 
Board, including technical and planning assistance to airports and the administration of the state aviation system grant 
program. SEE CRS §43-10-103 and C.R.S. §43-10-105 and CRS §43-10-108.5 of the Act. 
Any eligible entity operating an FAA-designated public-use airport in the state may file an application for and be recipient 
of a grant to be used solely for aviation purposes. The Division is authorized to assist such airports and request assistance 
by means of a Resolution passed by the applicant’s duly-authorized governing body, which understands that all funds shall 
be used exclusively for aviation purposes and that it will comply with all grant procedures, grant assurances and 
requirements as defined in the Division’s Programs and Procedures Manual, (“the Manual”) and the Airport Sponsor 
Assurances for Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant Funding (“Grant Assurances”) attached hereto as Exhibit B for the 
project detailed in the Discretionary Aviation Grant Application (“Application”) attached hereto as Exhibit A and in 
conjunction with CDOT’s Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 
The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland, as a duly authorized governing body of the grant applicant, hereby formally requests 
assistance from the Colorado Aeronautical Board and the Division of Aeronautics in the form of a state aviation system 
grant. The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland states that such grant shall be used solely for aviation purposes, as determined 
by the State, and as generally described in the Application. 
By signing this Grant Resolution, the applicant commits to keep open and accessible for public use all grant funded 
facilities, improvements and services for their useful life, as determined by the Division and stated in the Grant Assurances. 
FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED: 
That the Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland hereby designates David Ruppel as the Project Director, as described in the 
Manual and authorizes the Project Director to act in all matters relating to the work project proposed in the Application, 
including execution of any amendments. 
FURTHER: 
The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland has appropriated or will otherwise make available in a timely manner all funds, if any, 
that are required to be provided by the applicant as shown on the Application. 
FINALLY: 
The Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland hereby accepts all guidelines, procedures, standards, and requirements described in 
the Manual as applicable to the performance of the grant work and hereby approves this Grant Resloution, including all 
terms and conditions contained therein. 
 
 
By:      
Date: ______________  
Print Name and Title:  
 
______________________________________ 
 
   
ATTEST (if needed)  
 
By:      
Date: ______________  
Print Name and Title:  
 
______________________________________ 

By:      
Date: ______________  
Print Name and Title:  
 
______________________________________ 
 
   
ATTEST (if needed)  
 
By:      
Date: ______________  
Print Name and Title:  
 
______________________________________ 

112



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-01 

 Page 1 of  1 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 Colorado Division of Aeronautics 
Discretionary Aviation Grant Application 
 

 
APPLICANT INFORMATION 

APPLICANT SPONSOR: 
Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 

AIRPORT:  
Northern Colorado Regional 
Airport 

IDENTIFIER:  
FNL 

PROJECT DIRECTOR: David Ruppel 
MAILING ADDRESS: 
4900 Earhart Road 
Loveland, CO 80538 
 

EMAIL 
ADDRESS: david.ruppel@cityofloveland.org 

PHONE 
NUMBER: (970) 962-2852 

 

GRANT NAME AND TERMS 
 

24-FNL-01 
TERMS 

Execution Date: Expiration Date: 
June 30, 2027 

 

FUNDING SUMMARY 
 

Funding Source Funding Amount 
State Aviation Grant:      $139,721.00 
Local Cash:         $139,724.00 
Local In-Kind:          $0.00 
Federal Aviation Grant:    $2,515,000.00 
Total Project Funding:         $2,794,445.00 

 

PROJECT SCHEDULE & BUDGET 
 

ELEMENT 
DESCRIPTION STATE FUNDING LOCAL FUNDING FEDERAL FUNDING TOTAL 

A. A - BIL: New 
Terminal Building 
Construction Phase 
Services 

$88,333.00 Up to 
5.00% $88,334.00 5.00% $1,590,000.00 90.00% $1,766,667.00 

B. B - AIP: Taxiway 
B&D Rehab (Design 
and Construction) 

$51,388.00 Up to 
5.00% $51,390.00 5.00% $925,000.00 90.00% $1,027,778.00 

TOTALS $139,721.00  $139,724.00  $2,515,000.00  $2,794,445.00 
 

113



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-01 

 Page 1 of  2 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

EXHIBIT B, GRANT ASSURANCES 
Airport Sponsor Assurances for  

Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant Funding 
Approved by CAB January 22, 2018 

I. APPLICABILITY 

a. These assurances shall be complied with by Airport Sponsors in the performance of all projects at 
airports that receive Colorado Department of Transportation – Division of Aeronautics (Division) 
Colorado Discretionary Aviation Grant (CDAG) funding for projects including but not limited to:  master 
planning, land acquisition, equipment acquisition or capital improvement projects (Project).  It is not the 
intent of these Assurances to expand existing Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Grant Assurances 
for airports included in the National Plan of Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS); as similar assurances 
already exist for acceptance of FAA funding.  

b. Upon acceptance of this grant agreement these assurances are incorporated in and become a part thereof. 

II. DURATION 

a. The terms, conditions and assurances of the grant agreement shall remain in full force and effect 
throughout the useful life of the Project as defined in Table 1 (Useful Life), or if the airport for which 
the Project is funded ceases to function as a public airport, for twenty (20) years from the date of Project 
completion, whichever period is greater.  However, there shall be no limit on the duration of the 
assurances with respect to real property acquired with CDAG Project funds. 

III. COMPLIANCE 

a. Should an Airport Sponsor be notified to be in non-compliance with any terms of this agreement, they 
may become ineligible for future Division funding until such non-compliance is cured. 

b. If any Project is not used for aviation purposes during its Useful Life, or if the airport for which the 
Project is funded ceases to function as a public airport, for twenty (20) years from the date of Project 
completion or at any time during the estimated useful life of the Project as defined in Table 1, whichever 
period is greater, the Airport Sponsor may be liable for repayment to the Division of any or all funds 
contributed by the Division under this agreement.  If the airport at which the Project is constructed is 
abandoned for any reason, the Division may in its discretion discharge the Airport Sponsor from any 
repayment obligation upon written request by the Airport Sponsor. 

IV. AIRPORT SPONSOR GRANT ASSURANCES 

1. Compatible Land Use.  Compatible land use and planning in and around airports benefits the state aviation 
system by providing opportunities for safe airport development, preservation of airport and aircraft 
operations, protection of airport approaches, reduced potential for litigation and compliance with appropriate 
airport design standards. The airport will take appropriate action, to the extent reasonable, to restrict the use 
of land adjacent to, in the immediate vicinity of, or on the airport to activities and purposes compatible with 
normal airport operations, including landing and takeoff of aircraft. 

2. On-Airport Hazard Removal and Mitigation.  The airport will take appropriate action to protect aircraft 
operations to/from the airport and ensure paths are adequately cleared and protected by removing, lowering, 
relocating, marking, or lighting or otherwise mitigating existing airport hazards and by preventing the 
establishment or creation of future airport hazards.   

3. Safe, Efficient Use, and Preservation of Navigable Airspace.  The airport shall comply with 14 CFR Part 
77 for all future airport development and anytime an existing airport development is altered.  

4. Operation and Maintenance.  In regards to Projects that receive Division funding, the airport sponsor 
certifies that it has the financial or other resources that may be necessary for the preventive maintenance, 
maintenance, repair and operation of such projects during their Useful Life.

114



CDOT – Aeronautics Division 
Small Dollar Grant Award 

Grantee: Cities of Ft. Collins/Loveland 
CDAG #: 24-FNL-01 

 Page 2 of  2 Aero SGA Version 06/2022  

 

The airport and all facilities which are necessary to serve the aeronautical users of the airport shall be operated 
at all times in a safe and serviceable condition.  The airport will also have in effect arrangements for: 

a. Operating the airport's aeronautical facilities whenever required; 
b. Promptly marking and lighting hazards resulting from airport conditions, including temporary 

conditions; and  
c. Promptly notifying airmen of any condition affecting aeronautical use of the airport. 

5. Airport Revenues.  All revenues generated by the airport will be expended by it for the capital or operating 
costs of the airport, the local airport system, or other local facilities owned or operated by the owner or 
operator of the airport for aviation purposes. 

6. Airport Layout Plan (ALP).  Once accomplished and as otherwise may be required to develop, it will keep 
up-to-date a minimum of an ALP of the airport showing (1) boundaries of the airport and all proposed 
additions thereto, together with the boundaries of all offsite areas owned or controlled by the sponsor for 
airport purposes and proposed additions thereto; (2) the location and nature of all existing and proposed 
airport facilities and structures (such as runways, taxiways, aprons, terminal buildings, hangars and roads), 
including all proposed extensions and reductions of existing airport facilities; and (3) the location of all 
existing improvements thereon. 

7. Use for Aviation Purposes.  The Airport Sponsor shall not use runways, taxiways, aprons, seeded areas or 
any other appurtenance or facility constructed, repaired, renovated or maintained under the terms of this 
Agreement for activities other than aviation purposes unless otherwise exempted by the Division. 

TABLE 1 

Project Type Useful Life 

a.   All construction projects (unless listed separately below) 20 years 

b.  All equipment and vehicles 10 years 

c.   Pavement rehabilitation (not reconstruction, which is 20 years) 10 years 

d.   Asphalt seal coat, slurry seal, and joint sealing 3 years 

e.   Concrete joint replacement 7 years 

f.    Airfield lighting and signage 10 years 

g.    Navigational Aids 15 years 

h.   Buildings 40 years 

i.    Land Unlimited 

 

115



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

MODEL SMALL DOLLAR GRANT AWARDS AND CONTENT 
This is a State Controller Contract, Grant, and Purchase Order Policy under the State Fiscal Rules. All Small Dollar 
Grant Awards shall use one of the approved models Small Dollar Grant Award or Grant Agreement forms described 
in Fiscal Rule 3-4 unless the State Agency or Institution of Higher Education (IHE) has obtained the prior written 
approval from the Office of the State Controller (OSC). 

 
 

1) Available Model Small Dollar Grant Awards. The following model Small Dollar Grant Awards may 
be used by State Agencies and IHEs without additional approval from the OSC: 

a. Financial System Generated Small Dollar Grant Awards. This model is the system-generated 
document resulting from a Colorado Operations Resource Engine (CORE) POGG1 encumbrance 
or through another approved state financial system, which also explicitly references a link to the 
State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions that are attached to this policy. 
This model does not include other documents with a similar or the same appearance as one of 
these documents that is not generated within the financial system 

b. Other Approved Forms. A State Agency or IHE, at the discretion of the State Agency’s or IHE’s 
Procurement Official or State Controller delegate, may request other approved forms from the 
OSC. 

c. Backup Forms. If CORE or the approved state financial system used by the State Agency or IHE 
is unavailable for an extended period of time when a Small Dollar Grant Award must be issued, 
the State Agency or IHE, with the prior approval of the OSC, may use a backup form with the same 
or substantially similar appearance as one of the documents described in §1)a. 

 
2) Modifications of Model Small Dollar Grant Awards. A State Agency or Institution of Higher Education 

issuing a Small Dollar Grant Award may not modify the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award 
Terms and Conditions attached to this policy, including Addendum 1: Additional Terms & Conditions for 
Information Technology (“Addendum”), in any way without prior written approval of the OSC. 

a. Exception. The Office of Information Technology (OIT) may modify the provisions of Addendum 
for the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Awards specifically issued by OIT with the prior written 
approval of the Procurement Official of OIT or authorized delegate, without obtaining additional 
approval from OSC. 

b. Unauthorized Modifications. Except as described in §2)a., the failure of a State Agency or IHE 
to obtain approval from the OSC prior to issuing a Small Dollar Grant Award with modified the 
State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions shall constitute a violation of 
Fiscal Rule 3-4, §§ 4.1.7. and 5.1. 

 
3) Small Dollar Grant Award Exhibits and References. All Small Dollar Grant Awards shall either 

include or specifically reference the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions 
by hyperlink or, if modified in accordance with §2), attach the modified State of Colorado Small Dollar 
Grant Award Terms and Conditions and shall clarify on the Small Dollar Grant Award that the attached 
modified State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions shall govern the Small 
Dollar Grant Award in lieu of the State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions 
referenced by hyperlink. Small Dollar Grant Awards shall also include any additional exhibits, based on 
the nature of the work performed under the Small Dollar Grant Award, as required by any other state 

 
 
 

 
 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 1 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

116



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

and/or federal agency with authority over that type of work or by any entity providing funding for the Small Dollar 
Grant Award, including, but not limited to, the following: 

a. Additional information technology provisions required by OIT. 
b. Additional provisions required to comply with the Office of Management and Budget Uniform 

Guidance, or the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, or any other applicable 
federal terms and conditions. 

c. Any federally required attachments relating to confidential information, such as a Health 
Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Business Associate Addendum or a Federal 
Tax Information Exhibit. 

 
 

 
Robert Jaros, CPA, MBA, JD State 

Controller 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 2 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

117



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

State of Colorado Small Dollar Grant Award Terms and Conditions 
1. Offer/Acceptance. This Small Dollar Grant Award, together with these terms and conditions (including, if applicable, Addendum 1: Additional 
Terms and Conditions for Information Technology below), and any other attachments, exhibits, specifications, or appendices, whether attached or 
incorporated by reference (collectively the “Agreement”) shall represent the entire and exclusive agreement between the State of Colorado, by and 
through the agency identified on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award (“State”) and the Subrecipient identified on the face of the Small Dollar 
Grant Award (“Grantee”). If this Agreement refers to Grantee’s bid or proposal, this Agreement is an ACCEPTANCE of Grantee’s OFFER TO 
PERFORM in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If a bid or proposal is not referenced, this Agreement is an OFFER TO 
ENTER INTO AGREEMENT, subject to Grantee’s acceptance, demonstrated by Grantee’s beginning performance or written acceptance of this 
Agreement. Any COUNTER-OFFER automatically CANCELS this Agreement, unless a change order is issued by the State accepting a counter-
offer. Except as provided herein, the State shall not be responsible or liable for any Work performed prior to issuance of this Agreement. The 
State’s financial obligations to the Grantee are limited by the amount of Grant Funds awarded as reflected on the face of the Small Dollar Grant 
Award. 
2. Order of Precedence. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency within this Agreement, such conflict or inconsistency shall be resolved by 
giving preference to the documents in the following order of priority: (1) the Small dollar Grant Award document; (2) these terms and conditions 
(including, if applicable, Addendum 1 below); and (3) any attachments, exhibits, specifications, or appendices, whether attached or incorporated 
by reference. Notwithstanding the above, if this Agreement has been funded, in whole or in part, with a Federal Award, in the event of a conflict 
between the Federal Grant and this Agreement, the provisions of the Federal Grant shall control. Grantee shall comply with all applicable Federal 
provisions at all times during the term of this Agreement. Any terms and conditions included on Grantee’s forms or invoices not included in this 
Agreement are void. 
3. Changes. Once accepted in accordance with §1, this Agreement shall not be modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except in writing by 
the State and accepted by Grantee. 
4. Definitions. The following terms shall be construed and interpreted as follows: (a) “Award” means an award by a Recipient to a Subrecipient; 
(b) “Budget” means the budget for the Work described in this Agreement; (c) “Business Day” means any day in which the State is open and 
conducting business, but shall not include Saturday, Sunday or any day on which the State observes one of the holidays listed in CRS §24-11- 
101(1); (d) “UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code in CRS Title 4; (e) “Effective Date” means the date on which this Agreement is issued 
as shown on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award; (f) “Federal Award” means an award of federal financial assistance or a cost-reimbursement 
contract, , by a Federal Awarding Agency to the Recipient. “Federal Award” also means an agreement setting forth the terms and conditions of 
the Federal Award, which terms and conditions shall flow down to the Award unless such terms and conditions specifically indicate otherwise. The 
term does not include payments to a contractor or payments to an individual that is a beneficiary of a Federal program; (g) “Federal Awarding 
Agency” means a Federal agency providing a Federal Award to a Recipient; (h) “Grant Funds” means the funds that have been appropriated, 
designated, encumbered, or otherwise made available for payment by the State under this Agreement; (i) “Matching Funds” mean the funds 
provided by the Grantee to meet cost sharing requirements described in this Agreement; (j) “Recipient” means the State agency identified on the 
face of the Small Dollar Grant Award; (k) “Subcontractor” means third parties, if any, engaged by Grantee to aid in performance of the Work; (l) 
“Subrecipient” means a non-Federal entity that receives a sub-award from a Recipient to carry out part of a program, but does not include an 
individual that is a beneficiary of such program; (m) “Uniform Guidance” means the Office of Management and Budget Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, identified as the 2 C.F.R. (Code of Federal Regulations) Part 200, 
commonly known as the “Super Circular,” which supersedes requirements from OMB Circulars A-21, A-87, A-110, A-122, A-89, A-102, and A- 
133, and the guidance in Circular a-50 on Single Audit Act follow-up; and (n) “Work” means the goods delivered or services, or both, performed 
pursuant to this Agreement and identified as Line Items on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award. 
5. Delivery. Grantee shall furnish the Work in strict accordance with the specifications and price set forth in this Agreement. The State shall 
have no liability to compensate Grantee for the performance of any Work not specifically set forth in the Agreement. 
6. Rights to Materials. [Not Applicable to Agreements issued either in whole in part for Information Technology, as defined in CRS § 
24-37.5-102(2); in which case Addendum 1 §2 applies in lieu of this section.] Unless specifically stated otherwise in this Agreement, all 
materials, including without limitation supplies, equipment, documents, content, information, or other material of any type, whether tangible or 
intangible (collectively “Materials”), furnished by the State to Grantee or delivered by Grantee to the State in performance of its obligations under 
this Agreement shall be the exclusive property the State. Grantee shall return or deliver all Materials to the State upon completion or termination 
of this Agreement. 
7. Grantee Records. Grantee shall make, keep, maintain, and allow inspection and monitoring by the State of a complete file of all records, 
documents, communications, notes and other written materials, electronic media files, and communications, pertaining in any manner to the Work 
(including, but not limited to the operation of programs) performed under this Agreement (collectively “Grantee Records”). Unless otherwise 
specified by the State, the Grantee shall retain Grantee Records for a period (the “Record Retention Period”) of three years following the date of 
submission to the State of the final expenditure report, or if this Award is renewed quarterly or annually, from the date of the submission of each 
quarterly or annual report, respectively. If any litigation, claim, or audit related to this Award starts before expiration of the Record Retention Period, 
the Record Retention Period shall extend until all litigation, claims or audit finding have been resolved and final action taken by the State or Federal 
Awarding Agency. The Federal Awarding Agency, a cognizant agency for audit, oversight, or indirect costs, and the State, may notify Grantee in 
writing that the Record Retention Period shall be extended. For records for real property and equipment, the Record Retention Period shall extend 
three years following final disposition of such property. Grantee shall permit the State, the federal government, and any other duly authorized 
agent of a governmental agency to audit, inspect, examine, excerpt, copy and transcribe Grantee Records during the Record Retention Period. 
Grantee shall make Grantee Records available during normal business hours at Grantee’s office or place of business, or at other mutually agreed 
upon times or locations, upon no fewer than two Business Days’ notice from the State, unless the State determines that a shorter period of notice, 
or no notice, is necessary to protect the interests of the State. The State, in its discretion, may monitor Grantee’s performance of its obligations 
under this Agreement using procedures as determined by the State. The federal government and any other duly authorized agent of a 
governmental agency, in its discretion, Grantee shall allow the State to perform all monitoring required by the Uniform Guidance, based on the 
State’s risk analysis of Grantee and this Agreement, and the State shall have the right, in its discretion, to change its monitoring procedures and 
requirements at any time during the term of this Agreement. The State will monitor Grantee’s performance in a manner that does not unduly 
interfere with Grantee’s performance of the Work. Grantee shall promptly submit to the State a copy of any final audit report of an audit performed 

 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 3 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

118



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

on Grantee Records that relates to or affects this Agreement or the Work, whether the audit is conducted by Grantee, a State agency or the State’s 
authorized representative, or a third party. If applicable, the Grantee may be required to perform a single audit under 2 CFR 200.501, et seq. 
Grantee shall submit a copy of the results of that audit to the State within the same timelines as the submission to the federal government. 
8. Reporting. If Grantee is served with a pleading or other document in connection with an action before a court or other administrative decision 
making body, and such pleading or document relates to this Agreement or may affect Grantee’s ability to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement, Grantee shall, within 10 days after being served, notify the State of such action and deliver copies of such pleading or document to 
the State. Grantee shall disclose, in a timely manner, in writing to the State and the Federal Awarding Agency, all violations of federal or State 
criminal law involving fraud, bribery, or gratuity violations potentially affecting the Award. The State or the Federal Awarding Agency may impose 
any penalties for noncompliance allowed under 2 CFR Part 180 and 31 U.S.C. 3321, which may include, without limitation, suspension or 
debarment. 
9. Conflicts of Interest. Grantee acknowledges that with respect to this Agreement, even the appearance of a conflict of interest is harmful to 
the State’s interests. Absent the State’s prior written approval, Grantee shall refrain from any practices, activities, or relationships that reasonably 
may appear to be in conflict with the full performance of Grantee’s obligations to the State under this Agreement. If a conflict or appearance of a 
conflict of interest exists, or if Grantee is uncertain as to such, Grantee shall submit to the State a disclosure statement setting forth the relevant 
details for the State’s consideration. Failure to promptly submit a disclosure statement or to follow the State’s direction in regard to the actual or 
apparent conflict constitutes a breach of this Agreement. Grantee certifies that to their knowledge, no employee of the State has any personal or 
beneficial interest whatsoever in the service or property described in this Agreement. Grantee has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, 
direct or indirect, that would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of Grantee’s Services and Grantee shall not employ any person 
having such known interests. 
10. Taxes. The State is exempt from federal excise taxes and from State and local sales and use taxes. The State shall not be liable for the 
payment of any excise, sales, of use taxes imposed on Grantee. A tax exemption certificate will be made available upon Grantee’s request. 
Grantee shall be solely responsible for any exemptions from the collection of excise, sales or use taxes that Grantee may wish to have in place in 
connection with this Agreement. 
11. Payment. Payments to Grantee are limited to the unpaid, obligated balance of the Grant Funds. The State shall not pay Grantee any amount 
under this Agreement that exceeds the Document Total shown on the face of the Small Dollar Grant Award. The State shall pay Grantee in the 
amounts and in accordance with the schedule and other conditions set forth in this Agreement. Grantee shall initiate payment requests by invoice 
to the State, in a form and manner approved by the State. The State shall pay Grantee for all amounts due within 45 days after receipt of an 
Awarding Agency’s approved invoicing request, or in instances of reimbursement grant programs a request for reimbursement, compliant with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and, if applicable Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) of amount requested. 
Amounts not paid by the State within 45 days of the State’s acceptance of the invoice shall bear interest on the unpaid balance beginning on the 
45th day at the rate set forth in CRS §24-30-202(24) until paid in full. Interest shall not accrue if a good faith dispute exists as to the State’s 
obligation to pay all or a portion of the amount due. Grantee shall invoice the State separately for interest on delinquent amounts due, referencing 
the delinquent payment, number of day’s interest to be paid, and applicable interest rate. The acceptance of an invoice shall not constitute 
acceptance of any Work performed under this Agreement. Except as specifically agreed in this Agreement, Grantee shall be solely responsible 
for all costs, expenses, and other charges it incurs in connection with its performance under this Grantee. 
12. Term. The parties’ respective performances under this Agreement shall commence on the “Service From” date identified on the face of the 
Small Dollar Grant Award, unless otherwise specified, and shall terminate on the “Service To” date identified on the face of the Small Dollar Grant 
Award unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
13. Payment Disputes. If Grantee disputes any calculation, determination or amount of any payment, Grantee shall notify the State in writing of 
its dispute within 30 days following the earlier to occur of Grantee’s receipt of the payment or notification of the determination or calculation of the 
payment by the State. The State will review the information presented by Grantee and may make changes to its determination based on this 
review. The calculation, determination or payment amount that results from the State’s review shall not be subject to additional dispute under this 
subsection. No payment subject to a dispute under this subsection shall be due until after the State has concluded its review, and the State shall 
not pay any interest on any amount during the period it is subject to dispute under this subsection. 
14. Matching Funds. Grantee shall provide Matching Funds, if required by this Agreement. If permitted under the terms of the grant and per this 
Agreement, Grantee may be permitted to provide Matching Funds prior to or during the course of the project or the match will be an in-kind match. 
Grantee shall report to the State regarding the status of such funds upon request. Grantee’s obligation to pay all or any part of any Matching 
Funds, whether direct or contingent, only extend to funds duly and lawfully appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by the authorized 
representatives of Grantee and paid into Grantee’s treasury or bank account. Grantee represents to the State that the amount designated 
“Grantee’s Matching Funds” pursuant to this Agreement, has been legally appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by its authorized 
representatives and paid into its treasury or bank account. Grantee does not by this Agreement irrevocably pledge present cash reserves for 
payments in future fiscal years, and this Agreement is not intended to create a multiple-fiscal year debt of Grantee. Grantee shall not pay or be 
liable for any claimed interest, late charges, fees, taxes or penalties of any nature, except as required by Grantee’s laws or policies. 
15. Reimbursement of Grantee Costs. If applicable, the State shall reimburse Grantee’s allowable costs, not exceeding the maximum total 
amount described in this Agreement for all allowable costs described in the grant except that Grantee may adjust the amounts between each line 
item of the Budget without formal modification to this Agreement as long as the Grantee provides notice to, and received approval from the State 
of the change, the change does not modify the total maximum amount of this Agreement, and the change does not modify any requirements of 
the Work. If applicable, the State shall reimburse Grantee for the properly documented allowable costs related to the Work after review and 
approval thereof, subject to the provisions of this Agreement. However, any costs incurred by Grantee prior to the Effective Date shall not be 
reimbursed absent specific allowance of pre-award costs. Grantee’s costs for Work performed after the “Service To” date identified on the face of 
the Small Dollar Grant Award, or after any phase performance period end date for a respective phase of the Work, shall not be reimbursable. The 
State shall only reimburse allowable costs described in this Agreement and shown in the Budget if those costs are (a) reasonable and necessary 
to accomplish the Work, and (b) equal to the actual net cost to Grantee (i.e. the price paid minus any items of value received by Grantee that 
reduce the costs actually incurred). 
16. Close-Out. Grantee shall close out this Award within 45 days after the “Service To” date identified on the face of the Small Dollar Grant 
Award, including any modifications. To complete close-out, Grantee shall submit to the State all deliverables (including documentation) as defined 

 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 4 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

119



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

in this Agreement and Grantee’s final reimbursement request or invoice. In accordance with the Agreement, the State may withhold a percentage 
of allowable costs until all final documentation has been submitted and accepted by the State as substantially complete. 
17. Assignment. Grantee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement may not be transferred or assigned without the prior, written consent of 
the State and execution of a new agreement. Any attempt at assignment or transfer without such consent and new agreement shall be void. Any 
assignment or transfer of Grantee’s rights and obligations approved by the State shall be subject to the provisions of this Agreement. 
18. Subcontracts. Grantee shall not enter into any subcontract in connection with its obligations under this Agreement without the prior, written 
approval of the State. Grantee shall submit to the State a copy of each subcontract upon request by the State. All subcontracts entered into by 
Grantee in connection with this Agreement shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations, shall provide that they are 
governed by the laws of the State of Colorado, and shall be subject to all provisions of this Agreement. 
19. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other 
provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect, provided that the Parties can continue to perform their obligations in 
accordance with the intent of the Agreement. 
20. Survival of Certain Agreement Terms. Any provision of this Agreement that imposes an obligation on a party after termination or expiration 
of the Agreement shall survive the termination or expiration of the Agreement and shall be enforceable by the other party. 
21. Third Party Beneficiaries. Except for the parties’ respective successors and assigns, this Agreement does not and is not intended to confer 
any rights or remedies upon any person or entity other than the Parties. Enforcement of this Agreement and all rights and obligations hereunder 
are reserved solely to the parties. Any services or benefits which third parties receive as a result of this Agreement are incidental to the Agreement, 
and do not create any rights for such third parties. 
22. Waiver. A party’s failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege under this Agreement, whether explicit or by lack of enforcement, 
shall not operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of such 
right, power, or privilege. 
23. Indemnification. [Not Applicable to Inter-governmental agreements] Grantee shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the State, its 
employees, agents and assignees (the “Indemnified Parties”), against any and all costs, expenses, claims, damages, liabilities, court awards and 
other amounts (including attorneys’ fees and related costs) incurred by any of the Indemnified Parties in relation to any act or omission by Grantee, 
or its employees, agents, Subcontractors, or assignees in connection with this Agreement. This shall include, without limitation, any and all costs, 
expenses, claims, damages, liabilities, court awards and other amounts incurred by the Indemnified Parties in relation to any claim that any work 
infringes a patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret, or any other intellectual property right or any claim for loss or improper disclosure of any 
confidential information or personally identifiable information. If Grantee is a public agency prohibited by applicable law from indemnifying any 
party, then this section shall not apply. 
24. Notice. All notices given under this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be delivered to the contacts for each party listed on the face of 
the Small Dollar Grant Award. Either party may change its contact or contact information by notice submitted in accordance with this section 
without a formal modification to this Agreement. 
25. Insurance. Except as otherwise specifically stated in this Agreement or any attachment or exhibit to this Agreement, Grantee shall obtain 
and maintain insurance as specified in this section at all times during the term of the Agreement: (a) workers’ compensation insurance as required 
by state statute, and employers’ liability insurance covering all Grantee employees acting within the course and scope of their employment, (b) 
Commercial general liability insurance written on an Insurance Services Office occurrence form, covering premises operations, fire damage, 
independent contractors, products and completed operations, blanket contractual liability, personal injury, and advertising liability with minimum 
limits as follows: $1,000,000 each occurrence; $1,000,000 general aggregate; $1,000,000 products and completed operations aggregate; and 
$50,000 any one fire, and (c) Automobile liability insurance covering any auto (including owned, hired and non-owned autos) with a minimum limit 
of $1,000,000 each accident combined single limit. If Grantee will or may have access to any protected information, then Grantee shall also obtain 
and maintain insurance covering loss and disclosure of protected information and claims based on alleged violations of privacy right through 
improper use and disclosure of protected information with limits of $1,000,000 each occurrence and $1,000,000 general aggregate at all times 
during the term of the Small Dollar Grant Award. Additional insurance may be required as provided elsewhere in this Agreement or any attachment 
or exhibit to this Agreement. All insurance policies required by this Agreement shall be issued by insurance companies with an AM Best rating of 
A-VIII or better. If Grantee is a public agency within the meaning of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, then this section shall not apply and 
Grantee shall instead comply with the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act. 
26. Termination Prior to Grantee Acceptance. If Grantee has not begun performance under this Agreement, the State may cancel this 
Agreement by providing written notice to the Grantee. 
27. Termination for Cause. If Grantee refuses or fails to timely and properly perform any of its obligations under this Agreement with such 
diligence as will ensure its completion within the time specified in this Agreement, the State may notify Grantee in writing of non-performance and, 
if not corrected by Grantee within the time specified in the notice, terminate Grantee’s right to proceed with the Agreement or such part thereof as 
to which there has been delay or a failure. Grantee shall continue performance of this Agreement to the extent not terminated. Grantee shall be 
liable for excess costs incurred by the State in procuring similar Work and the State may withhold such amounts, as the State deems necessary. 
If after rejection, revocation, or other termination of Grantee’s right to proceed under the Colorado Uniform Commercial Code (CUCC) or this 
clause, the State determines for any reason that Grantee was not in default or the delay was excusable, the rights and obligations of the State and 
Grantee shall be the same as if the notice of termination had been issued pursuant to termination under §28. 
28. Termination in Public Interest. The State is entering into this Agreement for the purpose of carrying out the public interest of the State, as 
determined by its Governor, General Assembly, Courts, or Federal Awarding Agency. If this Agreement ceases to further the public interest of the 
State as determined by its Governor, General Assembly, Courts, or Federal Awarding Agency, the State, in its sole discretion, may terminate this 
Agreement in whole or in part and such termination shall not be deemed to be a breach of the State’s obligations hereunder. This section shall not 
apply to a termination for cause, which shall be governed by §27. A determination that this Small Dollar Grant Award should be terminated in the 
public interest shall not be equivalent to a State right to terminate for convenience. The State shall give written notice of termination to Grantee 
specifying the part of the Agreement terminated and when termination becomes effective. Upon receipt of notice of termination, Grantee shall not 
incur further obligations except as necessary to mitigate costs of performance. The State shall pay the Agreement price or rate for Work performed 

 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 5 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

120



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

and accepted by State prior to the effective date of the notice of termination. The State’s termination liability under this section shall not exceed 
the total Agreement price. 
29. Termination for Funds Availability. The State is prohibited by law from making commitments beyond the term of the current State Fiscal 
Year. Payment to Grantee beyond the current State Fiscal Year is contingent on the appropriation and continuing availability of Grant Funds in 
any subsequent year (as provided in the Colorado Special Provisions). If federal funds or funds from any other non-State funds constitute all or 
some of the Grant Funds, the State’s obligation to pay Grantee shall be contingent upon such non-State funding continuing to be made available 
for payment. Payments to be made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made only from Grant Funds, and the State’s liability for such payments 
shall be limited to the amount remaining of such Grant Funds. If State, federal or other funds are not appropriated, or otherwise become unavailable 
to fund this Agreement, the State may, upon written notice, terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, without incurring further liability. The 
State shall, however, remain obligated to pay for Work performed and accepted prior to the effective date of notice of termination, and this 
termination shall otherwise be treated as if this Agreement were terminated in the public interest as described in §28. 
30. Grantee’s Termination Under Federal Requirements. If the Grant Funds include any federal funds, then Grantee may request termination 
of this Grant by sending notice to the State, or to the Federal Awarding Agency with a copy to the State, which includes the reasons for the 
termination and the effective date of the termination. If this Grant is terminated in this manner, then Grantee shall return any advanced payments 
made for Work that will not be performed prior to the effective date of the termination. 
31. Governmental Immunity. Liability for claims for injuries to persons or property arising from the negligence of the State, its departments, 
boards, commissions committees, bureaus, offices, employees and officials shall be controlled and limited by the provisions of the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act, CRS §24-10-101, et seq., the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. Pt. VI, Ch. 171 and 28 U.S.C. 1346(b), and the 
State’s risk management statutes, CRS §§24-30-1501, et seq. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, 
express or implied, of any of the immunities, rights, benefits, protections, or other provisions, contained in these statutes. 
32. Grant Recipient. Grantee shall perform its duties hereunder as a grant recipient and not as an employee. Neither Grantee nor any agent or 
employee of Grantee shall be deemed to be an agent or employee of the State. Grantee shall not have authorization, express or implied, to bind 
the State to any agreement, liability or understanding, except as expressly set forth herein. Grantee and its employees and agents are not 
entitled to unemployment insurance or workers compensation benefits through the State and the State shall not pay for or otherwise 
provide such coverage for Grantee or any of its agents or employees. Grantee shall pay when due all applicable employment taxes and 
income taxes and local head taxes incurred pursuant to this Agreement. Grantee shall (a) provide and keep in force workers' 
compensation and unemployment compensation insurance in the amounts required by law, (b) provide proof thereof when requested 
by the State, and (c) be solely responsible for its acts and those of its employees and agents. 
33. Compliance with Law. Grantee shall comply with all applicable federal and State laws, rules, and regulations in effect or hereafter 
established, including, without limitation, laws applicable to discrimination and unfair employment practices. 
34. Choice of Law, Jurisdiction and Venue. [Not Applicable to Inter-governmental agreements] Colorado law, and rules and regulations 
issued pursuant thereto, shall be applied in the interpretation, execution, and enforcement of this Agreement. Any provision included or 
incorporated herein by reference which conflicts with said laws, rules, and regulations shall be null and void. All suits or actions related to this 
Agreement shall be filed and proceedings held in the State of Colorado and exclusive venue shall be in the City and County of Denver. Any 
provision incorporated herein by reference which purports to negate this or any other provision in this Agreement in whole or in part shall not be 
valid or enforceable or available in any action at law, whether by way of complaint, defense, or otherwise. Any provision rendered null and void by 
the operation of this provision or for any other reason shall not invalidate the remainder of this Agreement, to the extent capable of execution. 
Grantee shall exhaust administrative remedies in CRS §24-109-106, prior to commencing any judicial action against the State regardless of 
whether the Colorado Procurement Code applies to this Agreement. 
35. Prohibited Terms. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any provision of CRS §24-106-109. Any term included in this 
Agreement that requires the State to indemnify or hold Grantee harmless; requires the State to agree to binding arbitration; limits Grantee’s liability 
for damages resulting from death, bodily injury, or damage to tangible property; or that conflicts with that statute in any way shall be void ab initio. 
36. Public Contracts for Services. [Not Applicable to offer, issuance, or sale of securities, investment advisory services, fund 
management services, sponsored projects, intergovernmental grant agreements, or information technology services or products and 
services] Grantee certifies, warrants, and agrees that it does not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien who will perform work under 
this Agreement and will confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment in the United States to perform 
work under this Agreement, through participation in the E-Verify Program or the Department program established pursuant to CRS §8-17.5- 
102(5)(c), Grantee shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under this Agreement or enter into a contract or 
agreement with a Subcontractor that fails to certify to Grantee that the Subcontractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to 
perform work under this Agreement. Grantee shall (a) not use E-Verify Program or Department program procedures to undertake pre- employment 
screening of job applicants during performance of this Agreement, (b) notify Subcontractor and the State within three days if Grantee has actual 
knowledge that Subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal alien for work under this Agreement, (c) terminate the subcontract if 
Subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien within three days of receiving notice, and (d) comply with reasonable 
requests made in the course of an investigation, undertaken pursuant to CRS §8-17.5-102(5), by the Colorado Department of Labor and 
Employment. If Grantee participates in the Department program, Grantee shall deliver to the State a written, notarized affirmation that Grantee has 
examined the legal work status of such employee, and shall comply with all of the other requirements of the Department program. If Grantee fails 
to comply with any requirement of this provision or CRS §8-17.5-101 et seq., the State may terminate this Agreement for breach and, if so 
terminated, Grantee shall be liable for damages. 
37. Public Contracts with Natural Persons. Grantee, if a natural person 18 years of age or older, hereby swears and affirms under penalty of 
perjury that the person (a) is a citizen or otherwise lawfully present in the United States pursuant to federal law, (b) shall comply with the provisions 
of CRS §24-76.5-101 et seq., and (c) has produced a form of identification required by CRS §24-76.5-103 prior to the date Grantee begins Work 
under terms of the Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 6 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

121



EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

ADDENDUM 1: 
Additional Terms & Conditions for Information Technology 

IF ANY PART OF THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT IS INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, AS 
DEFINED IN CRS § 24-37.5-102 (2), THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS ALSO APPLY TO THIS AGREEMENT. 

A. Definitions. The following terms shall be construed and interpreted as follows: (a) “CJI” means criminal justice information collected by 
criminal justice agencies needed for the performance of their authorized functions, including, without limitation, all information defined as criminal 
justice information by the U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Investigation, Criminal Justice Information Services Security Policy, as 
amended, and all Criminal Justice Records as defined under CRS §24-72-302; (b) “Incident” means any accidental or deliberate event that results 
in or constitutes an imminent threat of the unauthorized access, loss, disclosure, modification, disruption, or destruction of any communications or 
information resources of the State, pursuant to CRS §§24-37.5-401 et seq.; (c) “PCI” means payment card information including any data related 
to credit card holders’ names, credit card numbers, or the other credit card information as may be protected by state or federal law; (d) “PHI” 
means any protected health information, including, without limitation any information whether oral or recorded in any form or medium that relates 
to the past, present or future physical or mental condition of an individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the past, present or future 
payment for the provision of health care to an individual; and that identifies the individual or with respect to which there is a reasonable basis to 
believe the information can be used to identify the individual including, without limitation, any information defined as Individually Identifiable Health 
Information by the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act; (e) “PII” means personally identifiable information including, without 
limitation, any information maintained by the State about an individual that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual‘s identity, such as 
name, social security number, date and place of birth, mother’s maiden name, or biometric records, including, without limitation, all information 
defined as personally identifiable information in CRS §24-72-501; (f) “State Confidential Information” means any and all State Records not 
subject to disclosure under the Colorado Open Records Act and includes, without limitation, PII, PHI, PCI, Tax Information, CJI, and State 
personnel records not subject to disclosure under the Colorado Open Records Act, (g) “State Fiscal Rules” means those fiscal rules promulgated 
by the Colorado State Controller pursuant to CRS §24-30-202(13)(a); (h) “State Fiscal Year” means a 12 month period beginning on July 1 of 
each calendar year and ending on June 30 of the following calendar year; (i) “State Records” means any and all State data, information, and 
records, regardless of physical form; (j) “Tax Information” means federal and State of Colorado tax information including, without limitation, federal 
and State tax returns, return information, and such other tax-related information as may be protected by federal and State law and regulation, 
including, without limitation all information defined as federal tax information in Internal Revenue Service Publication 1075; and (k) “Work Product” 
means the tangible and intangible results of the delivery of goods and performance of services, whether finished or unfinished, including drafts. 
Work Product includes, but is not limited to, documents, text, software (including source code), research, reports, proposals, specifications, plans, 
notes, studies, data, images, photographs, negatives, pictures, drawings, designs, models, surveys, maps, materials, ideas, concepts, know-how, 
information, and any other results of the Work, but does not include any material that was developed prior to the Effective Date that is used, without 
modification, in the performance of the Work. 
B. Intellectual Property. Except to the extent specifically provided elsewhere in this Agreement, any State information, including without 
limitation pre-existing State software, research, reports, studies, data, photographs, negatives or other documents, drawings, models, materials; 
or Work Product prepared by Grantee in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement shall be the exclusive property of the State 
(collectively, “State Materials”). All State Materials shall be delivered to the State by Grantee upon completion or termination of this Agreement. 
The State’s exclusive rights in any Work Product prepared by Grantee shall include, but not be limited to, the right to copy, publish, display, transfer, 
and prepare derivative works. Grantee shall not use, willingly allow, cause or permit any State Materials to be used for any purpose other than the 
performance of Grantee’s obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the State. The State shall maintain complete and accurate 
records relating to (a) its use of all Grantee and third party software licenses and rights to use any Grantee or third party software granted under this 
Agreement and its attachments to which the State is a party and (b) all amounts payable to Grantee pursuant to this Agreement and its attachments 
and the State’s obligations under this Agreement or any amounts payable to Grantee in relation to this Agreement, which records shall contain 
sufficient information to permit Grantee to confirm the State’s compliance with the use restrictions and payment obligations under this Agreement 
or to any third party use restrictions to which the State is a party. Grantee retains the exclusive rights, title and ownership to any and all pre-existing 
materials owned or licensed to Grantee including, but not limited to all pre-existing software, licensed products, associated source code, machine 
code, text images, audio, video, and third party materials, delivered by Grantee under the Agreement, whether incorporated in a deliverable or 
necessary to use a deliverable (collectively, “Grantee Property”). Grantee Property shall be licensed to the State as set forth in a State-approved 
license agreement (a) entered into as exhibits or attachments to this Agreement, (b) obtained by the State from the applicable third party Grantee, 
or (c) in the case of open source software, the license terms set forth in the applicable open source license agreement. Notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary herein, the State shall not be subject to any provision incorporated in any exhibit or attachment attached hereto, any provision 
incorporated in any terms and conditions appearing on any website, any provision incorporated into any click through or online agreements, or 
any provision incorporated into any other document or agreement between the parties that (a) requires the State or the State to indemnify Grantee 
or any other party, (b) is in violation of State laws, regulations, rules, State Fiscal Rules, policies, or other State requirements as deemed solely 
by the State, or (c) is contrary to this Agreement. 
C. Information Confidentiality. Grantee shall keep confidential, and cause all Subcontractors to keep confidential, all State Records, unless 
those State Records are publicly available. Grantee shall not, without prior written approval of the State, use, publish, copy, disclose to any third 
party, or permit the use by any third party of any State Records, except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, permitted by law, or approved in 
writing by the State. If Grantee will or may have access to any State Confidential Information or any other protected information, Grantee shall 
provide for the security of all State Confidential Information in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, policies, publications, and guidelines. 
Grantee shall comply with all Colorado Office of Information Security (“OIS”) policies and procedures which OIS has issued pursuant to CRS §§24- 
37.5-401 through 406 and 8 CCR §1501-5 and posted at http://oit.state.co.us/ois, all information security and privacy obligations imposed by any 
federal, state, or local statute or regulation, or by any industry standards or guidelines, as applicable based on the classification of the data relevant 
to Grantee’s performance under this Agreement. Such obligations may arise from: Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA); 
IRS Publication 1075; Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI-DSS); FBI Criminal Justice Information Service Security Addendum; 
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) Minimum Acceptable Risk Standards for Exchanges; and Electronic Information Exchange 

 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 7 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

122

http://oit.state.co.us/ois


EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

Security Requirements and Procedures for State and Local Agencies Exchanging Electronic Information with The Social Security Administration. 
Grantee shall immediately forward any request or demand for State Records to the State’s principal representative. 
D. Other Entity Access and Nondisclosure Agreements. Grantee may provide State Records to its agents, employees, assigns and 
Subcontractors as necessary to perform the work, but shall restrict access to State Confidential Information to those agents, employees, assigns, 
and Subcontractors who require access to perform their obligations under this Agreement. Grantee shall ensure all such agents, employees, 
assigns, and Subcontractors sign agreements containing nondisclosure provisions at least as protective as those in this Agreement, and that the 
nondisclosure provisions are in force at all times the agent, employee, assign, or Subcontractors has access to any State Confidential Information. 
Grantee shall provide copies of those signed nondisclosure provisions to the State upon execution of the nondisclosure provisions if requested by 
the State. 
E. Use, Security, and Retention. Grantee shall use, hold, and maintain State Confidential Information in compliance with any and all applicable 
laws and regulations only in facilities located within the United States, and shall maintain a secure environment that ensures confidentiality of all 
State Confidential Information. Grantee shall provide the State with access, subject to Grantee’s reasonable security requirements, for purposes 
of inspecting and monitoring access and use of State Confidential Information and evaluating security control effectiveness. Upon the expiration 
or termination of this Agreement, Grantee shall return State Records provided to Grantee or destroy such State Records and certify to the State 
that it has done so, as directed by the State. If Grantee is prevented by law or regulation from returning or destroying State Confidential Information, 
Grantee warrants it will guarantee the confidentiality of, and cease to use, such State Confidential Information. 
F. Incident Notice and Remediation. If Grantee becomes aware of any Incident, it shall notify the State immediately and cooperate with the 
State regarding recovery, remediation, and the necessity to involve law enforcement, as determined by the State. Unless Grantee can establish 
none of Grantee or any of its agents, employees, assigns or Subcontractors are the cause or source of the Incident, Grantee shall be responsible 
for the cost of notifying each person who may have been impacted by the Incident. After an Incident, Grantee shall take steps to reduce the risk 
of incurring a similar type of Incident in the future as directed by the State, which may include, but is not limited to, developing and implementing 
a remediation plan that is approved by the State at no additional cost to the State. The State may adjust or direct modifications to this plan, in its 
sole discretion and Grantee shall make all modifications as directed by the State. If Grantee cannot produce its analysis and plan within the allotted 
time, the State, in its sole discretion, may perform such analysis and produce a remediation plan, and Grantee shall reimburse the State for the 
reasonable actual costs thereof. 
G. Data Protection and Handling. Grantee shall ensure that all State Records and Work Product in the possession of Grantee or any 
Subcontractors are protected and handled in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement at all times. Upon request by the State made 
any time prior to 60 days following the termination of this Agreement for any reason, whether or not this Agreement is expiring or terminating, 
Grantee shall make available to the State a complete and secure download file of all data that is encrypted and appropriately authenticated. This 
download file shall be made available to the State within 10 Business Days following the State’s request, and shall contain, without limitation, all 
State Records, Work Product, and any other information belonging to the State. Upon the termination of Grantee’s services under this Agreement, 
Grantee shall, as directed by the State, return all State Records provided by the State to Grantee, and the copies thereof, to the State or destroy 
all such State Records and certify to the State that it has done so. If legal obligations imposed upon Grantee prevent Grantee from returning or 
destroying all or part of the State Records provided by the State, Grantee shall guarantee the confidentiality of all State Records in Grantee’s 
possession and will not actively process such data. The State retains the right to use the established operational services to access and retrieve 
State Records stored on Grantee’s infrastructure at its sole discretion and at any time. 
H. Compliance. If applicable, Grantee shall review, on a semi-annual basis, all OIS policies and procedures which OIS has promulgated 
pursuant to CRS §§ 24-37.5-401 through 406 and 8 CCR § 1501-5 and posted at http://oit.state.co.us/ois, to ensure compliance with the standards 
and guidelines published therein. Grantee shall cooperate, and shall cause its Subcontractors to cooperate, with the performance of security audit 
and penetration tests by OIS or its designee. 
I. Safeguarding PII. If Grantee or any of its Subcontractors will or may receive PII under this Agreement, Grantee shall provide for the security 
of such PII, in a manner and form acceptable to the State, including, without limitation, all State requirements relating to non-disclosure, use of 
appropriate technology, security practices, computer access security, data access security, data storage encryption, data transmission encryption, 
security inspections, and audits. Grantee shall take full responsibility for the security of all PII in its possession or in the possession of its 
Subcontractors, and shall hold the State harmless for any damages or liabilities resulting from the unauthorized disclosure or loss thereof. Grantee 
shall be a “Third-Party Service Provider” as defined in CRS §24-73-103(1)(i) and shall maintain security procedures and practices consistent with 
CRS §§24-73-101 et seq. 
J. Software Piracy Prohibition. The State or other public funds payable under this Agreement shall not be used for the acquisition, operation, 
or maintenance of computer software in violation of federal copyright laws or applicable licensing restrictions. Grantee hereby certifies and warrants 
that, during the term of this Agreement and any extensions, Grantee has and shall maintain in place appropriate systems and controls to prevent 
such improper use of public funds. If the State determines that Grantee is in violation of this provision, the State may exercise any remedy available 
at law or in equity or under this Agreement, including, without limitation, immediate termination of this Agreement and any remedy consistent with 
federal copyright laws or applicable licensing restrictions. 
K. Information Technology. To the extent that Grantee provides physical or logical storage of State Records; Grantee creates, uses, 
processes, discloses, transmits, or disposes of State Records; or Grantee is otherwise given physical or logical access to State Records in order 
to perform Grantee’s obligations under this Agreement, the following terms shall apply. Grantee shall, and shall cause its Subcontractors, to: 
Provide physical and logical protection for all hardware, software, applications, and data that meets or exceeds industry standards and the 
requirements of this Agreement; Maintain network, system, and application security, which includes, but is not limited to, network firewalls, intrusion 
detection (host and network), annual security testing, and improvements or enhancements consistent with evolving industry standards; Comply 
with State and federal rules and regulations related to overall security, privacy, confidentiality, integrity, availability, and auditing; Provide that 
security is not compromised by unauthorized access to workspaces, computers, networks, software, databases, or other physical or electronic 
environments; Promptly report all Incidents, including Incidents that do not result in unauthorized disclosure or loss of data integrity, to a designated 
representative of the OIS; Comply with all rules, policies, procedures, and standards issued by the Governor’s Office of Information Technology 
(OIT), including project lifecycle methodology and governance, technical standards, documentation, and other requirements posted at 
www.oit.state.co.us/about/policies. Grantee shall not allow remote access to State Records from outside the United States, including access by 

 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 8 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

123

http://oit.state.co.us/ois
http://www.oit.state.co.us/about/policies


EXHIBIT C 
 

 

 
 

Grantee’s employees or agents, without the prior express written consent of OIS. Grantee shall communicate any request regarding non-U.S. 
access to State Records to the State. The State, acting by and through OIS, shall have sole discretion to grant or deny any such request. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

STATE CONTROLLER 
 

Page 9 of 9 
Effective Date: 7/1/2019 

124



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER: 6 

MEETING DATE: May 16, 2024 

PREPARED BY: Kate Morgan, Airport Executive Assistant 

TITLE 
Lease Assignment and Assumption – 5227 Stearman Street 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
Make a motion to approve the lease assignment and assumption as presented 

BUDGET IMPACT 
Neutral, the lease rates will remain unchanged 

SUMMARY 
This is an administrative item. The transfer of ownership of privately owned buildings is 
frequent on the Airport and requires the approval of the Airport Commission for a land 
lease assignment and assumption. In this case, the lease is being transferred from dual 
ownership between James Grubbs and Walter Ellwood to a single ownership with 
James Grubbs. Staff have reviewed the request and found the associated account to be 
in good standing. 

ATTACHMENT 
5227 Stearman Street Lease Assignment and Assumption 

125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



Via Hand Delivered 

Dave Gorden, Airport Director 
Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport 
4900 Earhart Road 
Loveland, Colorado 80538 

Dear Dave, 

5/17/2005 

Russ karntz recently sold his interest in our hangar to Walt Ellwood and Me. We 
signed papers indicating that the 3 original partners in the hangar sold our interests to the 
2 remaining partners. 

Enclosed please find an Assumption of Lease Agreement. I have included signature 
pages containing the original signatures of the buyers and sellers along with provisions for 
the signatures of the appropriate City officials. I am routing these documents through your 
office rather than delivering them directly to the cities. If this is not appropriate, please let 
me know and I will contact the appropriate City officials directly. 

Once the necessary signatures are obtained, please return 3 copies containing 
original signatures to me. 

Please feel free to contact me via telephone (1-970-667-8497) should you or the 
Cities have any questions or require additional documentation. 

Best regar , 

~/@'l4 
James B 6rub~ / ~ 
2014 N. Taft av. 
Loveland, Co.80538 

133



Assumption of Lease Agreement 

WHEREAS, Walter Ellwood, Russell Kamtz and James B, Grubbs are the Lessees and 
the Cities of Fort Collins and Loveland, Colorado are the Lessors pursuant to the provisions of 
that Lease Agreement dated December 31, 1997, ("Lease agreement"), and a previously
executed Assumption of Lease Agreement dated December 14, 1998 (attached hereto as Exhibit 
B), concerning that property at the Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport described in the 
attached Exhibit A, incorporated herein by this reference ("Leased Premises"); and 

WHEREAS, Walter Ellwood, Russell Kamtz and James B. Grubbs desire to assign all of 
their lease rights and obligations for the Leased Premises as described in Exhibit A as well as all 
improvements located thereon, to Walter Ellwood and James B. Grubbs. 

WHEREAS, Article 13 of the Lease Agreement permits this assignment under certain 
conditions as set forth therein; and 

WHEREAS, Walter Ellwood and James B. Grubbs intend to benefit the Cities by 
promising to perform all terms and conditions of the Lease Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Cities' approval and other mutual 
covenants and agreements expressed in the Lease Agreement, Walter Ellwood and James B. 
Grubbs do hereby covenant and agree to assume all obligations, responsibilities and terms of the 
Lease Agreement and hereby become the Lessees under the Lease Agreement for the Leased 
Premises as described in Exhibit A. 

FURTHER, Walter Ellwood and James B. Grubbs, acknowledge and agree that the 
initial annual rent payment as set forth in Article 4 of the Lease Agreement was in the amount of 
$0.12 per square foot of Leased Premises ($432.00), subject to periodic adjustment pursuant to 
Section 4.2 of the Lease Agreement. 

FURTHER, Walter Ellwood and James B. Grubbs submit to the Cities the following 
notice address pursuant to Article 23 of the Lease Agreement: 

Walter Ellwood 
2080 Vista Drive 
Loveland, Colorado 80538 

Dated this / 7 day of May, 2005. 

~J 
Walter Ellwood 

I ames B. Grubbs 
2014 N. Taft Avenue 
Loveland, Colorado 80538 

/JarnesB.~ 

( 

134



STATE OF COLORADO J 
) 

COUNTY OF LARJMER J 

SUBSCRIBED and sworn to before me by Walter Ellwood, this p-l:i day of May, 
2005. 

ROONEYW. WOODARD 

St~~do NOTARYPUB IC 
My Commission Expires 12/10/2008 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
) 

COUNTY OF LARJMER ) 

SUBSCRIBED and sworn to before me by James B. Grubbs, this \ 1-t~ day of May, 
2005. 

My, ornrnission exnires: 

• RODNEYW. WOODARD 
~l){fubllc 

state of Colorado 
My Commission Expires 12/l 0/?80° 

NOTA~.~ 

135



Walter Ellwood, Russell Kamtz and James B. Grubbs, the current Lessees, hereby 
request the assignment of the above-described Lease from themselves to Walter Ellwood and 
James B. Grubbs, with respect to the Leased Premises hereinabove described, pursuant to the 
provisions of Article 13 of the Lease Agreement. 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
) 

COUNTY OF LARIMER ) 

SUBSCRIBED and sworn to before me by Walter Ellwood, this \1:B-Jday of May, 
2005. 

r~:i 
My Commission Expires 12/10/2008 

STATE OF COLORADO 

COUNTY OF LARIMER 

) 
) 
) 

~-~ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 

SUBSCRIBED and sworn to before me by James B. Grubbs, this l 7.j,__li day of May, 
2005. 

f~'~:1 
My Commission Expires 121101?n,10 NOTARj~IUJ.~ 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
) 

COUNTY OF LARIMER ) 

SUBSCRIBED and sworn to beforerne by Russell Kamtz, this J 71±) day of May, 2005. 

My commission expires: _______ _ 

[~~] NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Commission Expires 12! 1 0/2008 

136



The Cities of Fort Collins and Loveland, Colorado hereby consent to the assignment of 
the above-described Lease from Walter Ellwood, Russell Kamtz and James B. Grubbs to Walter 
Ellwood and James B. Grubbs, with respect to the Leased Premises hereinabove described, 
pursuant to the provisions of Article 13 of the Lease Agreement. 

City Manager 

ATTEST: 

APPROVEp AS TO FOR.JVI: 

City Attorn ,4 .,"-
/'I~ j, 

CURRENT LESSEES 

c,~C?:lnJ 

~ 
R~sell Kamtz ~--

NEW LESSEES 

~ri.fet? 
Walter Ellwood 

137



The Cities of Fort Collins and Loveland, Colorado hereby consent to the assignment of 
the above-described Lease from Walter Ellwood, Russell Kamtz and James B. Grubbs to Walter 
Ellwood and James B. Grubbs, with respect to the Leased Premises hereinabove described, 
pursuant to the provisions of Article l 3 of the Lease Agreement. 

CITY OF LOVELAND, COLORADO 

APPROVED AS TO FORNI: 

L__::~--- ~-
City Attorney -~-.,,.;:,~- . .:.-·-,<s-,)'' , 

CURRENT LESSEES 

~o 

Russell Kamtz 4---
NEW LESSEES 

~~J 
Walter Ellwood 

138



Exhibit A 
(page 1 of 2) 

~K L~ND S~RVEYING 
~ -·i-s2B N. Lincoln, Su,te;J.., 

Loveland, Co. 80538 
~1D <~ 669-3652 

EXHIBIT "A" 

1 of 2 

LAND DESCRIPTION: PROPOSED HANGAR SITE 

July 23, 1997 __ 
Project No: 97-07-1062 

All \hat portion of Lot 15, FORT COLLINS - LOVELAND CORPORATE HANGARS 
+i"-\J.9,., )9c;c,1ll;g,:!.!ilJQe;f;),<l!r,[~easlcc:jUartEJrpfSection;33, Township 6 North, Range 68 · 

~rli;l;SNesi,;&#tm~};lf{i'i'P:'ivf?f'Lariirier County, Colorado more particularly described as follows 
)::/1{,:;:.o;-";··_;~ · .:,-,. :;.,,::·,.- --. '··,;::,;·-·,-,-_~ · 

Considering the east line of said northeast quarter of Section 33 as bearing SOUTH 
00' 31' 15" EAST and with all bearings contained herein relative thereto. 

Commencing at the northeast corner of said Section 33; Thence along said east line of 
!he northeast quarter of Section 33 SOUTH 00° 31' 15" EAST 1196.53 feel to the 
easterly prolongation of the northerly line of Lots 6 through 10 of said FORT COLLINS -
LOVELAND CORPORATE HANGARS P.U.D.; Thence along said prolongation and 
along said northerly line SOUTH 70° 01' 29" WEST 1294.17 feet to the westerly line of 
said Lot 1 O; Thence along said westerly line and along the westerly line of said Lot 15, 
FORT COLLINS - LOVELAND COPORATE HANGARS P.U.D. SOUTH 19° 58' 31" 
EAST 378.06 feet: Thence leaving said westerly line and parallel with the northerly line 
of said Lot 15 NORTH 70° 01' 29"EAST 30.36 feet to the TRUE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; Thence continuing NORTH 70° 01' 29" EAST 64.00 feet; Thence SOUTH 
19° SB' 31'.' EAST 64.00 feet; Thence SOUTH 70' 01' 29" WEST 64.00 feet; Thence 
NORTH 19° 58' 31" WEST 64.00 feet to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

c.!Said portion contains 4096 square feet, mdre or less. 

139



I==, ~ =~·-~ 
2 0 0 40 

SCALF. 1•,,.40' 

SET .. ~ Rl:!3AR WfCA'P
'LS"' !1959 

"--~' =~··====-~-=- ~== !/I 
11 . . : ,, : )11 ·.• •. : H 

,';::ij,) pc,,1=·= 1~ 
~siL~. vela,;;~ • l,~}-J.--,'i!IP 
l\i,~or, ... ··.'-" .. :.~I. ~ ... ••:,.· ·~~;- ,, ; 11, 
< ~·. • ,, ' ''"'" - '" 
i:,, \\Ii • ! ' • 6 OA• :•11~ 
' ,! -; -~;,~J ii; 

\

. ~4-' ,,,,, 
,,i--~ :·, 

" SIT!Ei . ' 
\. 1--- -- ·i /:i 
:·:'\_ 117···.:=· ...... '.·:::!)!. .. ,, f \T 

""-- I y' 

---------

./~ 

.VE c,,w&< • .--.--r· ,-S'=C,iON ,",3 ( l 
J:, {.,j':'e!~:Z.: .. 
j>t.,S'fl"(J-f~ • 

~ 

ii1 

~

,.,,.~\ 
s 1 , ,,.-· :~ ,,..--- .. :~ 

~

-~- c, I . : ·. L .. , "" ~ .--__.--;' <S~l'\'o~>"\C: $ es••'·'' 

r
- ------- dl'-' • •••.• .. • 

/ - ~ 1'1-t.,. .. _, 

( 

.--- ..-- o , 0<'" . . ,-:! --~ ' I .... ,,r,HD ·.,.,, 

------ _.-- s 0'"-' • \SV ... : " 

\v''- c"' ,"';,,,-,~ ~ ,,,·•'' ,,! . 1Ji\ " • ,.,,e<;,
0

,,N,o'- '- ,, 11....-,.,,.-- ';_. ~. ·f.t' ,-vJ / ,,..- '·~ i'' !J.,--'_.-- I·,\ 
0. ' ·~ ~ ' ,.,>'"'··"" ,, ,/"' ' 
1 

,,-,,-~ .,.cs' .,,,,,, :' •,;, ,,,, / :?---__..,. ~;; \c,,,.,. ""'"""'"" .. "" - . , 
" .. •••••• - 0 " . •"' ,/ ' " u . _.,..,.. .,.....-,. c. ,· --- ' . ~·/"" ' " ,, -• I ' '' I ' ' ' 0 < ,j, 

\ 

.· - " \ 'l:_ • - I'~ 

"' ,-,,s'"'; "' ·- ~ . I ~ \J _ ,>" I • ' S ,, ~ - \ \ ~ < " ~ "'~ ,. ' ) . . ' ' " . 
,,, ..,, 0 ~ ' ' ,,. 

,.,....:i.1.31, \ __ ..,,,,.- ~--- ,~~ - ~ . /" ;c ....-- °" \ < ,, ' /- " ,, 
.---------- ,.., 

~ ~ 
,,,·• '~. v ,,Y " , 

~

' :-.,,•' -;. '%, '~ ~ 
\: .. ,· • , . I" 

.\~ :,('-~,;, ( - -i. - ....,, 1' " ,,..,,. '. . '' ·' ' , '.-•'" ,, ' ' " 
\ 

~ s,,e 1 • ,; "' '!'-. y'°' 
·o i, 50· ~ · <::>_ -. I 

.., 
4
c9 "' -o cc ~- ' ·c; ___,- ' 

10 -I o- 0 /' , \' '.'.\,.-----;[,:' 

0

,• i S _..,.-- Sc CM .. v< ,, 
\ .-,.:11' ,.:;;:'%,";,_7A" > ~-s F ,,,,.~ i I 

,1.,1"\IW1._Ul!UJ ( PROPOSED Hf,NGAR LOCATION EXHIBIT ~--- 13 d ,,,~..-,l-t"t-~?~-q ~ s~'a:4., 
s c:,.""}J . •, 

"''" ~· "/ ·._i', 
... . "' '" ' . ' , ,, ""'" ,,.,> ,.,., ERICK : a 
,-.:::;··.··;·.:;·,: ., 119a ,E; 
'''""' ''" ""' ""' -{rPI/ 9 ,~s ""'' ..• '<ofo;t'!!.:J-~~l 

dty Map 
1·~2000' 

{· ~ ;;,r,eN':i,-'-

I . ,.., ~ 
~·"'". " 

loc•l•i! \n • porll<><I <>! th• '4E \14 <>1 S•c. 33, !.61+., 11.f;S'N, 
or lht SI~ P.U., L•flm•r Co~~lr, Col1>fod11. 

Sc•I•: 1·., .ao•1 FC-lvld. Mun, Al Ort lor .. ,n; G.N.Llm~n 
l'l•ld 111<. P.S I rp '. ,11.ppror•<l: OGF 

Frederick Land Surveying 
Lov•lcnd Colori:1do 80$38 (970} 66'.l-3!~~ 

,,,,,,,,1/1111~~:1~ .... ,si-~~ Pr•p.r•II !t>(; 
· 1 ..... 

~ 

Ft Comr.1: ~ i ----•-- ~ •• July ;?3, 1997 

m 
'o >< 
~ ::r 
Cl) -· "' er 
0 -· --IS)> 

140



Exhibit B 
(page 1 of 2) 

ASSUMPTION OF LEASE AGREEMENT 

Whereas, James B. Grubbs is the Lessee and the Cities of Loveland and Fort Collins, Colorado 
are the Lessors presuant to the provisions of that Lease Agreement dated December 31, 1997 ("Lease 
Agreement') , concerning that property at the Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport described in the 
attached Exhibit A, incorporated herein by this reference ("Leased Premises") ; and 

Whereas James B. Grubbs desires to assign all of his lease rights and obligations for that portion 
of the Leased Premises descnoed as (see Exibit A), and now also known as 5226 Gulfstream Court, as 
well as all improvements located thereon, to Walter Ellwood, Russell Karatz and James B. Grubb,, jointly 
(collectively referred to as ''LMC"); and 

Whereas, Article l 3 of the Lease Agreement permits this assignment under certain conditions as 
set forth therein; and 

Whereas, LMC ituends to benefit the Cities by promising to preform all terms and conditions of 
the Lease Agreement. 

Now, .. therefure;fa,considerationcof the Cities' approval and other-mutual covenants,and 
· agreemeiits;i;,q,~ in,the Lease-Agreement.'LMC 4oes hereby covenan\ and agree to assume all 
obligations, responsibilities and terms of the Lease Agreement and herebr become the Lessee under the 
Lease Agreement for 5226 Gulfstream Court of the Lessee! Premises 

Further, LMC acknowledges and.agrees.that the annual rent payment as set forth in Article 4.1 of 
the Lesso Agrement shall be in the amount of four hundred thirty two dollars .($432.00) 

Further; LMC submits to the Cities herewith; ·the proof of insuraoce as required at Articles 8 and 
9 of the~ Agreement. 

Further, LMC submits to the Cities-the following notice address persuant to Article 23 of the 
Lease Agreement: 

Dated this i r day 

WALTER ELLWOOD 
2080 Vista Dr. 

Loveland, Colorado. 80538 
and 

RUSSELL KAMTZ 
1900 Ponderosa PL 

Loveland, Colorado.80538 
and 

JAMES B. GRUBBS 
2014 N. Taft av. 

~~: .,~, . j) 
c;;;,7~:1-2m 

Ellwood 

141



State of COlorado ) 
) 

County of Larimer ) 

Exhibit B 
(page 2 of 2) 

Subscn'bed and sworn to before me this I ~\J-. day o(Sw r, &o, \LJ-... ,1998 
by Walter Ellwood, Russell Kamtz and Janies B. Grubbs.. 

My Commission Expires tD )8'-1 ! ,9,rillZ) 

SEAL 

The Cities of Fort Collins a!ld Loveland, Col do.,tlrrough the Airport Manager, hereby consent 
to 1he above descn'bed assignment from James B. Grubbs to Walter Ellwood,.Russell Kamtz and fames B. 
Grubbs, jointly, of !he Le'ISO of 5226 Gulfstream Ct. of th,; Leased Premises. 

Dated this i4 day of be::c,, ~,JJ98.! IJ (Tu_;£, 4,idcb-~ 
Fred And ~n,. Ai:rport Manallf'". 
Fort Collins - Loveland 
Municipal Airport 

142



F.AR-05-2003 WED OJ:52 PM CITY CLERK FAX NO. 9702218295 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

CITIES OF LOVELAND AND FORT COLLINS, COLORADO, AND 

JAMES GRUBBS 

DATED J)ece.niber31 f'i."'17 
:, 

Post-it' Fax Note 7671 Dale 

To Fro 

Co. 

Phone ll Phone ll 

F'ax It Fax# 

P. 01 

143



MAR-05-2003 WED 01 :52 PM CITY CLERK FAX NO. 9702216295 P. 02 

t 
·.FLS1 

·~ 

FREDERICK LANv-6URVEYING 
1528 N. Lincoln, Suitel.i 
Loveland. ca. 80538 

91D cm 669-3652 

EXHIBIT "A" 

1 of 2 

LAND DESCRIPTION: PROPOSED HANGAR SITE 

'··-

July 23, 1997 .. 
Project No: 97 -07-1062 

All that portion of Lot 15, FORT COLLINS· LOVELAND CORPORATE HANGARS 
P.U.D., located in the northeast quarter of Section 33, Township 6 North, Range 68 
West, of the 6th P.M., Larimer County, Colorado more particularly described as follows: 

Considering the east line of said northeast quarter of Section 33 as bearing SOUTH 
oo· 31' 15" EAST and with all bearings contained herein relative thereto. 

Commencing at the northeast corner of said Section 33; Thence along said east line of 
the northeast quarter of Section 33 SOUTH 00' 31' 15" EAST 1196.53 feet to the 
easterly prolongation of the northerly line of Lots 6 through 10 of said FORT COLLINS -
LOVELAND CORPORATE HANGARS P.U.D.; Thence along said prolongation and 
along said northerly line SOUTH 70° 01' 29" WEST 1294.17 feet to the westerly line of 
said Lot 1 O; Thence along said wester-ly line and along the westerly line of said Lot 15, 
FORT COLLINS- LOVELAND COPORATE HANGARS P.U.D. SOUTH 19' 58' 31" 
EAST 378.06 feet: Thence leaving said westerly line and parallel with the northerly line 
of said Lot 15 NORTH 70' 01' 29" EAST 30.36 feet to the TRUE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; Thence continuing NORTH 70' 01' 29" EAST 64.00 feet: Thence SOUTH 
19° 58' 31" EAST 64.00 feet; Thence SOUTH 70' 01' 29" WEST 64.00 feet; Thence 
NORTH 19" 58' 31" WEST 64.00 feet to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Said portion contains 4096 square feet, more or less. 

144



MAR-05-2003 WED 01:52 PM CITY CLERK 

July 23, 1997 

FAX NO. 9702216295 P. 03 

PROPOSED HANGAR LOCATION EXHIBIT 
LQcJted In a portion. Qt th• NE 1/4 ~, Soc. 33, T.6N., R.GSW. 

of th• Bth P.M., Larimer County, Colorado. 

Scale: , ... 40' FC-Lvld. Mun. Airport Dr1wn, G:N.Llmon 
Fl•ld Bit. 95 Approved: l>GF 

Frederick Land Survey nt 
Loveland Colorado 80531:1 (970 tJ°89•36152 

Pr•pared '"" . .PrciJ•ct Mo:-
Ft. Collln, - Lov•IAl'ld MunlclPel Air· · . _9:7..:9,r-ttj§~ 

F.:Yhlhlt A 7. nf 11" 
145



32 

MAR-05-2003 WED 01:53 PM CITY CLERK. 

N 

'.<1 -- . 

; 

40 

0-

I J 
I 11 
I 1• i : 
! I: 
I .. !! 
i !: ... ... 
I'" 
I ;._ ' .. 
t :: 

20 0 40 

SCALE 1. "40' 

SET +4 REBAR W /CAP 
Pt.S +11989 

....... 
! . ·••·• .•' ~ ....... .. . ,,,,. ... ~:.: 

\ • ! 
: 

rff •••••••••••••••••••••• ""-, I 

·,1 
. ::················ .. ············ .. ·· .... 
~ ·• .. 

Vicinity Map 
SCALE 1 • ~ 2000' 

~OTICE: ~c~ordino t~ C~Lo~ado low yq~ m~at co~~n~o ,ny leq~l 
-ctian ba~od upon Any doto~t in thia aurvoy within ~hroo yo~~a 
a!te~ ycu flni:t di~covor =~~n uetect. In no ~V&~tl 1M.y Gny o~tion 
baaed Upon any defa~t in thin ~ur-,.,~y be col'ttllcncod =o~e than ton 
yea~~ from th6 4ato of tho eertificat1on ohown herogn, 

FAX NO. 9702216295 P. 04 

"' " . ...........--:. --\----
\ 
\ 

\_ 

146



L.-YYIC 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

CITIES OF LOVELAND AND FORT COLLINS, COLORADO, AND 

JAMES GRUBBS 

147



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE 1, Term. .. 1 

ARTICLE 2 ' Leased Premises. 2 

ARTICLE 3' Use of Leased Premises. 2 

ARTICLE 4, Rent. .. 2 

ARTICLE 5, Acceptance, Care, Maintenance, 
Improvements and Repair ................ 4 

ARTICLE 6, Additional Obligations of 
Lessee ................................. 6 

ARTICLE 7, Ingress and Egress ............... 8 

ARTICLE 8, Insurance, Damage or Destruc-
tion ................................... 9 

ARTICLE 9, Liabilities and Indemnification .. 10 

ARTICLE 10, Leasehold Mortgage .............. 11 

ARTICLE 11, Rules and Regulations ........... 18 

ARTICLE 12, Signs ........................... 18 

ARTICLE 13, Assignment and Sublease ......... 19 

ARTICLE 14, Condemnation .................... 19 

ARTICLE 15, Non-Discrimination .............. 20 

ARTICLE 16, Governmental Requirements ....... 22 

ARTICLE 17, Rights of Entry Reserved ........ 22 

ARTICLE 18, Termination ..................... 24 

ARTICLE 19, Surrender and Right of 
Re-Entry ............................... 26 

ARTICLE 20, Services to Lessee .............. 27 

ARTICLE 21, Survival of the Obligations 
of the Lessee .......................... 27 

ARTICLE 22, Use Subsequent to Cancel-
lation or Termination .................. 28 

ARTICLE 23, Notices ......................... 28 

ARTICLE 24, Invalid Provisions .............. 29 

ARTICLE 25, Miscellaneous Provisions ........ 29 

ARTICLE 26, Subordination Clauses ........... 31 

ARTICLE 27, Quiet Enjoyment ................. 32 

ARTICLE 28, Entire Agreement ................. 33 

148



EXHIBIT A, Description of Leased Premises ... 35 

EXHIBIT B, Airport Rule and Regulations ..... 37 

149



? I >.±. THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this_ ,2 _ day 
of l)RCe"'-.h,_v- 199i, by and between the CITY OF LOVELAND, 
COLORADO, a municipal corporation and the CITY OF FORT COLLINS, 
COLORADO, a municipal corporation, hereinafter called "Cities," and 
James Grubbs, hereinafter called "Lessee." 

WITNESSETH: 
WHEREAS, the Cities own and operate an airport known as the 

Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport located in Larimer County, 
Colorado, hereinafter called the "Airport"; and 

WHEREAS, the Cities and the Lessee are mutually desirous of 
entering into a Lease Agreement (hereinafter, the "Agreement") for 
the use and occupancy of certain areas at the Airport; and 

WHEREAS, the Cities desire to accommodate, promote and enhance 
general aviation at the Airport and the Lessee desires to be 
assured of the Airport's continued availability as a base for 
aircraft. 

WHEREAS, The Cities and the Lessee have reached an 
understanding in principle, which envisions the Lessee's 
construction of a personal use hangar, without cost to the Cities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the 
rents, covenants and conditions herein contained, the Cities do 
hereby lease to the Lessee the area of the Airport described in 
Article 2 hereof, hereinafter referred to as the "Leased Premises," 
during the term hereof pursuant to the conditions hereinafter set 
forth. 

1.1 
on the 
on the 

The term of 
.3 I e- day of 
< ei""~ day of 

ARTICLE 1 
TERM 

this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 a.m. 
t>e.c ~""-lo'l!.r, 1997, and expire at 11: 59 p. m. 
\)x c~ ,,_,\x.i.r:::, 2022, hereinafter the "Initial 

Term," unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions 
hereof. 

1.2 The Lessee shall have the option to extend the term of 
this Agreement for three additional periods of five (5) years each, 
hereinafter the "Extended Term," provided Lessee is not in default 
in the payment of any rent or in default in any other provisions of 
this Agreement at the time of its exercise of such option. In the 
event Lessee exercises an option, it shall do so not later than 
three (3) months prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or the 
then current Extended Term. The terms and conditions during the 
Extended Term shall be the same. The rent escalation shall 
continue throughout the Initial Term and Extended Terms as provided 
in Article 4 hereof. 

150



ARTICLE 2 
LEASED PREMISES 

2.1 The Leased Premises consist of the parcel of land 
described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

ARTICLE 3 
USE OF LEASED PREMISES 

3.1 The Lessee shall use and occupy the Leased Premises for the 
following purposes and for no other purpose whatsoever unless 
approved in writing by Cities: 

3.1.1 For the construction, installation, maintenance and 
operation of a hangar to be used for the parking, storage, servicing, 
repair, maintenance, modification, and construction of aircraft owned 
or operated by the Lessee, its subsidiaries or subtenants, providing 
such uses are of a non-commercial nature, and providing such uses are 
consistent with the City of Loveland, Colorado building, use and 
zoning regulations and requirements applicable to the Leased 
Premises. Lessee warrants that all such aircraft based at.the Leased 
Premises shall comply with noise standards established under Part 36 
of Title 14 of the Code of Federal Regulations, ("FAR 36"} as amended 
from time to time. 

3.1.2 For any purpose for which Cities grant a special review 
permit for the Leased Premises. 

3.1.3 The Cities make no representations, guarantees, or 
warranties that the Leased Premises may be lawfully used for the 
purposes set forth in this Article 3.1. Lessee shall have the sole 
responsibility of obtaining all applicable permits or other 
governmental approvals necessary to use the Leased Premises as 
intended herein. This Agreement is expressly conditioned upon the 
Lessee obtaining all such permits and approvals, and the failure of 
Lessee to obtain any such permits or approvals within twelve months 
of the commencement date set forth in Article 1.1 herein, or the 
failure of Lessee to maintain any such permits or approvals during 
the term of this Agreement shall result in an automatic termination 
of this Agreement pursuant to Article 18.10 herein. 

ARTICLE 4 
RENT 

4.1 The Lessee agrees to pay to the Cities 
hereof an annual rent of $ .12 per Square Foot 
to adjustment pursuant to Section 4.2 below. 

( ro ¢ 
l (l ';,".11 

,_ r·_.' ·1. ' , . 
lo •{in' 

during the term 'j;i 11 (,i ( S: l 
{$432 00), subject 

4.2 Commencing five years from the beginning of the Initial 
Term, and on each fifth anniversary thereafter during the remainder 
of the Initial Term and the Extended Term, if any, the annual rent 
shall be adjusted by multiplying the annual rent payable in the 

2 

151



next preceding year by a fraction, the numerator of which shall _be ---2M2... 
the C. P. I., as hereinafter defined, published for the last ~th [}If()£;;~ 
for which the C. P. I. is available and the denominator of whtch- -------- ,.-
shall be the C.P.I. published for the 60th month~J>rior theret~· ___ ID_J.:,<c"c..;r.;f?; 
no event shall the annual rent be reduced. ~· ··· 

4. 2 .1 The term "C. P. I." as used herein shall mean the 
Consumer Price Index for all Urban Co_ns.1:1cmeE§_,. __ s,lJ ___ ~f£§,,___§_~lactei:L 
Lar;1e .. Ci tie_s , .... _.f9.;e:_,.U1e ... J2\allY!cr /Bou_lde:i:: __ Ar~.\'L as published by the 
Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United States Department of 
Labor, 1982-84 base= 100. In the event the base year is changed, 
the C.P.I. shall be converted to the equivalent of the base year 
1982-84 = 100. In the event the Bureau of Labor Statistics ceases 
to use the C.P.I., an equivalent or comparable economic index will 
be used. 

4.3 The annual rent payable hereunder shall be paid in equal 
monthly installments on the first day of each month in advance at 
the office of the Airport Manager or at such other office as may be 
directed in writing by the Cities. 

4.4 The Lessee, as additional rent, shall pay to Cities a 
fuel flowage fee for all fuel delivered into aircraft of Lessee, 
other than fuel sold by an existing FBO or other approved vendor 
who pays a fuel flowage fee to the Cities. The amount of such fee 
shall be the highest rate paid by any FBO or other approved vendor, 
including any percentage paid as a percentage of gross revenues, 
plus three percentage points, or ten percent (10%) of the wholesale 
cost of the fuel delivered to the airport, whichever is greater. 
Such fee shall be paid with the monthly rent for the prior month's 
fueling. For example, if the wholesale cost of the fuel delivered 
to the Airport is $1. 00, the amount of such fee, based on the 
wholesale cost, would be an additional .10 or a total cost of 
$1.10. If the highest rate paid by any FBO is $1.06, Lessee would 
pay an additional .03 for a total cost of $1.09. In this example, 
the cost to the Lessee would be the greater of the two: $1.10. 

4.5 The Lessee, as an additional rent, shall pay to Cities 
one percent (1%) of the gross revenues derived from any sub-lessee. 
Such fee shall be paid with the monthly rent for the prior month's 
revenues. Said additional rent shall not be subject to escalation 
as otherwise specified in paragraph 4.2. 

4. 6 The Lessee, as additional rent, shall construct one 
hangar on the Leased Premises as approved by the Cities. The 
hangar shall be at least 1,600 square feet in size and shall have 
a concrete floor, at least one man door, and at least one aircraft 
access door sized to accommodate an average private aircraft. 
Lessee shall use its best efforts and all due diligence to complete 
construction of such improvements within eighteen (18) months of 
the Cities' approval thereof or within two years from the date of 
this agreement. Failure of the Lessee to construct such 
improvements in accordance with the provisions of this section 
shall be deemed a default under this Agreement except if the 

3 
152



failure to construct is caused by force majeure or action of the 
Cities. Title to these improvements shall vest in the Cities at 
the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

4.7 The Lessee shall construct a paved aircraft ramp area 
extending out from the hangar to the nearest existing aircraft ramp 
or taxiway. This area shall be constructed pursuant to 
specifications established by the Cities and shall be built so as 
to connect onto any adjacent ramp in order that a continuous and 
safe pavement section results. The Lessee shall be responsible for 
snow removal on the ramp area. Lessee grants to users of the 
Airport the right to use this aircraft ramp area from time to time 
for passage of aircraft on the adjacent taxiway moving through this 
area of the airport. The construction time and default provisions 
of subsection 4.6 shall be applicable to the improvements set forth 
in this subsection. Title to the ramp improvements shall vest in 
the Cities upon completion of construction. 

4.8 At the option of the Lessee and notwithstanding the last 
sentence of paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7, Lessee may transfer title and 
ownership to the improvements set forth in paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7 
to the Cities prior to expiration or termination of this Agreement, 
subject to acceptance by the Airport Manager. Such transfer of 
title and ownership shall not relieve the Lessee of any obligation 
of this Agreement, including the obligations of insurance, rent 
payment, care and maintenance of the improvements. 

4.9 Lessee shall keep the Leased Premises, the Improvements, 
and any other property on the Airport on which parking structures 
are constructed by Lessee, free and clear of any liens and shall 
indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Cities from any liens and 
shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the cities from any liens 
and encumbrances arising out of any work performed or materials 
furnished by or at the direction of Lessee. In the event any lien 
is filed, Lessee shall do all acts necessary to discharge any lien 
within ten (10) days of filing, or if Lessee desires to contest any 
lien, then Lessee shall deposit with the Cities such security as 
the Cities shall demand to insure the payment of the lien claim. 
In the event Lessee shall fail to pay any lien claim when due or 
shall fail to deposit the security with the Cities, then the Cities 
shall have the right to expend all sums necessary to discharge the 
lien claim, and Lessee shall pay as additional rental, when the 
next rental payment is due, all sums expended by the cities in 
discharging any lien, including reasonable attorney's fees and 
costs, and interest at twelve percent (12%) on the sums expended by 
the Cities from the date of expenditure to the date of payment by 
the Lessee. 

ARTICLE 5 
ACCEPTANCE. CARK,~~MPRffiTEMENTS_ANILREPAIR 

5.1 In reliance upon the representations of the Cities set 
forth in this Section 5.1, Lessee warrants it has inspected the 

4 
153



Leased Premises and accepts possession of the Leased Premises "as 
is" in its present condition, and, subject to all limitations 
imposed upon the use thereof by the rules and regulations of the 
Federal Aviation Administration, the rules and regulations of the 
Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport, as set forth in Exhibit B 
attached hereto, and by ordinances of the Cities, admits its 
suitableness and sufficiency for the uses permitted hereunder. The 
Cities represent to the Lessee that, to their knowledge, the Leased 
Premises are free ·of any adverse environmental conditions and no 
part of the Leased Premises lie in a flood hazard area or 
constitutes a fresh water wetland, nor is any part of the Leased 
Premises within 100 feet of a fresh water wetland. Except as may 
otherwise be provided for herein, the Cities shall not be required 
to maintain nor to make any improvements, repairs or restoration 
upon or to the Leased premises or to any of the improvements 
presently located thereon or placed thereon by Lessee. 

5.1.1 If, within six (6) months of the commencement date set 
forth in Article 1 herein, a qualified engineer determines that 
hazardous material exists on or under the Leased Premises, and such 
hazardous material existed at the commencement date, and such 
material renders the site unusable for its intended purpose, and 
the engineer's estimate of the cost to clean up such hazardous 
material exceeds five thousand dollars ($5,000.00), the Lessee may 
terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 18.8 

5 .1.2 Alternatively, the Cities may offer to Lessee an 
alternate comparable site for the facilities, if one is available. 

5 .1. 3 In the event the Cities elect to not perform the 
necessary clean-up efforts, or if an alternative site is not 
agreeable to Lessee, then this Agreement shall be terminable upon 
written notice by either party to the other. In the event of such 
termination, Cities will compensate Lessee forthwith for all 
expenses incurred by Lessee in placing approved improvements upon 
the Leased Premises. If termination pursuant to this Section 5.1.3 
occurs prior to the construction of the improvements, then the 
Cities shall refund those rental payments made by Lessee to the 
date of said termination. 

5.1.4 The Lessee's obligation to construct the improvements 
under this Agreement is contingent upon Lessee's ability to obtain 
all necessary permits and approvals for the improvements to be used 
for the purposes authorized in Article 3, provided that Lessee 
pursues the obtaining of said permits and approvals with all due 
diligence. In the event Lessee is unsuccessful in acquiring said 
permits and approvals for all authorized improvements, then and in 
that event, this Lease shall terminate pursuant to Article 
18. ---

5.2 The Lessee shall, throughout the term of this Agreement, 
assume the entire responsibility, cost and expense, for all repair 
and maintenance whatsoever on the Leased Premises and all 
improvements thereon in a good workmanlike manner, whether such 

5 
154



repair or maintenance be ordinary or extraordinary, structural or 
otherwise. Additionally, the Lessee, without limiting the 
generality hereof, shall: 

5.2.1 Keep at all times, in a clean and orderly condition and 
appearance, the Leased Premises, all improvements thereon and all 
of the Lessee's fixtures, equipment and personal property which are 
located on any part of the Leased Premises. Lessee shall not park 
or leave, or allow to be parked or left, aircraft on the taxiways, 
ramps or pavement adjacent to the hangar in a manner which unduly 
interferes with or obstructs access to other hangars. 

5. 2. 2 Provide and maintain on the Leased Premises all 
obstruction lights and similar devices, and safety equipment 
required by law. 

5. 2. 3 Take measures to prevent erosion, including but not 
limited to, the planting and replanting of grasses with respect to 
all portions of the Leased Premises not paved or built upon, and in 
particular shall plant, maintain and replant any landscaped areas. 

5.2.4 Be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all 
utility services lines placed on the Leased premises and used by 
the Lessee exclusively, including, but not limited to, water lines, 
gas lines, electrical power and telephone conduits and lines, 
sanitary sewers and storm sewers. 

5.2.5 In the event Lessee discovers any hazardous material on 
the Leased Premises, it will promptly notify the Cities in writing. 
Lessee acknowledges that a discharge or spill of a hazardous 
substance caused by its employees, agents, licensee, invitees, or 
guests shall be the responsibility of the Lessee. The Cities 
acknowledge that a discharge or spill of a hazardous substance 
caused by its employees, agents, licensees, invitees, or guests 
shall be the responsibility of the Cities. 

5.3 Plans and specifications for all hangars and all repairs 
(other than emergency repairs), construction, alterations, 
modifications, additions or replacements, hereinafter referred to 
as "Improvements" to be constructed or placed by the Lessee on the 
Leased Premises shall be submitted to the Cities for approval, 
which approval shall not be denied providing the plans and 
specifications comply with the provisions of this agreement, as 
well as all applicable building, use and zoning regulations. 

5.4 The Lessee expressly agrees in making all Improvements 
that, except with the prior written consent of the Cities, it will 
not allow, give nor grant, nor purport to give or grant any lien 
upon the Leased Premises or upon any Improvements thereon, and the 
Lessee will within sixty (60) days after notice of filing thereof 
either discharge the lien or contest the validity of the lien and 
provide a bond securing its payment until it is discharged, subject 
however, to the provisions of Article 10 hereunder. 

ARTICLE 6 
ADDITIONAILnBLIGATIONS~QJLLESSEE 

6 
155



6.1 The Lessee shall conduct its operations hereunder and 
cause subtenants to conduct their operations hereunder in an 
orderly and proper manner, considering the nature of such 
operations, so as not to unreasonably annoy, disturb, endanger or 
be offensive to others. 

6.2 Further, the Lessee shall take all reasonable measures: 
6.2.1 To reduce to a practicable minimum vibrations tending 

to damage any equipment, structure, buildings or portions of 
buildings. 

6.2.2 Not to produce or allow to be produced on the Airport 
through the operation of machinery or equipment any electrical, 
electronic or other disturbances that interfere with the operation 
by the Cities or the Federal Aviation Administration of air 
navigational, communication or flight equipment on the Airport or 
on aircraft using the Airport, or with ground transportation 
communications. 

6.3 The Lessee shall comply and require subtenants to comply 
with all federal, state and municipal laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations and requirements, and the terms of this agreement, 
applicable to the Leased Premises and the improvements thereon and 
its operations at the Airport hereunder. 

6.4 The Lessee shall commit no nuisance, waste or injury on 
the Leased Premises, and shall not do, or permit to be done, 
anything which may result in the creation, commission or 
maintenance of such nuisance, waste or injury on the Leased 
Premises. 

6.5 The Lessee shall not do, nor permit to be done, anything 
which may interfere with the effectiveness or accessibility of the 
drainage system, sewerage system, fire protection system, sprinkler 
system, alarm system and fire hydrants and hoses, if any, installed 
or located on the Leased Premises. 

6. 6 The Lessee shall take measures to insure security in 
compliance with Federal Aviation Administration Regulations and the 
Airport Security Plan. 

6.7 The Lessee shall not do, nor permit to be done, any act 
or thing which will invalidate or conflict with any fire insurance 
policies or regulations applicable to the Leased Premises or any 
part thereof; or other contiguous premises at the Airport. 

6.8 The Lessee shall not install, maintain, operate or permit 
the installation, maintenance or operation of any restaurant, 
kitchen, stand or other establishment of any type for the sale of 
food or of any vending machines or device designed to dispense or 
sell merchandise or services of any kind to the general public, 
unless all required development approvals and permits for that 
activity are obtained from the Cities. 

6.9 Except for uses permitted under Article 3 hereof to be 
performed by the Lessee, the Lessee shall not provide or allow to 
be provided aircraft maintenance work, flight instruction of any 

7 

156



sort, air taxi, aircraft charter or aircraft leasing of any sort on 
the Leased Premises for commercial purposes without all required 
development approvals and permits from the Cities. 

6.10 The Lessee will conduct its operations in such a manner 
and require subtenants to conduct their operations in such a manner 
as to keep the noise produced by aircraft engines and component 
parts thereof, and any other noise, to a minimum, by such methods 
as are practicable, considering the extent and type of the 
operations of the Lessee. In addition, the Lessee and its 
subtenants will employ the maximum amount of noise arresting and 
noise reducing devices that are available and economically 
practicable, considering the extent of the operations of the 
Lessee, but in no event less than those devices required by 
federal, state or local law. In its use of the Leased Premises, 
the Lessee and its subtenants shall take all possible care, 
exercise caution and use its best efforts to minimize prop or jet 
blast interference to aircraft operating on taxiways and to 
buildings, structures and roadways, now located on or which in the 
future may be located on areas adjacent to the Leased Premises. In 
the event the Cities determine that the Lessee or any of its 
subtenants has not curbed the prop or jet blast interference, the 
Lessee hereby covenants and agrees to erect and maintain at its own 
expense such structure or structures as may be necessary to prevent 
prop or jet blast interference, subject, however, to the prior 
written approval of the Cities as to type, manner and method of 
construction. 

ARTICLE 7 
INGRESS AND EGRESS 

7.1 The Lessee shall have the right of ingress and egress 
between the Leased Premises and the public landing areas at the 
Airport by means of connecting taxiways; and between the Leased 
Premises and the entrance(s) to the Airport by means of connecting 
paved roads. Lessee shall have the right to use the public runways 
and public aviation aids at all times during which they are open to 
the public. Such rights of ingress, egress and use shall be in 
common with others having rights of passage thereon. 

7.1.1. If, at the time of entering into this agreement, 
access to the Leased Premises is not available on existing 
taxiways, improvements deemed necessary by Lessee shall be made at 
the sole expense of Lessee, in accordance with construction 
specifications and design criteria established for all of the 
properties by the Airport Engineer. There shall be no 
consideration made on the part of the Cities for the cost of these 
improvements. 

7.2 The use of any such roadway or taxiway shall be subject 
to the Rules and Regulations of the Airport which are now in effect 
or which may hereafter be promulgated, and subject to temporary 
closure, provided, however, that any closure shall be only for 
reasonably necessary or unique circumstances, and provided that 

8 
157



fourteen (14) days prior written notice will be given to Lessee 
relevant to any closure unless such closure is necessary due to 
emergency. The Lessee hereby releases and discharges the Cities, 
their officers, employees and agents, and all their respective 
successors and assigns, of and from any and all claims, demands, or 
causes of action which the Lessee or its subtenants may now or at 
any time hereafter have against any of the foregoing, arising or 
alleged to arise out of the closing of any street, roadway or other 
area, provided that other reasonable means of access to the Leased 
Premises as to those closed remain available to Lessee without cost 
to Lessee, unless otherwise mandated by emergency safety 
considerations or lawful exercise of the police power. The Lessee 
shall not do or permit anything to be done which will interfere 
with the free access and passage of others to space adjacent to the 
Leased Premises or in any streets or roadways on the Airport. 

ARTICLE 8 
INSURANCE,. DAMAGE Q~TIQN 

8.1 To safeguard the interest and property of the Cities, the 
Lessee, at its sole cost and expense, shall procure and maintain 
throughout the term of this Agreement insurance protection for all 
risk coverage on the Improvements which are part of the Leased 
Premises, to the extent of one hundred percent (100%) of the actual 
replacement cost thereof. Such insurance shall be written by 
insurers acceptable to Cities. The insurance shall provide for 
thirty (3 0) days notice of cancellation or material change, by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, to the Cities, Attention: 
Airport Manager. 

8.1.1 The above stated property insurance shall be for the 
benefit of the Cities and the Lessee. 

8.1.2 The Lessee shall settle all losses with the insurance 
carrier. The Lessee shall consult with the Cities and use its best 
efforts to obtain a settlement that covers the cost of repairing or 
rebuilding the improvements. 

8.1.3 The Lessee shall provide certificates of insurance, in 
a form acceptable to the Cities and marked "premium paid" 
evidencing existence of all insurance required to be maintained 
prior to occupancy of the structure. Upon the failure of the 
Lessee to maintain such insurance as above provided, the Cities, at 
their option, may take out such insurance and charge the cost 
thereof to the Lessee, which shall be payable on demand, or may 
give notice of default hereunder pursuant to Article 18 hereof. 

8. 2 In the event the Improvements and any subsequent 
improvements, insurable or uninsurable, on the Leased Premises are 
damaged or destroyed to the extent that they are unusable by the 
Lessee for the purposes for which they were used prior to such 
damage, or same are destroyed, the Lessee shall promptly repair and 
reconstruct the Improvements substantially as they were immediately 
prior to such casualty or in a new or modified design, subject to 

9 
158



the provisions of Article 5 hereof and applicable building codes 
existing at the time of repairing or rebuilding. If the aforesaid 
damage or destruction occurs in the last five years of the term of 
this Agreement, the Lessee may elect not to repair and reconstruct 
the Improvements, subject to the following terms and conditions: 

B.2.1 The Lessee shall give the Cities written notice of its 
election not to repair and reconstruct the Improvements within 
ninety (90) days of the date upon which the Improvements were 
damaged or destroyed. 

B.2.2 The Lessee shall clear the site, remove all debris and 
paving, stub up all utilities, and restore the site to its original 
cleared condition prior to commencement of construction. 

B.2.3 The Cities shall retain all insurance coverage and 
proceeds as described in Section 8.1, hereof. 

8.2.4 Upon Lessee's notice under Section 8.2.1 hereof and 
Lessee's compliance with the provisions of Sections 8.2.2 and 8.2.3 
hereof, the Ci ties shall terminate this Agreement and relieve 
Lessee of all future rental obligations hereunder. 

B.3 All policies of insurance required herein shall name the 
Cities as additional insureds. 

B.4 Whenever in this Agreement, provision is made for the 
carrying of any insurance, it shall be deemed that such provision 
is complied with if such insurance otherwise complying with such 
provision is carried under a blanket policy or policies covering 
the Leased Premises as well as other properties. 

B.5 Lessee shall not violate, or permit to be violated, any 
of the conditions of any of the said policies; the Lessee shall 
perform and satisfy, or cause to be satisfied, the requirements of 
the companies writing such policies. 

ARTICLE 9 
LIABILITIES AND INDEMNLTIES 

9.1 The Cities shall not in any way be liable for any cost, 
liability, damage or injury including cost of suit and expenses of 
legal services, claimed or recovered by any person whomsoever, or 
occurring on the Leased Premises, or the Airport, or as a result of 
any operations, works, acts or omissions performed on the Leased 
Premises, or the Airport, by the Lessee, its agents, servants and 
employees and its sublessees or tenants, or their guests or 
invitees. 

9.2 The Lessee agrees to indemnify, save and hold harmless, 
the Cities, their officers, agents, servants and employees, of and 
from any and all costs, liability, damage and expense, including 
costs of suit and reasonable expenses of legal services, claimed or 
recovered, justly or unjustly, falsely, fraudulently or 
frivolously, by any person, firm or corporation by reason of injury 
to, or death of, any person or persons, including Cities' 
personnel, and damage to, destruction or loss of use of any 

10 
159



property, including Cities' property, directly or indirectly 
arising from, or resulting from, any operations, works, acts or 
omissions of Lessee, its agents, servants, employees, contractors, 
sublessees or tenants. Upon the filing with the Cities by anyone 
of a claim for damages arising out of incidents for which the 
Lessee herein agrees to indemnify and hold the Cities harmless, the 
Cities shall notify the Lessee of such claim and in the event that 
the Lessee does not settle or compromise such claim, then the 
Lessee shall undertake the legal defense of such claim on behalf of 
both the Lessee and the Cities. It is specifically agreed, 
however, that the Cities at their own cost and expense, may 
participate in the legal defense of any such claim. Any final 
judgment rendered against the Cities for any cause for which the 
Lessee is liable hereunder shall be conclusive against the Lessee 
as to liability and amount upon the expiration of the time for 
appeal. 

9.3 The Lessee shall procure and keep in force during the 
term of the Lease policies of Comprehensive General Liability 
insurance insuring the Lessee and the Cities against any liability 
for personal injury, bodily injury, death, or property damage 
arising out of the subject of this Lease with a combined single 
limit of at least one million dollars or with a limit of not less 
than the maximum amount that may be recovered against the Cities 
under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, whichever is greater. 
No such policies shall be cancelable or subject to reduction in 
coverage limits or other modification except after thirty days 
prior written notice to the Cities. The policies shall be for the 
mutual and joint benefit and protection of the Lessee and the 
Cities and such policies shall contain a provision that the Cities, 
although named as an insured, shall nevertheless be entitled to 
recovery under said policies for any loss occasioned to it, its 
servants, agents, citizens, and employees by reason of negligence 
of the Lessee. The Lessee shall provide certificates of insurance, 
in a form acceptable to the Cities and marked "premium paid" 
evidencing existence of all insurance required to be maintained 
prior to the commencement of the Agreement. 

9.4 The Lessee represents that it is the owner of or fully 
authorized to use any and all services, processes, machines, 
articles, marks, names or slogans used by it in its operations 
under or in anyway connected with this Agreement. The Lessee 
agrees to save and hold the Cities, their officers, employees, 
agents and representatives free and harmless of and from any loss, 
liability, expense, suit or claim for damages in connection with 
any actual or alleged infringement of any patent, trademark or 
copyright, or arising from any alleged or actual unfair competition 
or other similar claim arising out of the operations of the Lessee 
under or in anyway connected with this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 10 

11 
160



LEASEHOLD MORTGAGES 
10.1 (a) If Lessee shall, on one or more occasions, mortgage 

Lessee's leasehold estate to an Institutional Investor, and if the 
holder of such Leasehold Mortgage or any sub-assignee shall provide 
the Cities with notice of such Leasehold Mortgage together with a 
true copy of such Leasehold Mortgage and the name and address of 
the Mortgagee, the Cities and Lessee agree that, following receipt 
of such notice by the Cities, the provisions of this Article 10 
shall apply in respect to each such Leasehold Mortgage; provided 
that the provisions of this Article shall not be binding on the 
Cities, unless and until such notice shall have been given and such 
copy delivered to the Cities, notwithstanding any other form of 
notice, actual or constructive. 

(b) The Cities shall, upon receipt of notice provided 
for by Section 10. 1, promptly acknowledge the receipt of such 
communication, as constituting the notice provided for by Section 
10 .1 or in the alternative, notify the Lessee and Leasehold 
Mortgagee of the rejection of such communication as not conforming 
with the provisions of Section 10.l(a) and specify the specific 
basis of such rejection. 

10.2 (a) The terms "Institutional Investor" and "Institution" 
as used in this Agreement shall refer to a savings bank, savings 
and loan association, commercial bank or trust company (whether for 
its own account or as fiduciary), credit union, a pension fund, 
welfare or retirement fund, an eleemosynary institution, or any 
combination of the foregoing. 

(b) The term "Leasehold Mortgage" as used in this 
Agreement shall include a mortgage, a deed of trust, a deed to 
secure debt, or other security instrument by which lessee's 
leasehold estate is mortgaged, conveyed, assigned, or otherwise 
transferred, to secure a debt or other obligation. 

10.3 The Cities, upon providing Lessee any notice of 
(a) default under this Agreement; or 
(b) a termination of this Agreement; or 
(c) a matter on which the Cities may predicate or claim 

a default, shall at the same time provide a copy of such notice to 
every Leasehold Mortgagee. No such notice by Cities to Lessee 
shall be deemed to have been duly given unless and until copy 
thereof has been so provided to every Leasehold Mortgagee by 
certified mail at the address specified in the notice given 
pursuant to Section 10.1. From and after the date such notice has 
been given to a Leasehold Mortgagee, such Leasehold Mortgagee shall 
have the additional periods of time specified in Sections 10.5 and 
10.6 hereof to remedy, commence remedying, or cause to be remedied 
the default or acts or omissions which are specified in any such 
notice. The Cities shall accept such performance by or at the 
instigation of such Leasehold Mortgagee as if the same had been 
done by Lessee. 

12 
161



10.4 (a) Anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, if any default shall occur which entitles the 
Cities to terminate this Agreement, the Cities shall have no right 
to terminate this Agreement unless, following the expiration of the 
period of time given Lessee to cure such default or the act or 
omission which gave rise to such default, the Cities shall notify 
every Leasehold Mortgagee of the Cities' intent to so terminate 
("Termination Notice") at least thirty (30) days in advance of the 
proposed effective date of such termination if such default is 
capable of being cured by the payment of money, and at least forty
five (45) days in advance of the proposed effective date of such 
termination if such default is not capable of being cured by the 
payment of money. The provisions of Section 10.6 below shall apply 
if, during such thirty (30) or forty-five (45) day Termination 
Notice period, any Leasehold Mortgagee shall: 

(i) notify the Cities of such Leasehold Mortgagee's 
desire to defeat such Termination Notice, and 

(ii) pay or cause to be paid all rent, additional 
rent, and other payments then due and in arrears as specified in 
the Termination Notice to such Leasehold Mortgagee and which may 
become due during such thirty (30) day period; and 

(iii) comply with due diligence and continuity, or 
in good faith commence to comply with all non-monetary requirements 
of this Agreement then in default. 

(b) If the Cities shall elect to terminate this 
Agreement by reason of any default of Lessee, and a Leasehold 
Mortgagee shall have proceeded in the manner provided for by 
Section 10.4, the specified date for termination of this Agreement 
as fixed by the Cities in its Termination Notice shall be deemed 
extended and this Agreement shall not be terminated without the 
consent of such Leasehold Mortgagee provided that such Leasehold 
Mortgagee shall, during such extended period: 

(i) pay or cause to be paid the rent, additional 
rent, and other monetary obligations of Lessee under this Agreement 
as the same become due, and continue with due diligence to perform 
all of Lessee's other obligations under this Agreement, which 
Leasehold Mortgagee can perform without having first obtained 
possession of the Lessee's interest in this Agreement; and 

(ii) within three (3) months from receipt of the 
Termination Notice, take steps to acquire or sell Lessee's interest 
in this Agreement by foreclosure of the Leasehold Mortgagee or 
other appropriate means and prosecute the same to completion with 
due diligence; provided, however, that if the Leasehold Mortgagee 
is otherwise complying with this Section 10.4 and is enjoined or 
stayed from taking steps to acquire or sell Lessee's interest in 
this Agreement, this Agreement shall not terminate and the time for 
completion by such Leasehold Mortgagee of its proceedings shall 
continue so long as such Leasehold Mortgagee is enjoined or stayed 
and, thereafter, for so long as such Leasehold Mortgagee proceeds 

13 
162



to complete steps to acquire or sell Lessee's interest in this 
Agreement by foreclosure of the Leasehold Mortgage or by other 
appropriate means with reasonable diligence and continuity. If the 
default shall be cured and the Leasehold Mortgagee shall 
discontinue such foreclosure proceedings, this Agreement shall 
continue in full force and effect as if Lessee had not defaulted 
under this Agreement. 

(c) If the Leasehold Mortgagee is complying with Section 
10.4(a} (i) and is enjoined or stayed from taking steps to acquire 
or sell Lessee's interest in this Agreement, this Agreement shall 
not then terminate and the time for completion by such Leasehold 
Mortgagee of its proceedings shall continue so long as such 
Leasehold Mortgagee is enjoined or stayed and thereafter for so 
long as such Leasehold Mortgagee proceeds to complete steps to 
acquire or sell Lessee's interest in this Agreement by foreclosure 
of the Leasehold Mortgagee or by other appropriate means with due 
diligence and continuity. 

(d) Nothing in this Section 10.4 shall be construed to 
extend this Agreement beyond the original term hereof as set forth 
in Article 1, nor to require a Leasehold Mortgagee to continue such 
foreclosure proceedings after the default has been cured. If the 
default shall be cured and the Leasehold Mortgagee shall 
discontinue such foreclosure proceedings, this Agreement shall 
continue in full force and effect as if Lessee had not defaulted 
under thi.s Agreement. 

(e) If a Leasehold Mortgagee is complying with Section 
10.4(a) (i), upon the acquisition of Lessee's estate herein by such 
Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee or any other purchaser at a 
foreclosure sale or otherwise and the discharge by foreclosure or 
otherwise of any lien, charge or encumbrance against the Lessee's 
interest in this Agreement or the Leased Premises which is junior 
in priority to the lien of the Leasehold Mortgagee held by such 
Leasehold Mortgagee and which Lessee is obligated to satisfy and 
discharge by the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement shall 
continue in full force and effect as if Lessee had not defaulted 
under this Agreement. 

( f) The making of a Leasehold Mortgage shall not be 
deemed to constitute an assignment or transfer of this Agreement or 
of the leasehold estate hereby created, nor shall any Leasehold 
Mortgagee, as such, be deemed to be an assignee or transferee of 
this Agreement or of the leasehold estate hereby created so as to 
require such Leasehold Mortgagee, as such, to assume the 
performance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions on the 
part of this Agreement of the leasehold estate hereby created in 
any proceedings for the foreclosure of any Leasehold Mortgage, or 
the assignee or transferee of this Agreement and of the leasehold 
estate hereby created under any instrument of assignment or 
transfer in lieu of the foreclosure of any Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall be deemed to be a permitted assignee or transferee, subject 

14 
163



to the provisions of Section 10.11, and shall be deemed to have 
agreed to perform all of the terms, covenants and conditions on the 
part of the Lessee to be performed hereunder from and after the 
date of such purchase and assignment, but only for so long as such 
purchaser or assignee is the owner of the leasehold estate. If the 
Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall become holder of the 
leasehold estate and if the buildings and Improvements on the 
Leased Premises shall have been or become materially damaged on, 
before or after the date of such purchase and assignment, the 
Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall be obligated to repair, 
replace or reconstruct the building or other improvements. 

(g) Any Leasehold Mortgagee or other acquirer of the 
leasehold estate of Lessee pursuant to foreclosure, assignment in 
lieu of foreclosure or other proceedings may, upon acquiring 
Lessee's leasehold estate, without further consent of the Cities, 
sell and assign the leasehold estate on such terms and to such 
person and organizations as are acceptable to such Mortgagee or 
acquirer and thereafter be relieved of all obligations under this 
Agreement; provided that such assignee has delivered to the Cities 
its written agreement to be bound thereafter by all of the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

(h) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this 
Agreement, any sale of this Agreement and of the leasehold estate 
hereby created in any proceedings for the foreclosure of any 
Leasehold Mortgage, or the assignment or transfer of this Agreement 
and of the leasehold estate hereby created in lieu of the 
foreclosure of any Leasehold Mortgage shall be deemed to be a 
permitted sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement and of the 
leasehold estate hereby created. 

10.5 In the event of the termination of this Agreement as a 
result of Lessee's default, the Cities shall, in addition to 
providing the notices of default and termination as required by 
Sections 10 .1 and 10. 3, provide each Leasehold Mortgagee with 
written notice that the Agreement has been terminated, together 
with a statement of all sums which would at that time be due under 
this Agreement but for such termination, and for all other 
defaults, if any, then known to the Cities ("the Cities' Notice of 
Termination"). The Cities agree to enter into a new Agreement 
( "New Agreement"} of the Leased Premises with the first Leasehold 
Mortgagee or its designee for the remainder of the term of this 
Agreement, effective as of the date of termination, at the rent and 
additional rent, and upon the terms, covenants, and conditions 
(including all options to renew but excluding requirements which 
are not applicable or which have already been fulfilled} of this 
Agreement provided: 

(a) Such Leasehold Mortgagee shall make written request 
to the Cities for such New Agreement within forty-five (45) days 
after the date such Leasehold Mortgagee receives the Cities' Notice 

15 

164



of Termination of this Agreement given pursuant to this Section 
10.5; and 

(b) Such Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall pay or 
cause to be paid to the Cities at the time of execution and 
delivery of such New Agreement, any and all sums which would at the 
time of execution and delivery thereof be due pursuant to this 
Agreement but for such termination and, in addition thereto, all 
reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, which 
the Cities shall have incurred by reason of such termination and 
the execution and delivery of the New Agreement and which have not 
otherwise been received by the Cities from Lessee or other party in 
interest under Lessee. In the event of a controversy as to the 
amount to be paid to the Cities pursuant to this Section 10.5(b), 
the payment obligation shall be satisfied if the Cities shall be 
paid the amount not in controversy, and the Leasehold Mortgagee or 
its designee shall agree to pay any additional sum ultimately 
determined to be due plus interest at the existing prime rate as 
established by Bank One-Loveland, N.A., or its successor, and if 
none, a major Fort Collins-Loveland Metropolitan Area lending 
institution, plus two (2) percentage points; and 

(c) Such Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall agree 
to remedy any of Lessee's actual defaults of which said Leasehold 
Mortgagee was notified by the Cities' Notice of Termination. 

(d) Any new Agreement made pursuant to this Section 10.5 
shall be prior in lien to any mortgage or other lien, charge, or 
encumbrance on the fee of the Leased Premises and the Lessee under 
such New Agreement shall have the same right, title and interest in 
and to the Leased Premises and the building and improvements 
thereon as Lessee had under this Agreement. 

10.6 If more than one Leasehold Mortgagee shall request a New 
Agreement pursuant to Section 10.5, the Cities shall enter into 
such New Agreement with the Leasehold Mortgagee whose mortgage is 
prior in lien, or with the designee of such Leasehold Mortgagee, 
and thereupon the requests for a New Agreement of each holder of a 
Leasehold Mortgage junior in lien shall be and be deemed to be void 
and of no force or effect. The Cities, without liability to Lessee 
or any Leasehold Mortgagee with an adverse claim, may rely upon a 
mortgage title insurance policy issued by a title insurance company 
licensed to do business within the State of Colorado and selected 
by the Cities as a basis for determining the appropriate Leasehold 
Mortgagee who is entitled to such New Agreement. 

10.7 (a) Nothing herein contained shall require any Leasehold 
Mortgagee or its designee as a condition to its exercise of right 
hereunder to cure any default of Lessee not reasonably susceptible 
of being cured by such Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee, in 
order to comply with the provisions of Section 10.4 and 10.5, or as 
a condition of entering into the New Agreement provided for by 
Section 10.5. 

16 
165



(b) If the Cities shall elect to terminate this 
Agreement by reason of any default of Lessee not reasonably 
susceptible of being cured by a Leasehold Mortgagee, and a 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall have proceeded in the manner provided for 
by Section 10.4(a), the specified date for the termination of this 
Agreement as fixed by the Cities in its termination notice shall be 
extended as provided for in Section 10. 5, provided that such 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall proceed in the manner provided for in 
Section 10.6. 

10. 8 The Cities shall give each Leasehold Mortgagee prompt 
written notice of any legal proceedings between the Cities and 
Lessee involving obligations under this Agreement. Each Leasehold 
Mortgagee shall have the right to intervene in any such proceedings 
and be made a party to such proceedings, and the parties hereto do 
hereby consent to such intervention. In the event that any 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall not elect to intervene or become a party 
to any such proceedings, the Cities shall give the Leasehold 
Mortgagee notice of, and a copy of any award of decision made in 
any such proceedings, which shall be binding upon all Leasehold 
Mortgagees not intervening after receipt of notice thereof. 

10.9 In the event, on any occasion hereafter, Lessee seeks to 
mortgage its leasehold estate under this Agreement or any portion 
hereof under any subsequent individual lease, the Cities agree to 
amend this Agreement from time to time to the extent reasonably 
requested by a Leasehold Mortgagee proposing to make Lessee a loan 
secured by a first lien upon Lessee's leasehold estate, provided 
that such proposed amendments do not materially and adversely 
affect the rights of the Cities or their interest in the Leased 
Premises. All reasonable expenses incurred by the Cities in 
connection with any such amendment shall be paid by Lessee. 

10.10 The Cities shall, without charge, at any time and 
from time to time hereafter, but not more frequently than twice in 
any one year period (or more frequently if such request is made in 
connection with any sale or mortgaging of Lessee's leasehold 
interest or permitted subletting by Lessee), within thirty (30) 
days after written request of Lessee to do so, certify by written 
instrument duly executed and acknowledged to any Leasehold 
Mortgagee or purchaser, or proposed Leasehold Mortgagee or proposed 
purchaser, or any other person, firm or corporation specified in 
such request: 

(a) As to whether this Agreement has been supplemented 
or amended and, if so, the substance and manner of such supplement 
or amendment; 

(b) As to the validity and force and effect of this 
Agreement, in accordance with its tenor; 

(c) As to the existence of any default hereunder; 
(d) As to the existence of any offsets, counterclaims, 

or defenses hereto on the part of the Lessee; 

17 
166



(e) As to the commencement and expiration dates of the 
term of this Agreement; and 

(f) As to any other matters as may be reasonably so 
requested. Any such certificate may be relied upon by the Lessee 
and any other person, firm or corporation to whom the same may be 
exhibited or delivered, and the contents of such certificate shall 
be binding on the Cities. 

ARTICLE 11 
RllLES AND REGULATIONS 

11.1 Cities may enforce rules and regulations with respect to 
the occupancy and use of the Airport, as such rules and regulations 
are set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto, and as such rules and 
regulations may be amended from time to time. The Lessee agrees to 
observe and obey any and all such rules and regulations and all 
other federal, state and municipal rules, regulations and laws and 
to require its officers, agents, employees, subtenants, 
contractors, and suppliers, to observe and obey the same. In the 
event of a conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B (Airport 
Rules and Regulations) and this Lease, the provisions of this Lease 
shall control. This provision will include compliance with the 
Airport's Noise Abatement Plan as promulgated. The Cities reserve 
the right to deny access to the Airport and its facilities to any 
person, firm or corporation that fails or refuses to obey and 
comply with such rules, regulations or laws. 

ARTICLE 12 
SIGNS 

12.1 The Lessee shall have the right to install and maintain 
one or more signs on the Leased Premises identifying it and its 
operations, provided, however, the subject matter, type, design, 
number, location and elevation of such signs, and whether lighted 
or unlighted, shall be subject to and 'in accordance with the City 
of Loveland Sign Code. No sign will be allowed that may be 
confusing to aircraft pilots or automobile drivers or other 
traffic. 

ARTICLE 13 
ASSirlNMENT AND SIIBLEASE 

13.1 The prior written consent of the Cities shall be required 
for any sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement and of the 
leasehold estate hereby created. Consent may be withheld by the 
Cities in the event the Lessee is in default of any of the terms or 
conditions of this Agreement, in the event the transferee or 
assignee does not deliver to the Cities its written agreement to be 
bound by all of the provisions of this Agreement, or in the event 
the proposed transferee or assignee does not submit proof of 
insurance as required at Articles 8 and 9, herein. Consent shall 

18 
167



not be otherwise unreasonably withheld. Upon the granting of 
written consent by the Cities and actual transfer or assignment, 
the Lessee shall be released by the Cities from its obligations 
under this Lease. 

13.2 Lessee does have the right and option to sublease part or 
parts of the Leased Premises without the prior consent of the 
Cities, providing that any subtenant shall be required to comply 
with all terms and conditions of this Agreement. In the event of 
sublease, both the Lessee and the subtenant shall be jointly and 
severally responsible for compliance with the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement. Upon sublease, Lessee shall provide Cities with 
a complete copy of the sublease agreement fully identifying the 
parties and terms. 

13.3 Lessee does not have the right to subdivide the Leased 
Premises. 

ARTICLE 14 
CONDEMNATION 

14 .1 In the event that all or any portion of the Leased 
Premises is taken for any public or quasi-public purpose by any 
lawful power or authority by the exercise of the right of 
appropriation, condemnation or eminent domain (or pursuant to a 
sale to such power or authority under the threat of condemnation or 
eminent domain), the proceeds, if any, from such taking or sale 
shall be allocated between the Cities and Lessee in accordance with 
the applicable condemnation law. If a portion of the Leased 
Premises is so taken or sold, and as a result thereof, the 
remaining part cannot reasonably be used to continue the authorized 
uses set forth in Article 3 hereof, then this Lease shall terminate 
and Lessee's obligation to pay rent and perform the other 
conditions of the Lease shall be deemed to have ceased as of the 
date of such taking or sale. 

14.2 The Cities expressly reserve the right to grant or take 
easements on rights-of-way across the Leased Premises if it is 
determined to be in the best interest of the Cities to do so. If 
the Cities grant or take an easement or right-of-way across any of 
the Leased Premises, Lessee shall be entitled only to compensation 
for damages to all Lessee owned improvements destroyed or 
physically damaged thereby, but not to damages for loss of use of 
the Leased Premises itself. Damages to improvements shall be 
determined by the reduction in fair market value of the improvement 
caused by said damage or cost of repair, whichever is less. 

14.3 Lessee understands and agrees that the Cities have the 
right to take all or any portion of the Leased Premises, and any 
additions, alterations or improvements thereon, should the Cities, 
in their sole discretion, determine that said portion of the Leased 
Premises, and improvements thereon, are required for other Airport 
purposes. If such action is taken, the Cities shall substitute 
comparable areas within the Airport, or any additions or extensions 

19 
168



thereof, brought to the same level of improvement as the area 
taken. The Cities shall bear all expenses of bringing the 
substituted area to the same level of improvement to the area 
taken, and of moving Lessee's improvements, equipment, furniture 
and fixtures to the substituted area. If any of Lessee's 
improvements, equipment, furniture or fixtures cannot be relocated, 
the Cities shall replace, at their own expense, such non
relocatable improvements and other property with comparable 
property in the substituted area, and the Cities shall be deemed 
the owner of the non-relocated improvements and other property, 
free and clear of all claims of any interest or title therein by 
Lessee, any mortgagee, or any other third party whomsoever. It is 
the specific intent of this subparagraph that Lessee would be 
placed, to the extent possible, in the same position it would have 
been, had the Cities not substituted new premises for the Leased 
Premises; provided however, that the Cities shall not be obligated 
to reimburse Lessee for lost revenues or other costs due to such 
substitution. In the event that such substitution of area is 
demanded by the Cities, Lessee shall have the right and option to 
terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days prior written notice 
to Cities. Nothing in this subparagraph shall be construed to limit 
the Cities' rights to condemn Lessee's leasehold rights and 
interests in the Leased Premises pursuant to state law. 

ARTICLE 15 
NON-DISCRIMINATIQN 

15.1 The Lessee, for it, its heirs, personal representatives, 
successors in interest, and assigns, as a part of the consideration 
hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a covenant running with 
the land that in the event facilities are constructed, maintained, 
or otherwise operated on the Leased Premises, for a purpose for 
which a United States government program or activity is extended, 
the Lessee shall maintain and operate such facilities and services 
in compliance with all other requirements imposed pursuant to Title 
49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of Transportation, 
Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Nondiscrimination in 
federally-assisted programs of the Department of Transportation
Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as 
said regulations may be amended. 

15.2 The Lessee, for itself, its personal representatives, 
successors in interest and assigns, as a part of the consideration 
hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a covenant running with 
the land that: 

(1) no person on the grounds of race, color, disability 
or national origin shall be excluded from participating in, denied 
the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the 
use of the Leased Premises; 

(2) that in the construction of any Improvements on, over 
or under such land and the furnishing of services thereon, no 

20 
169



person on the grounds of race, color, disability or national origin 
shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
otherwise be subjected to discrimination, 

(3) that the Lessee shall use the Leased Premises in 
compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to 
Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of 
Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, 
Nondiscrimination in federally-assisted programs of the Department 
of Transportation Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 
of 1964, and as said regulations may be amended. 

15.3 In this connection, the Cities reserve the right to take 
whatever action they might be entitled by law to take in order to 
enforce this provision following the sixty (60) days prior written 
notice to Lessee of any alleged violation. This provision is to be 
considered as a covenant on the part of the Lessee, a breach of 
which, continuing after notice by the Cities to cease and desist 
and after a determination that a violation exists made in 
accordance with the procedures and appeals provided by law, will 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement and will entitle the 
Cities, at their option, to exercise its right of termination as 
provided for herein, or take any action that it deems necessary to 
enforce compliance herewith. 

15.4 The Lessee shall include the foregoing provisions in 
every agreement or concession pursuant to which any person or 
persons, other than the Lessee, operates any facility at the Leased 
Premises providing service to the public and shall include thereon 
a provision granting the Cities a right to take such action as the 
United States may direct to enforce such covenant. 

15.5 To the extent legally required and applicable, the Lessee 
assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as 
required by 14 CFR, Part 152, Subpart E, to insure that no person 
shall on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, 
disability or sex, be excluded from participation in any employment 
activities covered in 14 CFR Part 152 Subpart E. The Lessee 
assures that no person shall be excluded on these grounds from 
participating in or receiving the services or benefits of any 
program or activity covered by this subpart. The Lessee assures 
that it will require that its covered suborganizations provide 
assurances to the Lessee that they similarly will undertake 
affirmative action program and that they will require assurances 
from their suborganizations, to the extent required by 14 CFR Part 
152, Subpart E, to the same effect. 

ARTICLE 16 
GQVERNMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 

16.1 The Lessee shall attempt to procure all licenses, 
certificates, permits or other authorization from all governmental 
authorities, if any, having jurisdiction over the Lessee's 

21 
170



operations at the Leased Premises which may be necessary for the 
Lessee's operations thereat. 

16.2 The Lessee shall pay all taxes, license, certification, 
permits and examination fees and excise taxes which may be 
assessed, levied, exacted or imposed on the Leased Premises or 
operation hereunder or on the gross receipts or gross income to the 
Lessee therefrom, and shall make all applications, reports and 
returns required in connection therewith. 

16.3 Lessee shall pay all water, sewer, utility and other 
applicable use taxes and fees, together with any Payment in Lieu of 
Taxes if found to be applicable. 

ARTICLE 17 
RIGHTS OF_ENTRY RESERVED 

17.1 The Cities, by their officers, employees, agents, 
representatives and contractors, shall have the right at all 
reasonable times to enter upon the Leased Premises for any and all 
purposes not inconsistent with this Agreement, provided such action 
by the Cities, their officers, employees, agents, representatives 
and contractors does not unreasonably interfere with the Lessee's 
use, occupancy or security requirements of the Leased Premises. 
Except when necessary for reasons of public safety or law 
enforcement, or for the protection of property, as determined by 
Cities, Cities shall provide 72 hours written notice of its intent 
to inspecl. 

17.2 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 
Cities, by their officers, employees, agents, representatives, 
contractors and furnishers of utilities and other services, shall 
have the right, at their own cost and expense, whether for their 
own benefit, or for the benefit of others than the Lessee at the 
Airport, to maintain existing and future Airport mechanical, 
electrical and other utility systems and to enter upon the 
easements in the Leased Premises to make such repairs, replacements 
or alterations thereto, as may, in the opinion of the Cities, be 
deemed necessary or advisable, and ·from time to time to construct 
or install over, in or under existing easements within the Leased 
Premises such systems or parts thereof and in connection with such 
maintenance use the Leased Premises existing easements for access 
to other parts of the Airport otherwise not conveniently 
accessible; provided, however, that in the exercise of such rights 
of access, repair, alteration or new construction, the Cities shall 
not install a utility under or through any building on the Leased 
Premises or unreasonably interfere with the actual use and 
occupancy of the Leased Premises by the Lessee, all such utilities 
to be placed within existing easements, except as provided in 
Article 14, hereof. It is specifically understood and agreed that 
the reservation of the aforesaid right by the Cities shall not 
impose or be construed to impose upon the Cities any obligation to 
repair, replace or alter any utility service lines now or hereafter 

22 
171



located on the Leased Premises for the purpose of providing utility 
services only to the Leased Premises; provided, however, that if 
they repair, replace or alter any utility service lines now or 
hereafter located on the Leased Premises for the purpose of 
providing utility services to others, the Cities will restOre the 
Leased Premises to their preexisting condition in a timely manner. 

Lessee will repair all service lines of utilities providing 
services only to the Leased Premises. 

Cities will repair, replace and maintain all other utility 
lines, at Cities' expense. 

17.3 In the event that any personal property of the Lessee 
shall obstruct the access of the Cities, their officers, employees, 
agents or contractors, or the utility company furnishing utility 
service over, along and across the existing easements to any of the 
existing utility, mechanical, electrical and other systems, and 
thus shall interfere with the inspection, maintenance or repair of 
any such system pursuant to Section 17.2, the Lessee shall move 
such property, as directed by the Cities or said utility company, 
upon reasonable notice by the Cities, in order that access may be 
had to the system or part thereof for inspection, maintenance or 
repair. If the Lessee shall fail to so move such property after 
direction from the Cities or said utility company to do so, the 
Cities or the utility company may move it, and the Lessee hereby 
waives any claim against the Cities for damages as a result 
therefrom, except for claims for damages arising from the Cities' 
negligence. 

ARTICLE 18 
TERMINATION 

18.1 In the event of a default on the part of the Lessee in 
the payment of rents, the Cities shall give written notice to the 
Lessee of such default, and demand the cancellation of this 
Agreement, or the correction thereof. If, within thirty (30) days 
after the date the Cities give such notice, the Lessee has not 
corrected said default and paid the delinquent amount in full, the 
Cities may by written notice to the Lessee terminate this Agreement 
and all rights and privileges granted hereby in and to the Leased 
Premises. 

18.2 This Agreement, together with all rights and privileges 
granted in and to the Leased Premises, shall terminate at the 
option of the Cities with prompt written notice to the Lessee upon 
the happening of any one or more of the following events: 

18.2.1 The filing by the Lessee of a voluntary petition in 
bankruptcy, or any assignment for benefit of creditors of all or 
any part of the Lessee's assets; or 

18.2.2 Any institution of proceedings in bankruptcy against 
the Lessee; provided, however, that the Lessee may defeat such 
termination if the petition is dismissed within one hundred twenty 
(120) days after the institution thereof; or 

23 
172



18.2.3 The filing of a petition requesting a court to take 
jurisdiction of the Lessee or its assets under the provision of any 
Federal reorganization act which, if it is an involuntary petition 
is not dismissed within one hundred twenty (120) days after its 
being filed; or 

18.2.4 The filing of a request for the appointment of a 
receiver or trustee of all, or substantially all, of the Lessee's 
assets by a court of competent jurisdiction, which if the request 
if not made by the Lessee is not rejected within one hundred twenty 
(120) days after being made, or the request for the appointment of 
a receiver or trustee of all, or substantially all, of the Lessee's 
assets by a voluntary agreement with the Lessee's creditors. 

18.3 Upon the default by the Lessee in the performance of any 
covenant or conditions required to be performed by the Lessee, and 
the failure of the Lessee to remedy such default for a period of 
forty-five (45) days after mailing by the Cities of written notice 
to remedy the same, unless more extensive notice is otherwise 
provided for in this agreement, except default in the timely 
payment of any money due the Cities, in which case, within thirty 
(30) days after expiration of notice, the Cities shall have the 
right to cancel this Agreement for such cause by notice to the 
Lessee. 

18.4 Upon the default by Lessee, and the giving of notice of 
the default and cancellation by the Cities as provided for 
elsewhere herein, the notice of cancellation shall become final. 

18.5 Upon the cancellation or termination of this Agreement 
for any reason, all rights of the Lessee, tenants and any other 
person in possession shall terminate, including all rights or 
alleged rights of creditors, trustees, assigns, and all others 
similarly so situated as to the Leased Premises. Upon said 
cancellation or termination of this Agreement for any reason, the 
Leased Premises, except for Lessee's equipment, fixtures and other 
personal property which may be removed from said Leased Premises as 
provided elsewhere herein, shall be free and clear of all 
encumbrances and all claims of the Lessee, its tenants, creditors, 
trustees, assigns and all others and the Cities shall have 
immediate right of possession to the Leased Premises. 

18.6 Failure by the Cities or Lessee to take any authorized 
action upon default by the Lessee of any of the terms, covenants or 
conditions required to be performed, kept and observed by the 
Lessee shall not be construed to be, nor act as, a waiver of said 
default nor of any subsequent default of any of the terms, 
covenants and conditions contained herein to be performed, kept and 
observed by the Lessee. Acceptance of rentals by the Cities from 
the Lessee, or performance by the Cities under the terms hereof, 
for any period or periods after a default by the Lessee of any of 
the terms, covenants and conditions herein required to be 
performed, kept and observed by the Lessee shall not be deemed a 
waiver or estoppel of any right on the part of the Cities to cancel 

24 
173



this Agreement for any subsequent failure by the Lessee to so 
perform, keep or observe any of said terms, covenants or conditions. 

18.7 Except in cases of emergency, in which case no notice shall 
be required, Cities will endeavor to give not less than fourteen (14) 
days' prior written notice to Lessee of any anticipated temporary 
Airport closure. 

18.8 This lease will terminate at the option of Lessee 
(i) upon the permanent closure of the Airport, the term 

"permanent closure" to mean for the purposes of this Agreement, the 
closure of the airport for 90 or more consecutive days; 

(ii) the loss of the ability of Lessee due to no 
significant fault of Lessee to fly in or out of the Airport for 
reasons other than inclement weather, casualty or disaster, for a 
period of 90 consecutive days; and 

(iii) the default by Cities in the performance of any 
covenant or condition required to be performed by the Cities, and the 
failure of the Cities to remedy such default for a period of sixty 
(60) days after receipt from the Lessee of written notice to remedy 
the same, or default in the timely payment of any money due the 
Lessee and failure to cure such default within thirty (30) days after 
notice to the Cities. Notice of exercise of the option to terminate 
by Lessee shall be given in the manner specified in Article 23 
(Notices). 

(iv) within six (6) months of the commencement date of 
this Agreement, a qualified engineer determines that hazardous 
materials exist on the Leased Premises as of the commencement date of 
this Agreement, that the existence of such materials renders the 
Leased Premises unusable for its intended purpose, and the engineer's 
estimated cost to clean up the materials exceeds five thousand 
dollars ($5,000.00). The Lessee shall provide the Cities written 
notice of the determination of such engineer and the Lessee's notice 
to terminate this Agreement within six (6) months of the commencement 
date of this Agreement, or such option to terminate is waived. 

18.9 If the Lessee ceases to conduct its authorized Airport 
activities at the Airport for a period of twelve (12) consecutive 
months, the Cities may terminate this Agreement by written notice to 
the Lessee given at any time while such cessation continues. 

18.10 If the Lessee fails to obtain any required permit or other 
governmental approval for the use of the Leased Premises pursuant to 
Article 3.1 herein, within twelve (12) months of the commencement 
date set forth in Article 1.1 herein, or if Lessee fails to maintain 
any such permits or approvals during the term of this Agreement, this 
Agreement shall automatically terminate. Upon termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to this Article 18.10, no refund shall be due to 
Lessee of payments made by Lessee pursuant to this Agreement. 

25 

174



18.11 Upon termination of this Agreement prior to the 
expiration of the Initial Term or the Extended Term, if any, the 
Cities may, but are not required to, relet the Leased Premises, or 
any part thereof, for the whole or any part of the remainder of 
such Initial Term or Extended Term, or for a longer period of time. 
Any rents received by the Cities as a result of such reletting 
shall remain the property of the Cities and shall not be credited 
to or otherwise become the property of the Lessee. 

ARTICLE 19 
SURRENDER AND RIGHT OF RE-ENTRY 

19.1 Upon the expiration, cancellation or termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to any terms hereof, the Lessee agrees peaceably 
to surrender up the Leased Premises to the Cities in the same 
condition as they are at the time of the commencement of the term 
hereof, and as they may hereafter be repaired and improved by the 
Lessee; save and except 

(al such normal wear and tear thereof as could not have 
been prevented by ordinary and usual repairs and maintenance, 

(bl obsolescence in spite of repair, and 
(c) damage to or destruction of the leasehold 

improvements for which insurance proceeds are received by the 
Cities. 

Upon such cancellation or termination, the Cities may re-enter 
and repossess the Leased Premises together with all Improvements 
and additions thereto, or pursue any remedy permitted by law for 
the enforcement of any of the provisions of this Agreement, at the 
Cities' election. Furthermore, upon such cancellation or 
termination, and for a reasonable time thereafter, not exceeding 
sixty (60) days after such cancellation or termination, and for 
which period the Lessee will pay to the cities current lease 
rental, or during the term of this Agreement, if the Lessee is not 
in default in rentals or any other charges or financial obligations 
due the Cities, the Lessee shall have the right to remove its 
personal property, fixtures and trade equipment which it may have 
on the Leased Premises, provided that the Lessee repairs all 
damages that might be occasioned to the remaining Leased Premises 
by such removal, and restore the remaining Leased Premises to the 
condition above required. 

ARTICLE 20 
SERVICES TO LESSEE 

20.1 The Cities covenant and agree that during the term of 
this Agreement it will operate the Airport as such for the use and 
benefit of the public; provided, however, that the Cities may 
prohibit or limit any given type, kind or class of aeronautical use 
of the Airport if such action is necessary for the safe operation 
of the Airport or necessary to serve the civil aviation needs of 
the public. The Cities further agree to use their best efforts to 

26 
175



maintain the runways and taxiways in good repair, including the 
removal of snow. The Cities agree to keep in good repair hard
surfaced public roads for access to the Leased Premises and remove 
snow therefrom. Said obligations of the Cities relevant to the 
maintenance and snow removal of and from public roads and taxi-ways 
shall extend to the point wherein such roads, streets and taxi-ways 
reach the property line of the Leased Premises. 

ARTICLE 21 
SURVIVAL OF THE.._OBLIGATIONS OF THE LESSEE 

21.1 In the event that the Agreement shall have been 
terminated due to default by Lessee in accordance with notice of 
termination as provided in Article 18 hereof, all of the 
obligations of the Lessee under this Agreement shall survive such 
termination, re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession and 
shall remain in full force and effect for the full term of this 
Agreement, and the amount or amounts of damages or deficiency shall 
become due and payable to the Cities to the same extent, at the 
same time or times, and in the same manner as if no termination, 
re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession had taken place. 
The Cities may maintain separate actions each month to recover the 
damage or deficiency then due or at its option and at any time may 
sue to recover the full deficiency less the proper discount, for 
the entire unexpired term of this Agreement. 

21.2 The amount of damages for the period of time subsequent 
to termination (or re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession) 
on account of the Lessee's rental obligations, shall be the sum of 
the following: 

21. 2 .1 The amount of the total of all installments of 
rents, less the installments thereof payable prior to the effective 
date of termination; and 

21. 2. 2 An amount equal to all expenses incurred by the 
Cities and not reimbursed in connection with regaining possession, 
restoring the Leased Premises required by paragraph 19.1 above, 
acquiring a new lease for the Leased Premises, legal expenses 
(including, but not limited to, attorneys fees) and putting the 
Leased Premises in order. 

21. 3 There shal 1 be credited to the account of the Lessee 
against its survived obligations hereunder, the amount actually 
received from any lessee, licensee, permittee, or other occupier in 
connection with the use of the said Leased Premises or portion 
thereof during the balance of the term of use and occupancy as the 
same is originally stated in this Agreement and the market value of 
the occupancy of such portion of the Leased Premises as the Cities 
may themselves during such period actually use and occupy. No such 
use and occupancy shall be, or be construed to be, an acceptance of 
a surrender of the Leased Premises, nor shall such use and 
occupancy constitute a waiver of any rights of the Cities 

27 
176



hereunder. The Cities will use their best efforts to minimize 
damages to Lessee under this Article. 

ARTICLE 22 
USE SUBSEQUENT TO CANCELLATION OR TERMINATION 

22.1 The Cities shall, upon termination or cancellation, or 
upon re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession, have the 
right to repair and to make structural or other changes in the 
Leased Premises, including changes which alter its character and 
the suitability thereof for the purposes of the Lessee under this 
Agreement, without affecting, altering or diminishing the 
obligations of the Lessee hereunder, provided that any structural 
changes shall not be at Lessee's expense. 

ARTICLE 23 
NOTICES 

23.1 All notices, consents and approvals required or desired 
to be given by the parties hereto shall be sent in writing, and 
shall be deemed given when received at the recipient's notice 
address except that notice that must be given by a certain time to 
be effective and is sent certified mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested, addressed to the recipient's address shall be 
deemed given when posted. Notice that starts the running of a time 
period and is delivered on a non-business day shall be deemed 
delivered on the next business day, if left at the notice address, 
or the next business day on which it is redelivered if it is not 
left at the notice address. 

23.2 The notice addresses of the parties are as follows: 

To the Cities: 

To the Lessee: 

Airport Manager 
Loveland-Fort Collins Airport 
4900 Earhart Drive 
Loveland, CO 80538 

and 

City Manager 
City of Loveland 
500 E. Third St. 
Loveland, CO 80537 

and 

City Manager 
City of Fort Collins 
300 LaPorte Ave. 
Fort Collins, CO 80521 

James Grubbs 
2014 North Taft Ave. 
Loveland, Co. 80538 

28 
177



Such addresses shall be subject to change from time to 
time to such other addresses as may have been specified in written 
notice given by the intended recipient to the sender. 

ARTICLE 24 
INVALID PROVISIONS 

24.1 The invalidity of any provisions, articles, paragraphs, 
portions or clauses of this Agreement shall have no effect upon the 
validity of any other part or portion hereof, so long as the 
remainder shall constitute an enforceable agreement. Furthermore, 
in lieu of such invalid provisions, articles, paragraphs, portions 
or clauses, there shall be added automatically as a part of this 
Agreement, a provision as similar in terms to such invalid 
provision as may be possible and be legal, valid and enforceable. 

ARTICLE 25 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISI.ONS 

25.1 ~emedi es to_.bB Non-exclusive.. All remedies provided in 
this Agreement shall be deemed cumulative and additional and not in 
lieu of, or exclusive of, each other, or of any other remedy 
available to the Cities, or the Lessee, at law or in equity, and 
the exercise of any remedy, or the existence herein of other 
remedies or indemnities shall not prevent the exercise of any other 
remedy provided that the Cities' remedies in the event of default 
shall not exceed those set forth in this Agreement. 

25.2 Non-Naiver of Right.s.. The failure by either party to 
exercise any right, or rights accruing to it by virtue of the 
breach of any covenant, condition or agreement herein by the other 
party shall not operate as a waiver of the exercise of such right 
or rights in the event of any subsequent breach by such other 
party, nor shall such other party be relieved thereby from its 
obligations under the terms hereof. 

25.3 Non-liability of Individuals. No director, officer, 
agent or employee of the Cities shall be charged personally or held 
contractually liable by or to the other party under any term or 
provision of this Agreement or of any supplement, modification or 
amendment to this Agreement because of any breach thereof, or 
because of his or their execution or attempted execution of the 
same. 

25.4 Ea~oppel CertificatB.. At the request of the Lessee in 
connection with an assignment of its interest in this Agreement, 
the Cities shall execute and deliver a written statement 
identifying it as the Lessor under this Agreement and certifying: 

(i) the documents that then comprise this Agreement, 
(ii) that this Agreement is in full force and effect, 
(iii) the then current annual amount of rent and the date 

through which it has been paid, 
(iv) the expiration date of this Agreement, 

29 
178



(v) that no amounts are then owed by the Lessee to the 
Cities (or, if amounts are owed, specifying the same) 

(vi) to the knowledge of the Cities, there are not 
defaults by the Lessee under this Agreement or any facts which but 
for the passage of time, the giving of notice or both would 
constitute such a default, and 

(vii) remaining rights to renew the term of this 
lease to the extent not theretofore exercised. 

The party acquiring the Lessee's interest in the 
Agreement shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon such written 
statement. 

25. 5 Short Form of I,eas.e.. This Agreement shall not be 
recorded, but at the request of either party, the other shall 
execute a memorandum or short form of lease for recording. 

25.6 General ProvisLons. 
25.6.1 This Agreement shall be performable and enforceable 

in Larimer County, Colorado, and shall be construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Colorado. 

25.6.2 This Agreement is made for the sole and exclusive 
benefit of the Cities and the Lessee, their successors and assigns, 
and is not made for the benefit of any third party. 

25.6.3 In the event of any ambiguity in any of the terms of 
this Agreement, it shall not be construed for or against any party 
hereto on the basis that such party did or did not author the same. 

25.6.4 All covenants, stipulations and agreements in this 
Agreement shall extend to and bind each party hereto, its legal 
representatives, successors and assigns. 

25.6.5 The titles of the several articles of this Agreement 
are inserted herein for convenience only, and are not intended and 
shall not be construed to affect in any manner the terms and 
provisions hereof, or the interpretation or construction thereof. 

25.6.6 Nothing herein contained shall create, or be 
construed to create, a co-partnership between the Cities and the 
Lessee or to constitute the Lessee an agent of the Cities or vice 
versa. The Cities and the Lessee each expressly disclaim the 
existence of such a relationship between them. 

ARTICLE 26 
SUBORDINATION CLAUSES 

26.1 This Agreement is subject and subordinate to the 
following: 

26.1.1 The Cities reserve the right to develop and improve 
the Airport as they see fit, regardless of the desires or view of 
the Lessee, and without interference or hindrance by or on behalf 
of the Lessee, provided the Lessee is not deprived of the use or 
access to the Leased Premises or any of Lessee's rights under this 
Agreement and unless said activities by the Cities shall result in 
the loss of convenient access to the Leased Premises by motor 

30 
179



vehicles and/or aircraft owned or operated by Lessee or Lessee's 
assigns, subtenants, renters, agents, employees or invitees. In 
the event the said access shall terminate or the quality of said 
access shall be impaired as aforesaid, and in the event of failure 
to relocate the Lessee to a different leased premises at least as 
acceptable to Lessee as the Leased Premises at no resulting cost or 
expense to Lessee, Lessee shall have the right and option to 
terminate this Lease upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to 
Cities according to Article 23. 

26.1.2 The Cities reserve the right to take any action they 
consider necessary to protect the aerial approaches to the Airport 
against obstruction, together with the right to prevent Lessee from 
erecting or permitting to be erected any building or other 
structure on the Airport which would limit the usefulness of the 
Airport or constitute a hazard to aircraft. 

26.1.3 This Agreement is and shall be subordinate to the 
provision of existing and future agreements between the Cities and 
the United States relative to the operation or maintenance of the 
Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as a 
condition precedent to the obtaining or expenditure of federal 
funds for the benefit of the Airport. 

26.1.4 During the time of war or national emergency, the 
Cities shall have the right to lease all or any part of the landing 
area or of the airport to the United States for military use, and 
if any such lease is executed, the provisions of this Agreement 
insofar as they may be inconsistent with the provisions of such 
lease to the government, shall be suspended, but such suspension 
shall not extend the term of this Agreement. Abatement of rentals 
shall be reasonably determined by the Cities and Lessee in 
proportion to the degree of interference with the Lessee's use of 
the Leased Premises. 

26.1.5 Except to the extent required for the performance of 
any obligations of the Lessee hereunder, nothing contained in this 
Agreement shall grant to the Lessee any rights whatsoever in the 
airspace above the Leased Premises other than those reasonably 
necessary to Lessee's enjoyment of the Leased Premises and Cities' 
airport facilities and which are consistent with Federal Aviation 
Administration rules, regulations and orders currently or 
subsequently effective. Further, Lessee's rights in airspace above 
the Leased Premises and the airport and the airport facilities 
shall be not less than the rights therein by other users of the 
airport and airport facilities. 

ARTICLE 27 
Quiet Enjoyment 

27 .1 Cities hereby covenant and warrant that they are the 
owners of the Leased Premises and that Lessee upon payment of 
rentals herein provided for and performance of provisions on its 
part to be performed shall and may peacefully possess and enjoy the 

31 
180



Leased Premises during the term hereof and any extensions hereof 
without any interruption or disturbance. 

27.2 Cites will not impose limitations or otherwise exercise 
the governmental powers, rights and privileges in a manner of 
greater detriment or burden to Lessee than would have occurred had 
governmental entities not been the landlord. The performance of 
the terms and conditions of this agreement shall be performed on an 
"arms-length" basis with Lessee as though governmental entities 
were not landlords. In the event the Lessee pursues a legal action 
in court or otherwise alleging a breach of this subsection, and 
such allegations are not established in such proceeding, Cities 
shall be granted damages and all costs and legal expenses incurred 
by the Cities in the premises. 

ARTICLE 28 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

28.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the 
parties hereto and may not be changed, modified, discharged or 
extended except by written instrument duly executed by the Cities 
and the Lessee. The parties agree that no representations or 
warranties shall be binding upon the Cities or the Lessee unless 
expressed in writing. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 
Agreement on the day and year first above written. 

CITY OF LOVELAND, COLORADO 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Assistant City Attorney 

32 
181



CITY OF FORT COLLINS, COLORADO 

Mayor 
ATTEST: 

City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

City Attorney 

James Grubb, LESSEE 

33 
182



ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSD WVD

PRODUCER CONTACT
NAME:

FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER A :

INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

POLICY NUMBER POLICY EFF POLICY EXPTYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTEDCLAIMS-MADE OCCUR $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $
PRO-POLICY LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGGJECT 

OTHER: $
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

$(Ea accident)
ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) $
OWNED SCHEDULED

BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS ONLY AUTOS
HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE

$AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per accident)

$

OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE
CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

DED RETENTION $
PER OTH-
STATUTE ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMITDESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

Y / N
N / A

(Mandatory in NH)

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE    EXPIRATION    DATE    THEREOF,    NOTICE   WILL   BE   DELIVERED   IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  THAT  THE  POLICIES  OF  INSURANCE  LISTED  BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.    NOTWITHSTANDING  ANY  REQUIREMENT,  TERM  OR  CONDITION  OF  ANY  CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE  MAY  BE  ISSUED  OR  MAY  PERTAIN,  THE  INSURANCE  AFFORDED  BY  THE  POLICIES  DESCRIBED  HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  ISSUED  AS  A  MATTER  OF  INFORMATION  ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE  DOES  NOT  AFFIRMATIVELY  OR  NEGATIVELY  AMEND,  EXTEND  OR  ALTER  THE  COVERAGE  AFFORDED  BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.    THIS  CERTIFICATE  OF  INSURANCE  DOES  NOT  CONSTITUTE  A  CONTRACT  BETWEEN  THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT:    If  the  certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If  SUBROGATION  IS  WAIVED,  subject  to  the  terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.ACORD 25 (2016/03)

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

$

$

$

$

$

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

4/26/2024

(817) 293-3530

22667

James B Grubbs
USAA#32834938
2014 North Taft Avenue
Loveland, CO 80538-3117

A 1,000,000

X SVRD42212453-005 3/1/2024 3/1/2025 Excluded
Excluded
Excluded
1,000,000
Excluded

Hangar Location 5227 Stearman Road  Loveland CO 80538-8901

The CIty of Loveland and The City of Fort Collins
4900 Earhart Road
Loveland, CO 80538

GRUBBSJA03 AKINGMAN

Wholesure Aviation, LLC
310 S. Oak St.
Suite 212
Roanoke, TX 76262

ACE American Insurance Company

X
X

X

183



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER: 7 

MEETING DATE: May 16, 2024 

PREPARED BY: Kate Morgan, Airport Executive Assistant 

TITLE 
Lease Option Extension Request, 5295 Beechcraft 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
Approve the lease extension request. 

BUDGET IMPACT 
None, the lease rates will remain unchanged 

SUMMARY 
This is an administrative item. This land lease term is an initial twenty-year lease with 
four five-year extension options for a total of forty years. The initial lease period will end 
on July 29, 2024. The lessee has notified Airport staff (as required by the lease 
agreement) of their desire to extend the land lease agreement for their first five-year 
extension period. This extension request requires the approval of the Airport 
Commission as authorized by the Intergovernmental Agreement between the Cities of 
Fort Collins and Loveland. Staff have reviewed the request and found the associated 
account to be in good standing. 

ATTACHMENT 
Lease Option Request: Robert Eggleston, 5295 Beechcraft 

184



185



LEASE AGREEMENT 

CITIES OF LOVELAND AND FORT COLLINS, 

COLORADO, 

AND 

Robert and Linda Eggleston 

. DATED 
July 30, 2004 

186



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE 1, Term ............................ 1 

ARTICLE 2, Leased Premises ................. 2 

ARTICLE 3, Use of Leased Premises .......... 2 

ARTICLE 4, Rent ............................ 2 

ARTICLE 5, Acceptance, Care, Maintenance, 
Improvements and Repair ......... 4 

ARTICLE 6, Additional Obligations of Lessee 7 

ARTICLE 7, Ingress and Egress .............. 8 

ARTICLE 8, Insurance, Damage or 
Destruction ..................... 9 

ARTICLE 9, Liabilities and Indemnities .... 11 

ARTICLE 10, Leasehold Mortgage ............. 12 

ARTICLE 11, Rules and Regulations .......... 17 

ARTICLE 12, Signs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 7 

ARTICLE 13, Assignment and Sublease ........ 18 

ARTICLE 14, Condemnation ................... 18 

ARTICLE 15, Non-Discrimination ............. 19 

ARTICLE 16, Governmental Requirements ...... 21 

ARTICLE 17, Rights of Entry Reserved ....... 21 

ARTICLE 18, Termination .................... 22 

ARTICLE 19, Surrender and Right of 
Re-Entry ....................... 25 

ARTICLE 20, Services to Lessee ............. 25 

ARTICLE 21, Survival of the Obligations 
of the Lessee .................. 2 6 

ARTICLE 22, Use Subsequent to Cancellation 
or Termination ................. 26 

ARTICLE 23, Notices ........................ 27 

ARTICLE 24, Invalid Provisions ........•.... 27 

ARTICLE 25, Miscellaneous Provisions ....... 28 

ARTICLE 26, Subordination Clauses .......... 29 

ARTICLE 27, Quiet Enjoyment ................ 30 

ARTICLE 28, Entire Agreement ............... 31 

187



ARTICLE 29, Cities' Option to Purchase 
and Interest in Improvements 31 

ARTICLE 30, Right of First Refusal ......... 32 

EXHIBIT A, Description of Leased Premises 
EXHIBIT B, Airport Rules and Regulations 

188



AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 30th day of 
July, 2004, by and between the CI";L'Y OF LOVELAND, COLORADO, a 
municipal corporation and the CITY OF FORT COLLINS, COLORADO, a 
municipal corporation, hereinafter called "Ci ties," and Robert 
and Linda Eggleston, hereinafter called "Lessee." 

WITNESSETH: 
WHEREAS, the Cities own and operate an airport known as the 

Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport located in Larimer 
County, Colorado, hereinafter called the "Airport"; and 

WHEREAS, the Cities and the Lessee are mutually desirous of 
entering into a Lease Agreement (hereinafter, the "Agreement") 
for the use and occupancy of certain areas at the Airport; and 

WHEREAS, the Cities desire to accommodate, promote and 
enhance general aviation at the Airport and the Lessee desires to 
be assured of the Airport's continued availability as a base for 
aircraft. 

WHEREAS, The Cities and the Lessee have reached an 
understanding in principle, which envisions the Lessee's 
construction of a hangar building, without cost to the Cities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the 
rents, covenants and conditions herein contained, the Cities do 
hereby lease to the Lessee the area(s) of the Airport described 
in Article 2 hereof, hereinafter referred to as the "Leased 
Premises," during the term hereof pursuant to the conditions 
hereinafter set forth. 

ARTICLE 1 
TERM 

1.1 The term of this Agreement shall commence at 12:01 a.m. 
on July 30,2004, and expire at 11:59 p.m. on July 29, 2024, 
hereinafter the "Initial Term," unless sooner terminated in 
accordance with the provisions hereof. 

1.2 Subject to the conditions set forth herein, and if the 
Ci ties do not timely exercise their right to purchase under 
Article 29 below, Lessee shall have the option to extend the term 
of this Agreement for four additional periods of five (5) years 
each, hereinafter the "Extended Term(s)," provided Lessee is not 
in default in the payment of any rent or in default in any other 
provisions of this Agreement at the time of its exercise of such 
option. In the event Lessee exercises an option, it shall do so 
not later than three (3) months prior to the expiration of the 
Initial Term or the then current Extended Term. The terms and 
conditions applicable during the Initial Term of this Agreement 
shall remain applicable during the Extended Terms. The rent 
escalation shall continue throughout the Initial Term and 
Extended Terms as provided in Article 4 hereof. 

189



ARTICLE 2 
LEASED PREMISES 

2.1 The Leased Premises consist of the parcel of land 
described in Exhibit ''A", attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

ARTICLE 3 
USE OF LEASED PREMISES 

3.1 The Lessee shall use and occupy the Leased Premises for 
the following purposes and for no other purpose whatsoever unless 
approved in writing by Cities: 

3 .1.1 For the construction, installation, maintenance and 
operation of a hangar building (the "Hangarn)to be used for the 
parking, storage, servicing, repair, maintenance, modification, 
and construction of aircraft owned or operated by the Lessee, its 
subsidiaries or subtenants, providing such uses are of a non
commercial nature, and providing such uses are consistent with 
the City of Loveland, Colorado, building, use and zoning 
regulations and requirements applicable to the Leased Premises. 
Lessee warrants that all such aircraft based at the Leased 
Premises shall comply with noise standards established under Part 
36 of Title 14 of the Code of Federal Regulations, ("FAR 36") as 
amended from time to time. 

3 .1. 2 The Ci ties make no representations, guarantees, or 
warranties that the Leased Premises may be lawfully used for the 
purposes set forth in this Article 3. 1. Lessee shall have the 
sole responsibility of obtaining all applicable permits or other 
governmental approvals necessary to nse the Leased Premises as 
intended herein. This Agreement is expressly conditioned upon 
the Lessee obtaining all such permits and approvals, and the 
failure of Lessee to obtain any such permits or approvals within 
twelve months of the commencement date .set forth in Article 1.1 
herein, or the failure of Lessee to maintain any such permits or 
approvals during the term of this Agreement shall result in an 
automatic termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article 18.10 
herein. 

3 .1. 3 During 
regularly house at 
use the Hangar for 

the term of this Agreement, Lessee must 
least one airworthy aircraft in the Hangar and 
the primary purpose of aircraft storage. 

ARTICLE 4 
RENT 

4 .1 The Lessee. agrees to pay to the Ci ties during the term 
hereof an annual rent of $.30 per square foot for the 2880 square 
feet of . the Leased Premises, for a total of ($864. 00) per year, 
subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 4.2 below. 

4. 2 Commencing on May 1st next occurring after the date of 
this Agreement, and on May 1st in each year thereafter during 
the remainder of the Initial Term and the Extended Term, if any, 
the annual rent shall be adjusted by multiplying the annual rent 
payable in the next preceding year by a fraction, the numerator 
of which shall be the C.P.I., as hereinafter defined, published 
for the previous month of December and the denominator of which 
shall be the C. P. I. published for .the month of December wh.ich 

2 
190



preceded the month used as the numerator. In no event shall the 
annual rent be reduced. If this Agreement is executed after 
January 1st, such C.P.I. increase for the calendar year in which 
this Agreement is executed shall be prorated. 

4.2.1 The term ''C.P.I.'' as used herein shall mean the 
Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers, all items, Selected 
Large Cities, for the Denver/Boulder Area ·as published by the 
Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United States Department of 
Labor, 1982-84 base 100. In the event the base year is 
changed, the C.P.I. shall be converted to the equivalent of the 
base year 1982-84 100. In the event the Bureau of Labor 
Statistics ceases to use the C.P.I., or this index, an equivalent 
or comparable economic index will be used. 

4.3 The annual rent payable hereunder shall be paid in equal 
monthly installments on the first day of each month in advance at 
the office of the Airport Manager or at such other office as may 
be directed in writing by the Cities. 

4. 4 The Lessee, as additional rent, shall pay to Ci ties a 
fuel flowage fee for all fuel delivered into aircraft of Lessee 
and its subtenants at the Airport, other than fuel sold by an 
existing FBO or other approved vendor who pays a fuel flowage fee 
to the Cities. The amount of such fee shall be the highest rate 
paid by any FBO or other approved vendor, as set by the Cities 
from time to time, including any percentage paid as a percentage 
of gross revenues, plus three percentage points, or ten percent 
(10%) of the wholesale cost of the fuel delivered to the Airport, 
whichever is greater. Such fee shall be paid with the monthly 
rent for the prior month's fueling. r'or example, if the 
wholesale cost of the fuel delivered to Lessee and/or its 
subtenants at the Airport is $1.00 per gallon, the amount of such 
fee, based on the wholesale cost, would be an additional .10 per 
gallon. If the highest rate paid by any FBO is $0. 0 6 per 
gallon, Lessee would pay an additional .03 per gallon for a total 
cost of $0.09 per gallon. In this example, the fuel fee paid to 
the Cities by the Lessee would be the greater of the two: $0.10 
per gallon. 

4.5 The Lessee, as an additional rent, shall pay to Cities 
one percent ( 1%) of the gross revenues derived from any sub
lessee on the Leased Premises. Such fee shall be paid with the 
monthly rent for the prior month's revenues. Said additional 
rent shall not be subject to escalation as otherwise specified in 
paragraph 4.2. 

4. 6 The Lessee, as additional rent, shall construct the 
Hangar on the Leased Premises, in accordance with plans and 
specifications approved by the Cities. The Hangar shall be at 
least 2500 square feet in size and shall have a concrete or 
asphalt floor, and at least one aircraft access door sized to 
accommodate an average private aircraft. Lessee shall use its 
best efforts and all due diligence to complete construction of 
the Hangar within eighteen (18) months of the Cities' approval 
thereof or within two years . from the date of this Agreement. 
Failure of the Lessee to construct the Hangar in accordance with 
the provisions of this section shall be deemed a default under 

3 

191



this Agreement except if the failure to construct is caused by 
force majeure or action of the Cities. 

4.7 The Lessee, as additional rent, shall construct and 
maintain a paved aircraft ramp area extending out from the Hangar 
to the taxiway (the "Ramp."). The Ramp shall be constructed 
pursuant to specifications established by the Cities and shall be 
built so as to connect onto any adjacent taxiway in order that a 
continuous and safe pavement section results. It is the 
responsibility of the Lessee to maintain the entire Ramp area for 
the Hangar in a manner, which is safe and clean of debris so as 
not to cause danger or unsafe conditions for taxiing aircraft and 
airport users. The Lessee shall be responsible for snow removal 
on the Ramp areas. Lessee grants to users of the Airport the 
right to use these aircraft Ramp areas from time to time for 
passage of aircraft on the adjacent taxiway moving through this 
area of the Airport. The construction time and default 
provisions of subsection 4. 6 shall be applicable to the Ramp 
described in this subs.ection. 

4. 8 Subject to the provisions of Article 10 below, Lessee 
shall keep the Leased Premises, and the Hangar, Ramp and any and 
all structures constructed by Lessee on the Leased Premises 
(collectively, the "Improvements" hereinafter), free and clear of 
any liens and encumbrances, unless expressly approved in writing 
by the Cities, and shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the 
Ci ties from any liens and encumbrances arising out of any work 
performed or materials furnished by or at the direction of 
Lessee. In the event any lien is filed, Lessee shall do all acts 
necessary to discharge any lien within ten (10) days of filing, 
or if Lessee desires to contest any lien, then Lessee shall 
deposit with the Cities such security as the Cities shall demand 
to insure the payment of the lien claim. In the event Lessee 
shall fail to pay any lien claim when· due or shall fail . to 
deposit the security with the Cities, then the Cities shall have 
the right to expend all sums necessary to discharge the lien 
claim, and Lessee shall pay the Ci ties, as additional rent.al 
when the next rental payment is due, all sums expended by the 
Cities in discharging any lien, including reasonable attorney's 
fees and costs, and interest at twelve percent (12%) on the sums 
expended by the Cities from the date of expenditure to the date 
of payment by the Lessee. 

ARTICLE 5 
ACCEPTANCE, CARE, MAINTENANCE, IMPROVEMENTS AND REPAIR 
5.1 In reliance upon the representations of the Cities set 

forth in this Section 5.1, Lessee warrants it has inspected the 
Leased Premises and accepts possession of the Leased Premises "as 
is" in its present condition, and, subject to all limitations 
imposed upon the use thereof by the rules and regulations of the 
Federal Aviation Administration, the rules and regulations of the 
Fort Collins-Loveland Municipal Airport, as set forth in Exhibit 
B attached hereto, and by ordinances of the Ci ties, admits its 
suitableness and sufficiency for the uses permitted hereunder. 

4 
192



The Cities represent to the Lessee that, to their knowledge, the 
Leased Premises are free of any adverse environmental conditions 
and no part of the Leased Premises lie in a flood hazard area or 
constitutes a fresh water wetland, nor is any part of the Leased 
Premises within 100 feet of a fresh water wetland. Except as 
may otherwise be provided for herein, the Ci ties shall not be 
required to maintain nor to make any improvements, repairs or 
restoration upon or to the Leased Premises or to any of the 
improvements presently located thereon or placed thereon by 
Lessee. 

5.1.1 If, within six (6) months of .the commencement date set 
forth in Article 1 herein, a qualified engineer determines that 
hazardous material exists on or under the Leased Premises, and 
such hazardous material existed at the commencement date, and 
such material renders the site unusable for its intended purpose, 
and the engineer's estimate of the cost to clean up such 
hazardous material exceeds five thousand dollars ($5,000.00), the 
Lessee may terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 18.8.4. 

5.1.2 Alternatively, the Cities may offer to Lessee an 
alternate comparable site for the facilities, if one is 
available. 

5. 1. 3 In the event the Ci ties elect to not perform the 
necessary clean-up efforts described in Section 5.1.1 above, or 
if an alternative site is not agreeable to Lessee under Section 
5.1.2 above, then this Agreement shall be terminable upon written 
notice by either party to the other. In the event of such 
termination, Cities will compensate Lessee forthwith for all 
third party costs actually incurred by Lessee in constructing the 
Hangar and/or Ramp on the Leased Premises. If termination 
pursuant to this Section 5.1.3 occurs prior to the construction 
of the Hangar and/or Ramp, then the Cities shall refund those 
rental payments made by Lessee to the date of said termination. 

5.1.4 The Lessee's obligation to construct the initial 
Improvements undet this Agreement is contingent upon Lessee's 
ability to obtain all necessary permits and approvals for the 
initial improvements to be used for the purposes authorized in 
Article 3, provided that Lessee pursues the obtaining of said 
permits and approvals with all due diligence. In the event 
Lessee is unsuccessful in acquiring said permits and approvals 
for all authorized initial Improvements, then and in that event, 
this Lease shall terminate pursuant to Article 18.10. 

5.2 The Lessee shall, throughout the term of this Agreement, 
assume the entire responsibility, cost and expense, for all 
repair and maintenance whatsoever on the Leased Premises and all 
Improvements thereon in a good workmanlike manner, whether such 
repair or maintenance be ordinary or extraordinary, structural or 
otherwise. Additionally, the Lessee, without limiting the 
generality hereof, shall: 

5.2.1 Keep at all times, in a clean and orderly condition 
and appearance, the Leased Premises, all Improvements thereon and 
all of the Lessee's fixtures, equipment and personal property 
which are located on any part of the Leased Premises. Lessee 
shall not park or leave, or allow to be parked or left, aircraft 

5 
193



on the taxiways, ramps or pavement adjacent to the Hangar in a 
manner, which unduly interferes with or obstructs access to other 
hangars. 

5.2.2 Provide and 
obstruction lights and 
required by law. 

maintain 
similar 

on the 
devices, 

Leased Premises all 
and safety equipment 

5.2.3 Take measures to prevent erosion, including but not 
limited to, the planting and replanting of grasses with respect 
to all portions of the Leased Premises not paved or built upon, 
and in particular shall plant, maintain and replant any 
landscaped areas. 

5.2.4 Be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all 
utility services lines placed on the Leased premises and used by 
the Lessee exclusively, including, but not limited to, water 
lines, gas lines, electrical power and telephone conduits and 
lines, sanitary sewers and storm sewers. 

5. 2. 5 In the event Lessee discovers any hazardous mate.rial 
on the Leased Premises, it will promptly notify the Ci ties in 
writing. Lessee acknowledges that a discharge or spill of a 
hazardous substance caused by its employees, agents, licensee, 
invitees, or guests shall be the responsibility of the Lessee. 
The Cities acknowledge that a discharge or spill of a hazardous 
substance caused by its employees, agents, licensees, invitees, 
or guests shall be the responsibility of the Cities. 

5.2.6 If extraordinary repairs or maintenance to the 
.Improvements are required during the last five years of the 
Initial Term or any Extended Term of this Agreement, the Lessee 
may elect not to repair and/or maintain the Improvements, by 
giving the Cities written notice of its election. Is such case, 
Cities shall have the option of requiring Lessee to either (a) 
clear the site, remove all debris and paving, stub up all 
utilities, and restore the site to its original cleared condition 
prior to commencement of construction; or (b) transfer title to 
the Improvements to the Cities, as is. Upon Lessee's election and 
compliance with this section, the Cities shall terminate this 
Agreement and relieve Lessee of all future rental obligations 
hereunder. 

5. 3 Plans and specifications for each of the Improvements 
and all repairs ( other than emergency repairs) , construction, 
alterations, modifications, additions or replacements to the 
Improvements, shall be submitted to the Cities for approval, 
which approval shall not be denied providing the plans and 
specifications comply with the provisions of this Agreement, as 
well as all applicable building, use and zoning regulations. 
Submittal of the above described Plans and Specifications shall 
also include a site plan, drainage plan, and building plan for 
the initial project development. The site plan shall show the 
location of all Improvements on the Leased Premises, including 
the Hangar, pavements, utilities and location of the Hangar on 
the site. The drainage plan must show how drainage will be 
handled and be approved by the City of Loveland and the Airport 
Manager ·prior to a building permit being issued. Lessee shall 
reimburse the Cities for all costs incurred for providing a legal 

6 
194



survey and legal description of the Leased Premises and for a 
proportional share of any costs to bring road access and 
utilities to the Leased Premises. Prior to the commencement of 
any construction of the Improvements the Lessee shall have the 
Leased Premises staked by a certified surveying company to ensure 
all Improvements are place accurately on the Leased Premises. 
Within 30 days of the certificate of occupancy being received the 
Lessee shall submit to the Airport Manager a full set of as-built 
plans of the Improvements that depicts exact locations of all 
Improvements made on the Leased Premises. 

ARTICLE 6 
ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS OF LESSEE 

6.1 The Lessee shall conduct its operations hereunder and 
cause subtenants to conduct their operations hereunder in an. 
orderly and proper manner, considering the nature of such 
operations, so as not to unreasonably annoy, disturb, endanger or 
be offensive to others. 

6.2 Further, the Lessee shall take all reasonable measures: 
6.2.1 To reduce to a practicable minimum vibrations tending 

to damage any equipment, structure, buildings or portions of 
buildings. 

6.2.2 Not to produce or allow to be produced on the Airport 
through the operation of machinery or equipment any electrical, 
electronic or other disturbances that interfere with the 
operation by the Cities or the Federal Aviation Administration of 
air navigational, communication or flight equipment on the 
Airport or on aircraft using the Airport, or with ground 
transportation communications. 

6.3 The Lessee shall comply and require subtenants to comply 
with all federal, state and municipal laws, ordinances, rules, 
regulations and .requirements, Airport minimum standards, Airport 
security rules and regulations, Airport access rules and 
regulations, as t.hey now exist or may hereafter be amended or 
promulgated, and the terms of this Agreement, applicable to the 
Leased Premises and the Improvements thereon and its operations 
at the Airport hereunder. 

6.4 The Lessee shall commit 
the Leased Premises, and shall 
anything that may result in 
maintenance of such nuisance, 
Premises. 

no nuisance, waste or injury on 
not do, or permit to be done, 
the creation, commission or 

waste or injury on the Leased 

6.5 The Lessee shall not do, nor permit to be done, anything 
which may interfere with the effectiveness or accessibility of 
the drainage system, sewerage system, fire protection system, 
sprinkler system, alarm system and fire hydrants and hoses, if 
any, installed or located on the Leased Premises. 

6. 6 The Lessee shall take measures to insure security in 
compliance with Federal Aviation Administration Regulations and 
the Airport Security Plan, as they now exist or may hereafter be 
amended or promulgated. 

7 
195



be done, any act 
with any fire 
to the Leased 
premises at the 

6.7 The Lessee shall not do, nor permit to 
or thing which will invalidate or conflict 
insurance policies or regulations applicable 
Premises or any part thereof; or other contiguous 
Airport. 

6.8 The Lessee shall not install, maintain, operate or 
permit the installation, maintenance or operation of any 
restaurant, kitchen, stand or other establishment of any type for 
the sale of food or of any vending machines or device designed to 
dispense or sell merchandise or services of any kind to the 
general public, unless all required development approvals and 
permits for that activity are obtained from the Cities. 

6.9 Except for uses permitted under Article 3 hereof to be 
performed by the Lessee, the Lessee shall not provide or allow to 
be provided aircraft maintenance work, flight instruction of any 
sort, air taxi, aircraft charter or aircraft leasing of any sort 
on the Leased Premises, for commercial purposes, without all 
required development approvals and permits from the Cities. 

6.10 The Lessee will conduct its operations in such a manner 
and require subtenants to conduct their operations in such a 
manner as to keep the noise produced by aircraft engines and 
component parts thereof, and any other noise, to a minimum, by 
such methods as are practicable, considering the extent and type 
of the operations of the Lessee and/or its subtenants, and the 
limitations of federal law. In addition, the Lessee and its 
subtenants will employ the maximum amount of noise arresting and 
noise reducing devices that are available and economically 
practicable, considering the extent of the operations of the 
Lessee, but in no event less than those devices required by 
federal, state or local law. In its use of the Leased Premises, 
the Lessee _and its subtenants shall take all possible care, 
exercise caution and use its best efforts to minimize prop or jet 
blast interference and prevent jet blast damage to aircraft 
operating on taxiways and to .buildings, structures and roadways, 
now located on or which in the future may be located on areas 
adjacent to the Leased Premises. In the event the Cities 
determine that the Lessee or any of its subtenants has not curbed 
the prop or jet blast interference and/or damage, the Lessee 
hereby covenants and agrees to erect and maintain at its own 
expense such structure or structures as may be necessary to 
prevent prop or jet blast interference, subject, however, to the 
prior written approval of the Cities as to type, manner and 
method of construction. 

6.11 Lessee shall not store nor permit the storage of 
disabled aircraft or any equipment or materials outside of the 
Hangar constructed on the Leased Premises, without the written 
approval of the Cities. 

ARTICLE 7 
INGRESS AND EGRESS 

7 .1 The Lessee shall have the right of ingress and egress 
between the Leased Premises and the public landing areas at the 
Airport by means of connecting taxiways; and between the Leased 

8 
196



Premises and the entrance(s) to the Airport by means of 
connecting paved roads. Lessee shall have the right to use the 
public runways and public aviation aids at all times during which 
they are open to the public. Such rights of ingress, egress and 
use shall be in common with others having rights of passage 
thereon. 

7.1.1 If, at the time of entering into this Agreement, 
access to the Leased Premises is not available on existing 
taxiways and/or roadways, improvements deemed necessary by Lessee 
shall be made at the sole expense of Lessee, in accordance with 
construction specifications and design criteria established for 
all of the properties by the Airport Engineer. There shall be 
no consideration made on the part of the Cities for the cost of 
these improvements. 

7.2 The use of any such roadway or taxiway shall be subject 
to the Rules and Regulations of the Airport which are now in 
effect or which may hereafter be promulgated, and subject to 
temporary closure, provided, however, that any closure shall be 
only for reasonably necessary or unique circumstances, and 
provided that fourteen (14) days prior written notice will be 
given to Lessee relevant to any closure unless such closure is 
necessary due to emergency. Lessee, for itself and its 
subtenants, hereby releases and discharges the Cities, their 
officers, employees and agents, and all their respective 
successors and assigns, of and from any and all claims, demands, 
or causes of action which Lessee or its subtenants may now or at 
any time hereafter have against any of the foregoing, arising or 
alleged to arise out of the closing of any street, roadway or 
other area, provided that other reasonable means of access to the 
Leased Premises remain available to Lessee without cost to 
Lessee, unless otherwise mandated by emergency safety 
considerations or lawful exercise of the police power. Lessee 
shall not do or permit anything to be done which will interfere 
with the free access and passage of others to space adjacent to 
the Leased Premises or in any streets or roadways on the Airport. 

ARTICLE 8 
INSURANCE, DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION 

8.1 Lessee, at its sole cost and expense, shall procure and 
maintain throughout the term of this Agreement insurance 
protection for · all risk coverage on the Improvements which are 
part of the Leased Premises, to the extent of one hundred percent 
(100%) of the actual ·replacement cost ther~of. Such insurance 
shall be written by insurers acceptable to Cities. The insurance 
shall provide for thirty ( 30) days notice of cancellation or 
material change, by certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
the Cities, Attention: Airport Manager; 

8.1.1 The above stated property insurance shall be for the 
benefit and to safeguard the interests of the Ci ties and the 
Lessee. 

8.1.2 The Lessee shall settle all losses with the insurance 
carrier. The Lessee shall consult with the Cities and use its 

9 
197



best efforts to obtain a settlement that covers the cost of 
repairing or rebuilding the Improvements. 

8.1.3 The Lessee shall provide certificates of insurance, in 
a form acceptable to the Cities and marked ''premium paid'' 
evidencing existence of all insurance required to be maintained 
prior to occupancy of the Improvements. Upon the failure of the 
Lessee to maintain such insurance as above provided, the Cities, 
at their option, may take out such insurance and charge the cost 
thereof to the Lessee, which shall be payable on demand, or may 
give notice of default hereunder pursuant to Article 18 hereof. 

8.2 In the event the Improvements and any subsequent 
improvements, insurable or uninsurable, on the Leased Premises 
are damaged or destroyed to the extent that they are unusable by 
the Lessee for the purposes for which they were used prior to 
such damage, or same are destroyed, the Lessee shall promptly 
repair and reconstruct the Improvements substantially as they 
were immediately prior to such casualty or in a new or modified 
design, subject to the provisions of Article 5 hereof and 
applicable building codes existing at the time of repairing or 
rebuilding. If the aforesaid damage or destruction occurs in the 
last five years of the Initial term or any option term of this 
Agreement, the Lessee may elect not to repair and reconstruct the 
Improv.ements, subject to the following terms and conditions: 

8.2.1 The Lessee shall give the Cities written notice of its 
election not to repair and reconstruct the Improvements within 
ninety (90) days of the date upon which the Improvements were 
damaged or destroyed. As such case, and Cities shall have the 
option of either; 

8.2.2 Requiring Lessee to clear the site, remove all debris 
and paving, stub up all utilities, and restore the site to its 
original cleared condition prior to commencement of construction; 
in which case Lessee shall assign to and the Cities shall retain 
all insurance proceeds above those necessary to fund such site 
restoration; or . 

8. 2. 3 Taking title to the damaged Improvements, as it, in 
which case Lessee shall assign to and the Cities shall retain all 
insurance coverage and proceeds. 

8. 2. 4 Upon Lessee's notice under Section 8. 2 .1 hereof and 
Lessee's compliance with the provisions of Sections 8. 2. 2 or 
8.2.3 hereof, the Cities shall terminate this Agreement and 
relieve Lessee of all future rental obligations hereunder. 

8.3 All policies of insurance required herein shall name the 
Cities as additional insureds. 

8. 4 Whenever in this Agreement, provision is made for the 
carrying of any insurance, it shall be deemed that such provision 
is complied with if such insurance otherwise complying with such 
provision is carried under a blanket policy or policies covering 
the Leased Premises as well as other properties. 

8.5 Lessee shall not violate, or permit to be violated, any 
of the conditions of any of the said policies; and shall perform 
and satisfy, or cause to be satisfied, the requirements of the 
companies writing such policies. 

10 
198



ARTICLE 9 
LIABILITIES AND INDEMNITIES 

9.1 The Cities shall not in any way be liable for any cost, 
liability, damage or injury including cost of suit and expenses 
of legal services, claimed or recovered by any person whomsoever, 
or occurring on the Leased Premises, or the Airport, or as a 
result of any operations, works, acts or omissions performed on 
the Leased Premises, or the Airport, by the Lessee, its agents, 
servants and employees and its sublessees or tenants, or their 
guests or invitees. 

9.2 The Lessee agrees to indemnify, save and hold harmless, 
the Ci ties, their officers, agents, servants and employees, of 
and from any and all costs, liability, damage and expense, 
including costs of suit and reasonable expenses of legal 
services, claimed or recovered, justly or unjustly, falsely, 
fraudulently or frivolously, by any person, firm or corporation 
by reason of injury to, or death of, any person or persons, 
including Cities' personnel, and damage to, destruction or loss 
of use of any property, including Cities' property, directly or 
indirectly arising from, or resulting from, any operations, 
works, acts or omissions of Lessee, its agents, servants, 
employees, contractors, sublessees or tenants. Upon the filing 
with the Cities by anyone of a claim for damages arising out of 
incidents for which the Lessee herein agrees to indemnify and 
hold the Cities harmless, the Cities shall notify the Lessee of 
such claim and in the event that the Lessee does not settle or 
compromise such claim, then the Lessee shall undertake the legal 
defense of such claim on behalf of both the Lessee and the 
Ci ties. It is specifically agreed, however, that the Ci ties at 
their own cost and expense, may participate in the legal defense 
of any such claim. Any final judgment rendered against the 
Ci ties for any cause for which the Lessee is liable hereunder 
shall be conclusive against the Lessee as to liability and amount 
upon the expiration of the time for appeal. 

S.3 The Lessee shall procure and keep in force during the 
term of the Lease policies of Comprehensive General Liability 
insurance insuring the Lessee and the Cities against any 
liability for personal injury, bodily injury, death, or property 
damage arising out of the subject of this Lease with a combined 
single limit of at least one million dollars or with a limit of 
not less than the maximum amount that may be recovered against 
the Cities under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, 
whichever is greater. No such policies shall be cancelable or 
subject to reduction in coverage limits or other modification 
except after thirty days prior written notice to the Cities. The 
policies shall be for the mutual and joint benefit and protection 
of the Lessee and the Cities and such policies shall contain a 
provision that the Cities, although named as an insured, shall 
nevertheless be entitled to recovery under said policies for any 
loss occasioned to it, its servants, agents, citizens, and 
employees by reason of negligence of the Lessee. The Lessee 
shall provide certificates of insurance, in a form acceptable to 
the Cities and marked "premium paid" evidencing existence of all 

11 

199



insurance required to be maintained prior to the commencement of 
the Agreement. 

9.4 The Lessee represents that it is the owner of or fully 
authorized to use any and all services, processes, machines, 
articles, marks, names or slogans used by it in its operations 
under or in anyway connected with this Agreement. The Lessee 
agrees to save and hold the Ci ties, their officers, employees, 
agents and representatives free and harmless of and from any 
loss, liability, expense, suit or claim for damages in connection 
with any actual or alleged infringement of any patent, trademark 
or copyright, or arising from any alleged or actual unfair 
competition or other similar claim arising out of the operations 
of the Lessee under or in anyway connected with this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 10 
LEASEHOLD MORTGAGES 

10.1 If Lessee shall mortgage Lessee's leasehold estate to 
an Institutional Investor, in· connection with the construction 
contemplated by Articles 4.6 and/or 4.7 above, and if the holder 
of such Leasehold Mortgage or any sub-assignee shall provide the 
Cities with notice of such Leasehold Mortgage together with a 
true copy of such Leasehold Mortgage and the name and address of 
the Mortgagee, the Cities and Lessee agree that, following 
receipt of such notice by the Ci ties, the provisions of this 
Article 10 shall apply in respect to such Leasehold Mortgage; 
provided that the provisions of this Article shall not be binding 
on the Cities, unless and until such notice shall have been given 
and such copy delivered to the Cities, notwithstanding any other 
form of notice, actual or constructive. 

10.1.1 The Cities shall, upon receipt of notice provided for 
by Section 10.1, promptly acknowledge the receipt of such 
communication, as constituting the notice provided for by Section 
10.1 or in the alternative, notify the Lessee and Leasehold 
Mortgagee of the rejection of such communication as not 
conforming with the provisions of Section 10.l(a) and specify the 
specific basis of such rejection. 

10.2 The terms "Institutional Investor'' and "Institution'' 
as used in this Agreement shall refer to a savings bank, savings 
and loan association, commercial bank or trust company (whether 
for its own account or as fiduciary) , credit union, a pension 
fund, welfare or retirement fund, an eleemosynary institution, or 
any combination of the foregoing. 

10.2.1 The term "Leasehold Mortgage" as used in this 
Agreement shall include a mortgage, a deed _of trust, a deed to 
secure debt, or other security instrument by which Lessee's 
leasehold estate is mortgaged, conveyed, assigned, or otherwise 
transferred, to secure a debt or other obligation, in connection 
with the construction contemplated by Articles 4.6 and 4.7 above. 

10.3 The 
(a) 
(b) 

Cities, upon providing Lessee any notice of 
Default under this Agreement; or 
A termination of this Agreement; or 

12 

200



(c) A matter on which the Cities may predicate or 
claim a default, shall at the same time provide a copy of such 
notice to the Leasehold Mortgagee. No such notice by Ci ties to 
Lessee shall be deemed to have been duly given unless and until 
copy thereof has been so provided to such Leasehold Mortgagee by 
certified mail at the address specified in the notice given 
pursuant to Section 10. 1. From and after the date such notice 
has been given to a Leasehold Mortgagee, such Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall have the additional periods of time specified in Sections 
10.5 and 10.6 hereof to remedy, commence remedying, or cause to 
be remedied the default or acts or omissions which are specified 
in any such notice. The Cities shall accept such performance by 
or at the instigation of such Leasehold Mortgagee as if the same 
had been done by Lessee. 

10.4 Anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, if any default shall occur which entitles the 
Cities to terminate this Agreement, the Cities shall have no 
right to terminate this Agreement unless, following the 
expiration of the period of time given Lessee to cure such 
default or the act or omission which gave rise to such default, 
the Cities shall notify such Leasehold Mortgagee of the Cities' 
intent to so terminate ("Termination Notice") at least thirty 
(30) days in advance of the proposed effective date of such 
termination if such default is capable of being cured by the 
payment of money, and at least forty-five (45) days in advance of 
the proposed effective date of such termination if such default 
is not capable of being cured by the payment of money. The 
provisions of Section 10. 6 below shall apply if, during such 
thirty (30) or forty-five45) day Termination Notice period, any 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall: 

(i) Notify the Cities of such Leasehold 
Mortgagee's desire to defeat such Termination Notice, and 

(ii) Pay or cause to be paid all rent, additional 
rent, and other payments then due and in arrears as specified in 
the Termination Notice to such Leasehold Mortgagee and which may 
become due during such thirty (30) day period; and 

(iii) Comply with due diligence and continuity, or 
in good faith commence to comply · with all non-monetary 
requirements of this Agreement then in default. 

10.4.1 If the Cities shall elect to terminate this Agreement 
by reason of any default of Lessee, and the Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall have proceeded in the manner provided for by Section 10.4, 
the specified date for termination of this Agreement as fixed by 
the Cities in its Termination Notice shall be deemed extended and 
this Agreement shall not be terminated without the consent of 
such Leasehold Mortgagee provided that such Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall, during such extended period: 

(i) Pay or cause to be paid the rent, additional 
rent, and other monetary obligations of Lessee under this 
Agreement as the same become due, and continue with due diligence 
to perform all of Lessee's other obligations under this 
Agreement, which Leasehold Mortgagee can perform without having 

13 

201



first obtained possession of the Lessee's interest in this 
Agreement; and 

(ii) Within three ( 3) months from receipt of the 
Termination Notice, take st~ps to acquire or sell Lessee's 
interest in this Agreement by foreclosure of the Leasehold 
Mortgagee or other appropriate means and prosecute the same to 
completion with due diligence; provided, however, that if the 
Leasehold Mortgagee is otherwise complying with this Section 10.4 
and is enjoined- or stayed from taking steps to acquire or sell 
Lessee's interest in this Agreement, this Agreement shall not 
terminate and the time for completion by such Leasehold Mortgagee 
of its proceedings shall continue so long as such Leasehold 
Mortgagee is enjoined or stayed and, thereafter, for so long as 
such Leasehold Mortgagee proceeds to complete steps to acquire or 
sell Lessee's interest in this Agreement by foreclosure of the 
Leasehold Mortgage or by other appropriate means with reasonable 
diligence and continuity. If the default shall be cured and the 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall discontinue such foreclosure 
proceedings, this Agreement shall continue in full force and 
effect as if Lessee had not defaulted under this Agreement. 

10.4.2 If the Leasehold Mortgagee is complying with Section 
10.4.1 and is enjoined or stayed from taking steps to acquire or 
sell Lessee's interest in this Agreement, this Agreement shall 
not then terminate and the time for completion by such Leasehold 
Mortgagee of its proceedings shall continue so long as such 
Leasehold Mortgagee is enjoined or stayed and thereafter for so 
long as such Leasehold Mortgagee proceeds to complete steps to 
acquire or sell Lessee's interest in this Agreement by 
foreclosure of the Leasehold Mortgagee or by other appropriate 
means with due diligence and continuity. 

10. 4. 3 Nothing in this Section 10. 4 shall be construed to 
extend this Agreement beyond the original term hereof as set 
forth in Article 1, nor to require the Leasehold Mortgagee to 
continue such foreclosure proceedings after the default has.been 
cured, nor to grant Leasehold Mortgagee any right to exercise any 
option term of this Agreement in the presence of an uncured 
default. If the default shall be cured and the Leasehold 
Mortgagee shall discontinue such foreclosure proceedings, this 
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as if Lessee 
had not defaulted under this Agreement. 

10. 4. 4 If a Leasehold Mortgagee is complying with Section 
10.4(i), upon the acquisition of Lessee's estate herein by such 
Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee or any other purchaser at a 
foreclosure sale or otherwise and the discharge by foreclosure or 
otherwise of any lien, charge or encumbrance against the Lessee's 
interest in this Agreement or the Leased Premises which is junior 
in priority to the lien of the Leasehold Mortgagee held by such 
Leasehold Mortgagee and which Lessee is obligated to satisfy and 
discharge, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect 
as if Lessee had not defaulted under this Agreement. 

10. 4. 5 The making of a Leasehold Mortgage shall not be 
deemed to constitute an assignment or transfer of this Agreement 
or of the leasehold estate hereby created, nor shall the 

14 

202



Leasehold Mortgagee, as such, be deemed to be an assignee or 
transferee of this Agreement or of the leasehold estate hereby 
created so as. to require such Leasehold Mortgagee, as such, to 
assume the performance of any of the terms, covenants or 
conditions of this Agreement. Any Leasehold Mortgagee who takes 
an instrument of assignment or transfer in lieu of the 
foreclosure of the Leasehold Mortgagee shall be deemed to be a 
permitted assignee or transferee, subject to the provisions of 
Section 10.11, and shall be deemed to have agreed to perform all 
of the terms, covenants and conditions on the part of the Lessee 
to be performed hereunder from and after the date of such 
purchase and assignment, but only for so long as such purchaser 
or assignee is the owner of the leasehold estate. If the 
Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall become holder of the 
leasehold estate and if the Hangar and Improvements on the Leased 
Premises shall have been or become materially damaged on, before 
or after the date of such purchase and assignment, the Leasehold 
Mortgagee or its designee shall be obligated to repair, replace 
or reconstruct the building or other improvements. 

10. 4. 6 The Leasehold Mortgagee or other acquirer of the 
leasehold estate of Lessee pursuant to foreclosure, assignment in 
lieu of foreclosure or other proceedings may, upon acquiring 
Lessee's leasehold estate, without further consent of the Cities, 
sell and assign the leasehold estate on such terms and to such 
person and organizations as are acceptable to such Mortgagee or 
acquirer and thereafter be relieved of all obligations under 
this Agreement; provided that such assignee has delivered to the 
Cities its written agreement to be bound thereatter by allot the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

10. 4. 7 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this 
Agreement, any sale of this Agreement and of the leasehold estate 
hereby created in any proceedings for the foreclosure of the 
Leasehold Mortgage, or the assignment or transfer of this 
Agreement and of the leasehold estate hereby created in lieu of 
the foreclosure of the Leasehold Mortgage shall be deemed to be a 
permitted sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement and of 
the leasehold estate hereby created. 

10.5 In the event of the termination of this Agreement as a 
result of Lessee's default, the Cities shall, in addition to 
providing the notices of default and termination as required by 
Sections 10. 1 and 10. 3, provide the Leasehold Mortgagee with 
written notice that the Agreement has been terminated, together 
with a statement of all sums which would at that time be due 
under this Agreement but for such termination, and for all other 
defaults, if any, then known to the Cities ( 8 the Cities' Notice 
of Termination"). The Cities agree to enter into a new Agreement 
("New Agreement") of the Leased Premises with the Leasehold 
Mortgagee or its designee for the remainder of the term of this 
Agreement, effective as of the date of termination, at the rent 
and additional rent, and upon the terms, covenants, and 
conditions (including all options to renew but excluding 
requirements which are not applicable or which have already been 
fulfilled) of this Agreement provided: 

15 
203



10. 5 .1 Such Leasehold Mortgagee shall make written request 
to the Cities for such New Agreement within forty-five (45) days 
after the date such Leasehold Mortgagee receives the Ci ties' 
Notice of Termination of this Agreement given pursuant to this 
Section 10.5; and 

10.5.2 Such Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall pay or 
cause to be paid to the Ci ties at the time of execution and 
delivery of such New Agreement, any and all sums which would at 
the time of execution and delivery thereof be due pursuant to 
this Agreement but for such termination and, in addition thereto, 
all reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, 
which the Cities shall have incurred by reason of such 
termination and the execution and delivery of the New Agreement 
and which have not otherwise been received by the Cities from 
Lessee or other party in interest under Lessee. Iri the event of 
a controversy as to the amount to be paid to the Cities pursuant 
to this Section 10.5(b), the payment obligation shall be 
satisfied if the Cities shall be paid the amount not in 
controversy, and the Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall 
agree to pay any additional sum ultimately determined to be due 
plus interest at the existing prime rate as established by Bank 
One-Loveland, N.A., or its successor, and if none, a major Fort 
Collins-Loveland Metropolitan Area lending institution, plus two 
(2) percentage points; and 

10.5.3 Such Leasehold Mortgagee or its designee shall agree 
to remedy any of Lessee's actual defaults of which said Leasehold 
Mortgagee was notified by the Cities' Notice of Termination, and 
to complete such remedy in a reasonable time under the 
circumstances. 

10. 5. 4 The Lessee under such New Agreement shall have the 
same right, title and interest in and to the Leased Premises and 
the building and improvements thereon as Lessee had under this 
Agreement. 

10. 6 Nothing herein contained shall require the Leasehold 
Mortgagee or its designee as a condition to its exercise of right 
hereunder to cure any default of Lessee not reasonably 
susceptible of being cured by such Leasehold Mortgagee or its 
designee, in order to comply with the provisions of Section 10.4 
and 10.5, or as a condition of entering into the New Agreement 
provided for by Section 10.5. 

10.6.1 If the Cities shall elect to terminate this Agreement 
by reason of any default of Lessee not reasonably susceptible bf 
being cured by a Leasehold Mortgagee, and a Leasehold Mortgagee 
shall have proceeded in the manner provided for by Section 
10.4(a), the specified date for the termination of this Agreement 
as fixed by the Cities in its termination notice shall be 
extended as provided for in Section 10. 5, provided that such 
Leasehold Mortgagee shall proceed in the manner provided for in 
Section 10.6. 

10.7 The Cities shall, without charge, at any time and from 
time to time hereafter, but not more frequently than twice in any 
one year period (or more frequently if such request is made in 
connection with any sale or mortgaging of Lessee's leasehold 

16 
204



interest or permitted subletting by Lessee), within thirty (30) 
days after written request of Lessee to do so, certify by written 
instrument duly executed and acknowledged to the Leasehold 
Mortgagee or purchaser, or proposed Leasehold Mortgagee or 
proposed purchaser, or any other person, firm or corporation 
specified in such request: 

(a) As to whether this Agreement has been supplemented 
or amended and, if so, the substance and manner of such 
supplement or amendment; 

(b) As to the validity and force and effect of this 
Agreement, in accordance with its tenor; 

(c) As to the existence of any default hereunder; 
(d) As to the existence of any offsets, counterclaims, 

or defenses hereto on the part of the Lessee; 
(e) As to the commencement and expiration dates of the 

term of this Agreement; and 
(f) As to any other matters as may be reasonably so 

requested. Any such certificate may be relied upon by the Lessee 
and any other person, firm or corporation to whom the same may be 
exhibited or delivered, and the contents of such certificate 
shall be binding on the Cities. 

ARTICLE 11 
RULES AND REGULATIONS 

11.1 Ci ties may enforce rules and regulations with respect 
to the occupancy and use of the Airport, as such rules and 
regulations as are set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto, and 
as such rules and regulations may be amended or supplemented from 
time to time. The Lessee agrees to observe and obey any and all 
such rules and regulations and all other federal, state and 
municipal rules, regulations and laws and to require its 
officers, agents, employees, subtenants, contractors, and 
suppliers, to observe and obey the same. In the event of a 
conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B (Airport Rules and 
Regulations) and this Lease, the prbvisions of this Lease shall 
control. This provision will include compliance with the 
Airport's Noise Abatement Plan as it now exists and as it may 
hereafter be amended or supplemented. The Cities reserve the 
right to deny access to the Airport and its facilities to any 
person, firm or corporation that fails or refuses to obey and 
comply with.such rules, regulations or laws. 

ARTICLE 12 
SIGNS 

12.1 The Lessee shall have the right to install and maintain 
one or more signs on the Leased Premises identifying it and its 
operations, provided, however, the subject matter, type, design, 
number, location and elevation of such signs, and whether lighted 
or unlighted, shall be subject to and in accordance with the City 
of Loveland Sign Code. No sign will be allowed that may be 
confusing to aircraft pilots or automobile drivers or other 
traffic. 

17 
205



ARTICLE 13 
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE 

13.l The prior written consent of the Cities shall be 
required for any sale, transfer or assignment of this Agreement 
and of the leasehold estate hereby created. Consent may be 
withheld by the Cities in the event the Lessee is in default of 
any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, in the event 
the transferee or assignee does not deliver to the Ci ties its 
written agreement to be bound by all of the provisions of this 
Agreement in a form satisfactory to the Cities, or in the event 
the proposed transferee or assignee does not submit proof of 
insurance as required at Articles 8 and 9, herein. Consent shall 
not .be otherwise unreasonably withheld. Upon the granting of 
written consent by the Cities and actual transfer or assignment, 
the Lessee shall be released by the Cities from its obligations 
under this Lease. 

13.2 Lessee shall have the right and option to sublease part 
or parts of the Leased Premises without the prior consent of the 
Cities, providing that any subtenant shall be required to comply 
with all terms and conditions of this Agreement. In the event of 
sublease, both the Lessee and the subtenant shall be jointly and 
severally responsible for compliance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. Upon sublease, Lessee shall 
provide Ci ties with a complete copy of the sublease agreement 
fully identifying the parties and terms. 

13.3 Lessee shall not have the right to subdivide the Leased 
Premises. 

ARTICLE 14 
CONDEMNATION 

14 .1 In the event that all or any portion of the Leased 
Premises is taken for any public or quasi-public purpose by any 
lawful power or authority by the exercise of the right of 
appropriation, condemnation or eminent domain (or pursuant to a 
sale to such power or authority under the threat of condemnation 
or eminent domain) , the proceeds, if any, from such taking or 
sale shall be allocated between the Cities and Lessee in 
accordance with the applicable condemnation law. If a portion of 
the Leased Premises is so taken or sold, and as a result thereof, 
the remaining part cannot reasonably be used to continue the 
authorized uses set forth in Article 3 hereof, then this Lease 
shall terminate and Lessee's obligation to pay rent and perform 
the other conditions of the Lease shall be deemed to have ceased 
as of the date of such taking or sale. 

14. 2 The Ci ties expressly reserve the right to grant or 
take easements on rights-of-way across the Leased Premises if it 
is determined to be in the best interest of the Cities to do so. 
If the Cities grant or take an easement or right-of-way across 
any of the Leased Premises, Lessee shall be entitled only to 
compensation for damages to all Lessee owned Improvements· 
destroyed or physically damaged thereby, but not to damages for 
loss of use of the Leased Premises itself. Damages to 
improvements shall be determined by the reduction in fair market 

18 

206



value of the Improvements caused by said damage or cost of 
repair, whichever is less. 

14.3 Lessee understands and agrees that the Cities have the 
right to take all or any portion of the Leased Premises, and any 
additions, alterations or improvements thereon, should the 
Cities, in their sole discretion, determine that said portion of 
the Leased Premises, and improvements thereon, are required for 
other Airport purposes. If such action is taken, the Cities 
shall substitute comparable areas within the Airport, or any 
additions or extensions thereof, brought to the same level of 
improvement as the area taken. The Cities shall bear all 
expenses of bringing the substituted area to the same level of 
improvement to the area taken, and of moving Lessee's 
improvements, equipment, furniture and fixtures to the 
substituted area. If any of Lessee's improvements, equipment, 
furniture or fixtures cannot be relocated, the Cities shall 
replace, at their own expense, such non-relocatable improvements 
and other property with comparable property in the substituted 
area, and the Ci ties shall be deemed the owner of the non
relocated improvements and other property, free and clear of all 
claims of any interest or title therein by Lessee, any mortgagee, 
or any other third party whomsoever. It is the specific intent 
of this subparagraph that Lessee would be placed, to the extent 
possible, in the sa:me position it would have been, had the Cities 
not substituted new premises for the Leased Premises; provided 
however, that the Ci ties shall not be obligated to reimburse 
Lessee for lost revenues or other costs due to such substitution. 
In the event that such substitution of area is demanded by the 
Cities, Lessee shall have the right and option to terminate this 
Agreement, prior to the Ci ties commencing the subs ti tut ion, and 
upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to Cities. Nothing in 
this subparagraph shall be construed to limit the Cities' rights 
to condemn Lessee's leasehold rights and interests in the Leased 
Premises pursuant to state law. 

ARTICLE 15 
NON-DISCRIMINATION 

15.1 The Lessee, for it, its heirs, personal 
representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as a part 
of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a 
covenant running with the land that in the event facilities are 
constructed, maintained, or otherwise operated on the Leased 
Premises, for a purpose for which a United States government 
program or activity is extended, the Lessee shall maintain and 
operate such facilities and services in compliance with all other 
requirements imposed pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations, Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of 
the Secretary, Part 21, Nondiscrimination in federally-assisted 
programs of the Department of Transportation-Effectuation of 
Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said regulations 
may be amended. 

15.2 The Lessee, for 
successors in interest 

itself, its personal representatives, 
and assigns, as a part of the 

19 
207



consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree as a 
covenant running with the land that: 

(1) No person on the grounds of race, color, disability 
or national origin shall be excluded from participating in, 
denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the use of the Leased Premises; 

(2) That in the construction of any Improvements on, 
over or under such land and the furnishing of services thereon, 
.no person on the grounds of race, color, disability or national 
origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the 
benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination, 

(3) That the Lessee shall use the Leased Premises in 
compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to 
Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Department of 
Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, 
Nondiscrimination in federally-assisted programs of the 
Department of Transportation Effectuation of Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said regulations may be amended. 

15. 3 In this connection, the Ci ties reserve the right to 
take whatever action they might be entitled by law to take in 
order to enforce this provision following the sixty ( 60} days 
prior written notice to Lessee of any alleged violation. This 
provision is to be considered as a covenant on the part of the 
Lessee, a breach of which, continuing after notice by the Cities 
to cease and desist and after a deter~ination that a violation 
exists made in accordance with the procedures and appeals 
provided by law, will constitute a material breach of this 
Agreement and will entitle the Cities, at their option, to 
exercise its right of termination as provided for herein, or take 
any action that it deems necessary to enforce compliance 
herewith. 

15. 4 The Lessee shall include the foregoing provisions in 
every agreement or concession pursuant to which any person or 
persons, other than the Lessee, operates any facility at the 
Leased Premises providing service to the public and shall include 
thereon a provision granting the Ci ties a right to take such 
action as the United States may direct to enforce such covenant. 

15.5 To the extent legally required and applicable, the 
Lessee assures that it will undertake an affirmative action 
program as required by 14 CFR, Part 152, Subpart E, to insure 
that no person shall on the grounds of race, creed, color, 
national origin, disability or sex, be excluded from 
participation in any employment activities covered in 14 CFR Part 
152 Subpart E. The Lessee assures that no person shall be 
excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the 
services or benefits of any program or activity covered by this 
subpart. The Lessee assures that it will require that its 
covered suborganizations provide assurances to the Lessee that 
they similarly will undertake affirmative action program and that 
they will require assurances from their suborganizations, to the 
extent required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to the same 
effect. _ 

20 
208



ARTICLE 16 
GOVERNMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 

16 .1 The Lessee shall procure all licenses, certificates, 
permits or other authorization from all governmental authorities, 
if any, having jurisdiction over the Lessee's operations at the 
Leased Premises which may be necessary for the Lessee's 
operations thereat. 

16.2 The Lessee shall pay all taxes, license, certification, 
permits and examination fees and excise taxes which may be 
assessed, levied, exacted or imposed on the Leased Premises or 
operation hereunder or on the gross receipts or gross income to 
the Lessee therefrom, and shall make all applications, reports 
and returns required in connection therewith. 

16. 3 Lessee shall pay all water, sewer, utility and other 
applicable use taxes and fees, together with any Payment in Lieu 
of Taxes if found to be applicable. 

ARTICLE 17 
RIGHTS OF ENTRY RESERVED 

17.1 The Cities, by their officers, employees, agents, 
representatives and contractors, shall have the right at all 
reasonable times to enter upon the Leased Premises and enter the 
Improvements for any and all purposes not inconsistent with this 
Agreement, including, without limitation, inspection and 
environmental testing, provided such action by the Cities, their 
officers, employees, agents, representatives and contractors does 
not unreasonably interfere with the Lessee's use, occupancy or 
security requirements of the Leased Premises. Except when 
necessary for reasons of public safety or law enforcement, or for 
the protection of property, as determined by Cities, Cities shall 
provide 72 hours written notice of its intent to inspect. 

17.2 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the 
Ci ties, by their officers, empioyees, agents, representatives, 
contractors and furnishers of utilities and other services, shall 
have the right, at their own cost and expense, whether for their 
own benefit, or for the benefit of others than the Lessee at the 
Airport, to maintain existing and future Airport mechanical, 
electrical and other utility systems and to enter upon the 
easements in the Leased Premises to make such repairs, 
replacements or alterations thereto, as may, in the opinion of 
the Cities, be deemed necessary or advisable, and from time to 
time to construct or install over, in or under existing easements 
within the Leased Premises such systems or parts thereof and in 
connection with such maintenance use the Leased Premises existing 
easements for access to other parts of the Airport otherwise not 
conveniently accessible; provided, however, that in the exercise 
of such rights of access, repair, alteration or new construction, 
the Cities shall not install a utility under or through any 
building on the Leased Premises or unreasonably interfere with 
the actual use and occupancy of the Leased Premises by the 
Lessee, all such utilities to be placed within existing 
easements, except as provided in Article 14, hereof. It is 
specifically understood and agreed that the reservation of the 

21 
209



aforesaid right by the Cities shall not impose or be construed to 
impose upon the Cities any obligation to repair, replace or alter 
any utility service lines now or hereafter located on the Leased 
Premises for the purpose of providing utility services only to 
the Leased Premises; provided, however, that if they repair, 
replace or alter any utility service lines now or hereafter 
located on the Leased Premises for the purpose of providing 
utility services to others,. the Ci ties will restore the Leased 
Premises to their preexisting condition in a timely manner. 

Lessee will provide for the installation, maintenance and 
repair, at its own expense, of all service lines of utilities 
providing services only to the Leased Premises. 

Cities will repair, replace and maintain all other utility 
lines, at Cities' expense. 

17.3 In the event that any personal property of the Lessee 
shall obstruct the access of the Cities, their officers, 
employees, agents or contractors, or the utility company 
furnishing utility service over, along and across the existing 
easements to any of the existing utility, mechanical, electrical 
and other systems, and thus shall interfere with the inspection, 
maintenance or repair of any such system pursuant to Section 
17.2, the Lessee shall move such property, as directed by the 
Cities or said utility company, upon reasonable notice by the 
Cities, in order that access may be had to the system or part 
thereof for inspection, maintenance or repair. If the Lessee 
shall fail to so move such property after direction from the 
Ci ties or said utility company to do so, the Ci ties or the 
utility company may move it, and the Lessee hereby waives any 
claim against the Cities for damages as a result therefrom, 
except for claims for damages arising from the Cities' 
negligence. 

ARTICLE 18 
TERMINATION 

18.1 In the event of a default on the part of the Lessee in 
the payment of rents, the Cities shall give written notice to the 
Lessee of such default, and demand the cancellation of this 
Agreement, or the correction thereof. If, within thirty (30) 
days after the date the Cities give such notice, the Lessee has 
not corrected said default and paid the delinquent amount in 
full, the Cities may by written notice to the Lessee terminate 
this Agreement and all rights and privileges granted hereby in 
and to the Leased Premises. 

18.2 This Agreement, together with all rights and privileges 
granted in and to the Leased Premises, shall , terminate at the 
option of the Cities with prompt written notice to the Lessee 
upon the happening of any one or more of the following events: 

18.2.1 The filing by the Lessee of a voluntary petition in 
bankruptcy, or any assignment for benefit of creditors of all or 
any part of the Lessee's assets; or 

18.2.2 Any institution of proceedings in bankruptcy against 
the Lessee; provided, however, that the Lessee may defeat such 

22 
210



termination if the petition is dismissed within one hundred 
twenty (120) days after the institution thereof; or 

18.2.3 The filing of a petition requesting a court to take 
jurisdiction of the Lessee or its assets under the provision of 
any Federal reorganization act which, if it is an involuntary 
petition is not dismissed within one hundred twenty (120) days 
after its being filed; or 

18. 2. 4 The filing of a ·request for the appointment of a 
receiver or trustee of all, or substantially all, of the Lessee's 
assets by a court of competent jurisdiction, which if the request 
if not made by the Lessee is not rejected within one hundred 
twenty (120) days after being made, or the request for the 
appointment of a receiver or trustee of all, or substantially 
all, of the Lessee's assets by a voluntary agreement with the 
Lessee's creditors. 

18. 3 Upon the default by the Lessee in the performance of 
any covenant or conditions required to be performed by the 
Lessee, and the failure of the Lessee to remedy such default for 
a period of forty-five (45) days after mailing by the Cities of 
written notice to remedy the same, unless more extensive notice 
is otherwise provided for in this Agreement, except default in 
the timely payment of any money due the Cities. 

18.4 Upon the default by Lessee, and the giving of notice of 
the default and cancellation by the Cities as provided for 
elsewhere herein, the notice of cancellation shall become final. 

18.5 Upon the cancellation or termination of this Agreement 
for any reason, all rights of the Lessee, tenants and any other 
person in possession shall terminate, including all rights or 
alleged rights of creditors, trustees, assigns, and all others 
similarly so situated as to the Leased Premises. Upon said 
cancellation or termination of this Agreement for any reason, the 
Leased Premises, except for Lessee's equipment, fixtures and 
other personal property which may be removed from said Leased 
Premises as provided elsewhere herein, shall be free and clear of 
all encumbrances and all claims of the Lessee, its subtenants, 
creditors, trustees, assigns and all others, and the Cities shall 
have immediate right of possession to the Leased Premises. 

18.6 Failure by the Cities or Lessee to take any authorized 
action upon default by the Lessee of any of the terms, covenants 
or conditions required to be performed, kept and observed by the 
Lessee shall not be construed to be, nor act as, a waiver of said 
default nor of any subsequent default of any of the terms, 
covenants and conditions contained herein to be performed, kept 
and observed by the Lessee. Acceptance of rentals by the Cities 
from the Lessee, or performance by the Cities under the terms 
hereof, for any period or periods after a default by the Lessee 
of any of the terms, covenants and conditions herein required to 
be performed, kept and observed by the Lessee shall not be deemed 
a waiver or estoppel of any right on the part of the Cities to 
cancel this Agreement for any subsequent failure by the Lessee to 
so perform, keep· or observe any of said terms, covenants or 
conditions. 

18.7 This lease will terminate at the option of Lessee 

23 

211



the Airport, the 
purposes of this 

or more consecutive 

(1) Upon the permanent closure of 
term "permanent closure" to mean for the 
Agreement, the closure of the airport for 90 
days; 

(2) The loss of the ability of Lessee due to no 
significant fault of Lessee to fly in or out of the Airport for 
reasons other than inclement weather, casualty or disaster, for a 
period of 90 consecutive days; and 

(3) The default. by Cities in the performance of any 
covenant or condition required to be performed by the Cities, and 
the failure of the Cities to remedy such default for a period of 
sixty (60) days after receipt from the Lessee of written notice 
to remedy the same, or default in the timely payment of any money 
due the Lessee and failure to cure such default within thirty 
(30) days after notice to the Cities. Notice of exercise of the 
option to terminate by Lessee shall be given in the manner 
specified in Article 23 (Notices). 

(4) Within six (6) months of the commencement date of 
this Agreement, a qualified engineer determines tl)at hazardous 
materials exist on the Leased Premises as of the commencement 
date of this Agreement, that the existence of such materials 
renders the Leased Premises unusable for its intended purpose, 
and the engineer's estimated cost to clean up the materials 
exceeds five thousand dollars ( $5, 000. 00) . The Lessee shall 
provide the Cities written notice of the determination of such 
engineer and the Lessee's notice to terminate this Agreement 
within six (6) months of the commencement date of this Agreement, 
or such option to terminate is waived. 

18.8 If the Lessee ceases to conduct its authorized Airport 
activities at the Airport for a period of twelve (12) consecutive 
months, the Cities may terminate this Agreement by written notice 
to the Lessee given at any time while such cessation continues. 

18. 9 If the Lessee fails to obtain any required permit or 
other governmental approval for the use of the Leased Premises 
pursuant to Article 3.1 herein, within twelve (12) months of the 
commencement date set forth in Article 1.1 herein, or if Lessee 
fails to maintain any such permits or approvals during the term 
of this Agreement, this Agreement shall automatically terminate. 
Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Article 
18 .10, no refund shall be due to Lessee of payments made by 
Lessee pursuant to this Agreement. 

18.10 Upon termination of this Agreement prior to the 
expiration of the Initial Term or the Extended Term, if any, the 
Cities may, but are not required to, relet the Leased Premises, 
or any part thereof, for the whole or any part of the remainder 
of such Initial Term or Extended Term, or for a longer period of 
time. Any rents received by the Ci ties as a result of such 
reletting shall remain the property of the Cities and shall not 
be credited to or otherwise become the property of the Lessee. 

24 
212



ARTICLE 19 
SURRENDER AND RIGHT OF RE-ENTRY 

19.1 Upon the expiration, cancellation or termination of 
this Agreement pursuant to any terms hereof, the Lessee agrees 
peaceably to surrender up the Leased Premises to the Cities, 
either in the same condition as they are at the time of the 
commencement of the term hereof, and as they may hereafter be 
repaired and improved by the Lessee; save and except 

(a) Such normal wear and tear thereof as could not have 
been prevented by ordinary and usual repairs and maintenance, 

(b) Obsolescence in spite of repair, and 
(c) Damage to or destruction of the leasehold 

improvements for which insurance proceeds are received by the 
Cities, or at the Cities' election, to first clear all or 
portions of the Leased Premises, remove all debris and paving, 
stub up all utilities, and restore the Leased Premises to its 
original cleared condition prior to commencement of construction. 

Upon such cancellation or termination, the Ci ties may re
enter and repossess the Leased Premises together with all 
Improvements and additions thereto, or pursue any remedy 
permitted by law for the enforcement of any of the provisions of 
this Agreement, at the Cities' election. Furthermore, upon such 
cancellation or termination, and for a reasonable time 
thereafter, not exceeding sixty (60) days after such cancellation 
or termination, and for which period the Lessee will pay to the 
cities current lease rental, or during the term of this 
Agreement, if the Lessee is not in default in rentals or any 
other charges or financial obligations due the Cities, the Lessee 
shall have the right to remove its personal property, fixtures 
and trade equipment which it may have on the Leased Premises, 
provided that the Lessee repairs all damages that might be 
occasioned to the remaining Leased Premises by such removal, a.nd 
re·store the remaining Leased Premises to the condition above 
required. 

ARTICLE 20 
SERVICES TO LESSEE 

20.1 The Cities covenant and agree that during the term of 
this Agreement it will use their bests efforts to (a) operate the 
Airport as such for the use and benefit of the public; provided, 
however, that the Cities may prohibit or limit any given type, 
kind or class of aeronautical use of the Airport if such action 
is necessary for the safe operation of the Airport or necessary 
to serve the civil aviation needs of the public, (b)maintain the 
runways and taxiways in good repair, including the removal of 
snow, and (c) keep in good repair hard-surfaced public roads for 
access to the Leased Premises and remove snow therefrom. Said 
obligations of the Cities relevant to the maintenance and snow 
removal of and from public roads and taxiways shall extend to the 
point wherein such roads, streets and taxiways reach the property 
line of the Leased Premises, or the ramp constructed by Lessee 
under Article 4.7 above. Except in cases of emergency, in which 
case no notice shall be required, Ci ties will endeavor to give 

25 
213



not less than fourteen (14) days' prior written notice to Lessee 
of any anticipated temporary Airport closure, for maintenance, 
expansion or otherwise. 

ARTICLE 21 
SURVIVAL OF THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE LESSEE 

21.1 In the event that the Agreement shall have been 
terminated due to default by Lessee in accordance with notice of 
termination as provided in Article 18 hereof, all of the 
obligations of the Lessee under this Agreement shall survive such 
termination, re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession and 
shall remain in full force and effect for the full term of this 
Agreement, and the amount or amounts of damages or deficiency 
shall become due and payable to the Cities to the same extent, at 
the same time or times, and in the same manner as if no 
termination, re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession had 
taken place. The Cities may maintain separate actions each month 
to recover the damage or deficiency then due or at its option and 
at any time may sue to recover the full deficiency less the 
proper discount, for the entire unexpired term of this Agreement. 

21.2 The amount of damages for the period of time subsequent 
to termination ( or re-entry, regaining or resumption of 
possession) on account of the Lessee's rental obligations, shall 
be the sum of the following: 

21.2.1 The amount of the total of all installments of rents, 
less the installments thereof payable prior to the effective date 
of termin~tion; and 

21.2.2 An amount equal to all expenses incurred by the 
Cities and not reimbursed in connection with regaining 
possession, restoring the Leased Premises required by paragraph 
19.1 above, acquiring a new lease for the Leased Premises, legal 
expenses (including, but not limited to, attorneys fees) and 
putting the Leased Premises in order. 

21.3 There shall be credited to the account of the Lessee 
against its survived obligations hereunder, the amount actually 
received from any lessee, licensee, permittee, or other occupier 
in connection with the use of the said Leased Premises or portion 
thereof during the balance of the term of use and occupancy as 
the same is originally stated in this Agreement and the market 
value of the occupancy of such portion of the Leased Premises as 
the Cities may themselves during such period actually use and 
occupy. No such use and occupancy shall be, or be construed to 
be, an acceptance of a surrender of the Leased Premises, nor 
shall such use and occupancy constitute a waiver of any rights of 
the Cities hereunder. The Cities will use their best efforts to 
minimize damages to Lessee under this Article. 

ARTICLE 22 
USE SUBSEQUENT TO CANCELLATION OR TERMINATION 

22.1 The Cities shall, upon termination or cancellation, or 
upon re-entry, regaining or resumption of possession, have the 
right to repair and to make structural or other changes in the 
Leased Premises, including changes which alter its character and 

26 
214



the suitability thereof for the purposes of the Lessee under this 
Agreement, ·without affecting, altering or diminishing the 
obligations of the Lessee hereunder, provided that any structural 
changes shall not be at Lessee's expense. 

ARTICLE 23 
NOTICES 

23.1 All notices, consents and approvals required or desired 
to be given by the parties hereto shall be sent in writing, and 
shall be deemed given when received at the recipient's notice 
address except that notice that must be given by a certain time 
to be effective and is sent certified mail, postage prepaid, 
return receipt ·requested, addressed to the recipient's address 
shall be deemed given when posted. Notice that starts the 
running of a time period and is delivered on a non-business day 
shall be deemed delivered on the next business day, if left at 
the notice address, or the next business day on which it is 
redelivered if it is not left at the notice address. 

23.2 The notice addresses of the parties are as follows: 

To the Cities: 

To the Lessee: 

Airport Manager 
Loveland-Fort Collins Airport 
4900 Earhart Drive 
Loveland, CO 80538 

and 

C:i t.y Msmager 
City of Loveland 
500 E. Third St. 
Loveland, CO 80537 

and 

City Manager 
City of Fort Collins 
300 LaPorte Ave. 
Fort Collins, CO 80521 

Robert and Linda Eggleston, 
4216 N. Monroe Avenue 
Loveland, CO 80538 

Such addresses shall be subject to change from time to 
time to such other addresses as may have been specified in 
written notice given by the intended recipient to the sender. 

ARTICLE 24 
INVALID PROVISIONS 

24.1 The invalidity of any provisions, articles, 
portions or clauses of this Agreement shall have no 
the validity of any other part or portion hereof, so 
remainder shall constitute an enforceable 
Furthermore, in lieu of such invalid provisions, 

27 

paragraphs, 
effect upon 
long as the 

agreement. 
articles, 

215



paragraphs, portions or clauses, there shall be added 
automatically as a part of this Agreement, a provision as similar 
in terms to such invalid provision as may be possible and be 
legal, valid and enforceable. 

ARTICLE 25 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

25.1 Remedies to be Non-exclusive. All remedies provided in 
this Agreement shall be deemed cumulative and additional and not 
in lieu of, or exclusive of, each other, or of any other remedy 
available to the Cities, or the Lessee, at law or in equity, and 
the exercise of any remedy, or the existence herein of other 
remedies or indemnities shall not prevent the exercise of any 
other remedy provided that the Cities' remedies in the event of 
default shall not exceed those set forth in this Agreement: 

25 .2 Non-liability of Indi victuals. No director, officer, 
agent or employee of the Ci ties shall be charged personally or 
held contractually liable by or to the other party under any term 
or provision of this Agreement or of any supplement, modification 
or amendment to this Agreement because of any breach thereof, or 
because of his or their execution or attempted execution of the 
same. 

25.3 Estoppel Certificate. 
connection with an assignment of 
the Cities shall execute and 

At the request of the Lessee in 
its interest in this Agreement, 
deliver a written statement 

identifying it as the Lessor under this Agreement and certifying: 
(1) The documents that then comprise this Agreement, 
(2) That this Agreement is in full force and effect, 
(3) The then current annual amount of rent and the date 

through which it has been paid, 
(4) The expiration date of this Agreement, 
(5) That no amounts are then owed by the Lessee to the 

Cities (or, if amounts are owed, specifying the same) 
(6) To the knowledge of the Cities, there are not 

defaults by the Lessee under this Agreement or any facts which 
but for the passage of time, the giving of notice or both would 
constitute such a default, and 

(7) Remaining rights to renew the term of this lease 
to the extent not theretofore exercised. 

The party acquiring the Lessee's interest in the 
Agreement shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon such 
written statement. 

25. 4 Short Form of Lease. This . Agreement shall not be 
recorded, but at the request of either party, the other shall 
execute a memorandum or short form of lease for recording. 

25.5 General Provisions. 
25.5.1 This Agreement shall be performable and enforceable 

in Larimer County, Colorado, and shall be construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Colorado. 

25. 5. 2 This Agreement is made for the sole and exclusive 
benefit of the Cities and the Lessee, their successors and 
assigns, and is not made for the benefit of any third party. 

28 
216



25.5.3 In the event of any ambiguity in any of the terms of 
this Agreement, it shall not be construed for or against any 
party hereto on the basis that such party did or did not author 
the same. 

25. 5. 4 All covenants, stipulations and agreements in this 
Agreement shall extend to and bind each party hereto, its legal 
representatives, successors and assigns. 

25.5.5 The titles of the several articles of this Agreement 
are inserted herein for convenience only, and are not intended 
and shall not be construed to affect in any manner the terms and 
provisions hereof, or the interpretation or construction thereof. 

25. 5. 6 Nothing herein contained shall create, or be 
construed to create, a partnership, joint venture, agency or any 
other relationship between the Cities and the Lessee, other than 
that of landlord and tenant.. The Cities and the Lessee each 
expressly disclaim the existence of any such other relationship 
between them. 

25. 5. 7 Cities have and may allo.w certain portions of the 
Airport to be used by others tenants at any time, and Lessee 
shall not interfere in any manner with said other tenants or with 
the facilities granted to such tenants. Nothing herein contained 
shall be construed to grant or authorize the granting of an 
exclusive right prohibited by Section 308 of the rederal Aviation 
Act of 1958, as amended, and the Cities reserved the right to 
grant to others the privilege and right of conducting any one or 
all of the activities specified herein, or any other activities 
of an aeronautical nature. 

25.6 Availability of Government racilities. In the event the 
existence, maintenance or operation of air navigation aids or 
other facilities supplied or operated by the United States or the 
State of Colorado at or in conj unction with the. Airport are 
discontinued, the Cities shall have no obligation to furnish such 
facilities. 

ARTICLE 26 
SUBORDINATION CLAUSES 

26,1 This Agreement is subject and subordinate to the 
following: 

26.1.1 The Cities reserve the right to develop and improve 
the. Airport as they see fit, regardless of .the desires or view of 
the Lessee, and without interference or hindrance by or on behalf 
of the Lessee, provided the Lessee is not deprived of the use or 
access to the Leased Premises or any of Lessee's rights under 
this Agreement and unless said activities by the Cities shall 
result in the loss of convenient access to the Leased Premises by 
motor vehicles and/or aircraft owned or operated by Lessee or 
Lessee's assigns, subtenants, renters, agents, employees or 
invitees. In the event the said access shall terminate or the 
quality of said access shall be impaired as aforesaid, and in the 
event of failure to relocate the Lessee to a different leased 
premises at least as acceptable to Lessee as the Leased Premises 
at no resulting cost or expense to Lessee, Lessee shall have the 

29 
217



right and option to terminate this Lease upon thirty (30) days 
prior written notice to Cities according to Article 23. 

26.1.2 The Cities reserve the right to take any action they 
consider necessary to protect the aerial approaches to the 
Airport against obstruction, together with the right to prevent 
Lessee from erecting or permitting to be erected any building or 
other structure on the Airport which would limit the usefulness 
of the Airport or constitute a hazard to aircraft. 

26 .1. 3 This Agreement is and shall be subordinate to the 
provision of existing and future agreements between the Cities 
and the United States relative to the operation or maintenance of 
the Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required 
as a condition precedent to the obtaining or expenditure of 
federal funds for the benefit of the Airport. 

26 .1. 4 During the time of war or national emergency, the 
Ci ties shall have the right to lease all or any part of the 
landing area or of the airport to the United States for military 
use, and if any such lease is executed, the provisions of this 
Agreement insofar as they may be inconsistent with the provisions 
of such lease to the government, shall be suspended, but such 
suspension shall not extend the term of this Agreement. 
Abatement of rentals shall be reasonably determined by the Cities 
and Lessee in proportion to the degree of interference with the 
Lessee's use of the Leased Premises. 

26 .1. 5 Ex'cept to the extent required for the performance of 
any obligations of the Lessee hereunder, nothing contained in 
this Agreement shall grant to the Lessee any rights whatsoever in 
the airspace above the Leased Premises other than those 
reasonably necessary to Lessee's enjoyment of the Leased Premises 
and Ci ties' Airport facilities and which are consistent with 
Federal Aviation Administration rules, regulations and orders 
currently or subsequently effective. Further, Lessee's rights in 
airspace above the Leased Premises and the Airport and the 
Airport facilities shall be not less than the rights therein by 
other users of the Airport and Airport facilities. 

ARTICLE 27 
Quiet Enjoyment 

27 .1 Ci ties hereby covenant and warrant that they are the 
owners of the Leased Premises and that Lessee upon payment of 
rentals herein provided for and performance of provisions on its 
part to be performed shall and may peacefully possess and enjoy 
the Leased Premises during the term hereof and any extensions 
hereof without any interruption or disturbance. 

27 .2 Except as expressly provided herein, Cities will not 
impose limitations or otherwise exercise the governmental powers, 
rights and privileges in a manner of greater detriment or burden 
to Lessee than would have occurred had governmental entities not 
been the landlord. The performance of the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement shall be performed on an "arms-length" basis 
with Lessee as though governmental entities were not landlords. 
In the event the Lessee pursues a legal action in court or 
otherwise alleging a breach of this subsection, and such 

30 
218



allegation are not established in such proceeding, Cities shall 
be granted damages and all costs and legal· expenses incurred by 
the Cities in the premises. 

ARTICLE 28 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

28.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the 
parties hereto and may not be changed, modified, discharged or 
extended except by written instrument duly executed by the Cities 
and the Lessee. The parties agree that no representations or 
warranties shall be binding upon the Cities or the Lessee unless 
expressed in writing. 

ARTICLE 29 
CITIES' OPTION TO PURCHASE AND INTEREST IN IMPROVEMENTS. 

29.1 Within sixty (60) days after substantial completion of 
the Improvements on the Leased Premises contemplated by Article 
4. 6 and 4. 7 above, Lessee shall submit to the Ci ties a sworn 
notice and statement of construction costs, in such detail and 
with such supporting documentation as the Cities may reasonably 
request. Within thirty ( 30) days of such notice, the Ci ties 
shall provide Lessee with a notice either adopting Lessee's 
construction costs, or proposing to modify Lessee's construction 
costs and explaining the reasons for each such modification. The 
Cities' notice shall conclusively establish the construction 
costs of the Improvements, unless challenged by the Lessee within 
thirty (30) days after submission. If the Cities and Lessee 
cannot agree on the amount of construction costs within thirty 
(30) days of any such challenge by the Lessee, the parties agree 
to mediate the dispute in good faith over a period of not less 
than thirty (30) days, with each party paying half the cost of 
such mediation. In the event that the parties fail to reach an 
agreement following mediation, the Cities' construction cost 
determination shall conclusively establish the construction 
costs, subject only to judicial relief obtained by the Lessee. 
Any such action for judicial relief must be filed by the Lessee 
not more than thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the 
mediation. The amount determined in accordance with this Article 
29.1 shall be referred to herein as the "Construction Cost." 

29.2 At the expiration of the Initial Term and any Extended 
Term of this Agreement, Cities shall have the option to purchase 
the Improvements from Lessee. The Cities may exercise any such 
option by delivering a written notice of election to Lessee, at 
any time prior to 120 days before expiration of the Initial Term 
or any Extended Term, specifying a closing date on or within 
thirty (30) days after the Agreement expiration date. If Cities 
timely exercise their option to purchase, the Lessee's option to 
extend the Agreement under Article 1.2 hereof, shall be null and 
void, and the sale price of the Improvements is conclusively 
established and agreed to by the parties as being the 
Construction Cost of the Improvements, minus an increasing 
monthly deduction for each month during the term, from the date 
of this Agreement to the date of closing. For this purpose, the 

31 
219



Construction Cost shall be amortized on a straight-line basis 
over a forty (40) year period commencing from the date of this 
Agreement. By way of example and not limitation, if the 
Construction Costs are $500,000, and Cities exercise their option 
to purchase at the end of the 20-year Initial Term of this 
Agreement, the purchase price shall be $250,000; if Cities 
exercise their option to purchase at the end of the second five
year Extended Term of this Agreement, the purchase price shall be 
$125,000. Upon sale by Lessee of the Improvements in accordance 
with this Agreement, the Lessee agrees to indemnify the Ci ties 
against liability for any hazardous wastes which may be located 
on, or .which may have been generated by operations on or from the 
Leased Premises. 

29.3 Notwithstanding the above, and anything to the 
contrary herein, Cities and Lessee agree that in consideration 
for Lessee's use of the Airport for construction and operation of 
the Improvements, the Improvements and all additions and 
appurtenances thereto shall, at Cities option, become the 
property of and be transferred to the Cities upon expiration or 
any termination of this Agreement, without payment of additional 
consideration by the City. If the Cities elect to take title to 
the Improvements, Lessee agrees to then execute all documents and 
take such reasonable actions, if any, as may be necessary to 
accomplish the transfer of title to the Improvements. 

29.4 In recognition that the Improvements shall become the 
property of the Cities in accordance with Article 29.3 above, the 
Cities are hereby granted, and shall acquire, increasing 
equitable and security interests in the Improvements. Lessee 
therefore agrees to execute and deliver to the Cities a 
collateral assignment, mortgage and/or security agreement 
covering such interests of the Ci ties, in a form reasonably 
satisfactory to the.Cities, within ten (10) days after agreement 
on or determination of Construction Costs. The amount of the 
Cities' increasing equitable and security interests in the 
Improvements shall be equal to the Construction Cost, as 
determined in Article 29.1 above, minus the sales price as 
determined in Article 29.2 above. The Cities agree to 
subordinate such document to any first Leasehold Mortgage on the 
Leased Premises. 

ARTICLE 30 
RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL 

30.1 If Lessee desires to sell, assign, or otherwise 
transfer its interest under this Agreement, including the 
Improvements existing on. the Leased Premises, to an unaffiliated 

. third party, and has obtained a bona fide offer for such sale, 
Lessee must first offer to sell, assign, or otherwise transfer 
such interest to the Cities, at the price and on the same terms 
as the bona fide offer, and the Cities shall have the right to 
purchase Lessee's interest. Such offer must be in writing and 
state the name of the proposed transferee and all of the terms 
and conditions of the proposed transfer. The Cities shall have 
the right for a period of 30 days after receipt of the offer from 

32 
220



the Lessee to elect to purchase Lessee's interest (such 30-day 
period referred to as the "Election Period") . If the Ci ties do 
not desire to purchase Lessee's interest, the Lessee may then 
sell, assign, or otherwise transfer his interest in this 
Agreement to the person making the said offer, at the price and 
terms set forth in the offer, subject to the requirements of 
Article 13. If the Lessee fails to make such sale within 30 days 
after the expiration of the Election Period, any proposed sale, 
assignment or other transfer thereafter shall again be subject to 
this Article. The intent of this Article is to require all of 
Lessee's interests in this Agreement be sold, assigned or 
otherwise transferred intact, without fractionalization. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 
Agreement on the day and year first above written. 

1,,,nuu,.,,,,,,. 
~,,~t of Love?',,,._ 

~,:.~y ~~ 
~ r:j;> t, ~ 
~ l -::. 

~ ( SEAL 1 
% '\ j OF LOVELAND, COLORADO 
~ .. $ 
~ ····- ~ ,,,,,,,foLoAA~q,,,~~ 

'l/1111111,,,,,,\: 

ATTEST: 

~ t,C;,c ~±; 
City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

~~ 
Assistant City Attorney 

Robert Eggleson,LESSEE 

~~J2. £.~~ icfa Eggleston; SSEE 

33 
221



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 
Agreement on the day and year first above written. 

CITY OF FORT COLORADO 

ATT~~~-~· .~ 

City Clerk ~ 

AZ!ut ~c-
Robert Eggle~~ESSEE 

State of Colorado 

County of Larimer 

Q~/.. 
Subscribed and sworn to before me this t day of 
------'A'-=lA=Gj,._.,IA""-s=--·~r _____ , 2 o o !f_ by --~C~/V{)~ __ 1,~R~'fi~,3~t:-t __ _ 

My commission expires~ ___ 9_-_t_i_-_)-O_·_o_7 ____ _ 

34 

222



EXHIBIT 
''A'' 

223



Description Exhibit 

Prooosed Honaor Site Pescriotioo· 
Al! !hot portion of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 33, Township 6 North, Ronge 68 We·st, of 
lht1 6th P.M., Lorimer County, Colorado more porllcu!orly described as follows: 

Considering the East llne of !he Norlheosl 1/4 of Sect!on 33, Township 5 North, Range 
58 Wesl, of the 6th P.M., Lorimer County, Colorado as bearing S 00"31'31" E and with 
ell be.cr!ngs contained herein relative thereto. 

CQl,jM(NCE al the Norlheosl corner of Section 33, Township 6 North, Range 68 West, al 
the 6th P.M., Lorimer County, Colorado; thence run S 00"31'31" E olong ·the Easf line of 
the Norlheosl 1/4 of sold Section 33 for a dlslonce of 1122.08 feel; thence leaving said 
East !lne run S 89.28'29" W for o dl:stonce of 491.17 feet to !he POINT OF BEGINNING; 
thence run S 70·01'1.3" W for o dl:stonce of 60.00 feel; thonce run N 19.58'47" W for o 
dl:stonce of 48.00 feet; !hence run N 70"01'13" E for o distance of 60.00 feet: thence 
run S 19"58'47" E for o di:sfonce of 48.00 feet lo the P·oint of Beginning. 
Contolnlng 2880 :square feel more or le:ss. .-"" 

--------_,,-
_,,-

-----
----- -----

----- ----- -----
---------- -----

ur\.'ie 

--------------------

----- _,,-

-----

ssr>B-ce "'.)'' ~ ....-::;.. 
1a·a''~ 

_,,- ,c;::. 

~ C%: • 
~ 00 ,aa 

----- -----
.,_ 

----------
, proposed· 

1/ ,1_ ----- -----

~. hon·gor site ' 

'/ 

. " 
----- -----

~ ~ 
·o ;.. 

,·0, 1, ----- -----

o . ...i, • \ ;,~ 'l'l. 

f. 1711 'L '1' 
-----

,. 

-----

~ 
I 't:,' -----

0 

' I 

-

---:;. 

---:;. 
~ 

existing 
hanger 

,c;::. 

mmencement Point of Co f Section 
NE Co~ne~6~W-6Pf.! -........_ 
3'-T6 - ~ 

-----
"

1

w 
- 0 .. 
;:; q O 

;, 
~ 

" ' -
• 
' ' 0 

" 
~ ' 
0 ~ ~ 

::; ~-1: O U o 
• - 0 : 5· East line or NE 

l"'>IO ( -1/4 v O Section 3J 

~ S 89'28'29" W 
- -

491.17' 

POINT Of BEGINNING 

NOTE: This is no\ o monumented land survey. 

~ According to Colorado low you must commence 
ony legol oction ba:sed upon any defect in this survey 
within lhree years ofter you first discov,:r ·such defect. 
In no event, moy ony action based upon any defect in 
lhis survey be commenced more \hon ten years from 
the dote of the certification shown hereon. 

Dole Revisions Prepared for: Project#: 98011.036b 

Fort Colline/Love.land Municipal Airporl 

Frederick Land Surveying 
1528 North Lincoln Avenue - Suite 2 

Loveland, Colorodo 805J8 
(970) 669-2100 - FAX (970) 569-)725 

224



98011d36b 
Proposed Hangar Site Description: 
All that portion of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 33, Township 6 North, Range 68 West, of the 6th P.M., 
Larimer County, Colorado more particularly described as follows: 

Considering the East line of the Northeast 1/4 of Section 33, Township 6 North, Range 68 West, of 
the 6th P.M., Larimer County, Colorado as bearing S 00°31'31" E and with all bearings contained 
herein relative thereto. 

COMMENCE at the Northeast corner of Section 33, Township 6 North, Range 68 West, of the 6th 
P.M., Larimer County, Colorado; thence run S 00°31'31" E along the East line of the Northeast 1/4 of 
said Section 33 for a distance of 1122.08 feet; thence leaving said East line run S 89°28'29" W for a 
distance of 491.17 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence run S 70°01'13" W for a distance of 
60.00 feet; thence run N 19°58'47" W for a distance of 48.00 feet; thence run N 70°01 '13" E for a 
distance of 60.00 feet; thence run S 19°58'47" E for a distance of 48.00 feet to the Point of Beginning. 
Containing 2880 square feet more or less. 

225



EXHIBIT 
''B'' 

226



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER: 8 
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2024 

PREPARED BY: Aaron Ehle, Airport Planning & Development Specialist 

TITLE 
PDSC Agenda 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
Informational – The Airport Commission may make changes to the PDSC Agenda 

BUDGET IMPACT 
Neutral 

SUMMARY 

May 1st Meeting: 
- The PDSC discussed potential changes and improvements to the Development

Guide and Airport Land Use & Design Standards. Airport and City staff will work
to bring updated drafts of these documents for the PDSC to review at their July
meeting. This is related to a larger effort to improve and streamline the Airport’s
development review process and leasing policy.

Upcoming June 18th Meeting: 
- The PDSC will review the responses to the request for expressions of interest

(REOI) that was issued in April. The PDSC will review the responses for
completeness but will not assign scores or ranks. However, they may offer
comments or recommendations to the Airport Commission about potential next
steps.

REOI information:
https://www.flynoco.com/airport-development/bids-and-rfps/?swcfpc=1

227

https://www.flynoco.com/airport-development/bids-and-rfps/?swcfpc=1


              

Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 
 

REOI Timeline 
REOI Issue Date April 18, 2024 

Non-Mandatory Pre-Submittal Meeting  May 16, 2024 

Questions Deadline May 23, 2024 

Final Addendum Posted May 24, 2024 

EOI Due Date June 13, 2024 

Planning & Development Subcommittee Review of EOIs June 18, 2024 

Airport Commission Review of EOIs June 27, 2024 

 
 

 
 

228



Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission 

ITEM NUMBER: 9  
MEETING DATE: May 16, 2024 
PREPARED BY: Francis Robbins, Airport Operations & Maintenance Manager 

TITLE 
Proposed 5 -Year Airport Capital Improvement Plan 

RECOMMENDED AIRPORT COMMISSION ACTION 
Informational Item seeking commissioner feedback 

BUDGET IMPACT 
None- But will strongly influence future budgets 

SUMMARY 
The Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) is a critical planning tool that is used to identify and 
prioritize the Airport’s projects for the next five (5) years. It is updated annually to keep 
current with project costs and the status of available resources. 

In 2020, the Airport Commission and the City Councils approved an updated Airport 
Master Plan, which included the recommended capital projects and a 20-year financial 
plan for implementation. 

The projects in this updated Capital Improvement Plan are primarily those that are listed 
in the 2020 Master Plan that are predominantly eligible for aviation related federal (FAA) 
and state funds. The CIP does not include all of the capital projects and equipment 
necessary for continued operations and maintenance of the Airport—particularly those 
that are not eligible for federal and state funding. The format of the CIP document is for 
communication with FAA and CDOT and local funded projects are added for clarity in 
discussion.  

Due to the number of enplanements in 2023 and the Bi-Partisan Infrastructure Law, 
FNL expects to receive $1.5 million of guaranteed funding in 2026. The CIP also 
includes large discretionary grant funded projects which are selected by the FAA 
through a competitive process focused on safety.  

The Runway Widening Project is a major project planned to contract in the 2025 fiscal 
year for a total cost of $14.9 million. Construction is expected to commence in the 2026 

229



              

Northern Colorado Regional Airport Commission Page 2 of 2 

 

calendar year. This is an FAA supported project to satisfy related airfield design 
requirements for the Airport’s type of critical design aircraft—the Airbus A320 and 
Boeing 737 series aircraft. 
 
The second large project is the design and construction of a permeant Air Traffic 
Control (ATC) facility. The timeline on this project is set by the FAA Tower Operating 
Agreement as part of the Federal Contract Tower (FCT) Program. The Agreement 
places FAA funding for controllers contingent on FNL making specific milestones for 
adopting a permanent approved air traffic control facility. The FCT agreement 
establishes design for the permanent facility to start January 2026 and the construction 
start July 2026.  
 
The budget number in the CIP, $12,500,000, is for design and building a traditional ATC 
facility commonly sometimes called a Brick-and-Mortar tower. This is a conservative 
figure which could be funded with airport reserves, competitive Air Traffic Organization 
grants for just ATC Facilities, and if the governance structure is updated to an Airport 
Authority, potentially a State Infrastructure Bank loan can be used. A mixed funding 
source is recommended to meet this development goal.  
 
A digital tower system is in the system design approval process with the FAA and is 
being considered in parallel with a traditional tower facility. If approval of the digital 
tower project by Collins progresses timely, it’s implementation cost could be significantly 
less and is being closely monitored by airport staff.  
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Presentation Slides 
Draft 2024-2029 Capital Project Plan  

230



AIRPORT CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT 
PLAN

FIVE-YEAR UPDATE
2025-2029

231



Airport Capital Improvement Plan (ACIP)
2021-2025
• Updated capital plan derived from:

• Airport Master Plan
• FAA safety standards 
• Projected capacity demands for future 

aeronautical use
• Existing conditions of airport assets 

including runways, taxiways, aprons, 
navigational aids, lighting, etc.

• Aircraft demand
• Engineering cost estimates
• Current understanding of future FAA & 

CDOT funding 
• Regular meetings with FAA Airport District 

Office & CDOT Aeronautics Grant Managers

2232



Pandemic Impacts to Grant Funding
• Airport grant funding derived from federal and state 

sources
• Federal Aviation Administration (NPIAS)

• Airport and Airway Trust Fund
• Funded through aviation related excise taxes on passengers, cargo, and fuel

• Airport Improvement Program (AIP) 
• Traditional airport funding source and has been funded at a static $3.35 billion level for 23 years

• Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL)
• Provides $20 billion over 5 years to airports for high priority projects

• Colorado
• Department of Transportation Division of Aeronautics Aviation Grant Program

• Funded through aviation fuel tax revenues and disbursement (2.9% sales tax on fuel)

• Recent fuel pricing has significantly driven the fuel tax 

3233



FAA NPIAS
• National Plan of Integrated Airport 

Systems
• Released September 30, 2022
• Shares funding needs for federally eligible 

projects over next 5 years
• Approximately 3,300 airports included in the 

plan
• Focus is safety & capacity planning
• Updated every other year

• Report shows $27,491,229 in estimated 
funding need for FNL

• Increase of $10 million from previous NPIAS
• Ranked 9th in Colorado
• Updated Airport Role: Regional to National https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa.gov/files/npias-2023-2027-narrative.pdf 

4234

https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa.gov/files/npias-2023-2027-narrative.pdf


NPIAS Federal Funding 
Development Estimate 2024-2028

5

State City Airport LocID Owner-
ship

Svc Lvl
(FY23)

Hub
(FY23)

Role
(FY23)

Enplaned
(CY21)

Based Aircraft
(CY21)

Development
Estimate

2023-2027
CO Denver Denver International DEN PU P L 28,645,527 1 $1,011,007,241
CO Colorado Springs City of Colorado Springs Municipal COS PU P S 941,917 227 $120,785,546
CO Grand Junction Grand Junction Regional GJT PU P N 252,290 126 $88,560,620
CO Denver Centennial APA PU R National 496 747 $44,816,668
CO Durango Durango-La Plata County DRO PU P N 200,245 68 $44,815,268
CO Eagle Eagle County Regional EGE PU P N 201,752 89 $43,154,413
CO Montrose Montrose Regional MTJ PU P N 188,355 81 $28,484,708
CO Aspen Aspen-Pitkin County/Sardy Field ASE PU P N 248,781 95 $27,626,405
CO Fort Collins/Loveland Northern Colorado Regional FNL PU CS National 5,248 244 $27,491,229
CO Pueblo Pueblo Memorial PUB PU CS Regional 9,624 120 $26,031,580
CO Hayden Yampa Valley HDN PU P N 150,142 9 $18,756,112
CO Pagosa Springs Stevens Field PSO PU GA Local 2 37 $10,222,222
CO Greeley Greeley-Weld County GXY PU GA Regional 0 146 $9,695,693
CO Akron Colorado Plains Regional AKO PU GA Basic 0 7 $9,061,111
CO Gunnison Gunnison-Crested Butte Regional GUC PU P N 38,783 30 $8,688,889
CO Denver Rocky Mountain Metro BJC PU R National 670 471 $7,957,000
CO Denver Colorado Air and Space Port CFO PU R Regional 0 282 $7,730,410

235

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
CY23 enplanements 13,058



Proposed 2024-2029 ACIP Highlights

• Aligned with recommended ACIP in Airport Master Plan
• Updated cost figures using financial analysis from Master Plan and estimates from 

Consultant Dibble Engineering 
• Total five-year capital investment - $45.7 million

• $19.4 million federal eligible funding
• $16.2 million AIP

• $5.6 million of federal special funding (BIL) 

• $24 million local funding
• $1.6 million state funding

• Two major projects - runway widening & rehabilitation and air traffic control facility 
construction

• Runway Widening Project 2023-2025: $14.9 million
• New high efficiency LED lighting system

• Air Traffic Control Facility 2026-2027: $12.5 million
• Replacing the temporary facility currently in use

6236



2024
New Terminal Construction (BIL 2024)
• Cost: $1,766,666 ($21,963,135 Total)
• Funding Sources: FAA BIL, State, Local

GA Taxilanes Upgrades
• Cost: $600,000
• Funding Sources: Local

Fuel Farm Capacity Expansion Siting 
Study
• Cost: $72,628
• Funding Sources: Local

Taxiway B & D Reconstruct
• Cost: $833,332
• Funding Sources: FAA AIP, State, Local

2024 ACIP Projects

7

1

3

2

4

237



2025
Runway 15-33 Widening 
Construction
• Cost: $15,591,404
• Funding Sources: FAA AIP & 

BIL, State, Local

Taxiway D/A1 Realignment
• Cost: $1,590,000
• Funding Sources: Local

Fuel Farm Capacity Expansion 
Construction
• Cost: $800,000
• Funding Sources: Local

2025 ACIP Projects

8

1

2

3

238



2026
Taxiway A Rehab, Lighting & Signage 
Design
• Cost: $300,000
• Funding Sources: Local

Air Traffic Control Facility Design & 
Construction
• Cost: $12,500,000
• Funding Sources: Local

General Aviation Apron & Taxiways 
Sealcoat and Restripe
• Cost: $500,000
• Funding Sources: State, Local

2026 ACIP Projects

9

1

2

3

239



2027
Taxiway A Rehab, Lighting, & Signage 
Construction
• Cost: $1,421,210
• Funding Sources: FAA AIP, State, Local,

2027 ACIP Projects

10

1

240



2028
Construct Deice Pad for Commercial Ramp
• Cost: $1,621,000
• Funding Sources: FAA AIP, CDOT, Local

Remove T-hangars & Construct Business 
Facilities (C-Hangars)
• Cost: $5,500,000
• Funding Sources: Local

2028 ACIP Projects

11

1

2

241



2029
Terminal Loop Road Expansion Design 
and Construction
• Cost: $2,021,000
• Funding Sources: FAA AIP, State,Local

Snow Removal Equipment Snow Blower
• Cost: $600,000
• Funding Sources: FAA AIP, State,Local

2029 ACIP Projects

12

1

242



Recommendation & Next Steps

• Staff recommends identifying more clearly the funding for ATC control 
tower and prioritizing planning of that improvement. 

• Staff will request project funding from FAA & State resources

• Second review in August Commission Meeting

• FAA & CDOT review in September

• Commission final version for adoption in October

• ACIP is due to be uploaded into the CDOT systems by October 31

13243



Funding Source State Other

Financial Resource Program
 FAA 

Entitlement 
 FAA 

Discretionary 
 Cares Act 

 BIL Airport 
Improvement 

Grants 

 BIL Airport 
Terminals  
Program 

 Colorado Division of 
Aeronautics 

 Grant Match 
 Additional 

Funding 

Funding Programming Method

 Formulary 
$150K - $1.3M   

<10K - >10K 
Enplanements 

 Discretionary  Formulary  Formulary  Discretionary 

 Formulary for FAA 
Grant Matches & 

Remainder 
Discretionary 

 Formulary  Discretionary 

Grant Match Requirement 90/10 90/10 N/A 90/10 95/5 80/20 N/A N/A N/A
Current Year 2024
New Terminal Construction (BIL 2024) 1,590,000$      88,333$                     88,333$           A6 1,766,666$                 
GA Taxilanes Upgrades 600,000$          A4 600,000$                    
Fuel Farm Capacity Expansion Siting Study 72,628$            B1 72,628$                      
Taxiway B & D Reconstruct 750,000$          41,666$                     41,666$           A8/B5 833,332$                    

Totals 2024 750,000$          1,590,000$      129,999$                   129,999$         672,628$          3,272,626$                 
PFC Revenues

Funding Balance Reminaing -$                   725,765$         
2025
Runway 15-33 Widening Construction 150,000$          12,469,475$    1,569,765$      250,000$                   1,152,164$      A13 15,591,404$               
Taxiway D/A1 Realignment 1,590,000$      A8 1,590,000$                 
New Terminal Automobile Parking Improvements 2,500,000$      B6 2,500,000$                 
Fuel Farm Capacity Expansion Construction 800,000$          B1 800,000$                    

Totals 2025 150,000$          12,469,475$    1,569,765$      2,500,000$      250,000$                   1,152,164$      2,390,000$      17,981,404$              
PFC Revenues

Funding Balance Reminaing
2026
Taxiway A Rehab, Lighting & Signage Design 300,000$          A11 300,000$                    
Air Traffic Control Facility Design & Construction 12,500,000$    B9 12,500,000$              
General Aviation Apron & Taxiways Sealcoat and Restripe 400,000$                   100,000$         A10 500,000$                    

Totals 2026 -$                   400,000$                   100,000$         12,800,000$    13,300,000$              
PFC Revenues

Funding Balance Reminaing 150,000$          
2027
Taxiway A Rehab, Lighting & Signage Construction 300,000$          500,000$                   621,210$         A13 1,421,210$                 

Totals 2027 300,000$          500,000$                   621,210$         -$                   1,421,210$                 
PFC Revenues

Funding Balance Reminaing -$                   
2028
Construct Deice Pad for Commercial Ramp 1,300,000$       250,000$                   71,000$           B7 1,621,000$                 
Remove T-hangars & Construct Business Facilities (C-Hangars) 5,500,000$       B13 5,500,000$                 

Totals 2028 1,300,000$       250,000$                   71,000$           5,500,000$      7,121,000$                 
PFC Revenues

Funding Balance Reminaing -$                   
2029
Terminal Loop Road Expansion Design and Construction 1,300,000$       100,000$                   621,210$         B16 2,021,210$                 
Snow Removal Equipment Snow Blower 500,000$          50,000$                     50,000$           B18 600,000$                    

Totals 2029 1,300,000$       100,000$                   621,210$         -$                   2,621,210$                 
PFC Revenues

Funding Balance Reminaing -$                   
Totals 2024-2028 3,800,000$       12,469,475$    -$                   3,159,765$      2,500,000$      1,629,999$                2,695,583$      21,362,628$    45,717,450$              

2024-2029 Proposed Airport Capital Improvement Plan
FAA Airport Imp. Program AIP FAA Managed Federal Special Funding Local

 Total Project Costs 
 Airport Master Plan 

Capital Project 
Description Reference 

244


	Commission Agenda_2024-5-16
	regular meeting Agenda

	Commission Packet_2024-5-16
	4-18 Sign-in
	4-18-2024 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Airport Commission Meeting Item 2
	04-30-2024 Preliminary Monthly Statement
	Airport Monthly Statement New

	Director's Report for May 2024 Combined
	Director's Report for May 2024 Combined.pdf
	Director's Report for May 2024.pdf
	FNL Airport Terminal Monthly Report_April 2024.pdf
	LFRA Report for   May.pdf
	Project Report #34 043024.pdf
	April 30, 2024
	From:  William E. Payne, P.E.
	To: Colorado Division of Aeronautics
	Effort this Period: The OSA is still in draft form and is continuing to be developed as the project proceeds toward System Design Approval.
	Effort this Period:  The OVR Version 2.1 has been issued.
	Effort this Period: Participated in the FAA TechOps review and commented on the Remote Tower Requirements Document and prepared comments on OVR 2.1.  Completed.

	Senate Overwhelmingly Approves FAA Reau...ation Act - U.S. Senate Committee o...pdf
	State Aviation Officials Applaud Senate...pdf
	Website Platform Helps Airports Attract...pdf

	Pitkin County commissioners approve rev...pdf
	PitCo votes to shift airport runway 80 feet west _ AspenTimes.pdf
	Weekly Report - FNL Airport Terminal 05_10_24.pdf

	Airport Commission Meeting Intern Grant combined
	Item 5 BIL45 grant Combined
	Airport Commission Meeting Item 6
	Grubbs 5227 Stearman Assumption 2024
	ATTACH1 Grubbs&Elwood_ASMP1_5227Stearman-05-17-05
	ATTACH2 Grubbs Exp 3-1-25
	Airport Commission Meeting Item 7
	Eggleston 5295 Beechcraft Extension Request
	Eggleston_Lease_07-30-04
	Airport Commission Meeting Item 8
	Commission AIS CIP Item 8
	CIP Presentation 2025-2029
	��Airport Capital Improvement Plan
	�Airport Capital Improvement Plan (ACIP)�2021-2025
	Pandemic Impacts to Grant Funding
	FAA NPIAS
	NPIAS Federal Funding �Development Estimate 2024-2028
	Proposed 2024-2029 ACIP Highlights
	2024 ACIP Projects
	2025 ACIP Projects
	2026 ACIP Projects
	2027 ACIP Projects
	2028 ACIP Projects
	2029 ACIP Projects
	Recommendation & Next Steps

	FNL CIP 2024-2029_2024-05-14
	Sheet3





